TAIGHDE AR OIDEACHAS



INVESTMENT IN EDUCATION

Report of the Survey Team appointed by the Minister for Education in October, 1962

- 4 JAN 1966

DUBLIN: PUBLISHED BY THE STATIONERY OFFICE.

To be purchased from the GOVERNMENT PUBLICATIONS SALE OFFICE, G.P.O. ARCADE, DUBLIN 1. or through any Bookseller.

Price : Fifteen Shillings.

(Pr. 8311)











TAIGHDE AR OIDEACHAS

ERRATA

Page 4. Table 1.1. Footnote 13. Add includes instruction to part-time students.

Page 20. Table 1.5. The second footnets esterisked thus * refers to the figure 94.6 in the second column of the table.

Page 25. Footnote 6. For '1961' read '1963'.

Page 32. Third line, For '13,66' read '13.6'.

- Opposito Page 36. Table 3.2 Third line from the end of the table. The population figures are whole numbers, not in thousands.
- Page 113. Chart 6.1. In the table delete the words 'by examination result' and similarly in the list of charts on page xxvi.
- Page 142. Table 6.21. Note 1. The last sentence should read 'The figures for College of Surgeons are roughly estimated at 100 first degrees and 10 higher degrees."

Page 145. Table 6.24) In the titles to these Page 146, Table 6.25) tables, for "excluding third Page 147. Table 6.26) level" read "excluding third level outfilows".

- Page 172. Chart 6.7. First line 'Basic Population'. Under social Group D for '30' read '10'.
- Page 260. Paragraph 9.75. Ninth line. For '14' read '4'.
- Page 276. Table 10.12. Notation. The last sentence should read 'The symbol 0.0 means that less than 0.05 per cent took it and 0 means that nobody took it.
- Page 277. Paragraph 10.21. Fourth line. For 'only 218 boys' read 'less than 200'.
- Page 279. Paragraph 10.21. Fourteenth line. For '6 in Spanish' read '16 in Spanish'. Twentieth line. For '2' read '1'.
- Page 402. Under 'related Topics'. Fourth and sixth entries. For 'The Engineer's Association' read 'The Engineers' Association'.



TAIGHDE AR OIDEACHAS

INVESTMENT IN EDUCATION

Report of the Survey team appointed by the Minister for Education in October, 1962

> DUBLIN: PUBLISHED BY THE STATIONERY OFFICE.

To be purchased from the GOVERNMENT PUBLICATIONS SALE OFFICE, G.P.O. ARCADE, DUBLIN 1 or through any Bookseller.

Price : Fifteen Shillings.

(Pr. 8311)

This survey was initiated by the Minister for Education in October, 1962. It was organised in co-operation with the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development as a project under the Educational Investment and Planning Programme of the Organisation.

The Organisation contributed 146,734 Fr. Francs towards the cost and provided technical support and information on related developments in member countries.

The cost of preparing this report is estimated at $\pounds 42,208$, of which $\pounds 7,000$ is the estimated cost of printing and publication.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRELIMINARY

TERMS OF REFERENCE		xxix
MEMBERS OF THE NATIONAL STEERING COMMITTEE		XXX
MEMBERS OF THE SURVEY TEAM		xxxi
FUNCTIONS OF NATIONAL TEAM AND STEERING COMMITTEE		xxxii
TECHNICAL NOTE		xxxii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT		xxxii
Introduction	xxxiii	-xxxv

Introduction

PART I

CHAPTER ONE

The Irish Educational System

3-23

Page

Para	graph				Page
	6	GENERAL BACKGROUND		 	5
	9	NATIONAL SCHOOLS		 	6
	12	SECONDARY TOPS		 	7
	13	SPECIAL SCHOOLS		 	7
	14	REFORMATORY AND INDUSTRIAL SC	CHOOLS		8
	15	TEACHER TRAINING COLLEGES		 	8
	16	NON-AIDED PRIMARY SCHOOLS		 	9
	18	SECONDARY SCHOOLS		 	9
	23	NON-AIDED SECONDARY SCHOOLS		 	11
	24	VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS		 	11
	34	AGRICULTURAL SCHOOLS		 	15
	35	UNIVERSITIES		 	15
	36	OTHER THIRD LEVEL		 	16
	37	NON-AIDED RELIGIOUS SCHOOLS		 	16
	39	INSTITUTIONS NOT COVERED		 	17
	41	PARTICIPATION RATES		 	17
	43	PART-TIME EDUCATION		 •••	20

tion, lop-

CHAPTER TWO

Forecasts of Population 24—33

graph							Page
1	INTRODUCTION						24
4	BACKGROUND DATA						24
5	DEATH RATES						25
6	EMIGRATION						25
9	METHOD OF FORECA	STING					27
10	Births						27
12	PROJECTED POPULAT	ION			/		27
14	ALTERNATIVE HYPOT	THESES				0-	29
17	REGIONAL DISTRIBUT	TION					31
21	PROVINCES			· · · m			32
	graph 1 5 6 9 10 12 14 17 21	graph 1 INTRODUCTION 4 BACKGROUND DATA 5 DEATH RATES 6 EMIGRATION 9 METHOD OF FORECA 10 BIRTHS 12 PROJECTED POPULAT 14 ALTERNATIVE HYPOT 17 REGIONAL DISTRIBUT 21 PROVINCES	graph 1 INTRODUCTION 4 BACKGROUND DATA 5 DEATH RATES 6 EMIGRATION 9 METHOD OF FORECASTING 10 BIRTHS 12 PROJECTED POPULATION 14 ALTERNATIVE HYPOTHESES 17 REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION 21 PROVINCES	graph 1 INTRODUCTION 4 BACKGROUND DATA 5 DEATH RATES 6 EMIGRATION 9 METHOD OF FORECASTING 10 BIRTHS 12 PROJECTED POPULATION 14 ALTERNATIVE HYPOTHESES 17 REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION 21 PROVINCES	graph 1 INTRODUCTION 4 BACKGROUND DATA 5 DEATH RATES 6 EMIGRATION 9 METHOD OF FORECASTING 10 BIRTHS 12 PROJECTED POPULATION 14 ALTERNATIVE HYPOTHESES 17 REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION 21 PROVINCES	graph 1 INTRODUCTION 4 BACKGROUND DATA 5 DEATH RATES 6 EMIGRATION 9 METHOD OF FORECASTING 10 BIRTHS 12 PROJECTED POPULATION 14 ALTERNATIVE HYPOTHESES 21 PROVINCES	graph I INTRODUCTION <t< td=""></t<>

CHAPTER THREE

Forecasts	of Pu	pil I	Enrolments	34-	-5	1
-----------	-------	-------	------------	-----	----	---

9	SECOND LEVEL, JUNIOR CYCLE	 	 37
21	SECOND LEVEL, SENIOR CYCLE	 	 41
26	FIRST LEVEL	 	 43
35	THIRD LEVEL	 	 45
43	PART-TIME EDUCATION	 	 48

CHAPTER FOUR

	Projected Requi Supply of Teacher	52—76			
3	NATIONAL SCHOOLS		 	i	52
13	NON-AIDED PRIMARY SCHO	DOLS			57
15	SECONDARY SCHOOLS				58
24	VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS		 		63
37	COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOLS		 	• •	71
38	OTHER SECOND LEVEL		 		71
40	THIRD LEVEL		 	•••	71

CHAPTER FIVE

		Cost Projections	77-	-105
Para	agraph			Page
	2	FIRST LEVEL: NATIONAL SCHOOLS		77
	12	NON-AIDED PRIMARY SCHOOLS		82
	18	SECOND LEVEL: SECONDARY SCHOOLS		84
	37	VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS		92
	49	COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOLS		96
	50	OTHER SECOND LEVEL		96
	53	THIRD LEVEL: UNIVERSITIES		97
	59	TEACHER TRAINING		99
	61	OTHER THIRD LEVEL		100
	63	OTHER STATE EDUCATIONAL EXPENDITURE		100
	69	SUMMARY		102

PART II

CHAPTER SIX

Educational Sector; Flow Pattern, Output, Participation

109-176

Paragraph		Page
16	INTRODUCTION	109
	PART I—FLOW PATTERN AND OUTPUT	
11	SECONDARY SCHOOLS: INTERMEDIATE CERTIFICATE	
	CANDIDATES 1963	112
25	SECONDARY SCHOOLS: LEAVERS FROM JUNIOR CYCLE (NON-EXAMINEES)	117
30	SECONDARY SCHOOLS: SENIOR CYCLE, LEAVING	117
	CERTIFICATE EXAMINATION, 1963	119
41	MATRICULATION REQUIREMENTS	123
46	COMPARISON WITH ENGLAND AND WALES	125
49	UNIVERSITY ENTRANTS, 1963, IN GENERAL	126
51	LEAVING CERTIFICATE, 1963: LEFT FULL-TIME	
	EDUCATION	128
55	LEAVING CERTIFICATE, 1963: SPECIAL ENTRANTS	130
56	MATRICULATION EXAMINATION	131
57	OTHER SENIOR CYCLE LEAVERS	131
59	VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS: CONTINUATION COURSES:	
	DAY GROUP CERTIFICATE, 1963	132
65	OTHER LEAVERS FROM VOCATIONAL SCHOOL (CON-	
	TINUATION COURSES)	134

76

Paragraph

agraph				T mB-
71	ENTRIES TO VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS			137
73	NON-AIDED PRIMARY SCHOOLS	 	••	138
74	NATIONAL SCHOOL LEAVERS	 	••	138
81	OTHER SCHOOLS	 	• •	141
82	UNIVERSITY LEAVERS	 	••	141
83	TECHNICAL COURSES	 	••	141
85	SUMMARY	 		144

PART II-PARTICIPATION

INTRODUCTION		14	148
SOCIAL GROUP		·	148
TOWN/RURAL	6.		154
COUNTY DIFFERENCES	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		154
LEAVERS' SURVEY	:O'		168
NATIONAL SCHOOL LEAVERS	J		168
SECONDARY SCHOOLS			173
UNIVERSITY			173
VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS			173
SUMMARY			176
	INTRODUCTION	INTRODUCTION	INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER SEVEN

Manpower

177—196

Page

6	COMPATIBILITY OF MANPOWER REQUIREMENTS WITH	
	POPULATION DATA	181
7	METHODS OF FORECASTING	181
9	HISTORICAL APPROACH	182
11	'STRUCTURAL' APPROACH	182
13	ESTABLISHMENT OR SURVEY APPROACH	183
14	TRANSLATION OF CHANGES IN REQUIREMENTS TO	
	'Flow' Data	183
15	MANPOWER PROJECTIONS	184
18	CONFRONTATION—ADJUSTMENT OF INITIAL	
	Езтімате	185
22	COMPATIBILITY OF MANPOWER REQUIREMENTS	
	WITH ESTIMATED POPULATION IN 1971.	186
30	HIGHLY QUALIFIED MANPOWER	194
35	REVISION OF ESTIMATES	195

CHAPTER EIGHT

Manpower; Comparison of Requirements and Supply by Educational Levels

197-221 Paragraph Page FACTORS INFLUENCING CHOICE OF 'TARGET' 3 198 ACTUAL TARGET SUGGESTED 4 198 6 FLOW COMPARISONS 199 17 TYPES OF EDUCATIONAL 'DEFICIT 205 TECHNICIANS 208 DEMAND FOR TECHNICIANS 26 208 37 TECHNICIAN-TYPE QUALIFICATIONS 212 44 SUPPLY OF TECHNICIANS 213 66 CONCLUSION 221

PART III

CHAPTER NINE

	The Use of Resources in National		
	Schools	225-	-264
	COST ASPECTS		225
3	THE DISTRIBUTION OF TEACHERS		225
7	THE DISTRIBUTION OF SCHOOLS		229
8	CURRENT COSTS		235
2	CAPITAL COSTS		237
	ANALYSIS OF BENEFITS		238
7	EXAMINATION PERFORMANCE		238
1	AGE/STANDARD DISTRIBUTION OF PUPILS		240
7	SCHOOL CURRICULA		246
)	FACILITIES AND AMENITIES IN NATIONAL SCHO	OOLS	247
5	SUMMARY OF BENEFITS		252
	BUILDING OF NATIONAL SCHOOLS		252
)	THE SCHOOL BUILDING PROGRAMME		255
	TEACHER TRAINING		262
	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS		262

2

23455

6

38

41

4

44

CHAPTER TEN

	Post-l	Prima	ry Edu	ucatio	n	265	5-302
Paragraph							Page
1	INTRODUCTION						265

SECONDARY SCHOOLS

2	DISTRIBUTIO	N OF SO	CHOOLS			6	265
7	DISTRIBUTIO	N OF T	EACHER	s		.0.	268
11	THE QUALIFI	CATION	S OF T	EACHER	s		271
18	BENEFITS					N	275
24	SUMMARY						280

VOCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION

27	INTRODUCTION	 282
	CONTINUATION EDUCATION	 283
32	LOCATION OF SCHOOLS	 283
39	DISTRIBUTION OF TEACHING RESOURCES	 286
44	QUALITY OF TEACHING	 290
54	PATTERN OF CURRICULA	 292
59	UNIT COSTS	 294
	TECHNICAL AND APPRENTICE	
	EDUCATION	 295
	UNIT COSTS IN VOCATIONAL	
	EDUCATION	297
69	SUMMARY OF VOCATIONAL EDUCATION	 301
CONC	TUSION	 202
CONC		 302

CHAPTER ELEVEN

The Financing of Education 303-3	1	l								1		ŝ	ł	ł	1	ł	ł	ł	ł							l	l	ļ		ļ	ļ			1	1	1	1	1			ļ												1	1	ł	ł	ł	1	Ş	ł	i
----------------------------------	---	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	--	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	---	---	--	---	---	--	--	---	---	---	---	---	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---

10	NATIONAL SCHO	OLS		 	306
14	POST-PRIMARY F	INANCI	NG	 	307
26	THIRD LEVEL				311
30	CONCLUSION			 1.1	 312

viii

PART IV

CHAPTER TWELVE

)2

ge 5

Educational Organization and Development

Paragraph					Page
10	MANPOWER	 	 		316
34	PARTICIPATION	 	 		326
60	EFFICIENCY	 	 	1	336
83	FINANCE	 	 		343
94	CONCLUSION	 	 Gn		346

CHAPTER THIRTEEN

Recommendations for Reorganisation in the Department of Education

350-355

315-349

CHAPTER FOURTEEN

Aiding Educational Development in the Emergent Countries

356-368

CHAPTER FIFTEEN

	Educat	ion	and E	conom	ic Pro	gress	369	-386
8	EDUCATION	AND	Econo	MIC AC	TIVITY			374
8	SUMMARY							386

CHAPTER SIXTEEN

Some Issues and Emerging from t	Problem he Surve	ns ey	387	—394
Conclusion ··· ···				393
NOTES TO CHAPTER TWELVE	E		39	5-400
SELECT BIBLIOGRAPHY			40	1-403
INDEX			40	5-410

ANNEXES AND APPENDICES

(One Volume, to be published)

ANNEXE A

The Training of Teachers

FIRST LEVEL SECOND LEVEL TEACHERS OF ART DOMESTIC SCIENCE TEACHER TRAINING MANUAL INSTRUCTORS (WOODWORK AND METALWORK) PHYSICAL EDUCATION ADDITIONAL TABLES

ANNEXE B

Reformatory and Industrial Schools

NOTE ON PRIVATE ORPHANAGES

ANNEXE C

Special Schools for Mentally and Physically Handicapped

ANNEXE D

Secondary Tops

Pupils Fees Accommodation and Capacity Curriculum The Effect of Secondary Tops on National Schools

ANNEXE E

Non-Aided Primary Schools

PUPIL/TEACHER RATIOS SIZE OF CLASSES AGE OF PUPILS AGE DISTRIBUTION OF ENTRANTS AND LEAVERS BUILDINGS AND CAPACITY CURRICULUM FINANCING

ANNEXE F

Note on Statistics Relevant to the Work of an Educational Development Unit.

PURPOSES AND USES OF EDUCATION AND HUMAN RESOURCE STATISTICS

THE TYPES OF STATISTICS NEEDED SUMMARY OF THE DISCUSSION THE NEED FOR AN ORDER OF PRIORITIES

MORE DETAILED CONSIDERATION OF THE BASIC STATISTICS NEEDED BY AN EDUCATIONAL DEVELOP-MENT UNIT.

I. THE EDUCATIONAL SYSTEM

Non-Financial Statistics Pupel, Statistics—Stock and Flow Data Special Aspects of Pupil Statistics Resource Statistics: Teachers—Stock and Flow Data Resources: Other Professional Staff and Other Staff Resources: School Buildings—Stock and Flow Data Resources: Equipment (including Libraries)—Stock and

FLOW DATA CLASSES EXPOSURE PATTERNS TESTS AND GUIDANCE EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH ATTITUDINAL SURVEYS Financial Statistics of The Educational System AGGREGATES UNIT COSTS PRICE SERIES

II. SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS AND PROJECTIONS

TYPES OF DATA REQUIRED FROM POPULATION CENSUSES USE OF EXISTING DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS FOR PROJECTION PURPOSES SOCIO-ECONOMIC STATISTICS FAMILY COMPOSITION AND INCOME STATISTICS SOCIO-ECONOMIC FAMILY BACKGROUND OF 'EARLY LEAVERS'

III. LABOUR FORCE STATISTICS

IV. INFRASTRUCTURAL ITEMS

CONCLUSION

APPENDIX I

The February Census

THE NON-AIDED SECTORS LIST OF NON-AIDED PRIMARY SCHOOLS LIST OF PRIVATE COMMERCIAL SCHOOLS, 1963/64 LIST OF RELIGIOUS INSTITUTIONS, 1963/64 FEBRUARY CENSUS FORMS 1964

APPENDIX II

Demographic Forecasting

DATA USED METHODOLOGY EMIGRATION HYPOTHESES BIRTHS POPULATION OF TOWN AND RURAL AREAS—METHOD POPULATION BY PROVINCES 1971—METHOD

APPENDIX III.A

Projections of Pupil Enrolments-Methodology and Problems

SECOND LEVEL SECONDARY SECONDARY TOPS VOCATIONAL—CONTINUATION VOCATIONAL—CONTINUATION VOCATIONAL—TECHNICAL COMPARISON OF THE PROJECTIONS OF POST-PRIMARY ENTRANTS AND PRIMARY SCHOOL LEAVERS OTHER SECTORS FIRST LEVEL UNIVERSITY STUDENTS PART-TIME EDUCATION UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

APPENDIX III.B

Entrants to Day Continuation Courses, 1959-63

APPENDIX IV.A

Requirements and Projected Stock of National Teachers

REQUIREMENTS EXPECTED INVENTORY AGE DISTRIBUTION OF PRIMARY TEACHERS

APPENDIX IV.B

Requirements and Projected Inventory of Secondary Teachers

REQUIREMENTS OUTFLOW INFLOW

APPENDIX IV.C

The Projection of Vocational Teacher Requirements and Availabilities in 1970-71

REQUIREMENTS REPLACEMENTS Availabilities The Projection of the 1970/71 Stock Requirements Replacements The Projection of Availabilities

APPENDIX IV.D

Vocational Schools—Capacity and Building Programme

County Boroughs: ACCOMMODATION POSITION IN THE SESSION 1963/64 BUILDING PLANS FOR PERIOD 1964–1981 Urban Schemes: ACCOMMODATION POSITION IN 1963/64 BUILDING PLANS FOR THE PERIOD 1964–1981 County Schemes: ACCOMMODATION POSITION IN 1963/64 BUILDING PLANS FOR THE PERIOD 1964–1981 SUMMARY Accommodation for Apprentices Urban Schemes County Schemes Provision of Courses (Other than Continuation)—general observations

APPENDIX IV.E

Secondary Schools-Buildings and Capacity

APPENDIX V

Financial Data

INTRODUCTION

SECTION A

General

PRICE LEVEL TEACHER SALARY INCREASES IMPUTED SALARIES GROSS V NET EXPENDITURE

SECTION B

An Examination of National School Costs

PART I—CAPITAL COSTS HISTORICAL BACKGROUND SCHOOL BUILDING 1957/58–1961/62 THE ECONOMICS OF PRIMARY SCHOOL BUILDING UNRECOGNISED CAPITAL COSTS

PART II—CURRENT COSTS INTRODUCTION Payments to Teachers Supernumerary Teachers Pilot Studies Investigation into Teaching Costs Results—The Basic Data Pupil Teacher Ratios and Teaching Cost per Pupil Teachers' Salaries Superannuation Payments Other Current Costs School Running Costs Maintenance Costs

PART III-MAIN CONCLUSIONS

CORROBORATION OF BOARD OF WORKS FINDINGS THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE FINDINGS ON CAPITAL COSTS CURRENT COSTS SCHOOL MAINTENANCE

SECTION C

Secondary Schools: Financial Data

SIZE AND TYPE OF SCHOOL SCHOOL REVENUE ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE CAPITAL EXPENDITURE IMPUTED SALARIES OF RELIGIOUS TEACHERS

SECTION D

The Cost of Vocational Education Courses

INTRODUCTION Cost of Instruction Continuation Whole-time Technical Courses Other Costs Unit Costs by School Size Distribution of Expenditure on Vocational Education, by Course in 1962/63 and 1970/71

SECTION E

Educational Expenditure from Public Funds

APPENDIX VI

Output, Flow Pattern and Participation

ESTIMATING JUNIOR CYCLE LEAVERS ESTIMATING THE NUMBER OF OTHER SENIOR CYCLE LEAVERS SECONDARY TOPS NON-ALDED PRIMARY SCHOOLS

APPENDIX VII.A

Projection of Labour Force Composition

APPENDIX VII.B

Manpower Supply

APPENDIX VII.C

Forecasting Replacement Demand

APPENDIX VIII.A

Estimation of Net Outflow of Certificants from the Educational Sector

MEANING OF NET OUTFLOW OF CERTIFICANTS STATISTICS AVAILABLE PREVIOUS TO OUR SURVEY STATISTICS COLLECTED BY US PROCEDURES USED—(i) GENERAL CERTIFICATES PROCEDURES USED—(ii) TECHNICAL CERTIFICATES

APPENDIX VIII.B

Methodological Note on the Estimation of Certificant Levels in the Population and in the Labour Force

APPENDIX VIII.C

Technicians-Additional Data

APPENDIX VIII.D

Comparison with Norway—Derivation of Possible Targets for Vocational, Technical and Professional Education

APPENDIX VIII.E

Educational Attainment of the Population in Other Countries

APPENDIX IX.A

Pupil/Teacher Ratios and Class-size in National Schools

xvi

APPENDIX IX.B

Scholarships to Post-Primary Schools

GENERAL GENERAL PROVISIONS OF SCHEMES THE SCHOLARSHIP EXAMINATION AWARDS VALUE AND TENURE OF SCHOLARSHIPS RESERVATION OF SCHOLARSHIPS OTHER POST-PRIMARY SCHOLARSHIPS

APPENDIX IX.C

Age/Standard Progression of Pupils in National Schools

APPENDIX IX.D

Facilities in National Schools

APPENDIX IX.E

Delays Associated with the Provision of National Schools

APPENDIX X.A

Secondary Schools—Additional Tables

APPENDIX X.B

Vocational Education—Additional Tables

APPENDIX XII.A

Transport Services to National Schools

TRANSPORT SERVICES TO NATIONAL SCHOOLS—THE PRESENT SITUATION

APPENDIX XII.B

The School Location Analysis

INVESTMENT AND LOCATION AVERAGE PROPORTION OF POPULATION IN EACH TYPE OF SCHOOL (1970/71) SUPERINTENDENT REGISTRARS' DISTRICTS AND REGISTRARS' DISTRICTS LOCATION SURVEY—INTRODUCTION PURPOSE OF LOCATION SURVEY ACTUAL PROCEDURE USED RESULTS OF LOCATION SURVEY COMPARISON BETWEEN THE VARIOUS CATCHMENT AREAS USE OF LOCATION SURVEY FOR OTHER PURPOSES

xvii

APPENDIX XII.C

Note on Strategy Evaluation using a Computer

INTRODUCTION

Application of the Technique to the National School Definition of Strategy Evaluated

GENERAL STATISTICAL TABLES

LIST OF TABLES IN THE REPORT

	and the second	
ABLE		PAGE
1.1	Number of schools, pupils, teachers, on 1 February, 1964	
	(full-time education)	4
1.2	Number of pupils in full-time education by age by type	
	of school, February, 1964 facing	ng 4
1.3	Number of pupils in full-time education, February, 1964,	
	by age, showing separately, pupils in aided and non-	
	aided establishments	18
1.4	Percentage of population in each age group attending	
	aided and non-aided educational establishments,	
	1964	18
1.5	Percentage participation in full-time education-com-	20
10	parative statistics	20
1.0	Number of students in part-time education by age and	21
17	Estimated numbers of approximations attending day and/or	21
1.7	evening classes in vocational schools, by trade 1062/62	22
21	Net emigration between censuses 1962-61	26
2.1	Projected population 1966 1971 1976 by five year are	20
2.2	group and sex on emigration hypothesis A (2)	28
2.3	Projections of population, by major age groups and	20
	sex on different emigration hypotheses	30
2.4	Population, past and projected, by town and rural areas.	
	by major age groups	32
2.5	Population, past and projected, by province, by major	
	age groups	33
3.1	Projected number of pupils in full-time education, 1970/71,	
	by type of school and level	36
3.2	Projected number of pupils in full-time education, by	
	age and level, February, 1971 facin	g 37
3.3	Second level, junior cycle: projected entrants and stock,	
	1970/71, by type of school	40
3.4	Second level, senior cycle: projected stock 1970/71 by	
	type of school	42

xviii

1	ABLE		PAGE
	3.5	Projected university stock 1970/71 by faculty (full-time	
		students only)	47
	3.6	Projected numbers of part-time students by level.	
		February, 1971	49
	4.1	Projected number of teachers in national schools (includ-	
		ing special schools and secondary tops)	53
	4.2	Age distribution: primary teachers 1961 (including part-	00
		time)	56
	43	Use of capacity in secondary schools 1961/62 by school-	50
	4.5	size	61
	4.4	Sacandary schools, ago of classrooms by size of school	01
	4.4	secondary schools: age of classrooms by size of school,	(2)
	10	1901/02	62
	4.5	Vocational teachers: whole-time and part-time, 31	
		August, 1963	63
	4.6	Vocational Schools: distribution of teaching hours by	
		type of course, 1962/63	64
	4.7	Percentage distribution of teaching time on each type of	
		course by category of teacher, 1962/63	65
	4.8	Projected requirements of vocational teachers, 1970/71	66
	4.9	Age distribution of whole-time vocational teachers,	
		October, 1964	67
	4.10	Whole-time vocational teachers-projected inflows and	
		outflows 1963/70 and projected stock 1970/71	68
	4.11	Capacity utilisation in day vocational schools (continua-	
		tion courses only) 1963/64	69
	4.12	Vocational schools-plans for new and replacement	
		building 1964 to 1975	70
	4.13	Vocational schools-inventory of special rooms 1964-76	72
	4.14	Summary of resources, 1964–71	76
	5.1	Estimated expenditure on national school education,	
	1	1961/62 by source and type of expenditure	78
	52	Projected expenditure on national school education	
	0.2	1970/71	80
	53	Non-aided primary schools: percentage distribution of	
	5.5	day nunils by fee 1961/62	82
	5.4	Estimated income of all secondary schools 1961/62 by	
	5.4	Estimated meome of an secondary sensors 1901/02, by	85
		Source of medine	05
	5.5	school pupils by fee level showing day and hoarding	
		school pupils by ice ievel, showing day and obarding	86
		pupils separately, 1901/02	00
	5.6	Secondary schools: estimated current expenditure, per	
		pupil 1961/62, (excluding boarding expenditure), by	06
		size of school	00
	5.7	Estimated total expenditure of secondary schools, 1961/62	87
	5.8	Projected income of secondary schools, 19/0/71	90
	5.9	Projected expenditure of secondary schools in 1970/71	91
	5.10	Income and current expenditure of vocational education	
		committees, 1961/62	92

xix

PAGE

TABLE		PAGE
5.11	Projected income and current expenditure of vocational	
	education committees 1970/71	94
5.12	Other aided second level education: estimated current	
	expenditure 1961/62 and 1970/71	97
5.13	Current income and expenditure of universities, 1961/62	98
5.14	Projected current income and expenditure of universities,	
	1970/71	98
5.15	Estimated income of training colleges	100
5.16	Estimated income other state-aided third level	100
5.17	Other educational expenditure from public funds	101
5.18	Estimated expenditure on current resources 1961/62 and	
	1970/71 by source of finance	103
5.19	Estimated expenditure on transfer items by source of	
	finance, 1961/62 and 1970/71	103
5.20	Estimated capital expenditure by source of finance	104
5.21(a)Total educational expenditure	105
5.21(b)Expenditure on education as a percentage of gross national	
	product	105
6.1	General destinations of intermediate certificate can-	
	didates, 1963, by examination result. (percentage	
	distribution)	112
6.2	Ages of sample of intermediate certificate candidates,	
	1963	114
6.3	General destinations of leavers from secondary schools:	
	junior cycle, 1962/63, (other than intermediate	
	certificate candidates, 1963)	117
6.4	Details of 'left full-time education' in Table 6.3	118
6.5	Details of 'non family employment' in Table 6.4	118
6.6	General destinations of leaving certificate candidates,	
	1963	120
6.7	Number of leaving certificate candidates, 1963, who	
	entered university (full-time) or teacher training	
	college in 1963	120
6.8	Sample of leaving certificate candidates, 1963, by	
	eligibility for matriculation (N.U.I.)	123
6.9	England and Wales: school leavers, 1961/62, with G.C.E.	
	'A' level passes, who entered university	126
6.10	National University: Irish entrants, 1963, with leaving	
	certificate, showing percentage of honours certificants,	
	by college	127
6.11	N.U.I. entrants, 1963: percentage of entrants who had	
	honours leaving certificate, by college and faculty	128
6.12	Leaving certificate, 1963: percentage distribution of	
	'Left full-time education' in Table 6.6. (other than	
	professional apprenticeship)	129
6.13	General destinations of group certificate candidates.	
	1963, by examination result. (percentage distri-	
	bution)	132

AGE

- 98
- 100

- 104 105

T	TABLE	P.	AGE
	6.14	Group certificate, 1963: percentage distribution of	
		'left full-time education' in Table 6.13	133
	6.15	Estimated total leavers from vocational schools (con-	
		tinuation classes) 1963	135
	6.16	Destinations of leavers from vocational schools (con-	
		tinuation) 1962/63 (other than group certificate	
		candidates 1963)	136
	617	Details of 'left full-time education' in Table 6.16	127
	6 19	Sample of antrante to vegetional schools 1062/64	127
	6.10	Cartificanta atatua of aptropta to prostional acharl	137
	0.19	Certificate status of entrants to vocational schools,	100
		1963/64	138
	6.20	National school leavers, 1962/63. Primary certificate—	
		status of those who left full-time education	140
	6.21	Degrees conferred in each faculty in the universities in the	
		academic year, 1962/63	142
	6.22	Entrants to full-time day technical courses, 1963/64 by	
		course and centre	143
	6.23	Entrants to full-time technological and other third level	
		courses, 1963/64, by centre and course	144
	6.24	Educational sector flow pattern, 1963 (excluding third	
		level). Total boys and girls	145
	6.25	Educational sector flow pattern, 1963 (excluding third	
	0.20	level) Total boys	146
	6.26	Educational sector flow pattern 1963 (excluding third	
	0.20	level) Total girls	147
	6 27	Balative rates of participation in full-time education 1961	1.17
	0.27	keiative fates of participation in fun-time education, 1901,	150
	6.00	B lating rates of participation in full time education 1061	150
	6.28	Relative rates of participation in run-time education, 1901,	151
		by social group, of persons aged 15–19	151
	6.29	Relative rates of participation in fun-time education, 1961,	152
	2	by social group, of persons aged 20-24	152
	6.30	Number of males and females aged 15-19 and number in	
		full-time post-primary education in town and rural	
		areas, 1961	154
	6.31	Number of males and females aged 15-19 in full-time	
		post-primary education as percentage of population	
		aged 15–19, by town and rural areas	155
	6.32	Secondary and vocational school pupils, 1962/63, by	
		county of home residence, as percentage of population	
		aged 13-17 (1961 Census)	158
	6 33	Social group composition of population aged 0-14 by	
	0.00	province and selected counties, (derived from Census	
		of Population, 1961)	161
	634	Actual and hypothetical participation rates, by province	
	0.34	and selected counties and rateable valuations of farms	161
	6.25	Persontage distribution of sample of national school	
	0.35	lowers by destination 1963 by social group	169
		Teavers, by destination, 1905, by secur group.	105
	6.36	Percentage distribution by social group of sample of	174
		group certificate candidates, 1903	1/4

xxii

TABLE		PAGE
6.37	Percentage distribution by social group of vocational school entrants from national schools, 1963	174
7.1(<i>a</i>)	Percentages of the labour force in each social group who are unemployed	178
7.1(<i>b</i>)	Percentage distribution of the unemployed by social	178
7.2	Persons born outside all Ireland, resident in the State at April, 1961, classified by year of taking up residence	170
7.3	(visitors excluded) Total population and total residents born outside the State (26 counties) classified by occupational category	179
7.4	(Persons aged 14 and over)	179
7.5	Great Britain in 1961—percentage distributions Summary of manpower position, 1961, and as projected	180
	for 1966, 1971 and 1976	188
7.6	Professional and technical personnel, projected to 1976	189
7.7	Distribution of population aged 14 years and over by major sectors, 1951, 1961 and 1971-males	190
7.8	major sectors, 1951, 1961 and 1971—females	191
7.9	Distribution of population, age 14 and over, by type of activity	192
7.10	Labour force, as percentage of population aged 14 and over and of total population, 1951-76	192
7.11	Projected total manpower demand, 1961–1971, by major	102
8.1	Flow target educational pattern for inflows by major	195
8.2	Annual average outflow from the educational sector of certificants and non-certificants in 1951–71 by highest	199
8.3	Estimated absorption into the labour force of educational leavers by certificant status and absorption sector.	200
8.4	1961–71 Summary of supply and demand by educational qualifica-	200
8.5	tions. Flow comparison-1961-71	201
0.5	certificate by age group	203
8.0	Estimated numbers in the population with a post-primary certificate by highest type of certificate	203
8.7	Estimated proportion of post-primary certificants (a) in the adult population, (b) in the labour force	204
8.8	Technical school examinations (technological) 1945-63-	214
8.9	Technical school examinations (technological), 1945–63–	214
	group, 1945–59 and 1960–63	214

xxiii

TABLE		PAGE
8.10	Whole-time day technical courses-enrolments, 1962/63	217
8.11	Part-time technical courses — estimated numbers of students attending day and/or evening courses, 1962/63	
	and 1963/64	218
8.12	Technical school examinations: percentage of individuals holding technological certificates who also held trade certificates in certain groups. 1045/59 and 1060.63	218
9.1	National schools—possible range of pupil numbers and pupil/teacher ratios for given number of teachers	226
9.2	National schools: pupils and teachers by size of school, (number of teachers employed), 1962/63 (including	226
0.3	National schools, pupils and teachers by size of school	220
9.5	(number of pupils, 1962/63 (including secondary tops, excluding special schools)	227
9.4	Percentage distribution of national schools, pupils and	
	teachers by size of school (number of pupils), 1962/63 (including secondary tops, excluding special schools).	228
9.5	Distribution of national schools by size (number of pupils) by centrality by religion with total pupils	
	and teachers by centrality	230
9.6	National schools-percentage distribution of classes by	
	size and by size of school (number of teachers	
	employed) on 1st February, 1963 (excluding secondary	222
0.7	National schools: percentage of large classes and	255
9.1	percentage of pupils in those classes, 1962/63, by centrality	234
9.8	National schools-projected numbers of schools, pupils	
	and teachers by size of school, 1970/71 (including secondary tops, excluding special schools)	234
9.9	Teaching cost per pupil in a sample of 595 hational	
	1961/62	235
9.10	National schools: non-teaching current costs by	
5.10	teacher-size of school, 1961/62. (all schools)	237
9.11	Cost per pupil place of new schools built during the period 1958/62	237
9.12	National schools: number of pupils and number of post-	
	primary scholarships obtained in 1963, by size of school, (number of teachers employed)	239
9.13	National schools: number of pupils and number of post- primary scholarships obtained in 1963, showing the	239
0.14	National school pupils by progress and standard, on	
9.14	1st February, 1963. (Excluding pupils in special schools and special classes)	241

PAGE onal .. 174 vho

.. 178 cial

.. 178 e at nce .. 179 the ory .. 179 of .. 180 ed

214

203 204 214 xxiv

TABLE		PAGE
9.15	National schools—percentage of 'delayed' pupils by size, centrality and religion of school, on 1st February, 1963	
0.16	(excluding pupils in special schools and special classes)	242
9.10	controlity and religion of school on 1st February 1963	
	(excluding pupils in special schools and special classes)	244
917	National schools by period built and by size (Number	244
2.17	of Teachers) 1963/64 (excluding special schools)	247
9.18	Percentage of national schools having drinking water and	211
2.10	various forms of sanitation 1963/64	248
9.19	Percentage of national schools using various forms of	
	heating	249
9.20	Percentage of national schools with electricity, 1962/63	249
9.21	Percentage of national schools with various kinds of	
	equipment, by size of school, 1963/64	250
9.22	Percentage of national schools with special rooms,	
	1963/64	251
9.23(a	Average time elapsing between decision to replace and	
	completion of new school, for replacement schools	
	completed in 1957/58 and 1961/62	254
9.23(b)	Percentage distribution of replacement schools by time	
	elapsed	254
9.24	National schools by age, as on 31st March, 1964	257
9.25	National school buildings, actual and projected series for	
0.04	replacement	259
9.26	Number of operative schools	261
9.27	Derived data on 'effective' schools	261
10.1	Secondary schools (including secondary tops), by size and by centrality, 1963/64	266
10.2	Secondary schools (including the 81 secondary tops) by	
	sex by province 1963/64, and population aged 13-17	
	by province	266
10.3	Secondary schools by day fees by province, 1961/62	267
10.4	Secondary schools, 1962/63: percentage distribution of	
	day pupils in each province by distance travelled to	
10.5	school	267
10.5	Secondary schools, 1962/63: percentage distribution of	
	day pupils by distance travelled to school and by mode	
10.0	of travel	268
10.0	size of school, 1963/64	269
10.7	Teaching hours per pupil per week in secondary schools.	207
	1963/64	271
10.8	Qualification of sample of full-time graduate teachers in	
	secondary schools, 1961/62, by university degree, by	
	sex	271
10.9	Number of full-time graduate secondary teachers in	
	sample who were in receipt of a special increment for	
	honours qualifications, 1961/62	272

XXV

TADIT		
10 10	Paraantara distribution and the state	PAGE
10.10	refreentage distribution of teaching time in each subject	
	given by full-time graduate teachers classified by	
10.11	quanticatory status of teacher, 1961/62	273
10.11	Sample of full-time graduate secondary teachers by	
	university qualifications in mathematics and science,	
10.12	1961/62, by sex	274
10.12	Percentage of secondary school students studying each	
10.12	subject by sex and by cycle, 1962/63	276
10.13	Estimated percentage distribution of pupil hours in	
	secondary schools by subject, by sex and by cycle,	
	1962/63	278
10.14	Number of secondary schools in which honours were	
	obtained in certain subjects at the leaving certificate	
	examination, 1963	279
10.15	Percentage of secondary schools, by fee level, in which	
	honours were obtained at the leaving certificate	
	examination, 1963	281
10.16	Percentage of secondary schools by size and showing	
	boys, girls and mixed schools separately, providing	
	certain subjects and subject groups at honours level	
10.15	in the leaving certificate, 1962/63	281
10.17	Number of secondary schools, by sex, which presented	
	candidates for certain subjects in the intermediate	
10.10	certificate examination, 1963	281
10.18	Day vocational schools by enrolment-size and centrality	284
10.19	Continuation students in vocational schools on 1st	-
10.00	February, 1964, by school size and centrality	284
10.20	Continuation courses—schools with less than 100	
	students as percentage of schools in each province,	205
10.21	and students as percentage of an students, 1903/04	285
10.21	distance travellad to ask as 1 1062/64	205
10.22	Average weekly teaching hours per student on day	205
10.22	continuation courses by enrolment size and centrality	
	(location) of schools 1963/64	287
10.23	Student/teacher ratios (full-time equivalent teachers) on	207
	continuation courses, by enrolment size and centrality	
	of schools, 1963/64	287
10.24	Qualifications of whole-time vocational teachers by	
	category (September, 1964)	289
10.25	Whole-time vocational teachers-percentage of graduate	
	teachers with honours degrees, September, 1964	290
10.26	Vocational schools-day continuation courses. Per-	
	centage of schools of each size in which various subjects	
	were taken, 1962/63	293
10.27	Vocational schools-day continuation courses. Maxi-	
	mum numbers of students who had the opportunity of	
	receiving instruction in certain subjects, 1962/63	294

· 249 3 249 if · 250 i, i

 xxvi

TADIE		PAGE
10.28	Vocational schools-percentage distribution of teaching	
10.20	hours by type of course, 1962/63	295
10.29	Number of students attending part-time day courses on 1st February, 1964, by centrality	297
10.30	Estimated cost (£) per student on continuation courses, 1962/63	298
10.31	Vocational schools—estimated cost of instruction per teacher and per student by area and by type of course, session 1961/63	299
10.32	Vocational schools—estimated total current cost per teaching hour and per student by area and by type of course (teaching and other current costs combined)	300
11.1	Allocation of public expenditure on education in 1961/62 between schools, etc., and pupils	304
11.2	Percentage distribution of public educational expenditure by division, selected years	304
12.1	Number of centres with post-primary facilities, Sep- tember, 1963	323
12.2(a)	Number of centres with (i) secondary and (ii) post- primary schools classified by (i) the number of secondary (including secondary tops) and (ii) post-	
	primary schools in each centre and by size of centre, September, 1963	328
(b)	Number of centres with (i) secondary and (ii) post-primary schools accepting boys, classified by the number of such schools in each centre and by size of centre, September, 1963	329
(c)	Number of centres with (i) secondary and (ii) post- primary schools accepting girls, classified by the number of such schools in each centre and by size of	
	centre, September, 1963	329
12.3	Density of population in certain European countries, including Ireland	331
12.4	Density of population by province, 1961	331
12.5	Catchment areas based on large towns, classified by number of pupils in national schools in the area,	222
12.6	Number of catchment areas, based on large and medium-	333
	schools in the area, 1962/63	333
12.7	Percentage distribution of pupils in Catholic national schools (excluding special schools) by distance of national school from nearest large town, 1962/63	334
12.7(<i>a</i>)	Percentage distribution of pupils in Catholic national schools (excluding special schools) by distance of national school from nearest large or medium-sized	
	town	334

xxvii

TABLE		PAGE
12.8	Parishes by number of national school numils 1962/63	337
12.9	Percentage distribution of national school pupils (aged 11)	551
	by distance of national school from nearest (a) second-	
	ary, (b) vocational or (c) any post-primary school by	
	sex, 1962/63	348
12.10	Catchment areas, based on existing post-primary schools.	510
	classified by number of pupils in national schools in the	
	area, 1962/63	
(<i>a</i>)	Catchment areas based on secondary schools taking day	
	boys, by province	349
<i>(b)</i>	Catchment areas based on secondary schools taking day	
	girls, by province	349
(c)	Catchment areas based on vocational schools, by province	349
14.1	Emergent countries: student numbers in 1958 and target	
	figures for 1970	357
14.2	Emergent countries: teacher numbers in 1958 and target	
110	figures for 1970	357
14.3	Estimated number of Irish Religious who were teaching	
14.4	in Africa in 1962	358
14.4	Overseas university students in Ireland by area of origin,	2.50
14.5		359
14.5	distribution by faculty 1062/62	200
14.6	Estimated cost of extra recruitment coheme	300
14.0	Estimated cost of extra recruitment scheme	507

LIST OF CHARTS AND GRAPHS IN THE REPORT

Graph	1 3.1	Pupils in secondary school, vocational (continuation)	
		and full-time undergraduate students in N.U.I.	
		(excluding Maynooth)	51
Chart	6.1	General destinations of intermediate certificate	
		candidates, 1963, by examination result	113
,,	6.2	Relative rates of participation in full-time education	
		by social group	153
,,	6.3	Secondary and vocational school pupils, 1962/63 by	
		county of home residence, as percentage of	
		population aged 13-17 (1961 census)	157
,,	6.4	Post-primary participation by personal income, by	
		county	164
,,	6.5	Post-primary participation per county by density of	
		population (excluding Dublin)	165
,,	6.6	Percentage of national school leavers entering post-	
		primary education, 1963, by social group	170
,,	6.7	Social group composition, secondary schools and	
		university, 1963	172

34

334

329

329

333

eaching ~ 25 rses on . 297 OUTSES, . 28 a per ourse, .. 299 t per pe of d).. 300 .. 304 304 Sep-.. 323 ost-of ist-re, 328

xxviii

			I	PAGE
Chart	6.8	Decline of cohort in passing through second level .		175
22	9.1	Schools, teachers and pupils, by size		228
,,	9.2	Pupil/Teacher ratio by E-size		229
,,	9.3	The percentage distribution by E-size within each	h	
		centrality and religion		231
>>	9.4	Building of new national school		256
Graph	9.1	Average pupil/teacher ratio in national schools .		228
>>	9.2	Number of national school buildings completed each	h	
		year since 1926. (three year moving average)		258
Chart	10.1	Vocational schools. Teaching activity, 1962/63		296

TERMS OF REFERENCE

- (a) Preparation of inventory of the existing position in relation to skilled manpower. This would involve prior agreement on the definitions which would be applied to the various categories of workers.
- (b) Framing of educational targets, including provision for research, in relation to the assessments to be made of overall needs for skilled manpower according to field of study and level of skill, for the next 10-15 years. Alternative estimates, made according to different basic assumptions will take into account trends in economic and demographic factors, and also the experience of other countries.
- (c) Assessment (on alternative bases) of future essential demand for educational facilities at different levels based on present trends and international experience and having regard to any other factors likely to influence such demand.
- (d) Estimates of future enrolments at different levels of education and by subject of specialisation, according to the alternative assumptions mentioned above.
- (e) Interpretations of estimated enrolment figures in terms of the expansion of educational resources, i.e., teachers, buildings, equipment, etc., taking into account possible improvements in the quality of teaching.
- (f) Evaluations of the expenditure entailed by the various alternatives for the expansion of educational resources—the evaluations should be expressed in relation to macro-economic data, such as GNP and volume of investment.
- (g) Consideration of arrangements necessary to ensure the review of the position at intervals in the light of changing circumstances in the field covered by the study. In this connection to recommend the nature and extent of the additional statistical data concerning current activities which should be collected and the methods and frequency of such collections.
- (h) The extent to which the foregoing assessments might be influenced by the provision of educational facilities in Ireland for students from other countries and of educational aid in the form of teachers and other trained personnel for service in the emergent countries.

THE NATIONAL STEERING COMMITTEE

MEMBERS

- SEÁN UASAL MAC GEARAILT, ASSISTANT SECRETARY, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, CHAIRMAN.
- MR. K. BARRY, B.ARCH., M.R.I.A.I., A.R.I.B.A., TECHNICAL MANAGER, BORD FAILTE.
- MR. D. CULLIGAN, PRINCIPAL OFFICER, DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND COMMERCE.
- MR. B. DESMOND, EDUCATION OFFICER, IRISH CONGRESS OF TRADE UNIONS.
- DR. R. C. GEARY, DIRECTOR, ECONOMIC RESEARCH INSTITUTE.
- DR. J. GREENE, LEVITSTOWN HOUSE, MAGENEY, CO. KILDARE.
- DR. M. D. MCCARTHY, DIRECTOR, CENTRAL STATISTICS OFFICE.
- MR. J. F. MCINERNEY, DEPUTY ASSISTANT SECRETARY, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE.
- Mr. T. MacMahon, B.E., B.Sc., Chairman, Wavin Pipes Ltd. and member of the Electricity Supply Board.
- PROFESSOR J. MEENAN, PROFESSOR OF POLITICAL ECONOMY, UNIVERSITY COLLEGE, DUBLIN.
- Dr. J. Newman, Professor of Sociology, St. Patrick's College, Maynooth.
- M. UASAL Ó FLANNAGÁIN, CHIEF INSPECTOR, TECHNICAL INSTRUCTION BRANCH, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION.
- DR. H. SPAIN, SENIOR INSPECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE.
- MR. J. R. WHITTY, PRINCIPAL OFFICER, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE.

XXX
SURVEY TEAM

MEMBERS

- MR. PATRICK LYNCH, M.A., LECTURER IN ECONOMICS, UNIVERSITY COLLEGE, DUBLIN, DIRECTOR OF SURVEY.
- MR. WILLIAM J. HYLAND, B.SC., STATISTICS OFFICE, UNITED NATIONS, NEW YORK AND FORMERLY OF THE CENTRAL STATISTICS OFFICE, DUBLIN.
- MR. MARTIN O'DONOGHUE, B.A. (MOD.), LECTURER IN ECONOMICS, TRINITY COLLEGE, DUBLIN.
- PÁDRAIG UASAL Ó NUALLÁIN, M.SC., INSPECTOR OF SECONDARY SCHOOLS.

SECRETARY

CATHAL UASAL MAC GABHANN, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION.

FUNCTIONS OF NATIONAL TEAM AND STEERING COMMITTEE

1. The national team Director is charged with the carrying out of the project in accordance with the terms of reference.

2. It shall be the function of the National Steering Committee to advise the national team and for that purpose :---

- (a) to consider and approve the broad general lines of approach to the assignment;
- (b) to consult at regular intervals with the team Director.

3. It shall also be the function of individual members of the Committee to endeavour to secure in their particular fields such information and co-operation as the Director may request.

4. The draft final report of the Director shall be submitted to the Committee for observations and suggestions.

TECHNICAL NOTE

ROUNDING

In tables in the Report and Appendices, each figure has been rounded individually. In some cases, therefore, the rounded figures in a column or row do not add to the rounded total.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT

We are grateful to the Economist Intelligence Unit, London, which holds the copyright for the series 'Studies on Immigration from the Commonwealth', for permission to use certain data from this work in the compilation of Table 7.4.

Introduction

In this Survey we have tried to keep before our minds at all times the character and purpose of education and that the term ' educational system ' has little meaning if it is considered apart from the human needs which it is there to serve. Our limited task, however, was the prosaic one of examining those resources which are indispensable to any system of education. This Report, therefore, is essentially a technical study of trends in Irish education and of the use of human and material resources in that system. It estimates the demands that are likely to be made on those resources and considers the extent to which the system seems likely to meet future needs. These needs include satisfactory participation in education by all sections of the community and an adequate supply of qualified persons. Arising out of these investigations an examination is made of the effects of possible changes in the educational system and in its traditional use of resources. The Report is a long one and is essentially fact-finding and analytical in character.

The Report has been drafted with an awareness of the interrelationship between means and ends. In education, as in other areas, decisions on ends are often influenced by considerations of means. A recognition of the resources needed to meet a given set of objectives may lead to changes in objectives or to a different arrangement of priorities.

It is not our function to say what the objectives of the educational system should be or to say what priority or weight should be given to particular objectives. Our role is an ancillary one. To be most effective, decisions and policies require an adequate basis of relevant information: it is our responsibility to supply such information and to recommend how it can continue to be made available. The implications and likely outcome of various courses of action need to be indicated both as regards the attainment of certain objectives and the scale of resources involved.

The Report consists of sixteen chapters. They deal with the subject, not in the order in which the terms of reference present it, but as indicated in what follows. The Report is in four parts. Part I consists of chapters 1 to 5. Chapter 1 gives a brief description of the evolution, present organisation and working of the educational system. A forecast is made in chapters 2 and 3 of the system as it would be in the future if no changes were introduced other than those already officially announced. In chapters 4 and 5 the resources necessary to meet the needs of that system are estimated.

Part II consists of chapters 6, 7 and 8. Chapter 6 contains an examination of the extent to which the various sections of the community make use of the educational facilities available at present

at each level. In chapters 7 and 8 patterns of employment are examined and a forecast made of the number of people with various levels of qualifications, who are expected to be required to meet the needs of the Irish economy in the years ahead. These requirements are set beside the numbers of qualified people likely to become available from the present education system as described in previous chapters. Part III consists of chapters 9, 10 and 11. A detailed analysis of the existing educational structures of primary and postprimary level is made in chapters 9 and 10 in order to identify areas in which there appears to be scope for a more effective use of resources. Chapter 11 is a brief discussion of the structure of educational financing.

Part IV contains chapters 12 to 15. In chapter 12, the analysis of the system and the comparison made earlier in the Report between the supply of qualified persons on the one hand and the demand on the other leads to a consideration of possible alterations designed to facilitate the adaptation of the system to changing needs. Some possibilities are discussed and their implications examined.

Chapter 13 contains recommendations on how educational planning might be organised in the future. Chapter 14 refers to the question of educational aid for developing countries.

Chapter 15 considers the role of education in the theoretical context of economic progress. Chapter 16 is a concluding chapter.

This brief account indicates the range of topics dealt with in this Report. The Report does not claim to be conclusive or exhaustive. Some aspects of our subject are not discussed. Others would have been more thoroughly and, perhaps, more fruitfully discussed but for the time limit, which is necessarily a feature, and, almost certainly a desirable discipline in a pilot survey of this kind. Time for the survey was limited. In addressing ourselves to the terms of reference we were faced with certain difficulties not inherent in such a survey and arising mainly because our task was, in a sense, a pioneering one. There was a dearth of the basic data needed for our analysis of the educational system. The collection of this information and the demographic and manpower forecasts occupied a substantial amount of time, which otherwise might have been differently employed.

We see in the Report only a beginning, a foundation on which others may build. There is no finality about it nor could there be, for change is perennial and will not stop this year or next. The process, which the Report initiates, should be regarded as a continuing one if the intention of the Report is to be realized. The two basic problems of making the most effective choices and using means to greatest advantage will always remain. With them will remain the need for adequate information if policy is to be as fully informed as possible.

We ourselves are responsible for the shortcomings of the Report. Whatever merits it has owe much to the guidance given by the Chairman and members of the Steering Committee and by OECD., to the facilities afforded us by the Department of Education and the Central Statistics Office, and, of course, to the co-operation of the various school authorities in supplying information. The Departments of Finance, Agriculture, Lands, Defence and Justice must also be thanked. We are specially indebted to Dr. M. D. McCarthy, Director of the Central Statistics Office, and to Dr. R. C. Geary, Director of the Economic Research Institute, for helpful advice and constructive criticism. It should be noted, however, that full responsibility for the report, the accuracy of the data, the views expressed and the conclusions rests exclusively with us, the members of the survey team.

We wish to record our gratitude to school managers, chief executive officers of vocational committees, principals and teachers, and to parents and pupils, who bore patiently with our enquiries and gave us valuable information.

To all, who in any way helped us in our task, with information, advice or criticism, we offer our sincere and grateful appreciation.



PART I

Part I in general is a description of the existing system of education in Ireland and presents a forecast of what the numbers participating in education and the resources involved are likely to be in the years ahead in that system, as modified only by changes already publicly announced by the Minister for Education.

Chapter 1 describes the various schools and colleges that comprise the educational system. On the basis of forecasts of population made in Chapter 2 a forecast is made in Chapter 3 of the number of pupils who are likely to be in the various divisions of the educational sector in the years ahead. In Chapter 4 an estimate is made of the numbers of teachers and buildings needed to cater for those numbers of pupils by present standards: and consideration is given to how far existing arrangements are likely to make those resources available in adequate measures. Chapter 5 discusses the costs involved in providing these resources.



CHAPTER ONE

The Irish Educational System

1.1 The task of this survey is to forecast the demands that may be made on the Irish educational system in the years ahead, to estimate the resources needed to meet those demands, and to consider how those resources may be allocated to most effect. In this chapter we shall describe what we define as the educational sector, that is the various categories of schools and colleges which we regarded as coming within our purview, giving the institutional structure and the numbers participating. In line with this we shall for convenience use the term 'education' in the restricted sense of being the service provided by those schools and colleges.

1.2 One of the difficulties that confronted us at the beginning of the survey was the inadequacy of the educational statistics available. Statistics were in general available for the number of pupils in State-aided establishments. They were of rather limited value for our purposes, however, as they had been collected primarily for administrative purposes, and also because of technical difficulties such as differences in the dates of collection. Very little information was available regarding the ages of the pupils.

1.3 A limited survey¹ of pupil numbers by age had been carried out by the Department² in February, 1962. We expanded this, in February, 1963 and 1964, in co-operation with the Department, to cover all establishments within the educational sector,³ whether aided by the Department of Education or by other Departments or nonaided, as well as to include number of teachers, aggregate teaching hours and size of classes. We shall refer to these surveys as the February censuses—a detailed account of how they were organised is given in Appendix I.

¹Covering pupils over ten years of age in national, secondary and vocational schools.

²'Department' means the Department of Education, unless otherwise stated.

³In paragraph 1.39 we refer to some institutions not included in our definition of the educational sector.

TABLE 1.1

Number of Schools, Pupils, Teachers, on 1st February, 1964 (Full-time Education)

				Number of	of Teachers
Reference in text	Type of School or College	Number of Schools or Colleges	Number of Full-time Pupils	Whole- time	Whole-time Equivalent of Part-time
Paragraph 9 13	First Level : National School Special School	4,800 ¹ 41	472,124 2,793	13,875 ² 189 ²	=
16	Non-aided Primary	192	21,151	751	125
12 18	Second Level : Secondary Top Secondary School	81 ¹ 569	6,696 ³ 87,948 ⁵	231 ² 4,982 ⁶	65 ⁴ 167 ⁶
24	(Continuation)	245	28,969	1,8267	410 ⁸
24, 36	Vocational (Technical)	15%	1,60710		and the state
32 34	Residential Domestic Other Aided	12 22	381 1,112	30 70	6 5
23	Non-aided Secondary	3	250	-11	
37	Commercial	60	2,139	94	20
34	Religious Other Non-aided	5 2	134 129	12 7	_ 4
35	Third Level : University	6	13,15312	1,04313	-
15 31	National	6 2	1,108 163	62 14	11 6
31 15 36	Vocational Non-aided Other Aided	2 5 3	253 290	3 3 6	6 14 24
37	Non-aided Religious	38	1,786	136	34

¹The 4,800 include the 81 which have a secondary top.

²Source : Department. Excludes supernumeraries (436) in national schools. ³Junior Cycle 5,754, Senior Cycle 942. ⁴Actually 260 part-time.

⁵Junior Cycle 64,334 Senior Cycle 23,614.

⁶All diploma students have been counted as whole-time.

7Includes instruction to part-time students.

 $^{\rm 8} The teaching hours for full-time students is equivalent to about 175 whole-time teachers.$

⁹Five are included in the 245 above.

¹⁰Includes 594 third level. Also includes 143 in Army Apprentice School, Naas.
¹¹Not available.

¹²Including 3,278 from outside the State. Includes St. Patrick's College, Maynooth and Royal College of Surgeons.

¹³1962/63, Full and Part-time (Statistical Abstract 1964). Does not include staff of College of Surgeons.

1.4 The results of the 1964 survey are given in Tables 1.1 and 1.2. Table 1.1 gives, for full-time education, the number of schools in the various categories and the number of pupils and teachers in them. Table 1.2 gives the age distribution of the pupils as well as the percentage participation in full-time education by the relevant age groups in the population. The 1963 data were the basis of much of the analysis done in the later chapters as they were the latest available at the time: they are given in Appendix I. Part-time education is discussed later in the chapter.4

1.5 The institutional structure of the various categories of schools shown in these tables is described in the paragraphs that follow. The terms 'level' and 'cycle' will occur frequently. The former is used in its usual sense as will be seen from the tables, 'first level' referring to primary education, 'second level' to post-primary and 'third level' to university and other advanced courses. These levels may be sub-divided for some purposes and we use the term 'cycle' to describe such a sub-division.

GENERAL BACKGROUND

1.6 The structure of the system of education in Ireland owes much to history.5 It is in general an aided system : the State does not itself operate the schools6 but assists other bodies to do so. Most of the primary and secondary schools are under clerical management. The vocational schools are operated by local vocational education committees which are elected by the members of the local government authorities. The universities operate autonomously under charter.

1.7 The major portion of public expenditure on education in Ireland is borne by central government funds, as will be seen from the discussion in chapter 5. The administration of education, in so far as the State is concerned, is vested in the Department of Education under the Minister for Education, who is a member of the Government and responsible to Dáil Éireann. The Department has under its jurisdiction in varying degrees the primary, secondary and vocational schools and the reformatory and industrial schools. A small but important area of specialised second-level education, agricultural education, comes within the administrative sphere of the Department of Agriculture.

1.8 Education is compulsory in Ireland for all children between the ages of 6 and 14 years. A child is required to remain in full-time education until the end of the quarter in which he attains the age of

⁴Paragraph 1.43 et seq.

^{*}For an account of the historical development, see reports of the Council of Education. (S.O.)

[&]quot;There are a few minor exceptions.

14 years. Education became compulsory when, under the Irish Education Act of 1892, attendance at school on at least 75 days in each half year was made compulsory for children between 6 and 14 years of age in all cities and towns. In rural areas the local authorities could apply the Act if they so desired. In 1926, however, four years after Independence, the School Attendance Act was passed making attendance compulsory on all school days for children between the ages of 6 and 14 years in all parts of the country. This Act also included machinery for extending compulsory education to the age of 16 years.

NATIONAL SCHOOLS

1.9 Constitutionally, parents are free to provide this compulsory education in their own homes or in private schools or in schools recognised or established by the State.⁷ The majority of the children, however, attend the national schools, which are state-aided and provide free primary education.8 The management of the national schools is on a denominational basis, the parish priest being the manager in the case of Catholic schools and the local Protestant clergyman or minister in other cases.9 However, no child may be compelled to attend religious instruction against the wishes of his parents, nor may he be refused admission to any national school on grounds of religion or social position. The appointment of the manager normally rests with the bishop or diocesan trustees. The managers are charged with the direct government of the school. The manager appoints the teachers, subject to Departmental approval of the teachers' qualifications, but the salaries are paid direct to the teachers by the Department. The manager is also responsible for the heating, cleaning and maintenance of the school : the State pays certain grants for those purposes. On the capital side a state grant of at least two-thirds¹⁰ of the total cost is made towards the erection of new schools or the enlargement or improvement of existing schools, the balance of the cost being raised locally by the manager.

1.10 The period of attendance at a national school is five to six hours a day on five days a week for 190 days a year. Instruction is given¹¹ in Religion and in Irish, English, arithmetic, history, geography, music, and needlework (for girls). The following subjects are optional : rural science or nature study, drawing, physical training, cookery or laundry work or domestic economy (for girls), and manual instruction (for boys). Algebra and geometry are taught in some

⁷Article 42 (2), Constitution of Ireland, 1937.

⁸Books, etc. are not provided free generally.

⁹There is one school under Jewish management.

¹⁰The average state contribution in 1963 was 86 per cent.

¹¹For further discussion see Chapter 9, paragraph 9.47 et seq.

sh iys and ocal ever, assed ldren intry.

the

be

ent

the the

pays

the

ager.

o six tion ory,

cts

1g,

ne

schools but are not obligatory in the smaller schools or in classes taught by women. The courses of instruction in the various subjects have been prescribed by the Minister for Education after consultation with representatives of educational bodies and other educationists. On completion of the sixth standard pupils are required to enter for the primary certificate examination, conducted by the Department, in Irish, English and Arithmetic, but this certificate is not essential for entry to post-primary education. (See later paragraphs).

1.11 While the national schools cater mainly for pupils within the compulsory school ages, enrolment is allowed from the age of 4 and pupils may remain in attendance up to the age of 18. Tables 1.1 and 1.2 show that there are about 4,800 national schools catering for some 472,000 pupils¹³ with ages ranging from 4 to 18. There are about 14,000 teachers : two-thirds of the schools are one or two teacher schools. These numbers do not include pupils in 'special schools' or 'secondary tops', terms which we now explain.

SECONDARY TOPS

1.12 Subject to certain conditions, a national school may be formally recognised for the purpose of giving instruction in the secondary school programme to pupils who have completed the primary programme, those pupils then being admitted to the Department's examination for secondary school certificates on the same conditions as pupils from secondary schools. We refer to the secondary part of such a national school as a 'secondary top'. Table 1.1 shows that there were 81 secondary tops in 1963/64 catering for about 6,700 pupils.13 All but about 500 of these were girls as most secondary tops are in convent national schools. Fees are charged in some of the secondary tops, but they are usually fairly low, ranging from £1 to £12 per annum. Other national schools may provide instruction in parts of the secondary programme, but only those which are formally recognised as having a secondary top may enter pupils for the secondary (intermediate certificate) examinations,14 and only those are included under 'second level' in these tables.

SPECIAL SCHOOLS

1.13 There are a number of special schools recognised by the Department of Education for mentally and physically handicapped children. These schools operate within the general regulations for national schools, modified to meet their particular requirements in relation to pupil/teacher ratios, qualifications of teachers and

¹³The size of an age cohort in Ireland is about 50–60,000. ¹³For a detailed account of secondary tops see Annexe D. ¹⁴cf, Par. 1.21.

curricula. Table 1.1 shows that in February, 1964 there were 41 such schools catering for about 2,800 pupils. As generally used in this report, the term 'national school' will not include these 'special schools'.

REFORMATORY AND INDUSTRIAL SCHOOLS

1.14 Reformatory and industrial schools come within the purview of this report only in so far as they are centres for the provision of education. They come under the administration of the Department of Education. Reformatory schools are, in effect, centres for the detention of young offenders between the ages of 12 and 16 years. At present there are three such schools, one for boys and two for girls. There were 154 children in detention on 30 June, 1963 (127 boys and 27 girls). Industrial schools on the other hand receive children for a variety of reasons, primarily because of the failure of parents to care for them but also for such reasons as persistent nonattendance at school. Committal is normally to the age of 16 years but the Minister for Education may order the release of children in certain circumstances. At present there are 48 recognised industrial schools (13 for boys, 35 for girls) housing 3,240 children in 1962/63, (1,588 boys and 1,652 girls). For some years the number of children in industrial schools has been declining steadily. All children in reformatory and industrial schools receive primary education either at recognised national schools within the institution or at local national schools-in either case included under 'national schools' in Tables 1.1 and 1.2. A few of them receive post-primary education in secondary or vocational schools.

TEACHER TRAINING COLLEGES

1.15 National school teachers are trained in recognised training colleges, which are state-aided and under ecclesiastical management. Table 1.1 shows that there are six such colleges with about 1,100 students. The course of training is of two years duration. The conditions of admission and the curriculum are prescribed by the Minister for Education. The standard of entrance is that of the secondary school leaving certificate, and recruitment is mainly by open competitive examination. Entry is normally from second level education but a small number of university graduates are admitted; they take a one year course. A small number of teachers are trained according to Froebel and Montessori methods in colleges which receive no state aid. These are included under 'non-aided teacher training' in Table 1.1, as are teachers of Physical Education. These latter are recognised to teach in vocational schools and some of them are recognised to teach in secondary schools. The Froebel teachers are recognised to teach in national schools. Table 1.1 shows that e 41 sed in special

purview vorvision for the l6 years. 27 boys children part non-6 years firen in sustrial 52/63, ildren en in eeither local hools'

ining ment. 1,100 The y the of the ly by level aitted; rained which acher hese hem hers hat there were about 14,000 teachers in national schools. Of these some 12,000 were trained teachers (4,000 men and 8,000 women): there were about 2,000 untrained women teachers. Religious comprised one in four of the women and one in seven of the men.¹⁵

NON-AIDED PRIMARY

1.16 Apart from the national schools, primary education is also provided by non-aided schools. These charge fees and do not receive any financial aid from the State. Table 1.1 shows that there were 192 such schools catering for approximately 21,000 children in 1963/64. These schools are located mostly in the larger centres of population, the great majority being in Dublin. Many of them are attached to secondary schools as preparatory departments. It will be seen from Table 1.2 that there are very few pupils over 12 years of age in these schools. Some 80 per cent of the pupils are 6 to 12 years of age and account for 4.2 per cent of the total numbers in that age range. The majority are understood to move into secondary schools in their thirteenth year.

1.17 There are also some kindergarten and nursery schools catering only for children under the age of six. We have not included these in our account of the educational sector, mainly because of the difficulty of obtaining adequate data about them.

SECONDARY SCHOOLS

1.18 Second level or post-primary schools are of two main types, secondary and vocational. Table 1.1 shows that in February, 1964 there were 569 secondary schools catering for some 88,000 pupils. These are private, fee-charging institutions, owned and maintained by the Dioceses, Religious Orders, Boards of Governors and others. They receive State grants and are subject to inspection. A number of them were established before any public grants were available to them : indeed sometimes in the face of imposed disabilities. State aid was not made available generally in secondary education until 1878 when the Commissioners of Intermediate Education were set up. Their role was limited to the provision of financial assistance to the schools, which took the form of payments on the results of annual written examinations. A number of revisions or modifications were made over the years including the introduction of inspection, the establishment of a register of intermediate teachers and the institution of a teachers' salary grant. A major reform was introduced in 1924, shortly after Independence, when the Intermediate Education (Amendment) Act, 1924, repealed the clauses in the previous acts which made grants to schools dependent on the results obtained by

¹⁵Source: Department.

their pupils in the public examinations. The scheme of capitation and other grants and of teachers' salaries, together with the general lines of the programme and examination system, all derive from this Act.

1.19 At present secondary schools receive financial assistance from the State under two main headings:

- (a) a capitation grant paid in respect of each recognised pupil;¹⁶
- (b) the major portion of the salaries of the registered teachers¹⁷ employed in the schools, within a quota limit. The schools are required to pay a certain additional amount in salary to lay teachers.

Special grants are also payable in respect of the teaching of science subjects, domestic science, manual instruction, and music. In recent years extra grants have been introduced for the furnishing and equipment of science laboratories, the renting or purchase of television sets and the equipping of language laboratories. In 1964 a scheme of grants towards the capital cost of building and extending secondary schools was introduced.

1.20 The typical age at entry^{1*} to secondary schools is about 13, but it ranges from 11 to 15. The full period of instruction is 5 to 6 years and the completion ages range from 16 to 19. Entrants come from the national schools and from the non-aided primary schools; the regulations of the Department require that to be eligible for the payment of capitation grants a pupil must have obtained a primary certificate (paragraph 1.10) or have satisfied the entrance requirements of the school. However, less than 1 per cent of all new pupils are refused a grant on these grounds. A minimum number (five or six) of approved subjects must also be studied and schools must operate on 200 days a year to qualify for full grant. The rates of full grant at present¹⁹ are £14 for junior pupils (up to intermediate certificate) and £19 for senior pupils.

1.21 In curriculum the secondary schools correspond in a general way to grammar schools or gymnasia in other countries. The curriculum must include Irish, English, history and geography, mathematics, another language or science or commerce, domestic science (for girls). Further detail, including a list of optional subjects, is to be found in Chapter 10. Almost all of the schools prepare their pupils for the Department's examinations : as a result there is a high degree of uniformity in syllabus. These examinations are the

¹⁸Annual Reports.

¹⁶See par. 1.20. ¹⁷See par. 1.22. ¹⁹1963/64.

neral m this

e from

pupil;15 achers17 ools are

science recent equipon sets grants chools

but o 6 ome ols; for ary ents are six) ate ant te)

ral The hy, tic ts, eir

intermediate certificate taken at the age of about 15 to 16 years after a three to four year course of study, and the leaving certificate taken at the age of 17-18 years after a further two years. Passes in leaving certificate subjects are in general accepted for matriculation by the university authorities. The leaving certificate examination is not confined to school pupils but is open to all on payment of a fee.

1.22 The appointment of teachers in secondary schools rests with the school authorities. The Department's regulations require that schools in receipt of state grants employ a certain minimum number of registered secondary teachers related to the number of pupils and pay each of these teachers, if a lay teacher, a fixed minimum basic salary. At present this minimum is £200 per annum, but in practice schools pay more than this. A register of secondary teachers is administered by the Department of Education under regulations made by a representative Registration Council with the approval of the Minister for Education. The qualifications required of applicants for registration include a degree of a recognised university, a recognised postgraduate qualification of training in the theory and practice of education, one year's satisfactory teaching experience in a recognised secondary school and oral competence in the Irish language. The rules do not restrict these teachers to the teaching of any particular subjects; they may, in fact, teach subjects that they have not taken in their degree. In the case of non-university subjects, e.g. art, domestic science, physical training, however, a diploma from a recognised college is accepted for registration for the teaching of the particular subject.20 Of the 5,000 full-time teachers in secondary schools shown in Table 1.1 about 4,000 were registered. These were equally divided among the four categories male/female by lay/religious.

NON-AIDED SECONDARY

1.23 There are a few non-aided secondary schools These of course enjoy complete independence as regards curriculum, etc. We have accounted for three such schools catering for about 250 pupils (Table 1.1). No state grants are paid to those schools nor to the teachers in them.

VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS

1.24 The second major type of post-primary school is the vocational school. Historically, this has evolved from the technical schools. The impetus in the development of technical education in Ireland

^{so}As is a university diploma in the teaching of music.

dates from the establishment of the Department of Agriculure and Technical Instruction for Ireland in 1899. At that time also the present method of public control which is peculiar to technical education was introduced, responsibility being given to educational committees selected by the new local authorities-the Local Government (Ireland) Act had been enacted in 1898. A period of considerable development followed, particularly in urban technical and commercial education and in evening classes.

1.25 After 1922 the administration of technical education was transferred to the Department of Education and there followed a radical revision of the system. Following the recommendations of the Commission on Technical Education the Vocational Education Act, 1930 was enacted. From this act derives the subsequent development of vocational and technical education. Its most notable feature was the provision for a system of full-time day ' continuation ' education, a term which is explained below (Paragraph 1.28).

1.26 There are thirty eight vocational education committees: one each for the cities of Dublin, Cork, Limerick, Waterford, and for seven urban areas (Bray, Drogheda, Dún Laoghaire, Galway, Sligo, Tralee, Wexford), and one for each administrative county.²¹ Each committee has a minimum of fourteen members selected by the local rating authority²² and holds office for the same period as the authority. Not more than eight of the members may be members of the rating authority. Membership must be representative of educational, cultural, industrial and commercial interests in the area. Each committee has a chief executive officer who acts as director of education and secretary/accountant.

1.27 The functions of a committee are to provide, or assist in the provision of, a system of continuation education and a system of technical education in its area. In the discharge of these functions it may establish schools, employ staff, award scholarships, contribute towards expenses incurred by persons in obtaining technical education. charge fees, or remit them, and generally perform all the functions of an educational authority, within the general powers conferred by the Act. A committee's programme and expenditure is subject to the approval of the Minister for Education but, generally, once the basic educational and financial schemes have been approved a considerable degree of flexibility and discretion is allowed in regard to the actual

^{*1}County Tipperary is divided into North and South Ridings. ^{*2}Local taxation in Ireland is called a 'rate' and is levied on all hereditaments and land. For this purpose a 'valuation' is assigned to all real estate by a central Govern-ment body known as the Valuation Office. The 'rate' 'takes the form of a proportion of the 'valuation' and is expressed as 'x' shillings in the pound. A similar system operates in Great Britain.

the anical ational overn. of con. al and

in was wed a ions of acation equent otable ation '

one for igo, ach ocal the s of iach of

of s it nute ion, s of the basic the the tual

nn organisation of courses. Committees can initiate action on matters relating to continuation and technical education in their areas and are thus in a position to be responsive to local needs.

1.28 'Continuation' education is defined as 'education to continue and supplement education provided in elementary schools and includes general and practical training in preparation for employment."23 The system of continuation schools has been built up since 1930 and now caters for some 29,000 students in 245 schools (Table 1.1). The pattern of courses is rather uniform throughout the country, the guide lines having been set by the Department about 1941. The age of admission is fourteen years, but children over thirteen who have completed a year in the sixth standard of a national school are admitted. The normal duration of the course is two years, though secretarial courses for girls may extend over three. The normal timetable provides for twenty-five to twenty-eight hours instruction weekly, about one third of the time being devoted to woodwork and metalwork in the case of boys and to domestic economy in the case of girls. Boys are also taught mechanical drawing and mathematics: the girls take commercial subjects. Most rural schools teach rural science and are provided with school gardens. Art and applied science are taught in some centres. All students learn Irish and English; history as a formal subject is not taught, nor is Latin. In recent years a number of committees have introduced a modern continental language into the day continuation course. The actual programmes vary somewhat between borough, urban and county areas. While the course is nominally of two years duration, there has been a tendency for some years past for a number of students to take a third year.

1.29 'Technical education' is defined as 'education in or pertaining to trades, manufactures, commerce and other industrial pursuits'²⁴ and includes education in science, art and domestic subjects. Under this heading fall courses for apprentices, whole-time day courses in science, engineering, architecture, surveying, dietetics etc. which lead to professional qualifications, whole-time and part-time technical training, including the still rather ill-defined area known as technician training, special training courses in connection with new industrial development, winter farm schools²³ and evening courses whether of a professional, technical, general or leisure type.

²³Vocational Education Act, 1930, Section 3.

²⁴Vocational Education Act, 1930 Section 4(1).

²⁴Winter Farm Schools are conducted in conjunction with the County Committees of Agriculture, under arrangements made jointly by the Departments of Education and Agriculture.

1.30 Outside the four county boroughs of Dublin, Cork, Limerick and Waterford, facilities for technical education are limited. There are some part-time technical courses, training centres for hotel workers, some day release and block release for apprentices, winter farm schools and special ad hoc training courses in connection with new industries. Evening courses are generally in commercial, technical and domestic subjects and manual training. The county boroughs provide a rather more complete range of courses. At present, however, only Dublin and to a lesser extent, Cork, can be said to provide a full range of courses, from apprentice training to the highest technological training. In Dublin these courses are provided in four colleges, two Colleges of Technology, the College of Commerce and the College of Catering and Domestic Science : some of the work in these colleges is third level. These facilities for technical education in Dublin are national rather than local and this has been recognised from the beginning.

1.31 The qualifications of teachers are prescribed by the Minister. Teachers of woodwork, metalwork and domestic science are trained by the Department; a university degree or professional qualification is required for most other subjects. The Department has also on occasion trained teachers of Irish and rural science. Table 1.1 shows about 1,800 full-time teachers in vocational schools. These are all lay people, male teachers accounting for just under three quarters of them.

1.32 Apart from the students following continuation courses, there were also, in the school-year 1963/64 about 1,600 full-time students for technical courses (Table 1.1). There were also 6,147 students for part-time apprentice courses, 7,786 students attending various part-time day courses and 53,662 pursuing evening courses of all types.²⁶ In addition approximately 6,000 attended part-time winter agricultural classes organised by the County Committees of Agriculture.²⁷ There were also 12 residential schools of domestic economy, privately run but in receipt of capitation grants from the Department of Education.

1.33 The basic sources of funds for vocational education are the local rates, state grants and tuition fees. The maximum rate that can be levied for vocational education is 24d. in the \pounds and the maximum increase that can be sought in any one year is 3d. The state grants are paid *pro rata* to the contribution from the local rates, the actual ratio depending generally on whether the scheme is a county, urban or county borough scheme. Some special grants are

²⁶ Source: Department of Education.

²⁷ Source: Department of Agriculture.

erick te are orkers, er farm on with imercial, i, can be e county ses. At training urses are e College science: facilities an local

inister. rained cation so on shows are all ers of

, there udents tts for partpes.²⁶ ltural There y run ration.

re the e that d the The rates, is a are also paid in respect of vocational education in Gaeltacht areas. In addition, in recent years special additional grants are paid to committees where necessary. Between them state grant and local rates account for over 90 per cent of income. The scale of fees is moderate and committees may remit fees in necessitous cases.

AGRICULTURAL SCHOOLS

1.34 In addition to grammar and vocational post-primary education, there are also some more specialised forms of second level education. The most important of these is agricultural education. The figures in Table 1.1 under ' second level, other aided' include three state-run agricultural schools catering for approximately 100 pupils, and 13 privately run state-aided schools with approximately 700 pupils. There is another state school but it is not now used for regular full-time courses. The aided schools include schools which provide a course in general agriculture for boys (one also admits girls) and schools of rural domestic economy, which provide a general training in domestic economy and ancillary activities for girls who propose to remain in agriculture. There is also an Institute, the Munster Institute, directly conducted by the Department of Agriculture, for the training of girls as poultry instructresses. The entry 'other aided ' under 'second level' in Table 1.1 includes also the Forestry schools run by the Department of Lands, the Air corps apprentice training school and the army school of music, run by the Department of Defence, and the numbers receiving instruction in general subjects in St. Patrick's Institution run by the Department of Justice. 'Other non-aided ' consists of two private schools recognised by the Department of Posts and Telegraphs for the training of marine radio officers.

UNIVERSITIES

1.35 The bulk of third level, or higher education, is provided by the universities. There are two universities in Ireland, the National University which has constituent colleges in Dublin, Cork and Galway and a recognised college at Maynooth (for clerical students), and the University of Dublin (Trinity College). Both universities are autonomous, but they receive state aid, which is paid through the Department of Education. The returns to our survey of February, 1964, showed 9,006 full-time³⁸ students in the constituent colleges of the national university (5.530 in Dublin, 1,956 in Cork, 1,520 in

^{**}Full-time' as used in this Report, means students taking degree courses by attendance at the full day series of lectures etc., in the appropriate faculties, Diploma students were regarded as full-time or part-time by reference to the requirements of their course. Students for the Higher Diploma in Education were regarded as part-time.

Galway), 510 in Maynooth, 2,851 in Trinity College, and 786 in the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons in Ireland, which is also included under 'university' in Table 1.1.

OTHER THIRD LEVEL

1.36 There are also more specialised institutions providing higher education. Training in art and design is provided by the state controlled National College of Art in Dublin. (The courses provided by vocational education authority schools of art in Cork, Limerick and Waterford are mainly part-time.) Higher education in engineering, architecture and commerce is also provided in Dublin, and engineering in Cork, by vocational authorities. Although this is third level it has for convenience been included in vocational (technical) in second level in Table 1.1. Teacher training for national school teachers has already been mentioned. 'Other Aided' in Table 1.1 comprises the Military College and the College of Pharmacy as well as the National College of Art.

NON-AIDED RELIGIOUS SCHOOLS

1.37 Private schools conducted by religious may require some explanation. A very small number of these schools provide second level education, without state aid, for aspirants to the religious life. For the most part, however, private religious schools operate at third level. As used by us, the term covers major seminaries and schools of Theology and Philosophy instructing candidates for the Church. Only those students have been counted who are not in full-time attendance at a university college as defined in paragraph 1.35. St. Patrick's College, Maynooth occupies a dual position. It is a Pontifical University, conferring degrees in Theology and Canon Law, and also a recognised College of the National University of Ireland providing degree courses in Arts and Science. All of the students in Maynooth have been included under 'university' in Table 1.1, although State aid is related only to those studying secular subjects.

1.38 With higher education, the main item of state spending is the grant to the universities. This is not 'tied' to numbers of pupils, teachers or courses as with the other levels, but instead is decided upon as a result of submissions from the university authorities as to their general financial needs for the year. Other state spending on higher education relates to such items as teacher training and the National College of Art.

86 in hich is

ng higher the state courses in Cork, education n Dublin, ough this ocational national ided' in lege of

e some second pus life. rrate at ies and for the not in ragraph osition. gy and iversity of the a Table secular

is the pupils, ecided ies as ding the

INSTITUTIONS NOT COVERED

1.39 It will be observed that the educational sector as thus delimited by us excludes some institutions which might well be listed under a different definition, but this is inevitable when boundaries have to be drawn. The most important exclusions are the research institutes, including the Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies, and the short courses conducted by such bodies as the Irish Management Institute and the Institute of Public Administration. Nor have we taken cognisance of Irish students who go abroad for education as we had no data on them. We also did not attempt to distinguish 'training' as opposed to 'education', including all the activities of the establishments included by us, even though some of their activities might be described as 'training' courses. An obvious example occurs in the case of the vocational schools, many of whose courses are termed ' training ' courses, e.g., apprenticeship training courses. However, we excluded from consideration shop floor training and educational activity in industrial firms, again owing to lack of data.

1.40 Since the boundaries of the educational sector have been drawn in a conventional way, some anomalies may arise. When, for example, a graduate of a university goes on to do some post-graduate research, he will still be in the educational sector if the work is done in a university, but outside it if he works in, say, the Agricultural Institute or the Economic Research Institute. This may seem to be rather pedantic but we have found it necessary for purposes of clarity and feasibility. Under existing conditions, however, the effect of such apparent anomalies in the definitions is unlikely to be serious; it could be serious only if there had been significant changes in the institutional framework, as a result of which comparable types of students might have been included at one period of time and excluded at another. There do not appear to have been any institutional changes of this kind in Ireland in recent decades.

PARTICIPATION RATES

1.41 Table 1.2 shows also the percentage participation in full-time education of different age groups in the population. It should be noted that these figures cover the whole of the educational sector. This as far as we are aware, is the first time such a wide coverage has been obtained—thanks to the co-operation of the various school authorities in making such a satisfactory response to the February censuses. In Tables 1.3 and 1.4 we have summarised the figures separately for aided and non-aided establishments.

TABLE 1.3

Number of Pupils in Full-Time Education, February, 1964, by Age, Showing Separately, Pupils in Aided and Non-Aided Establishments.

							-				
Age last Birthday	4 and 5	6 to 12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20 and over	Total
									-		
In Aided	63,950 4,171 ¹	379,965 16,760	53,248 298	37,269 176	28,942 231	20,258	12,798 627	6,643 904	3,598	9,739	616,410 25,842 ¹
									10 20000		
TOTAL	68,121 ²	396,725	53,546	37,445	29,173	20,693	13,425	7,547	4,095	11,482	642,252*
	1					1 1 1					

 $^{1}{\rm Includes}$ 217 under 4 years of age. $^{2}{\rm Excluding}$ pupils in schools catering only for pupils under six.

TABLE 1.4

Percentage of Population in each Age Group attending Aided and Non-Aided Educational Establishments, 1964

	20 and over	5.6 ¹ 1.0 ¹
	19	1.1
	18	12-8 1-7
	17	23-6 1-2
	16	36-0 0-8
Carlos and a second second	15	51·1 0·4
	14	66-1 0-3
	13	94·1 0·5
	6 to 12	94·7 4·2
	4 and 5	54-4 3-6
	Age last Birthday	Percentage in Aided

¹Percentage of 20-24 age group.

1.42 Table 1.5 shows on a comparative basis the percentage participation rates for Ireland, England and Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland, France and Norway. The comparison is limited to participation by age group. Apart from the usual problems of definitions and terminology, there are difficulties in comparing participation at the various ages as a result of such factors as variations in the age of transfer from primary to post-primary schools, the legal school-leaving age, etc. The figures shown for the other countries, apart from France, reflect the fact that the school-leaving age is a year later than here (15 as against 14). Hence the participation rate for those aged 14 is significantly higher in those countries than in Ireland or France. For the ages 15 and 16, however, the Irish rate is higher than those obtaining in the United Kingdom. The Norwegian rates are the highest of all. One must advert of course to the many pitfalls in making such comparisons, and to the necessity for allowing for differences in institutional and other arrangements. In Norway, specialised full-time technical education prior to entering into employment is common and is provided for, for instance, in apprenticeship arrangements: this would tend to give a higher participation rate for the 16 year age group. Percentage Participation in Full-time Education*-Comparative Statistics Age

Country	13	14	15	16
		Percei	ntages	
England and Wales ¹ France ^a IRELAND Northern Ireland ³ Norway ⁴ Scotland ⁵	100·0 98·6 94·6* 94·8 100·0 99·8	100·0 71·3 66·4 92·4 97·0 99·3	42·2 56·6 51·5 39·3 70·0 35·3	22.4 47.6 36.8 22.7 55.0 20.4

*Excluding third level.

Sources:

¹Statistics of Education Part 2, 1962 (H.M.S.O., London). ²Information Statistique du Ministère de l'Education Nationale, Juin-Juillet, 1964 (Paris).

³Education in Northern Ireland, 1963–64 The report of the Ministry of Education for Northern Ireland (H.M.S.O., Belfast),

⁴Ministry of Education, Oslo.

⁵Education in Scotland in 1963-Report of the Secretary of State for Scotland (H.M.S.O., Edinburgh),

Notes

(1) Statistics for England and Wales are for 1961/62, for Norway, Ireland and Northern Ireland 1963-64 and for France, and Scotland 1962-63.

(2) The school-leaving age in Irelact, and sconard 1902-03. If the school-leaving age in Irelact and France is 14 years, in England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland 15 years. In Norway a nine-year school course (7 to 16 years) is in the process of being introduced.

*There is a number of possible explanations of this low participation rate. We were unable, however, to isolate any simple decisive explanation.

PART-TIME EDUCATION

1.43 So far we have dealt only with full-time education; there is also the important field of part-time courses. It is here that our conventional delimitation of the educational sector is likely to cause anomalies. Part-time education takes many forms and is provided by several organisations and establishments. We, however, limited ourselves to the courses provided by the establishments already listed by us; even then we found it difficult to collect adequate data.

1.44 Table 1.6 shows the number of part-time students by age and major categories in the schoolyear 1962/63. Part-time courses are provided mainly by the vocational schools. Day and evening classes are available. The day courses include technological and professional courses on day release and 'sandwich' bases;29 apprentice classes,

²⁹In "sandwich" courses students spend alternate periods in college and in employment. Such courses may be college or industry-based.

day release or 'block' release;30 other courses, some mainly continuation in character and others not orientated to any specific occupation. The total number of individuals attending part-time day classes on 1 February, 1963, was 6,496; only 760 were in technological or professional courses. The largest group were apprentices, 2,645. During the whole session, the schools catered for 4,542 apprentices, including those on block release who come in mainly at the end of the session when the schools are free of normal classes.

-		-		4 1
	· A	12	1.12	16
	275	12		1.0

Number of Students in Part-time¹ Education by Age and Level, February, 1963

							10 miles	
Age last birthday	Under 15 years	15 years	16 years	17 years	18 years	19 years	20 and over	Total
SECOND LEVEL Technical, day ² Apprentice, day ³ Other vocational,	27 52 975	51 179 1,074	143 427 120	164 595 42	118 518 44	62 370 34	195 504 802	760 2,645 3,091
day All vocational, evening			0)				59,8634
Non-aided commercial			2,11			••	•••	
Other Second Level		0						375
I HIRD LEVEL University	5	1			28	58	955	1,041
Art	0			••				5084

¹Students attending short sessional courses on a full-time basis are included in this table as part-time students.

²Includes some third level.

and and r school

rate. We

conven-

cause

ed our-

sted by

ge and

ses are

classes

sional asses,

nd in

^aDoes not include end of session block release.

'Total enrolment for the session 1962-63. Taken from the Annual Report for the year.

Source: Census taken by the team and the Department of Education in February. 1963. The symbol . . in this Table means that data were not available.

1.45 Technical courses for apprentices have developed slowly in Ireland. Until the advent of An Cheárd-Chomhairle (The National Apprenticeship Board) in 1960, development had tended to be on an establishment rather than on a trade basis. Thus most of the public enterprises had well organised schemes covering all their apprentices in a variety of skilled trades. A notable exception was the trade of motor-vehicle mechanic which was organised on a national basis. An Cheárd-Chomhairle is now regulating the various trades on a national or regional basis. For trades in respect of which it makes regulations, employers must release apprentices for attendance at appropriate classes during normal working hours without loss of earnings.

21

³⁰ Apprentices attend a full-time course for part of the year, usually about six weeks.

1.46 It proved difficult to obtain information on the extent to which apprentices in the several trades have access to technical classes. Some figures for the major trades, based on estimates made in part by An Cheárd-Chomhairle, are given in Table 1.7.

TABLE 1.7

Trade	Total Number of Apprentices	Estimated Numbers in attendance at classes	Percentage of total in attendance at classes
Carpenters and Joiners Cabinetmakers . Communications, radio etc. Electricians and allied Fitters and Turners . Other metal and engineering . Bricklayers . Bricklayers . Plasterers . Other building and construction Phasters . Brinters	$\begin{array}{c} 1,370\\ 285^1\\ 201\\ 1,226^1\\ 968^1\\ 2,159^1\\ 71\\ 490\\ 122\\ 436\\ 641^1\\ 284\\ 999\end{array}$	850 85 114 665 1,150 42 150 60 190 225 37 260	62-0 29-8 56-7 53-8 93-6 56-4 64-8 59-2 30-6 49-2 43-6 35-1 13-0 26-0
Totals	10,490	5,774	55-0

Estimated Numbers of Apprentices Attending Day and/or Evening Classes in Vocational Schools, by Trade, 1962/3

Sources: Figures marked¹ estimates prepared by An Cheard-Comhairle in 1962. Other figures for numbers of apprentices are taken from the Census of Population, 1961.

Numbers attending classes are based partly on data supplied to the team by vocational education committees and partly on the annual statistics supplied to the Department of Education.

Note: The total number of apprentices and learners according to the Census of Population, 1961 was 15.232. The table above is limited to apprentices in the traditional skilled and craft trades.

1.47 Evening classes have been numerically the major component of part-time education. Over the past decade the number of individuals enrolling in such classes has fluctuated between 50,000 and 60,000 annually. Lack of time precluded us from undertaking any major enquiries in this area. We do not know, for instance, how many attend different types of course; there is, obviously, a fruitful field for future investigation here. A perusal of school time-tables, however, gave some indication of the courses provided. Technological and professional courses are virtually limited to the largest centres of population. These courses cater for, among others, certain professions, for which whole-time day or day 'sandwich' courses are not provided.

which asses, art by

ises in

entage tal in ance at sses

3-0 6-0 5-0

in 1962. pulation, team by

Census of is in the

nent of viduals 60,000 major many eld for wever, al and res of *iions*, ncy,

ied.

Indeed, these courses include the only degree-level evening courses in science and engineering provided in Ireland.

1.48 Outside the major centres the great bulk of evening courses comprise classes in commercial and secretarial subjects, classes in domestic subjects and various leisure time classes for adults. Reference has already been made to classes in agriculture, provided by the County Committees of Agriculture.

1.49 A significant amount of part-time education is also provided by the universities, particularly the National University of Ireland. In this case 'part-time' is almost synonymous with evening courses although there are some part-time day diploma students. The vast majority of part-time students are enrolled in the faculties of arts and commerce, the only faculties in which evening lectures are provided. In University College, Dublin, a full honours course is given in the evening for a degree of Bachelor of Commerce : although the course is identical with the day course, the students are described as parttime. In February, 1963, there were a total of 1,041 part-time undergraduate students in the National University.

1.50 Part-time education, particularly for adults, is provided also by the colleges of the National University through their extra-mural departments and by several voluntary organisations. Again for lack of time, we did not attempt to collect any data on these activities. Part-time education is provided to a small extent in some of the other second level divisions, notably the non-aided commercial schools.

CHAPTER TWO

Forecasts of Population

INTRODUCTION

2.1 After the survey of the number of pupils in the educational sector at present, our next task was to estimate, in the context of present policies, the numbers who would be in the various divisions of the sector in the years ahead. To do this we had first to forecast the population. Studies of population developments have a variety of uses and are essential for many forms of forward programming. Educational projections are, of course, specifically influenced by population factors in two major ways. Firstly, the size and composition of the population in the younger age groups is an essential guide to the pattern of enrolments, incidentally setting an upper bound to them. Secondly, the size and composition of the population of working-age affects the pattern of micorements in the labour force, which reacts on the educational sector through changes in the employment opportunities available to school-leavers.

2.2 Demographic forecasting is at best hazardous. The four factors which immediately determine the net change in population, births, deaths, immigration and emigration, are themselves subject to a variety of influences. Nor are they independent of each other in the medium or long term—the number of births, for instance, depends on the number of women in the relevant age groups, and this in turn depends on the levels of emigration and immigration.

2.3 The importance of demographic forecasting and the inevitable uncertainties attaching to our forecasts, emphasise the desirability of a census of population in 1966 so that our projections may be checked and adjusted where necessary. We undertook this task solely out of necessity and with an awareness of our limitations in this field. It seems to us very desirable, however, that demographic forecasting should henceforward be done regularly in Ireland by an institution which would bring to the problems involved a high degree of specialist knowledge.

BACKGROUND DATA

2.4 The particular features of the Irish demographic position have been a low marriage rate,¹ a rather late age at marriage,² and a high

¹5·5 per 1,000. ²Women 26·5 years, men 30·1 years (average age).

proportion who never marry,3 counterbalanced by a high fertility rate.4 There has always been a substantial excess of births5 over deaths,6 but this natural increase has been more than offset by emigration.7 The population of the State has declined more or less continuously for over a century, from about 5 million in 1851 to 3 million in 1926 and 2.8 million in 1961. The projections in this report envisage a reversal of that trend (see Table 2.2).

DEATH RATES

2.5 While the crude death rate in Ireland has been fairly steady for some time, mortality as shown by the Table of Life Expectancy has declined fairly steadily for ages up to 70 to 75 years. A continuance of this slight downward trend is assumed in our forecasts. It should be noted that these projections were made before the Table of Life Expectancy based on the 1961 census was available and that some revision may be necesary in the light of that table. It is unlikely, however, that any such revision would materially affect the size of the population of school-going age, though it might affect the size of the older age groups.

EMIGRATION

2.6 Emigration is of crucial importance in the projections : on the one hand it has a marked effect on the size and structure of the population, while on the other hand it is the factor on which the least amount of data is available. The major source of data is the census, but the censuses are taken only at intervals of five or ten years and can give only the aggregate emigration for those periods. It is difficult to arrive at reliable estimates of the age/sex composition or of the annual totals of emigration. The movement of persons in and out of the country (' net passenger movements') can be taken as giving some indication of the annual total. Even this, however, is subject to much uncertainty. People can move between Ireland and the United Kingdom without official formalities. The annual number of movements into and out of Ireland, not counting transit passengers, was of the order of seventeen million in 1964 (Irish Statistical Bulletin). It will be seen that the problem of thus measuring an emigration which is of the order of some tens of thousands annually is inherently difficult. The use of the 'net passenger movements' was, however, tried in the years preceding 1961 and was confirmed to a reasonable extent for those years by the results of the census in 1961.

ind to

factors this in

out of

high

⁹In 1961, 32 per cent of men and 22 per cent. of women aged 40-45 were unmarried. ⁴Just under 200 births per 1,000 married women aged 15-49 years. ⁵22,3 per 1,000, ⁶11.9 per 1,000 (Vital Statistics, 1961). ⁷The term 'emigration' is used here, and later, as being synonymous with net

emigration, i.e., the excess of emigration over immigration.

2.7 The net emigration between censuses has been as follows (reduced to average annual figures for each intercensal period) :

TABLE 2.1

Net Emigration between Censuses, 1926-61

thousands

Period	1926-36	1936-46	1946–51	1951-56	1956-61
Average Yearly Net Emigration	16.7	18. 7	23.9	39.4	42.4

Source: Statistical Abstract, 1964.

This emigration, being drawn mainly from the 15-39 age groups, has had a distorting effect on the structure of the population, giving, *inter alia*, a high proportion of persons either under 15 or over 65 years of age.⁶

2.8 In deciding on the assumptions to be made about future emigration, there were certain constraints to be met. Firstly, the assumptions must accord with the expectation of the Second Programme for Economic Expansion that emigration be reduced to 10,000 a year by 1970. Secondly, they must be compatible with that programme in the sense of providing a working-age population adequate for its employment targets. Thirdly, they must be in general accord with the indications given by the net passenger movements in recent years, which suggest that emigration has declined to a level about half that obtaining in the period 1951/61. The projections that we use are based on the assumption that the rate of emigration for the five year period 1961/66 will be half the rate experienced in the period 1951/61, while for the succeeding periods 1966/71 and 1971/76 it will be one quarter of the 1951/61 figure. (This assumption is referred to subsequently as hypothesis A (2)). Since emigration averaged 40,850 per annum during the 1951/61 period, this would mean an annual average of approximately 20,000 during the first five year period and 10,000 during the two latter periods. Of the various hypotheses tested it was found that this hypothesis would best satisfy the constraints listed above. It was assumed that the composition of these totals as regards age groups and sex would remain more or less the same as that experienced during the 1956/61 period, as an analysis of the change in patterns between successive censuses in the past did not reveal consistent trends.

⁸In 1961, 31-1 per cent. of the total population were under 15 and 11-2 per cent. were 65 or over. The percentage of dependants, i.e., not economically active, was 60-7 per cent.—only a small proportion of married women being classified as economically active. (Derived from Census reports.)

METHOD OF FORECASTING

2.9 The first step was to predict the proportions of the existing population, by age group, which would survive in Ireland in 1966, 1971 and 1976. This was done on the basis of survival rates derived from the censuses and of the emigration hypothesis of the previous paragraph, allowance being made for the slight downward trend in death rates assumed in paragraph 2.5. This gave an estimate of the population over 5 years of age in 1966, over 10 years in 1971 and over 15 years in 1976.°

BIRTHS

by the

oy-

ca.

ich

00

red

850 ual

25

25

2.10 The projection of the remainder of the population in those years involved projecting the number of births in the intervening years¹⁰ and the survivals from those births. This in turn involved consideration of the marriage rates and fertility rates. As a combination of those two factors the number of births per 1,000 women in each five year age group from 15 to 49 was used. These rates were found¹¹ to have increased in recent years, particularly in the age range 15 to 29, but it was decided to adhere to the average 1961-63 rates. These rates were then applied to the projected number of women aged 15 to 49 to give estimates of the births for 1966, 1971 and 1976, the births in the other years being derived by interpolation.

2.11 Since we have predicted that the number of women in the age range 15-49 will increase appreciably, it follows that our projections involve a steady increase in the number of births. The projections envisage 64,700 births in 1970 and 72,200 in 1975 compared with 60,700 in 1960 and an average of 61,700 for the ten years 1951-1960. The highest figure recorded between 1930 and 1964 was 69,000 in 1947. It will be appreciated, however, that the decision in paragraph 2.10 to use the 1961/63 rates is a conservative one and that the projected increase in births would be considerably greater if a continuation of past increases in those rates were assumed.

PROJECTED POPULATION

2,12 Table 2.2 shows the projected population by five year age group, male and female, for 1966, 1971, 1976, on the basis of the emigration hypothesis A(2) described in Paragraph 2.8 A table showing population by individual years of age, for the school-going ages, for each year from 1961 to 1971 and for 1976, will be found in the Appendix.¹²

⁹The general procedure is described in Appendix II.

¹⁰Data were available on births up to and including 1964. See Appendix, Table II.5.

¹¹Table II.7 Appendix.

¹²Table II.4.

-	
2	
0	
~	
1	
~	
1.0	
.2	
5	
0.1	
~~~	
-	
2	
0	
2	
2	
1	
12	
~	
-	
0.	
9	
~	
00	
~	
1.5	
1	
24	
0	
0	
-	
~	
0	
S	
-	
9	
2	
9	
0	
- 24	
-	
0	
-	
(m)	
0	
0	
00	
3	
Ag	
Ag	
r Ag	
ar Ag	
ear Ag	
ear Ag	
Year Ag	
Year Ag	
e Year Ag	
ve Year Ag	
ive Year Ag	
Five Year Ag	
Five Year Ag	
v Five Year Ag	
y Five Year Ag	
by Five Year Ag	
by Five Year Ag	
6 by Five Year Ag	
76 by Five Year Ag	
<b>)76 by Five Year Ag</b>	
976 by Five Year Ag	
1976 by Five Year Ag	
1976 by Five Year Ag	
1, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
11, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
71, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
6, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
56, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
066, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
1, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
m, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
on, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
ion, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
ttion, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
lation, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
dation, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
ulation, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
pulation, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
opulation, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
⁹ opulation, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
I Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
d Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
ed Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
ted Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
cted Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
ected Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
vjected Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
ojected Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
vojected Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	
Projected Population, 1966, 1971, 1976 by Five Year Ag	

TABLE 2.2

thousands

	_	>	0	-				-				
		MAI	LES			FEM	IALES			TOT	AL	
AGE GROUP	19611	1966²	19712	1976²	19611	1966²	19712	1976²	19611	1966²	1971²	1976²
0-4	153-4	155	157	167	147-4	145	150	160	300.8	300	307	327
59	147.0	149	153	154	140.7	144	143	147	287-7	293	296	301
1014	148.3	145	148	152	140.5	138	142	141	288.8	283	290	293
15—19 20—24	120.3	138	139	143	113.5	129	131	136	233.8	267	245	279
25-29	72.3	72	64	119	73.1	202	16	113	145.4	142	185	232
35-34	81.6	72	99	19	85.2	75	68	67	166.8	147	134	134
40 44	84.8	78	20	64	85.5	81	73	99	170.3	159	143	130
45 49	89-0	818	51	67	85-6	82	61	11	157.1	163	156	138
5559	68.6	75	78	11	67.5	11	78	75	136.1	146	156	146
6064	64.4	61	67	69	9.99	62	65	72	131-1	123	132	141
65 and over	149-3	153	153	158	165-7	177	181	186	315-1	330	334	344
Total	1,416	1,431	1,472	1,521	1,402	1,421	1,467	1,520	2,818	2,852	2,939	3,041
Total 0-14	449	449	458	473	429	427	435	448	877	876	893	921
Total 15-64	818	829	861	890	808	817	851	886	1,626	1,646	1,712	1,776
Total 65 and over	149	153	153	158	166	177	181	186	315	330	334	344
*Rate of Emigration 1961/66 to ¹ Actual. Census 1961. ² The figu	be half th ures above	the lines	l rate: ra involve p	te of emig	gration 19 of births.	966/71 an	d 1971/76	o to be a	quarter	of the 19.	51/61 rate	

2.13 These projections point to an increase in population over the period, and hence a reversal of the trend of population decline that has persisted for more than a century. Since the previous decade 1951/61 was a period of heavy emigration this change should also lead to changes in the structure of the population. It would be particularly marked in the 20 to 39 age range, the number in which was abnormally small in 1961: in fact over three-quarters of the total projected increase between 1961 and 1976 would be contained in that age range, giving it a 28 per cent increase compared with 2 per cent for the remainder. Such a change in population structure may well be accompanied by changes in associated demographic phenomena such as marriage and birth rates.

#### ALTERNATIVE HYPOTHESES

Actual Emigration 1966/66 to be built the 1951/61 rate: rate of emigration 1966/71 and 1971/76 to Census 1961. "The figures above the lines involve projection of births.

2.14 As the population projection given above is based on a particular assumption regarding the level of emigration, it is prudent to consider as well the effects of other assumptions as bases. In Table 2.3 a summary is given of alternative projections based on different hypotheses regarding emigration. Hypothesis A (2) is the one already used. In hypothesis A (1) a higher level, and in A (3) a lower level of emigration is assumed, the respective fractions of 1951/61 emigration being  $\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}$  in A (1) and  $\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}$  in A (3), the fractions referring as before to the five year periods 1961/66, 1966/71 and 1971/76.

2.15 It will be seen from Table 2.3 that the choice of hypothesis, as between those three, has a marked effect on the size of the 15-64 group and hence on the potential size of the available labour force. This, as has been mentioned in paragraph 2.1 above, would also react on enrolments of pupils over the school-leaving age. The effect of the choice of hypothesis on the 0-14 group takes place more slowly so that it does not seriously affect the estimates of pupil numbers in that range within the period covered by the projections, though it would clearly affect them over a longer term. The size of the over 65 group is, of course, hardly affected at all by relatively short term assumptions recearding emigration.

2.16 It will be noted that all three of the hypotheses considered above involve a sharp decrease in emigration as compared with the period 1951/61. In this context one must, of course, advert to the possible effects that changes in economic opportunities abroad may have on emigration from Ireland. In particular, one must consider the possible manpower position in Great Britain, the main destination of our emigrants. A recent report¹³ on the projected supply and demand

¹³The Pattern of the Future, Ministry of Labour (H.M.S.O.).

TABLE 2.3

Projections of Population, by Major Age Groups, on Different Emigration Hypotheses.

thousands

1.0	<b>{</b> }	1.51.395		
nesis A(3)*	1976 E=( ¹ ; ¹ ;	478 915 158	453 913 187	3,104
gration Hypotl	$E=(\frac{1971}{4};\frac{1}{4})$	464 886 153	439 879 181	3,002
Emig	1966 E=4	453 853 153	430 843 177	2,909
tesis A(2)*	$E=(\frac{1976}{2},\frac{1}{4},\frac{1}{4})$	473 890 158	448 886 186	3,041
gration Hypoth	$E=(\frac{1971}{2};\frac{1}{4})$	458 861 153	435 851 181	2,939
Emig	$1966 E = \frac{1}{2}$	449 829 153	427 817 177	2,852
esis A(1)*	$E=(\frac{1976}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{1}{4})$	466 863 157	438 861 186	2,971
ration Hypoth	$E=(\frac{1971}{2}; \frac{1}{2})$	456 834 153	432 826 181	2,882
Emig	1966 E=1/2	449 829 153	427 817 177	2,852
	1961 Actual ¹	449 818 149	429 808 166	2,818
	Year	::::	::::	nd Females
	Age Group	Males 0—14 15—64 65 and over	Females 0—14 15—64 65 and over	Totals, Males ar

* The fraction shown for 'E' in each case are the fractions of the 1951/61 rate of emigration which are postulated for the three five year periods from 1/Cons 1961. 1/Cons 1961.

30
for labour in the United Kingdom in the coming decade predicts that, owing to demographic factors and the increased numbers staying at school, the supply of labour will grow relatively slowly while the demand for labour will increase more rapidly—given a satisfactory rate of long term growth. It would seen, in addition, that expected restrictions on immigration from the Commonwealth might well increase the opportunities for workers from Ireland. Such considerations suggest that it would be rash to assume too great a decline in net emigration from Ireland, at least in the short or medium term.

### **REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION**

2.17 It is also desirable to project the regional distribution of the future population. Such projections are necessary because changes in the distribution of the population would obviously be relevant to many educational questions such as, for instance, the size and location of new schools.

2.18 The projections were done (i) by town and rural areas and (ii) by province. 'Town areas' here are as defined in the Census, consisting of all towns and cities having a population of over 1,500 including suburbs and environs. There were just under 100 such towns and cities in Ireland in 1961, about half of them having less than 3,000 of a population. 'Rural areas' consist of the remainder.

2.19 Between 1951 and 1961 the population¹⁴ in town areas increased by 2 per cent and that in rural areas decreased by 10 per cent (the 1951 census figures being adjusted for some changes in classification). Our projections for 1971 are based on an analysis of those changes. Firstly, the number of persons in each age group in town areas in 1951 was compared with the number in the corresponding age group (i.e. 10 years older) in town areas in 1961, and similarly for rural areas. For example there were 119,400 persons aged 5-9 in the town areas in 1951 while there were 112,100 aged 15-19 in town areas in 1961, a net decline of about 6 per cent. In the rural areas, on the other hand, there was a net decline of almost 25 per cent from 161,700 aged 5-9 in 1951 to 121,700 aged 15-19 in 1961. Secondly, the distribution of each age group as between town and rural areas in 1951 was compared with the distribution in 1961. For example, in 1951 there were 161,700 children aged 5-9 in rural areas, that is 57.5 per cent of the 5-9 age group : in 1961 there were only 153,900 aged 5-9 in rural areas, that is 53.5 per cent of the 5-9 age group. The projections are summarised by major age groups in Table 2.4: a table by five year age groups is given in the appendix.15 These projections

¹⁴Source: Census of Population reports.

¹⁵Table II.10.

imply that, as compared with 1951-1961, the decline in the rural areas will fall from 10 to 3.7 per cent and that the increase in the town areas will rise from 2 to 13.66 per cent.

#### TABLE 2.4

Population, Past and Projected, by Town and Rural Areas, by Major Age Groups

_			Age	Group			thous	sands	
	Grand	То	tal	0-	14	15-	-64	65 an	d over
Year	Total	Town	Rural	Town	Rural	Town	Rural	Town	Rural
1951* 1961 1966 1971	 2,961 2,818 2,852 2,939	1,274 1,299 1,360 1,475	1,687 1,519 1,492 1,464	373 412 432 464	482 466 444 429	796 769 796 872	994 857 850 840	105 118 132 139	211 197 198 195

*Adjusted to 1961 classification.

2.20 The phenomenon of an increase in population in the town areas and a decrease in the rural areas¹⁶ is, of course, not new, nor is it peculiar to Ireland. The examples of the previous paragraphs will illustrate its relevance to education. They show a considerable decrease between 1951 and 1961 in the numbers aged 5-9 in the rural areas : they also indicate that an appreciable number who were in rural areas while of school-going age had left those areas within ten years. Those factors point to the necessity for flexibility both as regards physical resources and the content of the education provided.

#### PROVINCES

2.21 Table 2.5 shows the projected distribution by province, based on a similar methodology. This shows an increase in Leinster and Munster between 1961 and 1971, thus reversing the change in 1951-61, and a decrease in Connacht and Ulster (3 Counties). Further analysis indicates that the bulk of the increase in Leinster would occur in the Dublin area.¹⁷

¹⁶It may be noted here that 19-4 per cent. of those returned as farmers in the 1951 Census had holdings of less than 15 acres. See Appendix, VI. Table 26. ¹⁷Appendix, Tables 11.2, and 13.

### TABLE 2.5

Province	Year	Total	0-14	15-64	65 and over
Leinster	1951	1,337	393	824	120
	1961	1,332	426	779	127
	1966	1,376	435	803	138
	1971	1,466	460	864	142
Munster	1951	899	254	542	103
	1961	849	259	489	101
	1966	860	260	496	104
	1971	873	260	507	106
Connacht	1951	472	135	275	62
	1961	420	128	234	58
	1966	409	121	229	59
	1971	400	117	225	58
Ulster (3 Counties)	1951	253	72	149	32
	1961	218	65	124	29
	1966	208	60	119	29
	1971	200	56	116	28

Population, Past and Projected, by Province, by Major Age Groups

thousands

2.22 In making these projections of the regional shift in population no allowance has been made for the introduction of new policies, as foreshadowed in recent years, designed to counteract such movement. Educational provision would obviously be defective unless it took into account changes in policies. Since the educational projections in later chapters are based on our population forecasts, it is important that the appropriate revisions be made as new demographic data becomes available. A suitable opportunity for such a revision will be afforded by a census in 1966.

as it ill de la in an

ity

### CHAPTER THREE

### Forecasts of Pupil Enrolments¹

3.1 The population projections described in the last chapter were used as a basis for forecasting the number of pupils in the various divisions of the educational sector in the years ahead. These forecasts have two main functions. They are essential, firstly, in estimating the resources—teachers, buildings etc.—that will be required by the educational system and, secondly, in gauging how far the system is likely to meet the demands to be made on it, so that if deficiencies are indicated remedial action can be taken in good time. In the context of Ireland's economic development programme, for example, such forecasts are necessary in estimating whether persons with various levels of qualification are likely to become available from the educational system in the numbers required.

3.2 These projections are no more than a picture of the future as we see it today in the light of the available information. The future is always uncertain and all the more so when personal choice and public policy are involved : the more choice a system allows the less accuracy can be expected of forecasts. It is essential, then, that the projections be revised as new data become available or as significant changes in policy are evolved and evaluated. This, however, in no way takes from the necessity of making the best use of present knowledge to try to foresee future difficulties, and therein lies the value of projections. They serve as an advance warning of problems ahead, so that remedial measures can be set in train in good time. The need for timely warning is all the greater where, as is generally the case in education, some years must clapse between the initiation of a course of action and the time its objectives can be realised.

3.3 The projections given in this chapter, and the resource and financial flows derived from them in the two succeeding chapters, assume no change in the educational system other than those already announced, as described in the next paragraph. This enables us later to estimate how far the system without further change would meet the demands likely to be made on it. We do not at this stage attempt to make alternative projections specifically based on the assumption of meeting particular objectives.

¹'Enrolment' means the total number on rolls at a given time: it does not refer solely to new entrants. We use 'stock' in the same sense.

3.4 The need to take account of certain impending changes in the educational system added to our problems and to the uncertainty : these changes had been announced but no very precise information about them was available at the time these projections were made (1964). The changes are, first, the raising of the compulsory schoolleaving age by one year to 15 by the end of the decade and secondly, the changes in vocational school courses announced by the Minister for Education in May, 1963, chief of which were the extension of the two-year continuation course to three years and the introduction of a technical leaving certificate course of two years' duration. The Minister also announced the introduction of a new form of post-primary school, termed comprehensive, to provide both vocational (continuation) and grammar-type courses for scattered communities. In projecting the future situation it has been assumed that the new school-leaving age will be in force as from the beginning of the school-year 1970/71. The extra numbers at school as a result of this change are expected to be distributed between primary, secondary and vocational schools as will emerge from the discussion below. In the case of the three-year continuation course in vocational schools it was assumed that this would lead to an increase in the number of 15 and 16 year olds staving on at school; the technical leaving certificate course was likewise assumed to lead to an increase in participation by 17 and 18 year olds. It is assumed that both of those courses will be in operation by 1970/71.

3.5 The main data on which these projections are based are given in Appendix III A. The kind of data which would enable changes in enrolments in the past to be analysed in relation to factors such as the location and social grouping of the pupils was not available. A further difficulty was that the available data were not always suitable for analytical work—the collection of statistics by the Department had, not unreasonably, been confined mainly to those deemed necessary for purposes of immediate administration and public accountability.

ibli raci

the

130

ad, ate

故

fet

3.6 Our projections are shown in Table 3.1 which gives the projected number of pupils in full-time education in 1970/71. The 1963/64 figures are given for comparison. The figures for secondary, secondary top and vocational schools refer to the beginning of the school-year in each case, since those are the figures on which requirements of teachers and rooms in those schools are based. The remaining figures refer to February, 1964 and 1971, as other data were not available. In most of the latter cases, apart from the national schools and the non-aided commercial schools, it is thought unlikely that the enrolments would vary appreciably during the school-year. The division of the schools by type is based on present classification we do not purport to give the classification of schools as it will be in 1970/71. By then some secondary tops may have become secondary schools and vice versa, some secondary and vocational schools may have become comprehensive schools and some non-aided schools may have become aided. We are not in a position to predict what form such changes may take.

	OF T		
1 0 1	KI 1	• •	
11.11		1 2.	

Projected	Number	of	Pupils	in	Full-time	Education,	1970/71,	by	Type	of	School
					and .	Level					

Reference in text	Type of School or Coll	ege	Number of Pupils 1963/641	Projected Number of Pupils ² 1970/71
Paragraph 29 27 28	First Level: National School Special School Non-aided Primary Total First Level		472,124 2,793 21,151 496,068	481,200 5,000 28,500 514,700
15, 24 9, 22 12 23 16 25 25 25	Second Level: Secondary Top Secondary School Vocational (Continuation) Vocational (Technical) Comprehensive Assidential Domestic Other Aided Non-Aided Total Second Level		6,779 ³ 89,205 ³ 30,671 ³ 1,607 ⁵ 	$\begin{array}{c} 8,100^{4}\\ 114,000^{4}\\ 38,000\\ 5,000^{5}\\ 2,500^{6}\\ 500\\ 1,500\\ 3,000\\ 172,600\end{array}$
36 41 42 42	Third Level: University National Teacher Domestic Training Vocational Non-aided Mon-aided Other Aided	··· ··	$13,153 \\ 1,108 \\ 163 \\ 66 \\ 253 \\ 290 \\ 1,786 \\ 16,819$	$19,000 \\ 1,200 \\ 160 \\ 70 \\ 250 \\ 400 \\ 2,500 \\ 23,580$
	Grand Total		645,294	710,880

¹, ²February figures except for secondary, secondary top and vocational-see paragraph 3.6.

³Annual Report 1963/64 (prior to publication).

The junior and senior cycle figures are given in Tables 3.3 and 3.4.

⁵Including some third level.

⁶See paragraph 3.16.

3.7 Table 3.2 shows, in somewhat less detail, the projected age distribution of pupils as of February 1971, the number of second level pupils here being somewhat less than in Table 3.1 to allow for dropout between the beginning of the school-year and February 1971. It also shows the percentage participation by each of the age groups, based on the population as projected in chapter 2. A comparison with the corresponding figures for 1963/64 (Table 1.2) shows a considerable increase in participation by all groups with the exception of the 20-24 group. In the latter case the actual numbers show an increase of 35 per cent, but since the estimated population shows an increase of 40 per cent the participation rate actually decreases. However when students from outside the State are subtracted the percentage shows an increase. The large increase for the 14 year olds of course reflects the raising of the school-leaving age.

3.8 We now outline the background to these projections. A more detailed account of how the projections were made, and the relevant data, will be found in Appendix III. A. In the presentation below we begin with a projection of the enrolments in the second level rather than in the first level. We have found this more convenient, and indeed more logical as will be made clear in the course of the chapter, mainly because of the overlapping of the levels in regard to age, as shown in Table 1.2.

## SECOND LEVEL, JUNIOR CYCLE

3.9 There has been a steady expansion in the number of pupils in secondary schools over the last thirty years,² and the rate of increase has been rising. In projecting entrants for the next ten years the trends in various coefficients were investigated. Cognisance was taken of two in particular: the ratio of entrants in census years to the number of 13 year olds in the population,³ and the ratio of entrants to the numbers in fifth standard two years previously.⁴ The correlation between those ratios and certain economic indicators such as income per head was also investigated. While the ages of entrants at present range from 11 to 15 years,⁵ there has been a gradual but persistent move towards earlier entry over the last thirty years, and this we assume to continue.

3.10 In the absence of detailed statistical data we have based our projection of junior cycle stock in the secondary schools on the trend in the ratio of stock to the sum of the entrants in the three preceding years. This ratio⁶ has risen from 0.87 in 1934/35 to 0.94 in 1963/64. We assume the increase in this ratio to continue, partly because the raising of the school-leaving age may reduce drop-out by 14 and 15 year olds. This does not mean, however, that we are projecting the elimination of drop-out altogether, as a number of pupils will no doubt continue to spend four years in the junior cycle.

²Graph 3.1. ⁴Appendix, Graphs 3. ⁶Appendix, Graph 5. ⁸Appendix III, Graph 4. ⁵Annual Reports. 3.11 The projected increase in entries to secondary schools assumes that an increased proportion of parents are able and willing to pay the appropriate fees, and that the schools will have the necessary capacity and facilities. The ability of the parents to pay the fees is based on the assumption that the targets of the Second Programme for Economic Expansion are achieved and that there is no radical change in the trend in fees. Other direct costs such as books and transport, indirect costs such as the maintenance of the children and the foregoing of their potential earnings may, however, be bigger problems for many. As regards capacity and facilities, we discuss in the next two chapters the resources needed to cater for the increased number of pupils: the projections in this chapter of course assume the provision of those resources in adequate measure. It may be noted here that grants have recently been introduced for the building or extension of secondary schools.

3.12 The total enrolment in junior cycle (continuation) courses in the vocational schools7 has grown at a slightly slower rate in the past ten years than has the junior stock in the secondary schools. There were no data on entrants but we obtained the figures for the five years 1959/63 from the schools.8 The rate of increase in entrants was just over 3 per cent per annum for that period, but the increases varied considerably from year to year. It may be noted here that the schoolleavers survey, described in chapter six, indicates that these entrants include an appreciable number of transfers from secondary schoolsan estimated 2,400 in 1963/64. We have seen that it is proposed to extend the continuation course in the vocational schools from two to three years and to introduce a technical leaving certificate. It may well be that this and other changes will lead to some changes in preference as between secondary and vocational schools. In the absence of any data or other indicators of such changes in preference, however, we assume that the rate of increase in entrants to the vocational schools will be the same as that for the secondary schools: this implies a slight increase in relative preference for vocational schools

3.13 As regards the ages of entrants to continuation courses, at present the prescribed minimum age is 13 if the pupil has completed the sixth standard of the national schools, and 14 if not. This means that pupils completing a three year course would almost all be 16 or over, whereas at present half of those completing the junior cycle in the secondary schools are under 16.° It may well be then that the present age requirements will be altered. In these projections, how-

⁷Graph 3.1. ⁹Chapter 6, par. 6.16. ⁸Appendix III,B

ever, no change in the present regulations is assumed, but it is assumed that the entry will tend to be at 13 rather than 14.

3.14 In estimating the total enrolment in the continuation classes we assume that the three year course will be introduced in 1966/7 and will be fully operative by 1970/71. It is also assumed that the raising of the school-leaving age will reduce the drop-out¹⁰ from the first and second years of the course. It is assumed, however, that there will still be a certificate examination at the end of the second year as at present and that this will be taken by the majority. The requirements of An Cheárd-Chomhairle (National Apprenticeship Board) regarding age limits and standards will, of course, be of considerable relevance here. It is expected that about one-sixth of the pupils, that is, about 6,000 of them, will be in third year classes in 1970/71. At present a small number of pupils remain in continuation gourses for three years.

3.15 The only information available on secondary tops for past years related to total number of pupils. We obtained the figures for the junior and senior cycles for 1963 and 1964, however, and we were able to estimate entrants¹¹ in those years, though not by age. We also estimated junior and senior stock for past years, as described in Appendix III A. Our projections assume much the same rate of increase in entrants here as in the secondary schools, though not quite as high an increase in stock.

3.16 The projection of enrolments in the proposed comprehensive schools must, of course, be rather indefinite as none of these schools is functioning at present. They are intended to provide post-primary courses covering both vocational and secondary type subjects, for areas which are inadequately catered for at present. While some areas have already been selected for comprehensive schools, it may be assumed that the first of these schools is unlikely to open before the autumn of 1966. As it would take three years to build up the full pupil complement, it would be 1968/9 before any such school was fully functioning at the junior level. On the assumption that five schools were provided annually with an average enrolment when fully operative of 250 pupils, the number of pupils in such schools would be of the order of 5,000 in 1970/71. These would almost all be extra pupils if the schools were all built in areas where the establishment of a school in the ordinary way was unlikely. However, as it appears that some comprehensive schools will be formed by the extension or amalgamation of existing schools, it seems reasonable to assume that not more than half of those pupils, that is, 2,500 of them, will be additional to those we have projected as being in secondary or

¹⁰Chapter 6, par. 68.

vocational schools. For convenience we list only those 2,500 under ⁶ comprehensive⁷ in Tables 3.1 and 3.3 and only the corresponding figure of 1,000 entrants in Table 3.3. In the absence of other indications we take the age distribution of the pupils to be the same as that for the junior cycle of the vocational schools.

3.17 The projected entrants and stock for the junior cycle, second level, and the 1963/64 figures are shown in Table 3.3.

TABLE	3.3	

Second Level, Junior Cycle: Projected Entrants and Stock, 1970/71, by Type of School

Type of School	Entrants 1963/64	Projected Entrants 1970/71	Junior Stock 1963/64	Projected Junior Stock 1970/71
Secondary Secondary Top	$23,730^{1}$ $2,250^{3}$	27,400 2,600	65,429 ² 5,800 ⁴	81,500 7,000
(Continuation) Comprehensive	16,014 ⁵	18,500 1,000	30,6716	38,000 2,500 ⁷
Total	41,994	49,500	101,900	129,000

1, 2, 6Annual Report 1963/64 (prior to publication).

³Estimated, Appendix, paragraph VI.8.

⁴Estimated from total stock and February 1964 data.

⁵Data supplied by Chief Executive Officers (cf. par. 3.12).

⁷Cf. par. 3.16.

3.18 It will be seen that the projections shown in Table 3.3 involve something of a slowing down in the rates of growth of recent years. This may seem surprising, particularly in view of the raising of the school-leaving age and the provision of new courses. There are some factors to be borne in mind in this regard, however. Firstly the survey of pupils in chapter six indicates that further increases in participation would have to come largely from the lower income groups : secondly, chapter nine indicates that an appreciable number of pupils do not complete the primary programme : thirdly, the figures in chapter twelve show than an appreciable number of pupils live at a considerable distance from post-primary centres. Now the projections in this chapter are based on the educational system as it is, modified only by recent Departmental announcements : they therefore, do not assume such measures as the general provision of maintenance grants for poor pupils, remedial classes in national schools in general, or general transport facilities.

3.19 We have not assumed a change in the regulations concerning age of entry to post-primary schools, in the absence of any announce-

ment to that effect. If the age of entry to vocational schools were lowered, and the lower age also applied to comprehensive schools, the pattern of enrolments could be greatly changed.

3.20 In order to estimate the number who will not proceed to postprimary school we assume¹² that the numbers moving out of primary schools, to post-primary schools or to leave altogether, in any year is roughly equal to the number aged 13 in the population. The estimated figure¹³ for 1970 is 57,400, from which we subtract 3,000 as leaving from non-aided primary schools and 500 as being in special schools. That leaves just 54,000 to be accounted for. Table 3.3 shows 24,400 of those entering secondary school (27,400 less the 3,000 from nonaided primary), 16,100 entering vocational school (18,500 less 2,400 transfers), 2,600 entering secondary tops and 1,000 entering comprehensive schools, a total of 44,100. That means that just under 10,000 pupils of that cohort will not go to post-primary school. This compares with a figure¹⁴ of some 17,000 in 1963. In 1970, of course, those pupils would have to remain on in primary (national) school owing to the raising of the school-leaving age.

# SECOND LEVEL, SENIOR CYCLE

3.21 The next step was to project total enrolments of senior cycle post-primary pupils. These will consist of pupils following the leaving certificate course in secondary schools and secondary tops, whole-time technical pupils in vocational schools including those following the proposed technical leaving certificate course, and pupils at other second level schools or colleges, most of whom are regarded as senior cycle.

3.22 In the secondary schools the trend for the past thirty years has been for an increasing proportion of pupils to stay on for the leaving certificate course. Senior cycle entrants as a proportion of those moving out of the junior cycle have been rising steadily,¹⁵ to 60 per cent in 1963. We do not, however, assume the proportion to go beyond 70 per cent in future. Making due allowance for drop-out, the number of senior cycle pupils is projected to be 32,500 in 1970/71 and 37,500 in 1975/6.

3.23 The position as regards the senior cycle in the vocational schools is rather uncertain at present. In the past the small number of senior pupils (1,607 in February, 1964) were students following courses for specialised occupations and included about six hundred doing third-level courses. For the forecast period, however, it is

¹³Appendix II, Table 4. ¹⁵Appendix, Graph 6. also necessary to take account of pupils who will be following the proposed technical leaving certificate course. In the immediate years ahead, those pupil numbers should to a large extent reflect the rate at which facilities will be made available. At the present time, only Dublin, Cork, Limerick, and Waterford are equipped to provide such a course. The Minister for Education has, however, announced that regional technical colleges will be built in five other centres. In addition it is understood that each of the other vocational committees is expected to provide facilities in a least one major centre. It may be assumed, therefore, that courses will exist in about 30 centres by 1970/71. We understand that enrolment in each of these centres is expected to be about a hundred. Hence 3,000 seems a reasonable estimate of total enrolment in those courses. To this must be added pupils enrolled in the existing types of day technical courses. Allowing for a 25 per cent increase this would give a figure of 2,000, making a total of 5,000 full-time senior pupils in vocational schools and technical colleges by 1970/71.

3.24 The senior cycle stock in secondary tops was 935 in February, 1963 and 942 in February, 1964. No data were available for earlier years but estimates were made as described in Appendix III. As in the case of the junior cycle, we assume a somewhat slower rate of growth than in the secondary schools.

3.25 The remaining areas of post-primary education are as follows. Non-aided secondary schools accounted for only a few hundred pupils in 1962/63 : a figure of 300 is assumed for 1970/71. An increase to a total of 500 pupils is assumed for residential schools of domestic economy. No data on past trends were available for non-aided commercial and religious schools or for other state-aided schools such as agricultural colleges. The Department of Agriculture expects to

Type of School	Senior Stock	Projected Senior
(as in Table 1.1)	1963/64	Stock 1970/71
Secondary	 23,776 ¹	32,500
Secondary Top	979 ²	1,100
Vocational (Technical)	1,607 ³	5,0004
Other Aided ⁵	 1,493 ³	2,000
Non-aided	2,652 ³	3,000
Total	 30,507	43,600

TABLE 3.4

Second Level, Senior Cycle: Projected Stock 1970/71 by Type of School

¹Annual Report 1963/64 (prior to publication). ²Estimated from total stock and February 1964 data.

³As of February 1964.

⁴Including some third level.

⁵Including residential schools of domestic economy.

increase the intake of students in the schools in its sphere by about a hundred : the increase in the other aided schools should be small. In the absence of data, the numbers in non-aided religious and commercial schools are assumed to increase slightly. The projected senior cycle stock and the 1963/64 stock are shown in Table 3.4.

## FIRST LEVEL

3.26 In the case of first level education there are, as indicated in chapter one, three types of school to be considered, national schools, non-aided primary schools and special schools. In the national schools the bulk of the pupils fall within the compulsory age group of 6 to 14. Hence it is convenient to treat them as the residual category for these ages. It is known that up to 11 years of age, almost all children not enrolled in either of the two other types of school are enrolled in a national schools. From 11 to 14 years account must be taken also of the numbers in secondary and vocational schools.

3.27 Special schools cater for handicapped children. In 1963/4 there were 2,800 pupils in these schools (Table 1.1). A figure of 5,000 pupils is assumed for 1970/1. While the raising of the compulsory school-leaving age is unlikely to have any effect on these schools, it can be safely assumed that there will be a continuing expansion in facilities with a corresponding increase in the number of pupils.¹⁶

3.28 Data were lacking on the number of pupils in non-aided primary schools in past years. The number and age-composition of the pupils in 1963 and 1964 were obtained from the February censuses. In addition, as part of a general questionaire, we asked these schools to supply details of pupil numbers for each of the years 1958 to 1962. These data indicate that in recent years the annual rate of growth in pupil numbers has been around 5 per cent. Although no information is available as to the reasons for the increased preference for these schools, it seems reasonable to assume that the trend will continue, at least to 1971. Increasing affluence will make it possible for more people to afford education in non-aided schools if they so choose. Pressure on national school facilities in expanding urban areas may also cause more people to send their children to fee-paving schools. Virtually all the non-aided schools at present are in the larger centres of population, three-quarters of them are in the cities of Dublin, Cork, Limerick and Waterford, two-thirds being in Dublin. The fact that some secondary schools restrict entry largely to pupils from their own junior departments may have the same effect : most of the pupils

¹⁸Since this was written the Commission on Mental Handicap has reported to the Minister for Health.

in non-aided schools at present are in those which are junior departments of secondary schools. We assume, therefore, a continuation of the 5 per cent annual increase in enrolments, giving a total enrolment of 28,500 in 1970/71. The age distribution of this total is derived from that at February, 1963. The raising of the school-leaving age should not affect these schools since almost all the pupils transfer to secondary schools around 12 years of age.

3.29 In projecting enrolments in national schools three main groups must be distinguished. The first two are those outside the compulsory age groups and hence in voluntary attendance at school, i.e. those under 6 years and those 14 years of age or over. The third group is the main body of pupils, those in the compulsory range of 6 to 14 years, who must be in some school. However, as we have pointed out, from the age of 11 children may be in post-primary schools. For this reason it was more feasible to treat the national schools as a residual sector, projecting first the numbers in the other first level establishments and in the junior cycle of secondary, vocational and comprehensive schools.

3.30 Although education is not compulsory until the age of 6, in practice the majority of children start school before that age. There appears to have been a trend towards increased participation of 4 and 5 year olds in primary education. We feel this trend will continue, although the rate will be affected by the practice of schools in regard to enrolment ages, which in turn may be influenced by the capacity of the school or the size of the teaching force. However, as there appears to be a strong trend to earlier starting we have projected 66,500 as the number of 4 and 5 year old children in national schools in February, 1971.

3.3.1 On the assumption that 99.5 per cent of the 6-12 age group will be at school, and deducting those in non-aided primary schools and special schools and those already in post-primary schools (Table 3.2) we get a total of 375,200 as the number in this age group likely to be in national schools in February, 1971.

3.32 It is necessary to consider the 13 and 14 year olds separately from those over 15 years, and to bear in mind that in 1970/71 the 14 year olds will be in the compulsory range. It will be seen from Table 3.2 that we estimate that 71,800 of the 13-14 age group will be in post-primary schools and 900 in special schools in February, 1971. Since the total number in that age group is estimated at 114,500, this leaves 41,800 to be accounted for. As 100 per cent participation is seldom achieved, for various reasons, we estimate that 38,500 aged 13-14 will be in national schools, of whom some 11,500 will be 14 years of age.

3.33 Finally, there will be some pupils over 15 years of age in national schools. At present, the numbers over the compulsory school age in national schools are significant : in February, 1964, the numbers aged 14 or over totalled 6,591 of whom 1,005 were aged 15 or over.¹⁷ It is doubtful whether this pattern will continue when the school-leaving age is raised, particularly in view of the projected increase in post-primary participation. However, we assume a total of 1,000 pupils aged 15 years or over in national schools in 1970/71.

3.34 The complete projection for national schools (excluding special schools) for February, 1971, therefore, is :--

Under 6 years	 1.1	( 99		66,500
6 to 12 years inclusive	 -			375,200
13 and 14 years	 			38,500
15 years and over	 		• •	1,000
		TOTAL		481,200

### THIRD LEVEL

3.35 Projections for the third level must be considered somewhat tentative as a separate body, the Commission on Higher Education, is reporting on third level education. Although there have been informal contacts, we naturally have not had access to the findings of the Commission.

3.36 The number of full-time students in Trinity College (Dublin University) rose from  $1,642^{18}$  in 1956/57 to  $2,851^{19}$  in 1963/64. It is understood, however, that that university intends to limit its enrolment in future to 3,000: we therefore adopt this figure as the forecast for 1970/71. The numbers in Maynooth have varied very little: in the ten years 1953 to 1962 they ranged only between 533 and  $572.^{20}$  As there is no evidence to suggest a radical change, we take 600 as the enrolment in Maynooth in 1970/71. The figure for the College of Surgeons was 783 in February, 1963, and 786 in February, 1964: as the numbers that can be catered for are limited we take a figure of 800 for 1970/71. Any increase in the number of students in future must,

¹⁷Those who had become 14 since the beginning of 1964 would have to remain in school until the end of the quarter.

¹⁸Supplied provisionally by the secretariat of the Commission on Higher Education.

¹⁹February 1964.

²⁰Statistical Abstracts.

therefore, occur almost entirely in the colleges of the National University (excluding Maynooth).

3.37 In seeking to project the future position two complications must be taken into account. First, a substantial number of students is from outside the State; secondly, it is necessary to consider the numbers in the various faculties if only because some courses, such as medicine, are of longer duration than others. During the period covered by Graph 3.1 there was a considerable number of full-time university students whose home residence was outside the State. In February, 1964, the proportion was 25 per cent of the total of full-time university students shown in Table 1.1. There has been some change in the composition of this body of students in recent years; the percentage from Northern Ireland has fallen and that from Great Britain and other countries has increased. The education of students from emergent countries will be referred to in a later chapter : in this chapter they are taken into account only in so far as they affect the general projections. The majority of the students from outside the State attend Trinity College. Of the 3,278 in February, 1964, 858 were in the National University, 71 in Maynooth, 570 in the College of Surgeons and 1,779 in Trinity College. As any future increase in student numbers will occur in the National University, it would seem, on the basis of past figures, that students from outside the State as a fraction of total students will decline.

3.38 The projection of entrants to the National University is based on the ratio of the number of entrants to the number who obtain the secondary school leaving certificate in the same year. The recent trend (1957/61) in this ratio²¹ is upward from 0.26 in 1957 to 0.31 in 1962. Our projections assume that this is due, at least in part, to the improvement in economic conditions since 1957 and that that improvement will continue. However, for these projections we have taken the ratio to level off at 0.33. The number of leaving certificate passes in future years was derived from the senior cycle stock projected as shown in Table 3.4. The ratio of passes to senior cycle entrants has risen in the last few years to 85 per cent :22 we assume a ratio of 80 per cent in the coming years. On that basis the number of entrants to the National University (other than Maynooth) is expected to rise to 4,200 in 1970 and 5,000 in 1975. Entrants to Maynooth, Trinity College and the College of Surgeons are assumed to remain more or less constant throughout the period.

3.39 The projection of the undergraduate stock was based on the ratio of stock in a given year to the sum of the entrants in that year and the three preceding years. This ratio²³ rose from 0.82 in 1951/2

²²Appendix III, Table 11.

²¹Appendix III, Table 11. ²³Appendix, Graph 9.

to 0.91 in 1958/59 and then declined to 0.87 in 1961/62, the average for the five years 1957 to 1961 being 0.89. The translation of entrants into total enrolment (stock) depends in fact, however, on the field of study chosen. It would appear that on the basis of existing policies, some changes in the proportions in the various faculties will occur. An obvious example is medicine. At present there is a limitation on the number who can be admitted : if this limit is maintained in coming years, the proportion studying medicine will decline. A similar relative decline might also occur in engineering, not only as a result of a limitation on the number of students who can be catered for, but also because the entrance requirements are higher than in other faculties. In projecting the future distribution of students, therefore, it was assumed that numbers in medicine,24 and engineering and architecture would increase relatively slowly, the bulk of the projected increase in total numbers being apportioned between the remaining faculties. Allowing for the effect which this change in composition would have on length of stay at the university the stock was projected as 0.85 of four year entrants giving 13,400 in 1970 and 16,500 in 1975. The projected distribution by faculty 1970/1 is shown in Table 3.5.

				-
1.0	. 12		- 4	~
12	XD.	222		2

	Nati	onal Univers	sity ²		D.11	Colloga	
Faculty	Under- graduate	Post- graduate	Total	Maynooth	University	of Surgeons	Total
Humanities	7,400	1,000	8,400	550	1,820	_	10,770
Science	2,000	120	2,120	50	500	-	2,670
Medicine Engineering and	2,000	50	2,050	-	500	800	3,350
Architecture	1,000	10	1,010	-	150	-	1,160
Agriculture	1,000	20	1,020	-	30	-	1,050
Total	13,400	1,200	14,600	600	3,000	800	19,000

Projected University Stock 1970/71 by Faculty (Full-time Students Only¹)

¹Part-time students are shown in Table 3.6.

²Excluding Maynooth.

3.40 It is assumed, in the absence of any indications to the contrary, that the trend of post-graduate students in the past decade, when numbers grew at the same rate as undergraduates, will continue This would give a figure on 1970/71 of about 1,200 in the National University.

3.41 The planned increase of one hundred places for national teacher training which should be available by 1966 has been taken into account. On this basis it is assumed that 1,200 student places will be

²⁴Including dentistry.

available in 1971. In the case of domestic science teacher training it is assumed that the present capacity will not be increased, in which case a total of 160 students may be assumed. As for Froebel, Montessori, and physical education teachers, a total of 250 students is assumed for 1970/71. Finally, woodwork and metalwork training, where the numbers have remained almost constant over the past decade, is assumed to continue unchanged with a total of 70 students in 1970/71.

3.42. In addition to the universities and teacher training colleges projections of numbers enrolled at other third level establishments were made. A total of 200 was assumed for the National College of Art for 1970/71, while a figure of 200 was assumed for other state-aided institutions for the same year. In the case of non-aided religious institutions a total of 2,500 was assumed. (This figure excludes Maynooth students, all of whom are shown under 'university').

## PART-TIME EDUCATION

3.43 Part-time day students, including part-time technical, in vocational schools increased by 37 per cent between 1952/53 and 1962/63. The indications are that there will be a continuing expansion in all forms of technical education. Part-time technical and other vocational part-time students therefore are expected to reach 8,000 by 1970/71. In addition apprentices should total around 8,000. This figure is based on the assumption that An Cheárd-Comhairle will have succeeded in establishing day release for all apprentices in the major skilled trades apart from building and construction, and for the majority of the apprentices in the latter trades also.

3.44 Enrolments in evening courses in vocational schools have fluctuated between 54,000 and 64,000 over the past decade. In the absence of information on the number and age composition of those taking the different courses, it is difficult to make any worthwhile estimates. It is interesting that while in the county schemes in aggregate the number of individual students has declined from 36,867 in 1951/52 to 30,038 in 1962/63, the numbers in Dublin City, which remained fairly steady around 15,000 to 16,000 for most of the decade, rose to 18,292 in 1962/63.

3.45 The general impression is that the major groups participating in evening courses in vocational schools are young people in the early stages of employment, particularly apprentices and clerical workers, and adults studying such subjects as domestic economy and woodwork. It may be that the wider provision of post-primary education will tend to reduce the demand for some types of evening course. On the other hand, it would tend to increase the number of people who would be in a position to do other types of evening course. A developing economy is likely to create a variety of openings and to require flexibility in developing new and expanded skills. Many people already in the labour force may thus feel a need to enhance old skills or develop new ones. In addition there are several areas in which part-time education is rather inadequately developed at present: a notable and important sector is the distributive trades. A wider provision for those sections can be expected in the future. Nor should the growing importance of leisure be overlooked. The five-day week is now a reality for many people. It does not seem unreasonable to assume that by 1970 there will be a growing demand for adult education unrelated to occupational needs, e.g. courses with a wide cultural and general scientific content. Some expansion in evening course enrolments, therefore, to 64,000 will be assumed by 1970/71.

3.46 Part-time university students, which in the main means evening students, are equally difficult to project. Their number²⁵ has grown at an uneven rate, but it more than doubled between 1951 and 1961. The continuing expansion in the numbers employed in junior executive positions in administration and in public enterprises, together with a modest increase in the numbers of teachers following the courses, should result in a further increase. A total enrolment of 1,600 is assumed for 1970/71, approximately the same rate of growth as in the last six years. As regards the other areas of part-time education covered in chapter one, an increase of 100 is assumed.

Course			Projected Number of Students
Second Level: Technical, Day ¹ Apprentice, Day ² Other vocational, Day All vocational, Day	   	  	3,000 8,000 5,000 $64,000^3$
Non-aided Commercial Other Second Level	 	 	400
Third Level: University National College of Art Other	   	    	1,600 600 ³

TABLE 3.6

Projected Numbers of Part-time Students by Level, February 1971

¹Includes some third level. ²All apprentices, including block release. ..=no data available.

²⁵Appendix III, Table 21.

³Projected total enrolment for the session 1970/71

3.47 In the next two chapters an estimate will be made of the resources needed to provide for these numbers of pupils and students and the costs involved. The extent to which the existing system is likely to realise specific objectives is not discussed until later in the report.



#### CHAPTER FOUR

# Projected Requirements and Supply of Teachers and Schools

4.1 In this chapter we consider how many teachers and rooms would be needed to cater for the increased number of pupils projected in chapter 3, on the basis of the present regulations. We also consider here, for the convenience of later discussion, the number of teachers that would be required on the basis of other standards that might be aimed at in future. We then estimate to what extent a continuance of existing arrangements would be likely to make those numbers of teachers and rooms available. We do not at this stage suggest modifications or alternatives to the supply arrangements; we are still concerned with the system as it is. At a later stage of the report, when we have made an analysis of the adequacy or otherwise of the existing system, we shall discuss alternative ways of providing resources and alternative ways of using them.

4.2 Demand for resources has three main components. There is replacement demand, i.e. teachers have to be recruited to take the places of those who leave on retirement or for other reasons, and school places have to be provided to replace obsolete or unsatisfactory accommodation. The second component of demand is expansion demand to cater for an increased enrolment. The third component of demand is target or 'backlog' demand—where it is desired to improve standards of resources allocation. This third aspect of demand will not be considered in this chapter except in regard to pupil/teacher ratios.

## FIRST LEVEL

### NATIONAL SCHOOLS

4.3 In chapter 3 it has been estimated that there will be 481,200 pupils in national schools in 1970/71, as well as 5,000 in special schools and 8,100 in secondary tops. These latter schools are dealt with here as they employ mostly national teachers. How many teachers are likely to be available? Reference has already been made¹ to future enrolments of student teachers in the training colleges. These enrolments effectively determine the inflow of new teachers into the teaching force. The number of qualified persons who return to teaching after some years' absence is quite small: they are mainly married women. In order to estimate the total teaching force in any period it is also necessary to estimate the outflow. This will be influenced by the age distribution of teachers (Table 4.2), by the

¹Paragraph 3.41.

extent to which teachers are permitted and are prepared to remain on after retiral age and by the extent to which teachers resign on marriage² or for other reasons.

4.4 Assuming a two-year course, the expected enrolment of 1,200 in the training colleges for national teachers would provide 600 teachers annually from 1967 onwards.³ A further small inflow, which may be taken as an annual figure of 40, is assumed for married women returning to teaching and for Froebel trained teachers, giving a total inflow of 640 annually. Outflow through death, retirement and resignation is projected to average 520 annually, giving a net addition of 120 teachers annually. On that basis, the teaching force may be expected to increase as follows, the outflow being divided between trained and untrained roughly in the same proportions as the total stock:

#### TABLE 4.1

#### Projected Number of Teachers in National Schools (including Special Schools and Secondary Tops)

Year	Total	Trained	Untrained	
1960/61 (actual ² )	14,032	11,509	2,523	
1965/66	14,500 ³	12,500	2,000	
1970/71	15,100 ³	13,400	1,700	
1975/76	15,700 ³	14,200	1,500	

(excluding supernumerary teachers)1

¹⁴⁹⁸ in 1960/61, mainly nuns, about a third of them being trained national teachers ²Annual Report 1960/61. ³The projected figures do not include possible additional numbers of teachers in

³The projected figures do not include possible additional numbers of teachers in secondary tops or in special schools who are not trained national teachers.

4.5 The total teaching force available for national schools, including special schools and secondary tops, is therefore expected to be 1,100 greater in 1970 than in 1960. It can be assumed, however, that about 200 of this increase will be required for special schools as the total enrolment in those schools is estimated to increase from some 2,200 in 1960 to 5,000 in 1970 and they have a specially low pupil/teacher ratio. In addition, it can be assumed that about 100 extra teachers will be required in secondary tops where enrolments are projected to increase by about 1,800 between 1960 and 1970, although not all of these teachers, or those for special schools, would come from the national teacher training colleges. It can be taken then that between 800 and 900 additional teachers will be available

²Women teachers are not now required to resign on marriage.

³At present the annual output is about 550. (Annual Reports.)

for national schools, excluding special schools and secondary tops, that is an increase of more than 5 per cent.

4.6 Since the projected enrolment for 1970/71 exceeds the corresponding 1960/61 enrolment by only about one per cent⁴, it is clear that the supply of teachers will be more than adequate to maintain present standards of pupil/teacher ratio for some years ahead, unless there is a considerable increase in resignations. The number of teachers required depends not only on the total number of pupils but also on their geographical distribution, as the pupil/teacher ratio varies considerably between town and rural schools. The continued movement from rural to town areas, projected in chapter 2, is unlikely, however, to invalidate our conclusion.

4.7 The position is not so good, however, if other possible pupil/ teacher ratios are considered. The Council of Education has recommended that no class should exceed 25 pupils in a one-teacher school, 30 pupils in a two-teacher school, 35 pupils in a three-teacher school or 40 pupils in the larger schools.⁵ It would appear from the Second Programme for Economic Expansion⁶ that while the attainment of this aim may be a matter of long-term policy, specific measures designed to achieve it by a target date are unlikely to be embarked upon within the period covered by this report and almost certainly not within the currency of the Second Programme. On the other hand we understand that it is the general policy of the Department to eliminate over-large classes. In 1964 measures were introduced designed to eliminate all classes of more than 50 pupils and it is expected that this will be accomplished by 1965/66. Presumably there will then be a gradual move towards reducing the number of classes with more than 40 pupils.

4.8 The number of teachers required to ensure that only a marginal number of pupils will be in classes of over a given size can be estimated with the aid of data on school size and class size, assuming no change in the organizational structure or in the teacher allocation quotas in the case of the small schools—the latter have lower pupil/teacher ratios at present than have the medium and large schools.⁷ In order, for instance, that not more than 5 per cent of

⁴The projected enrolment (481,200, Table 3.1) for 1970/71 refers to February 1971, The corresponding figure for 1961 is not available. The "average number on rolls" in 1960/61 was about 481,500 (derived from Annual Report) and the "average number on rolls" in 1970/71 would not exceed 487,000, on the basis of comparing the two measures for 1963 and 1964.

⁶Report of the Council of Education on Primary Schools, page 208, paragraphs 318-9.

Second Programme for Economic Expansion, chapter 8, paragraph 4, page 194. 'See Chapter 9 for details.

pupils be in classes of over 40, it can be conservatively estimated that in general the pupil/teacher ratio in any school should not exceed 35.8 This would imply a pupil/teacher ratio for the whole country of slightly less than 30. On that basis the number of teachers required in 1970/71 would be just over 16,000, excluding special schools and secondary tops.

4.9 Since the number of teachers likely to be available for national schools9 by 1970/71 will be just under 15,000 (paragraphs 4.4, 4.5) it seems clear that the targets proposed by the Council of Education cannot be achieved on existing strategies by 1970/71. It is indeed unlikely that teacher availability at any time during the seventies will enable this target to be attained without recourse to measures to increase the inflow of teachers, or changes in organization designed to make greater use of the available teaching force. In a later chapter these possibilities are examined and it will be suggested that with a fairly radical re-organization the target could be largely achieved.

4.10 Before leaving this question of teacher numbers it may be useful to comment on the age composition of national teachers. The only data available on this topic were obtained from the Census of Population. This information is summarized in Table 4.2. It will be seen that the teachers, especially the lay teachers, are very unevenly distributed among the various age groups, the number of lay teachers being particularly low in the age range 30 to 45. This would seem to be a consequence of the restriction on entry to the training colleges during the period 1935 to 1945. It appears that a period of relatively heavy retirals is beginning, which will continue up to the 1980's. In any discussion of possible changes in teacher training, this age pattern, leading as it does to variable replacement demand, would need to be borne in mind. For the future it is hoped that data on the age distribution of teachers will become available regularly in the Department of Education.

4.11 As regards national school buildings, the projection of the future situation is based on an existing programme. The targets of this programme are each year to replace¹⁰ 100 school buildings with new buildings and to make major improvements on 50 others.¹¹ In

^{*}To allow, among other things, for uneven age distribution of pupils and for non-

^{*}Io allow, among other things, for uneven age distribution of pupils and for non-teaching principals in large schools. *Excluding special schools and secondary tops. *A few of the new buildings would not be replacement. *If n addition prefabricated structures will be provided where because of expected population changes a new school is required for only a limited number of years'. (Second Programme for Economic Expansion, page 196.)

TABLE 4.2

Age Distribution : Primary Teachers 1961. (including Part-time Teachers).

Total	3,914	663	7,997	3,012	15,586	
65 and over	143	19	199	348	709	1
60-64	300	20	713	254	1,287	1961– 1965
55-59	403	37	942	264	1,646	1966
50-54	590	60	895	290	1,835	1971- 1975
45-49	600	69	746	303	1,718	1976- 1980
40-44	352	65	481	341	1,239	1981- 1985
35–39	180	74	335	341	930	1986- 1990
30–34	355	81	637	275	1,348	1991– 1995
25-29	508	131	1,242	313	2,194	1996- 2000
20-24	457	101	1,695	283	2,536	2001-2005
14-19	26	9	112	1	144	2006- 2010
years) at Census	Lay	Religious	Lay	Religious	TOTAL	ching age of
Age (in 1961	Mala		Famala			Year of read

Source: Census of Population, 1961. Note: The total muther of teachers serving in national schools during the school-year 1960/61 was 14,530 including supernumeraries. (Annual Report of the Department of Education, 1960/61.) The census figures would include teachers in non-aided primary and Kindergarten schools.

March 1964, 1,005 school buildings had been declared obsolete. Building work was in progress in the case of 157 of these buildings and a decision had been taken to postpone the replacement of a further 186, owing to uncertainty as to the future needs for schools in certain areas and for other reasons. Consequently 662 school buildings, other than those where building work was already in progress, were due for replacement. In addition arrangements were being made for the erection of 20 new buildings, not replacement.

4.12 On the assumption that the number of schools being declared obsolete each year will remain constant at the present level of about 90, it is clear that the present programme of 100 new buildings a year almost all of which are replacements, will enable present standards to be maintained in as much as the number of obsolete buildings will not increase: in fact they are expected to decrease slightly.¹² It seems reasonable to assume also that the present programme will be able to cater for the small number of new schools likely to be needed. It may be noted that the total number of schools is not expected to increase. The reduction in the number of schools through closing down, and the net effect of amalgamations or separations of boys' and girls' schools, offsets the number of new (not replacement) schools built each year. It is estimated then that the number of national schools in 0970/71 will still be about 4,800 (excluding special schools) as in 1963/64.

## NON-AIDED PRIMARY SCHOOLS

4.13 The other first level division is non-aided primary schools. These schools employ many part-time teachers so that a simple series of teacher numbers, even were it available, might not be very helpful. On the basis of the data on teaching hours supplied in the school census of February, 1964, however, the number of full-time equivalent teachers was estimated at 876 (Table 1.1). These schools had 21.151 pupils on roll at that time, which gives an overall pupil/ teacher ratio of 24. Were this pupil/teacher ratio to be maintained the number of full-time equivalent teachers in 1970/71 would be about 1,200, the projected number of pupils being 28,500 (Table 3.1). On the basis of the 1964 proportions of full-time and part-time teachers this would give a figure of 1,030 full-time and 640 part-time teachers in 1970/71. It will accordingly be assumed that this will be the number at which the schools will aim. We do not know from what sources these teachers are recruited nor do we know their retiral rates, as we did not ask the schools for this information. We do not, therefore, know the replacement demand nor do we know how far these schools will be competing with other schools in this

¹²See Chapter 9 for details.

respect. However, it is unlikely that this factor would materially affect the conclusions we have reached in the other parts of this chapter.

4.14 As regards the number of school places, the available information is again very limited. As part of a questionnaire¹³ sent to such schools in 1963, some information was collected on the capacity of buildings. Information was obtained from 75 schools or about 40 per cent of the total number; in terms of pupils this accounted for 50 per cent of the total enrolment. The replies showed that, except in the smallest schools (less than 50 pupils), which accounted for only 5 per cent of all capacity, over 80 per cent of capacity was in use. Taking all the schools together the figure was 86 per cent. This is one of the highest rates of any type of school. Assuming that this pattern of use applies to all non-aided primary schools, it would seem that virtually all of the projected increase in pupil numbers will have to be accommodated in new schools or in extensions to existing schools; in practice it is extremely difficult to achieve anything like 100 per cent use of capacity. Even on the assumption that the 1963/64 enrolment of 21,000 represented 86 per cent of capacity and that 90 per cent of capacity would be utilised in future, there would still be a deficit of 6,000 pupil places by 1970/71 as the projected enrolment is 28,500. In the case of non-aided schools, however, the number of pupil places to be provided is not necessarily a reliable indicator of the amount of new buildings needed, since many schools establish themselves in existing buildings which they convert for school purposes. For the same reason the age distribution of the schools may not be a reliable indicator of replacement building needs. The cost of the extra accommodation will of course have to be met by the schools themselves : the cost is estimated in chapter 5.

## SECOND LEVEL

## SECONDARY SCHOOLS

4.15 There were 88,000 pupils and the equivalent of 5,149 full-time teachers in secondary schools in February, 1964 (Table 1.1). That gives a pupil/teacher ratio of 17.2. To maintain this ratio in 1970/71 for the projected enrolment of 114,000 pupils would require the equivalent of 6,628 full-time teachers, a net increase of 1,479.

4.16 We first estimate what the outflow is likely to be. No data on outflow in past years were available. We  $know^{14}$  that between 1958/59 and 1962/63 there were a total of 1,326 new registrations

¹³See Annexe E

¹⁴Annual Reports.

while the number of registered teachers teaching full-time increased by only 619. That does not enable us, however, to deduce the number of full-time registered teachers who left that category in the interval. In estimating the future position available data on the age structure of the teaching force were used. The data on ages available from the Census of Population, 1961 (Appendix IV. B. Table 12) do not of course distinguish between full-time and part-time or between registered and unregistered teachers. Hence we also made an analysis of the ages on an approximate 80 per cent sample of full-time graduate teachers serving in 1961/62 (Appendix IV, B, Table 1). Teachers had supplied this information to the Department and the questionnaires were made available to use for additional analyses. Taking these tables together, it seems reasonable to assume that departures on retirement, marriage etc. during the period 1963/64 to 1970/71 will be about 1,200 of whom about 800 would be full-time registered teachers.

4.17 The inflow of teachers is closely related to the output of university graduates, since the number of non-graduate full-time teachers is small.¹⁵ The maintenance of a satisfactory inflow to teaching will of course depend on the willingness of a sufficient number of graduates to adopt teaching as a career. The only data published on the inflow to secondary teaching in the past have been the number of teachers admitted to registration each year. Before registration a graduate is required to spend a year at the university to take a diploma in education and a further year teaching as a probationary teacher. The ratio of diploma students to arts graduates¹⁶ in the previous year¹⁷ and the ratio of new registrations to diploma students18 two years previously, have both increased appreciably since 1952/3, although the increase has been erratic. Between 1952/53 and 1962/63 the number of registrations has grown from 165 to 287 : that is from 23 to 24 per cent of arts graduates three years previously and from 59 to 73 per cent of diploma students two years previously. Now we have projected that the number of full-time undergraduate students of the humanities in the National University (excluding Maynooth) will increase to 7,400 in 1970/71 (Table 3.5), compared with 3,163 in 1962/63. That is the source of the great majority of secondary teachers.¹⁹ It is clear,

¹⁵In 1962/63 out of 4,334 full-time teachers, 310 of the unregistered teachers were not graduates (Annual Report). The number of registered full-time teachers who were not graduates was also small: mainly those with diplomas in Domestic Science

etc. ¹⁰, ¹⁸Appendix, IV.B. Table 3. ¹⁷Two-thirds of the diploma students in 1961/2 had graduated in 1961. (Appendix IV.B, Table 8). ¹⁹Appendix IV.B, Table 3.

therefore, that without assuming any continuance of the tendency for those ratios to increase, the number of new registrations should reach at least 500 a year by 1970/71. The number of registrations during the eight years 1963/64 to 1970/71 may then be set conservatively at 3,000. Some of the new graduates will of course be required for other schools, at home or abroad, but in view of the proportion of graduates and diploma students who are not assumed to register as secondary teachers, it seems unlikely that these other demands would invalidate the general conclusion which we reach below.

4.18 The net increase in the supply of teachers would thus be 1,800, which is greater than the increase required (1,479) to maintain the pupil/teacher ratio as it is at present (17.2), and this without assuming any inflow into part-time teaching. Of course we have only predicted the general supply of teachers. If secondary teachers in future were to be restricted in the subjects they are recognised to teach, shortages might well be expected in the case of particular subjects. The position for each category would then have to be examined. In the absence of such a requirement, however, there would appear to be no immediate likelihood of a shortage of secondary teachers. This is of course dependent on the correctness of our estimate of retirals and resignations. In view of its importance it is to be hoped that data on inflow and outflow will be organised on a regular basis in the Department in the future: the idea of individualized data would obviously be appropriate here.

4.19 Secondary School Building. The only data available on secondary school building in past years was the actual number of schools, which has risen steadily throughout the past three decades. No data were available on school capacity or on the extent to which additional capacity had been made available by existing schools during the period. We obtained some data relating to capacity, however, from a questionnaire which we sent to schools. The replies, accounting for 71 per cent of all schools and 70 per cent of all pupils, lead to the estimates for the total secondary division shown in the following table.

School Size	Number of Schools ¹	Number of Classrooms ²	(a) Pupil Places ³ ('000)	(b) Pupils Enrolled ⁴ ('000)	(b) as percentage of (a)
Pupils Less than 100 100–149 150–199 200–299 300 and over	209 142 75 68 48	1,015 960 705 760 810	24.8 22.8 16.8 19.4 22.7	$     \begin{array}{r}       13.6 \\       17.2 \\       13.2 \\       16.5 \\       19.9 \\       \end{array} $	% 55 75 79 85 88
TOTAL	542	4,250	106.5	80.4	75

4 10	T T		-
 A 14		- 21	
 - n		-	

Use of Capacity in Secondary Schools, 1961/62, by School-size.

¹Annual Report.

² ³Derived from data supplied by School Managers, covering 70 per cent of the schools and adjusted to cover all schools.

⁴Derived from the Department's List of Secondary Schools.

4.20 It will be seen from Table 4.3 that in aggregate 75 per cent of capacity was in use. Even if the 1961/62 capacity were to be fully used an additional 7,500 places would be required to cater for the projected enrolment of 114,000 in 1970/71. It is extremely doubtful, however, if a 100 per cent utilization could be achieved. It will also be noted that the spare capacity is very unevenly distributed over different sizes of school. The larger schools show an 88 per cent utilization: the majority of these are effectively full. Replies to other questions on the questionnaire regarding expected enrolments for the three years 1963/64 to 1965/66, indicate that 23 per cent of the schools expected no increase in enrolments with present capacity and 29 per cent had turned away candidates for admission. Since this 88 per cent utilization figure also accords with the data shown by non-aided primary schools, it might be more realistic to take say 90 per cent of capacity as being the maximum which is likely to be achieved in practice.

4.21 The next question is whether or not all schools, in particular the smaller schools, would in fact reach this figure. It will be seen that in the case of the smallest group—those with less than 100 pupils —only 55 per cent of places were utilised and that their pupil/classroom ratio was only 13 to 1. Clearly these schools have space for extra pupils. What is not clear is their likelihood of obtaining these pupils. This would depend, among other things, on the size of the school-going population in these areas, the proximity of other schools and the ability of small schools to provide adequate curricula and facilities. Some of these topics will be dealt with later in the report. In the absence of any precise indicators, it will be assumed that enrolments in these schools will grow at the same rate as total pupil enrolments, that is, an increase of 42 per cent by 1970/71 on the 1961/62 total. This would mean an increase in capacity utilization from 55 per cent to 78 per cent by 1970/71. If the schools with pupil enrolments from 100 up to 200 also grew at a rate equal to the general average, they would have exceeded the 90 per cent capacity figure before 1970, as of course would the larger schools. This suggests that additional buildings would be necessary.

4.22 To summarize the possible demand for pupil places, a 90 per cent utilization figure for four of the size categories shown in Table 4.3 and 78 per cent for the smallest schools would give a total of 93,000 places. There would thus be a deficit of 21,000 places by 1970/71. In addition to this expansion demand for places, there is also the question of buildings to replace old or unsuitable facilities. The only relevant data which we had were estimates of the ages of classrooms based on the returns to the questionnaire referred to above. The measure of obsoleteness used in regard to national school buildings is an age of 80 years. There were an estimated 951 classrooms 80 years of age or over in the secondary schools that replied to the questionnaire: those classrooms were located in 181 schools and represented an estimated 23,000 pupil places or 68 per cent of the total capacity in those 181 schools. The percentage distribution of all classrooms by age, based on these estimates, is shown in Table 4.4.

#### TABLE 4.4

## Secondary Schools: Age of Classrooms by size of School, 1961/62

		Age								
School Size	0	0-39 years	40-79 years	80–99 years	100 and over	Not Known	Total of Per- centages	Estimated Totals of Class- rooms ¹		
Pupils		Percentage of Classrooms in Age Group								
0-99 100-149 150-199 200-299 300 and over	··· ··· ··	49 52 42 56 56	14 21 16 25 11	14 4 9 7 4	19 18 31 12 29	4 5 2 —	100 100 100 100 100	1,015 960 705 760 810		
Total		51	18	8	21	2	100	4,250		

Based on returns from 70 per cent. of schools.

Source: Questionnaires completed by School Managers. ¹As in Table 4.3.

4.23 Assuming the sample to be representative, Table 4.4 shows 29 per cent of all classrooms as being 80 years of age or over.²⁰ The schools that would benefit from the new building grants, those of

 $^{^{20}\}mathrm{Even}$  if none of the non-responding schools had any classrooms of that age, the proportion would be 22 per cent.

150 pupils or more, are shown to have about 700 such classrooms, which would represent about 18,000 pupil places.²¹ If half of that number were to be replaced by 1970, in addition to the 21,000 extra places required by expansion, the total number of places required by 1970 would be 30,000. That is without allowing for replacement of rooms which would become 80 years of age in the interval, which would involve approximately 3,000 places. The smaller schools, which will not qualify for building grants unless they can reach an enrolment of 150, may be in difficulties as although their accommodation is under-utilized (Table 4.3), much of it is quite old (Table 4.4).

### VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS

4.24 In the vocational division, unlike the secondary schools, specific qualifications are prescribed for each category of teacher. It is not sufficient, therefore, to project global requirements and availabilities, each category must be examined separately. A further complication is that the sources of supply vary. Thus some categories are recruited from university graduates; others are trained by the Department; yet others are recruited, especially for technical posts, from professional and technical personnel and from tradesmen. Graduates are not required to hold the higher diploma in education but ancillary qualifications (in Irish, teaching methods, shorthand and typewriting) are required for some categories. Finally, major changes are projected in vocational school courses. The introduction of a third year day continuation course and of a technical leaving certificate course, the expansion of apprentice and technical education, all presage curricular changes which may have repercussions on the composition of the teaching force. For these reasons teacher requirements will be considered before availabilities.

4.25 The number of vocational teachers on 31st August, 1963, is given in Table 4.5.

	Cat	Whole-Time	Part-time				
Woodwork and	l Buil	ding		 		390	105
Art				 		42	50
Science and Ma	athem	atics		 		77	137
Irish and Conti	inuati	on Sub	jects	 		280	163
Metalwork and	Engi	ineering	3	 		233	185
Domestic Scien	ice			 		291	150
Commerce				 		264	330
Rural Science				 	5	139	22
Other teachers				 		110	754
				 TOTALS		1,826	1.896

TABLE 4.5 Vocational Teachers, whole-time and part-time, 31 August, 1963

Source: Annual Report, 1962/63.

²¹Using Table 4.3.

4.26 Virtually all whole-time vocational teachers give instruction to whole-time day students, continuation or technical, The Annual Report for 1962/63 shows 29,689 whole-time students enrolled (28,132 continuation, 1,557 technical); the student/whole-time teacher ratio therefore was 16.3. To maintain this ratio in 1970/71 for the projected enrolment of 43,000 (Table 3.1) would require 2,640 whole-time teachers. Such an aggregate projection is not sufficient, however, as we have pointed out. Moreover the changes in courses and curricula already mentioned, together with possible changes in partime technical education, particularly for apprentices, make a more detailed projection necessary.

4.27 Since individual teachers spread their teaching hours over several courses and because of the widespread employment of parttime teachers, it is not possible to say definitively how many teachers are engaged on each course. It was necessary instead to examine the distribution of teaching hours and to translate these hours into notional full-time equivalent teachers. On that basis the teaching force for 1962/63 was estimated to be equivalent to 2,131 full-time teachers.²² The distribution of all teaching hours, including parttime, by type of course was calculated to be as shown in Table 4.6. The distribution of these teaching hours by category of teacher is given in Table 4.7.

#### TABLE 4.6

Vocational Schools: Distribution of Teaching Hours by Type of Course, 1962/63

	Percentage Distribution of Teaching Hours								
Tatal	S								
Teaching Hours	Contin- uation	Whole- time Tech- nical	Appren- tice	Part-time Technical	Other	Evening Courses	Com- munity Services ²		
1,876,0001	69.6	4.6	4.2	2.5	2.4	13.9	2.8		

Source: Information supplied by Vocational Education Committees.

¹Owing to slight differences in the counting of hours e.g. we did not include sickleave, this figure is a little smaller than the total in the annual report for 1962/63.

²Some vocational teachers undertake extra-mural activities which are accepted as pertaining to their poste e.g. supervising rural building projects, organising Macra na Tuaithe Clubs (junior sections of Young Farmers Clubs) etc.

4.28 Assuming, for the want of reliable indicators, that teaching hours for each course increase in direct proportion to the projected increase in the number of students on the course in 1970/71 over

²²Appendix IV.C, Table 4.

	•
5	
4	۲.
(T	)
100	5.
-	4.
2	5
100	
<	8
1	2

Percentage Distribution of Teaching Time on Each Type of Course by Category of Teacher, 1962 63

	Total Teaching Hours (in thousands)	1,290 91 45 36 273 49	1,876
	Total of Per- centages	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	100
er ¹	Part-time Teachers	11:3 15:4 29:7 38:5 31:7 35:3	16-9
y of Teach	Other	1.0 14.9 39:2 1.9 10:1 5:9	5.2
by Categor	Rural Science	8:4 0:3 1:5 1:5 1:5 1:5	6.5
hing Time	Com- merce	16-0 20-0 1-3 0-8 1-9 6-7 0-9	13-1
on of Teac	Domestic Science	15.2 15.9 1.7 1.3 37.5 11.1 6.0	13.8
Distributi	Metal- work and Engin- eering	10-5 10-5 30-7 5-0 8-1 2-3	10.6
Percentage	Irish and Continu- ation	14-4 4-4 1-8 0-3 3-8 3-8 7-1	11.11
	Science and Mathe- matics	1225 3255 1-22 1-22	3.0
	Art	1.6 4.0 0.2 0.1 1.1 1.9 0.7	1.6
	Wood- work and Building	$18.7 \\ 7.4 \\ 7.4 \\ 7.4 \\ 20.3 \\ 60.9 \\ 60.9$	18.2
	Type of Course	Day Courses: Continuation Full-time Technical Apprentices Part-time Technical Other Day Courses Evening Courses Community Services	Тотац

Source: Information supplied by vocational education committees. This table does not give the proportions of the total time spent on the various subjects; it gives the proportion of the total teaching time given by each category of teacher.

1962/63 and that there is no change in average annual teaching hours per teacher, the number of full-time equivalent teachers required in 1970/71 has been calculated to be 2,982 as described in the appendix. The distribution of this total by category depends on the curricular arrangements for the proposed three-year continuation and technical leaving certificate courses. At the time these projections were being prepared, the Department of Education was not in a position to give any firm indications of the curricula it proposed to introduce. It was indicated, however, that for the purpose of our projections, the proportion of teaching time given by teachers of science and mathematics, metalwork and engineering and art would increase and reductions would result in the proportions for teachers of woodwork and building, domestic science and commerce. It is not to be inferred that the time allocated to such subjects as domestic science or woodwork will necessarily be reduced; while there will presumably be some timetable modifications made, the major assumption is that by 1970 certain subjects will be taught to a greater extent than at present by teachers with the appropriate specialist qualifications.

4.29 The allocation of the 2,982 equivalent full-time teachers estimated to be required in 1970/71 by category and by whole-time and part-time is shown in Table 4.8. The part-time total was allocated among the categories in broadly the same proportions as in 1962/63. Additional material on the derivation of these figures will be found in Appendix IV.C.

Category of Teacher							Whole-time	Part-time
Woodwork and	Build	394	115					
Art							77	54
Science and Ma	them	atics					314	152
Irish and Contin	nuatio	on Sub	jects				374	202
Metalwork and	Engin	neering					360	204
Domestic Science	ce						293	166
Commerce							292	368
Rural Science							180	23
Other Teachers							276	846
					TOTAL	s	2,560	2,130

TABLE 4.8	ŝ.
-----------	----

#### Projected Requirements of Vocational Teachers, 1970/71

4.30 The next step is to examine the outflows and the inflows during the years to 1970/71 in order to determine the number of teachers likely to be available. Detailed analyses of inflows and outflows in recent years were made from the annual statistics supplied by the vocational education committees. Details will be found in the appendix. Information was also collected on the sex and age distribution of the teaching force from Departmental records and is shown in Table 4.9. It relates to whole-time teachers actually serving
1	
5	
- 2	
T	
-	
_	
3	
-	
~	
~4	
-	

_
10
_
2
0
-0-
~
0
-
0
$\sim$
<b>C</b> 2
~
5
-
9
man and
0
Part .
5
00
1-1
Prov.
S. 3.
See.
-
~
2
-
-
0
•
-
200
0
03
~
0
A
-
0
-
~
-
5
e
le
ole
tole
hole
hole
Vhole
Whole
Whole
Whole
f Whole
of Whole
of Whole
of Whole
n of Whole
n of Whole
on of Whole
ion of Whole
tion of Whole
ution of Whole
ution of Whole
bution of Whole
bution of Whole
ibution of Whole
ribution of Whole
tribution of Whole
stribution of Whole
istribution of Whole
vistribution of Whole
Distribution of Whole
Distribution of Whole
Distribution of Whole
: Distribution of Whole
e Distribution of Whole
ge Distribution of Whole
ge Distribution of Whole
4ge Distribution of Whole

Total	1,363	628	1,991	T
65 and over	11	1	12	1961–65
60-64	74	27	101	1965-69
55-59	101	50	151	1970–74
50-54	134	54	188	1975-79
45-49	141	46	187	1980-84
40-44	128	49	177	1985-89
35-39	157	45	202	1990-94
30-34	259	87	346	1995-99
25-29	256	144	400	2000-04
20-24	102	125	227	2005-09
Age on 31 August, 1964	Male	Female	TOTAL	Year of Reaching Age of 65

Source: Department of Education records.

in October, 1964, and does not represent the entire number of teachers for the session 1964/65. Tables giving each category of teacher by age and sex are given in the appendix. It was not possible for practical reasons to get these data as of 1962/63 to accord with the date of earlier tables. Inflows were considered in two sections, teachers likely to be trained by the Department on its present teacher training programme and teachers who must be recruited from other sources, such as the universities. For the second group we relied on the trends indicated by the general inflow/outflow data already mentioned. The projected outflows and inflows from 1963 to 1970 are shown in Table 4.10.

4.31 By comparing the total inflows and outflows we get an estimate of the number of whole-time teachers likely to be available in 1970/71 as shown in the following table.

TA	BI	E	4.1	10
-				

Whole-time	Vocational	Teachers-Projected	Inflows	and	Outflows	1963/70
		and Projected Stock	1970/71			

Category of Teacher	Stock on 31 August, 1963 ¹	Projected Inflows 1963/70	Projected Outflows 1963/70	Projected Stock on 31 August, 1971
Woodwork and Building	390	135 ²	55	470
Art	42	35	17	60
Science and	77	140	67	150
Mathematics.				
Irish and Continuation Subjects	280	160	140	300
Metalwork and Engineering	233	180 ²	53	360
Domestic Science	291	320 ²	241	370
Commerce	264	215	154	325
Rural Science	139	150	99	190
Other Teachers	110	255	80	285
TOTAL	1,826	1,590	906	2,510

¹Annual Report 1962/63.

²Assuming maximum inflow to training is maintained.

4.32 A comparison with the first column of figures in Table 4.8 shows that on this basis there would be deficits in art (17), science (164) and Irish and continuation subjects (74), and apparent surpluses in woodwork, domestic science and commerce. This implies that the distribution of teaching time by category of teacher as envisaged in our projections will not be achieved by 1970 on present strategies and with the present pupil/teacher ratios. In particular the proportion of teaching time to be given by teachers of science and mathematics would not be achieved. The stock as projected in Table 4.10 would correspond to a distribution of teaching time which would show a much smaller increase in the proportion of time given by teachers of science and mathematics. There may as a result be some expansion in the number of part-time teachers beyond the requirement of 2,130 shown in Table 4.8 : accordingly we assume 2,300 part-time teachers in 1970/71. On the 1963 proportions they would be equivalent to 460 full-time teachers. This with the projected stock of whole-time teachers in Table 4.10 would give almost the required total of 2,982 full-time equivalent teachers (Paragraph 4.28).

4.33 **Vocational School Building.** As already indicated, by 1970/71 accommodation will be required for 43,000 whole-time students, 38,000 continuation, 3,000 technical leaving certificate and 2,000 whole-time technical. The position in regard to the continuation course on 1st February 1964 is set out in the following table.

## TABLE 4.11

Capacity Utilisation in Day Vocational Schools (Continuation Courses only) 1963/64

Size of School	Number of Schools ¹	Number of Rooms ²	Estimated Number of Pupil Places ²	Number of Students ¹	Capacity Utilisation (per cent)
0-99 pupils 100-149 ,, 150-199 ,, 200-299 ,, 300 pupils and	119 60 26 32	492 387 217 416	9,055 7,570 4,431 8,562	7,081 7,148 4,333 7,816	78 94 98 91
over	8	154	2,882	2,591	90
TOTALS	245	1,666	32,500	28,969	89

¹As of February, 1964.

²Data supplied to the team by the Department and the vocational education committees.

These utilisation rates are all rather high. In fact the total enrolment for 1963/64 was 30,671²³ which represents 94 per cent of capacity.²⁴ The schools are effectively full; in many cases supplemental accommodation is being rented; this means that by 1970/71 extra places will be needed for all of the extra 10,000 students (including 2,000 of the technical leaving certificate students, for whom it is expected courses will be provided in the larger schools). Information on school building plans was obtained from the vocational education committees and is given in Table 4.12. If present plans come to maturity, 1,045 new rooms will be provided and 226 existing rooms replaced by 1975/76. By 1966 there should be 38,500 places available,

²³Annual Report 1963/4 prior to publication.

²⁴The breakdown by size of school was available only for February, 1964.

an increase of 6,000 places, and by 1971, 49,000 places, an increase of 16,500 places compared with 1963/64. On a 90 per cent utilisation rate this would cater for 44,000 students. As the projected enrolment is 40,000 it would seem at first sight as if there would be some spare capacity if all building plans are brought to fruition. However, not all the additional capacity will be available for continuation courses, as Table 4.12 includes places relating to centres used only for technical and evening courses. In addition, we have aggregated continuation and post-continuation students which would understate the capacity needed. There is further the fact that concurrently with the expansion in whole-time students, the same buildings must accommodate increased numbers of part-time day students, particularly apprentices.

	1963/64		Plans for 1964-1975							
			Replac	ements	Exter	nsions	New S	chools	Total	
School Size (Rooms)	of Schools ¹	of Rooms	Schools	Rooms	Schools	Extra Rooms	Schools	Rooms	Extra Rooms	
1-3	77	170	15	37	39	74	8	18	92	
4-6	117	584	13	65	70	163	52	242	405	
7-10	57	465	5	39	35	142	12	95	237	
Over 10	38	505	6	85	20	106	12	205	311	
TOTAL	289	1,724	39	226	164	485	84	560	1,045	

**TABLE 4.12** 

Vocational Schools-Plans for New and Replacement Building 1964 to 1975

Source: Vocational education committee returns.

¹Excluding the colleges of technology, commerce, catering and music in Dublin and the schools of art and music in Cork and Limerick.

Note: This table is not comparable with Table 4.11 as to numbers of schools or rooms. This table covers all schools listed by Chief Executive Officers including some used only for evening classes or for technical education. Table 4.11 refers only to schools in which whole-time day continuation courses were operating on 1st February, 1964.

4.34 It was noted from the returns to the questionnaire that there was a certain amount of overcrowding in schools in 1963/64 and that in addition over 1,100 applicants were refused admission to continuation courses, about 700 of them in Dublin. The above details would suggest that if building projects envisaged are pressed forward as planned it should be possible to overtake the projected demand before 1970.

4.35 In view of the importance of workshops and other special rooms we compiled the information in Table 4.13 showing the building plans in regard to these special rooms.

4.36 Making provision for the projected increase in technical education is almost entirely a matter of providing new accommodation. Regional technical colleges are being built or are planned in Dublin, Cork, Limerick, Waterford, Carlow, Galway, Sligo, Dundalk and Athlone. These should provide accommodation for around 4,500 students including the projected increase of 500 whole-time technical students and 1,000 technical leaving certificate students, including apprentices. It is likely also that some existing accommodation for continuation and technical classes, which will be freed by the realisation of the new building proposals, will be converted for apprentice classes. It will be assumed, however, that a further 500 places for apprentices will be needed by 1971.

# **COMPREHENSIVE** SCHOOLS

**4.37** The projections for the comprehensive schools in chapter 3 are based on present indications of building plans, which would be financed entirely from public funds. Pupil/teacher ratios in line with those in secondary and vocational schools would give a requirement of about 150 additional whole-time teachers for the additional 2,500 pupils. This requirement would be met without affecting our conclusions as to the supply for other schools.

# OTHER SECOND LEVEL

4.38 The remaining areas of second level education may be dealt with briefly. No data on past years are available for non-aided commercial schools, or for non-aided secondary and religious schools. The pupil increase for all these schools was projected as less than 500 by 1971, so that additional teachers would probably number less than 30. No estimates of capacity can be made as the extent or nature of the existing facilities is not known.

4.39 Of the remaining state-aided establishments, the most important are agricultural schools and colleges, and residential schools of domestic economy. The Department of Agriculture has informed us that 94 new places will be provided and 52 replaced and that an additional 30 teachers will be required. It is expected that capacity will be sufficient with this increase to cope with the projected increase in enrolments.

# THIRD LEVEL

4.40 It is not proposed in this report to discuss at any length problems of staff or building requirements in the universities. Needs may vary considerably as between courses; hence simple global TABLE 4.13

Vocational Schools: Inventory of Special Rooms, 1964-76

rooms to be provided by	1971 1976	71 9	81 18	63 10	58 8	39 7	10 2	25 5		22	
Number of extra	1966	34	69	39	32	14	8	6	2	S 13	and the second s
replaced by	1971/1976	7	3	1	7	Ι	122	5	S		
f rooms to be	1966/1971	18	10	7	19	3	3	2	2	6	
Number o	1964/1966	6	3	2	7	I	1	I	1	1	
4	Total number obsolete, etc.	24	19	11	21	4	8	3	2	10	
196	Total number	265	167	118	273	43	53	23	25	54	
		:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
	moc	:	ıg	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	
	n of R.	:	gincerii	:	:	:		:	:	:	
	Descriptio	Woodwork	Metalwork and En	Science	Domestic Science	Art	Commercial	Assembly Hall	Library	Other	

Source: Data supplied by vocational education committees.

72

figures such as staff/student ratios are inadequate as indicators. However, in the absence of detailed data it has been necessary to use them

4.41 During the decade 1951/52 to 1961/62, the number of university staff²⁵ grew by 58 per cent from 585 to 926.²⁶ For the same period full-time student numbers²⁷ had risen by almost 55 per cent²⁸ so that the full-time student/staff ratio showed little change during that decade. For the period 1961/62 to 1970/71 full-time student enrolments²⁹ are projected to rise by 70 per cent, so that, were this position to be maintained, an increase of 70 per cent in staff numbers would be indicated. Whether the position is in fact maintained is ultimately a question of university policy, but for our purposes it will suffice to consider the feasibility of maintaining it as indicated above. One factor which will affect the position is the distribution of students among various types of course. It is not proposed to discuss this in detail, but there might appear to be less scope for allowing ratios to increase in subjects involving laboratory or clinical work.

4.42 An examination of the data does not appear to offer any conclusive evidence for or against the feasibility of keeping the student/staff ratio constant. During the decade under review, 1951 to 1961, student numbers³⁰ in medicine, engineering and architecture -subjects which might be taken to need lower student/staff ratiosremained relatively constant, while the number of students in the humanities rose from 3,000 to 5,000. On the other hand, the number in science subjects rose from 600 to 1,600.31 Hence, it is difficult to say how the stability in the student/staff ratio was affected by changes in the relative demand for various subjects. For the forecast period the proportion of arts students is expected to increase, which might suggest that the overall student/staff ratio might increase somewhat. Against this it might be contended that the student/staff ratio is already high and that the need is to reduce it rather than allow it to increase, having regard especially to the increasing importance of tutorial work. Pending the report of the Commission on Higher Education the reasonable course may be to assume that staff numbers will rise at the same rate as student numbers for the forecast period. giving a 70 per cent increase by 1970/71, compared with 1961/62.

4.43 It is difficult to say whether or not the necessary staff would be obtainable. The sources of university staff are almost invariably

²⁶, ²⁷, ²⁹, ³⁰Excluding Maynooth and College of Surgeons. ²⁸Statistical Abstracts.

²⁸, ³¹Data supplied by secretariat of the Commission on Higher Education.

the universities themselves. The increase in graduate numbers—or more particularly post-graduate—would indicate that the potential supply of staff was also rising. From this viewpoint there would be little need to question the adequacy of the supply. The problem arises when the viewpoint is widened to take account of the demand on the supply from sources other than universities. It may suffice to note that the question is mainly one of relative salaries and similar perquisites, hence it may be assumed that if these are comparable with those obtainable elsewhere, then universities should be in a position to obtain any necessary staff.

4.44 This leaves the question of university buildings for consideration. Data on capacity are not available, and again because of the variety of courses, it would be difficult to attach any precise meaning to the concept in global terms. We shall confine the discussion to the constituent colleges of the National University, as the numbers in Trinity College, Maynooth and the College of Surgeons are expected to remain constant.

4.45 In the case of the colleges of the National University, it may be taken that they will be expected to cater for about 7,000 extra full-time students by 1970/71 compared with 1961/62. Their capacity at the earlier date may be taken as fully utilised, indeed overcrowded, so that the full 7,000 places would be needed. Work has already begun on a new university college in Dublin, while new buildings have either been sanctioned or are already under construction in Cork and Galway. The Commission on the accommodation needs of the constituent colleges of the National University of Ireland which reported in June 1958, accepted the total accommodation needs as stated by the Dublin college at 610,000 square feet which contained an allowance for expansion of 20 per cent. In 1957/58, however there were already 3,566 full-time students³² in University College, Dublin : the number in 1961/62 was 4,762 or an increase of over 30 per cent. In 1962 the Dublin College expected that the number of students in 1970/71 would be slightly in excess of 8,000. On the basis of the existing ratio of the numbers in University College, Dublin to the total numbers in the National University and given the present number of institutions, we believe that the University College, Dublin estimate for 1970/71 may be on the low side. If as projected the total National University enrolment reaches 14,600 by 1970 the numbers in University College, Dublin on the basis indicated should reach almost 10,000. In Dublin, the college as presently planned might meet accommodation needs until about 1970. It seems clear,

³²Data supplied by secretariat of the Commission on Higher Education.

however, that additional accommodation will be required to meet subsequent needs. By 1975/76 we estimate that the number of fulltime students in the National University will have risen to about 17,500, of which about 12,000 would be in the Dublin college. In the case of Cork, it is understood that present schemes should meet needs on the scientific side, but that there may be additional demands on the arts side in a few year's time; in Galway arts accommodation should be reasonably satisfactory but a need for further accommodation for science will probably arise.

4.46 Other third level areas may be dealt with briefly. In the vocational division, the accommodation and teacher needs for technological courses (paragraph 4.36) were covered in the discussion of second level education. In the case of national teacher training, work is already in progress to rebuild one of the colleges and simultaneously increase capacity from 1,100 to 1,200 places. The number of extra training college staff needed to cope with such an increase is relatively small. Finally for other third level areas such as the College of Art and Colleges of Pharmacy and Dentistry,³³ an increase of 200 pupil places and 20 staff will be assumed. It is assumed, however, that the National College of Art will be rebuilt.

4.47 The foregoing projections are summarised in Table 4.14 which shows the anticipated additional resources of teachers and buildings by 1970/71 compared with 1962/63.

^{a3}Students in this college are registered university students and have been counted under 'university' in Tables 1.1 and 3.1.

TABLE 4.14	
Summary of Resources,	1964-71
(a) TEACHERS ¹	

Type of School or College	1964 Stock	Projected 1971 Stock	Percentage change over 1964	Gross Inflow 1964–71
FIRST LEVEL: National Schools ² Non-aided Primary	14,295 876	15,100 1,200	+ 5.6 + 37.0	4,300 n.a.
SECOND LEVEL: Secondary Schools Vocational (Continuation) \ Vocational (Technical)	5,149 2,236	6,628 2,982	+28·7 +33·4	3,500 1,590 ³
Comprehensive Other aided Non-aided commercial Other non-aided		150 141 250	+27·0 +82·5	n.a. n.a. n.a.
THIRD LEVEL:		1	m -	
Universities ⁴	1,043	1,570	+50.5	n.a.
Teacher Training Colleges	119	125	+ 5.0	n.a.
Non-aided Religious	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.

...=not applicable n.a.=not available

¹In terms of full-time equivalent teachers. ²Including special schools and secondary tops. Excluding supernumeraries. ³Wholetime and part-time aggregated.

## (b) PUPIL PLACES

Type of School or College	1964 Stock	Projected 1971 Stock	Percentage change over 1964	Gross Inflow 1964–71
FIRST LEVEL: National Schools ¹	4,800	4,800	-	700 new buildings 350 major im- provements
Special Schools	2,600 25,000	5,500 31,000	+92.3 +24.0	n.a. 6,000 ²
SECOND LEVEL: Secondary Schools	106,500 ³ 32,500 1,500  1,600 n.a. n.a.	127,500 49,000 6,500 2,500 1,700 n.a. n.a.	+19.7 +38.5 +33.3  + 6.3 n.a. n.a. n.a.	30,000 52,000 5,500 2,500 146 n.a. n.a.
THIRD LEVEL: Universities Teacher Training Colleges Other Third Level Non-aided Religious	13,200 1,600 1,000 n.a.	17,600 1,700 1,200 n.a.	+33.3 + 6.3 +20.0 n.a.	8,000 350 350 n.a.

...=not applicable n.a.=not available

¹Figures refer to schools, not pupil places. Including secondary tops, ^aNew building only: no allowance made for replacement building, ³1961–62 data.

# CHAPTER FIVE

## **Cost Projections**

5.1 With projections of future resource requirements and supply derived in the preceding chapter, we now proceed to estimate the costs and financial flows which result. This of necessity is a rather complicated area and there is a number of considerations to be borne in mind. Firstly, it is desirable to identify, if possible, the cost or value of the resources used in making education available. Secondly, the financial flows which arise as a result of educational activities must be identified. Divergences may arise between these two measures for a variety of reasons, for example, if one is interested in the value of the resources used in education it may be appropriate to impute a value for the services of unpaid teachers. If, however, one is interested simply in financial flows, then no data would appear in respect of such teachers. Similarly, to take a contrasting example, the granting of a state scholarship to a pupil will result in a financial flow, although no real resources are involved in such a transfer. While an attempt will be made in this chapter to distinguish real resource use from financial transactions the major emphasis is on these latter and all questions relating to unpaid teachers etc. are dealt with in the appropriate Appendix.1 The Appendix also discusses the basis of estimation and treatment for various items; and in addition contains some historical data.

# FIRST LEVEL

# NATIONAL SCHOOLS (INCLUDING SPECIAL SCHOOLS AND SECONDARY TOPS)

5.2 As the major part of the costs is met from state funds, it is possible to obtain a reasonably complete financial picture for national schools. Data on payments made by the State were available in some detail, but information on expenditures borne by the schools, whether in total or in detail, was virtually non-existant, while no information was available on expenditure by parents.

5.3 The most convenient way of presenting the financial data may be to show separately for each item the amounts borne by each group in relation to the total expenditure. Accordingly, Table 5.1 is presented showing the estimated expenditure for the year 1961/62.

¹Appendix V.

## TABLE 5.1

Estimated	Expenditure	on	National	School	Education	1961/2	2 by	Source	and	Type
			of	Expend	diture					

		and the second se		
Source Type of Expenditure	Public Funds	Schools	Parents	Total
CURRENT: Teachers' Salaries Heating, Cleaning, Painting, Etc. Transport Services School Books, etc. Teachers' Superannuation Other	9,621.0 135.8 31.8 7.9 1,232.0 15.4	 260·0  	 20·0 300·0 	9,621.0 395.8 51.8 327.9 1,232.0 15.4
TOTAL CURRENT	11,043.9	280.0	320.0	11,643.9
CAPITAL: New Buildings, Equipment Debt Service (T) ¹	1,712·6 380·0	285·0 30·0	E	1,997·6 410·0
GRAND TOTAL	13,136.5	595.0	320.0	14,051.5

## (£'000)

Source: For expenditure from Public Funds, the Annual Appropriation Accounts For other expenditures, enquiries and estimates made by us.

¹Cf. par. 5.4.

It will be noted from this table that national school teachers' salaries are paid directly by the State to teachers and no payments are made by the schools. In the case of heating, cleaning and similar maintenance, the initiative and payment for the expenditure involved for such services rest with the schools, but grants towards the cost of these items are made from state funds. Expenditure has been allocated to show the net amount borne (i) by the State and (ii) by the schools. Transport services refer to arrangements for bringing outlying children to and from school. The organisation of such arrangements is undertaken by the schools and grants are made by the State towards their cost. School requisites refers to expenditure on books and classroom materials. The schools are responsible for materials used by the teachers; parents normally pay for books and other items used by the pupils; the small expenditure shown for the State under this heading refers to the provision made for necessitous children. Grants under this scheme are paid to the schools, which supply the materials to the children. The final current item, teachers' superannuation, is self-explanatory, and is financed entirely from state funds. (See also Appendix V).

5.4 Of the capital items the first relates to the cost of new buildings and equipment and of major extensions and improvements to existing schools. As before, state grants are made to cover part, in this case the bulk, of the costs involved. The remaining item is intended to refer to the financial transactions which arise from this building programme. As such capital expenditure is largely financed by state borrowing, interest payments have subsequently to be made as the table shows. The letter 'T' in the table indicates that such interest payments are a transfer item (i.e. they do not involve the use of any real resources).

5.5 The components of state spending in Table 5.1 were, with one exception, taken from official data and may be considered highly accurate. The exception was the last item—debt service, which was estimated because the available data on the public debt do not disclose the amount of interest payments attributable to any particular activity.

5.6 Some indication of part of the expenditure by schools was obtained from official data. An estimate of total expenditure, and of its constituent parts, was made from data collected from a sample of schools.² The figures so obtained are higher than official estimates because they contain some expenses e.g. legal fees in the case of capital expenditure, which are excluded from official estimates. Expenditure by parents, where no data were available, was estimated on the basis of 12/6 per child per annum for books, and an allowance of 40 per cent of the total spending in the case of transport services.

5.7 With this table as a basis, the projection of future costs and financial flows may now be considered, beginning with teachers' salaries. Expenditure on this item might grow for three reasons; the number of teachers might increase; the salary scales of teachers might be raised; and there might be a change in the composition of the teaching force, so that it contained a larger number of more highly paid teachers. Teacher numbers have been discussed earlier (Chapter 4) and an 8 per cent increase by 1970/71 and 12 per cent by 1975/6 on the 1960/1 figure were assumed. The composition of the teaching force will not be considered in detail, but one factor which will alter its composition (and subsequent cost) is the fall in the number of untrained (lower paid) teachers, estimated to fall from 2,500 in 1960/61 to 1,700 in 1970/71 and 1,500 in 1975/6. This would increase costs ; by 1970/71 the increase might be of the order of £30,000 annually. On the other hand, the retirement of older teachers, which is expected to be fairly heavy, and the increase in the inflow of young teachers, may reduce somewhat the average annual salary. In making projections of salary increases for 1970/71, it has been assumed that these will rise at an annual rate of 3.5 per cent

²Appendix V.

in line with the projected rise in average productivity postulated by the Second Programme for Economic Expansion. The Programme expects an annual growth rate in gross national product of about 4.1 per cent for the decade 1961/70. Of this total growth rate, approximately 3.5 per cent is expected to be obtained from increased productivity; this, therefore is the amount in real terms by which wages and salaries could, on average, rise throughout the period. Applying this 3.5 per cent rate for the nine year period 1961/70 gives an increase of about 36 per cent. This percentage has been used in constructing forward projections. While the actual increases in money terms may be greater, as a result of price movements, teachers' salaries in real terms can only rise at a faster rate by a redistribution of income from some other sector of the economy.

5.8 In the case of the second item, maintenance of schools, expenditure on one component, painting, is projected to rise. This expenditure had hitherto been borne by schools. Since 1962/63, however, state grants have been introduced, and consequently it is assumed that in future buildings will be painted more often. The cost of these maintenance services is also expected to rise. In the absence of more precise indicators, wage rates are expected to rise by 3.5 per cent annually and productivity by 2.3 per cent, which is the rate projected for the service sector as a whole in the Second Programme for Economic Expansion. This would imply an annual increase of 1.2 per cent in the cost of school maintenance services or 11.3 per cent by 1970/71; the addition of this percentage to the estimated extension in painting programmes produces the total shown in Table 5.2. No further extension of present transport services is

TA	AR	LE.	5	2
	220		~ ~ ~	-

## Projected Expenditure on National School Education 1970/71

(£'000)

Sou Type of Expenditure	rce	Public Funds	Schools	Parents	Total
CURRENT: Teachers' Salaries Heating, Cleaning, etc. Transport Services School Books, etc Teachers' Superannuation Other		14,170 250 35 50 1,850 20			14,170 530 60 370 1,850 20
TOTAL CURRENT		16,375	300	325	17,000
CAPITAL: New Buildings, Equipment Debt Service (T)		2,150 600	350 50	=	2,500 650
GRAND TOTAL		19,125	700	325	20,150

assumed, but the same allowance of 11.3 per cent for increases in costs is made so that expenditure on this item would rise by much the same percentage. State grants for equipping school libraries have been introduced in the current year (1964) and it is assumed that expenditure will continue at a somewhat similar level (around £50,000 annually) for the forecast period. No change is assumed in expenditure on other school requisites.

5.9 The next item in the table, expenditure on teachers' pensions, is subject to somewhat similar trends as salaries. Expenditure is a function of the number of retired teachers and of the rate of pension to which they are entitled. Pension rates are projected to frise in line with salary rates. Numbers of retired teachers are also estimated to increase; the number due to retire up to 1975 is expected to be slightly higher than in the past decade and the life expectancy of older people has been rising in recent years. It is assumed, therefore, that the number of retired teachers will be approximately 10 per cent greater in 1970/71 than in 1961/62. In the final, residual item of current spending a 30 per cent increase has been assumed.

5.10 In the case of capital items, expenditure on new schools and extensions to existing schools has risen in recent years, partly because of higher building costs and partly as a result of an increase in the number of schools built. The policy at present is to build 100 schools annually and the 1964/65 Estimates of State Expenditure are based on this figure. It is assumed that the number of grants for extensions will on average be the same as that of recent years. Unless, therefore, some change occurs in building costs there would be little variation in annual expenditure during the forecast period compared with 1964/65. In the building industry in recent years, prices have risen more rapidly than for the economy as a whole. It is doubtful, therefore, whether costs will remain constant. It is known, however, that the Department of Education is experimenting with prefabricated buildings and also with a type of design termed 'modular', which results in speedier construction of buildings. These developments, if widely adopted should lead to some relative reduction in school building costs. In the absence of any more specific data or trends, therefore, it will be assumed that the unit cost of schools expressed in constant prices will remain unchanged over the period 1961/62 to 1970/71. Table 5.2 shows an increase in expenditure over the 1961/62 figure, however, reflecting a rise in the volume of building operations undertaken.

5.11 Expenditure for capital purposes by the schools themselves is projected to rise at the same rate as state expenditure. In calculating

interest payments on borrowed moneys it is assumed that debts have an average life of eight years, so that interest payments in 1970/71 would relate to all capital spending during the preceding eight years. It is also assumed that the average interest rate is 4 per cent. It is assumed that half of the expenditure financed by the schools themselves for capital purposes will be met by borrowing. These estimates also include expenditure on special schools, reformatory and industrial schools and secondary tops. Hence the other first level division calling for consideration are the non-aided primary schools.

## NON-AIDED PRIMARY

5.12 No historical data were available in the Department of Education on the financial aspects of non-aided primary schools. Accordingly, as part of a more detailed questionnaire addressed to such schools, information was sought from them by us as to their income and expenditure pattern for the year 1961/62. Replies were received which covered about 40 per cent of the schools and 50 per cent of the pupils. These schools are in many cases part of establishments which also operate secondary schools and have no separate accounts of expenditure for their primary school departments. The total expenditure may, therefore, be thought of as being composed of two elements, income from parents by way of fees and expenditure of, and by, the schools themselves.

5.13 Expenditure by parents, which forms the income side of school accounts, is indicated in part by the following table, which shows the percentage of day pupils who paid the fees indicated.

#### TABLE 5.3

Non-Aided Primary Schools: Percentage Distribution of Day Pupils by Fee, 1961/62

Fee		Percentage of Day Pupils paying that Fee
£ 0-10 10-15 15-20 20-30 30 and over		°/6 10 28 22 27 13
Total of Percer	ntages	100

(Based on returns accounting for 50 per cent. of pupils)

Source: Questionnaire completed by School Managers.

In addition there were also about 300 boarding pupils in the sample with an average fee of about  $\pounds 100$ .

5.14 If one were to take the returns on which the above table is based as being representative of all the schools,3 the total fees chargeable for the 19,255 pupils enrolled in such schools at February, 1963 would amount to £425,000. The actual amount received by the schools would, however, be less than this, as schools frequently reduce the fee where more than one child from the same family attends the school. Moreover, in cases of hardship payment of fees may be waived either explicitly or tacitly. In addition to fees chargeable, therefore, schools were also asked for the amount of fees actually received during the year. For the schools shown in Table 5.3 this varied from as low as 60 per cent up to 100 per cent of fees chargeable, with an average of 85 per cent. Applying this average of 85 per cent to the estimated total for all schools of £425,000 would give a figure of £362,000 for actual fee income. This would represent for day pupils only (excluding boarding fees and boarders) an average of £19 per pupil per annum. Since, however, the schools not included in these returns are thought to charge appreciably higher fees, a figure of £25 seems more plausible. The total number of boarding pupils in non-aided primary schools is not known.

5.15 As already indicated, the expenditure pattern of these schools is more difficult to establish. Many schools which also had secondary departments, made no apportionment for such items as maintenance, cleaning and so forth. Again part-time teachers often appear to account for a significant fraction of teaching costs and it is thus difficult to assess the composition of the expenditure pattern. Many of the schools are conducted by Religious Orders and staffed, in part at least by their members, who are not shown as receiving any salary; teaching expenditure, therefore, appears extremely low (see Annexe E). As the expenditure pattern of the schools is so complicated, it would appear to be simpler to use school income as a basis for projecting future trends.

5.16 Pupil numbers for these schools were projected to rise by about 50 per cent between 1962/63 and 1970/71 which would be one factor contributing to increased expenditure. Whether, and to what extent, fee levels might also rise is difficult to predict. In the absence of specific data, the simplest assumption is that unit teaching costs will rise at rates similar to those of national schools, which would suggest an increase of about one third in unit costs by 1970. In the case of schools which are effectively junior departments of secondary schools and linked financially with the secondary departments, cost increases would be more problematical, reflecting such elements as the financial position of the secondary school or the ability of the Religious

^{*}We are not altogether satisfied that it is. See Annexe E.

Orders to continue providing extra teachers. It seems reasonable to assume, however, that part at least of increases in costs will be reflected in rising fees. Accordingly, for non-aided primary schools as a whole it will be assumed that fee levels will on average have risen by one-third by 1970 compared with 1961. This coupled with the increase in pupil numbers would mean that fees should yield just £1 million.

5.17 In chapter 4, it was estimated that 6,000 new pupil places would be needed by 1970/71 to cater for increased enrolments in non-aided primary schools. We have no information on which to base an estimate of the cost of providing these places. Generally however, we would expect the cost to be rather more than for national school building but less than the £300 per place estimated for secondary schools. On the arbitrary assumption that new places in non-aided primary schools would cost £150 each, total capital expenditure over the eight years 1963/71 is estimated at £900,000.

# SECOND LEVEL

#### SECONDARY SCHOOLS

5.18 The financing pattern in secondary schools lies somewhat between that of national schools on the one hand and non-aided primary schools on the other. No historical data were available as to the income and expenditure pattern of these schools when we began our work. The schools receive substantial financial grants from public funds however, and data on these grants are available. In order to form some indication of the magnitude and composition of total spending, schools were asked, as part of a questionnaire, to furnish details of their income and expenditure for the year 1961/62. Returns were received from 386 schools, representing 71 per cent of schools and 70 per cent of pupils. The proportion of pupils in the response was uniform by size of school and by type of school (boys, girls, mixed). There were relatively rather more boarders than day pupils in the response (See Appendix V). In analysing the data, schools were classified in three groups, those with day pupils only, those with boarding pupils only and those which had both, called ' combined'. It will be convenient to frame the discussion in terms of the day pupils, with just a brief summary for boarding pupils. More complete details are contained in Appendix V.

5.19 By combining school data with official data the following table, which may be thought of as the current income of schools, was obtained, excluding the boarding element in fees.

		S	ource of Inco	ome	
	Fees ²	Other School Revenue ²	State Grants ³	Teachers' Incremental Salaries ³	Total
Income (£'000)	847	324	1,022	1,907	4,100
Percentage Distribution	21	8	25	46	100

TABLE 5.4 Estimated Income¹ of All Secondary Schools, 1961/2, by Source of Income

¹Excluding the boarding element in fees.

^aBased on returns accounting for 70 per cent. of pupils, adjusted to cover all pupils. ^aAppropriation Accounts, 1961/2.

The item fees is self-explanatory; other school revenue covers miscellaneous items e.g. income from endowments, fees for extra subjects and so forth. State grants refer mainly to capitation grants payable to schools for each recognised pupil on roll. The final item incremental salaries—is not, strictly speaking, part of school revenue at all. It is that portion of teachers' salaries which is paid by the State and is paid directly to the teachers concerned, but since the schools also pay salaries to teachers, it seems convenient to treat the state payments as a receipt by the schools and then show total salaries on the expenditure side of the schools' accounts. It will be seen that for the schools as a whole the two items of state grants account for 71 per cent of income, excluding the boarding element in fees.

5.20 In addition, there was also a substantial amount of fee income in respect of the boarding costs of boarding pupils. If this is included, fees as a percentage of total income naturally rise, since this income is in addition to the fees shown in Table 5.4. The amount of boarding fee income is estimated from the returns at £1,742,500. Thus, of school income as a whole state grants amount to 50 per cent of the total. In the case of boarding schools only, this percentage drops to 27.5. It may be of interest at this point to summarise the fee levels of the schools covered by the returns (Table 5.5).

5.21 It will be noted that almost 75 per cent of day pupils were charged less than £20 per annum. The classification in this table relates to fees chargeable; the aggregates shown in Table 5.4 referred to fees received. It is also necessary, therefore, to know the relationship between the two. For day pupils, receipts amounted to 84.3 per cent. In some cases fees may be reduced or waived and some

## TABLE 5.5

#### SECONDARY SCHOOLS

#### Percentage Distribution of Secondary School Pupils by Fee Level, showing Day and Boarding Pupils Separately, 1961/62

(Based on returns accounting for 70 per cent of pupils)

Fee	Level	S	Day Pupils	Boarding Pupils
£				
0-10			19.7	_
10-15			42.0	- Ca
15-20	-		11.8	
20-25			7.9	] - 2
25-50			15.0	\$2.3
50 75			2.6	33.2
75 100			1.0	24.2
100 150			10	24.3
100-150	• •			12.0
150 and o	ver		-	13.0
Total of I	Darcon	tages	100.0	100.0

Percentage

secondary schools also award scholarships. Since these considerations apply mainly to day pupils they account for the major part of the difference between the percentage receipts from day and boarding pupils.

5.22 Table 5.6 summarises the expenditure pattern of secondary schools, excluding boarding expenditure.

## TABLE 5.6

Secondary Schools—Estimated Current Expenditure¹ Per Pupil, 1961/2 (excluding Boarding Expenditure) by Size of School

Size of School	Teaching Cost Per Pupil	Other Current Cost per Pupil	Total Cost per Pupil
Pupils:	£	£	£
Less than 100	 40.7	12.7	53.4
100–149	 35.2	7.4	42.6
150-199	 32.5	10.1	42.6
200–299	 29.8	7.5	37.3
300 and over	 28.1	9.8	37.9
Average for all Schools	 33.3	9.5	42.8

¹Including state incremental salaries to teachers.

Of this average cost of £42.8, 78 per cent is accounted for by teaching costs. This expenditure amounted to 84 per cent of the income of schools. Compared with the estimated income, this would give an apparent surplus of about £600,000, an average of about £8

per pupil. Certain factors must be borne in mind here however. First the difference may be, at least in part, the result of statistical inaccuracies on the income or expenditure sides, each of which is likely to contain some margin of error. Secondly, we have not imputed any basic salaries for religious teachers who constitute about half of the incremental teachers nor salaries for part-time religious teachers. Also, as Table 5.5 shows, there are marked differences in the size of fees, so that the average could be quite misleading. Other school revenue' (Table 5.4) amounts to half of the apparent surplus. Lastly, until 1964 capital expenditure had to be met entirely by the schools themselves. It may be of interest to note briefly the schools' activities under this head.

5.23 School managers were asked for details of any capital expenditure incurred in the five years up to and including 1961/62. Replies indicated that for the schools (day and boarding) who replied a total of just over £5 million had been spent, 60 per cent on new school buildings and 20 per cent on major extensions or restorations of existing school buildings. 5 per cent was spent on school equipment, while 15 per cent went on new residential accommodation and equipment. The estimate of expenditure on building by all secondary schools in 1961/62 would be £1.25 million.

5.24 Total estimated expenditure of schools for 1961/62 is summarised in Table 5.7, which is based on the data obtained from the questionnaire. (Details are given in Appendix V). It may be observed that the figure for 'boarding' is in fact derived from the income for this item as given in paragraph 5.20, less an estimated £100,000 for debt service.

#### TABLE 5.7

nditure of Secondary Schools 1961/62

csumuleu	10101	Expenditure	of Decontain j	Denoois,	1701/02

Current Expenditure	£'000
Teachers' Salaries (including superannuation contribution) Boarding Interest Payments (T) Other	2,700 1,640 400 470
Total Current Expenditure	5,210
Capital Expenditure (Building)	1,250
Total Expenditure	6,460

5.25 In addition to expenditure by schools there was a further item of public spending on secondary education amounting to £110,000 for the year 1961/62 on scholarships and prizes. These were mainly awarded by county councils. Since the bulk of the moneys would be used by the recipients for paying fees, the major part of this £110,000 might be thought of as constituting part of the fee and other income of the schools and will be so treated in the summary tables at the end of this chapter. Non-school expenditure by parents on books etc. is estimated to have amounted to £250,000 (on the basis of £3 per pupil).

5.26 With the foregoing data as a basis, the projection of future income and expenditure may now be considered. Dealing first with school income, state grants for teaching purposes may, as before, rise for three reasons-increases in numbers, increases in salaries and an increased proportion of more highly paid teachers. Pupil numbers were (in Chapter 3) projected to rise by 42 per cent by 1970/71 compared with 1961/62. Maintaining the present pupil/ teacher ratio as discussed in Chapter 4 would mean a 42 per cent increase in the number of teachers. Teachers' salaries may be projected to rise in line with increases in gross national product at the same rate as that assumed for national teachers. The third factor is quantitatively less important, but may formally be noted for the problems it poses. Generally, secondary teachers are available in adequate numbers, but for subjects such as mathematics, science and some modern languages, shortages already are understood to exist and may continue to do so in the future. Consequently it may be necessary to pay higher salaries to attract sufficient qualified people to teach these subjects.

5.27 State grants (other than teaching) may be considered under a number of separate headings, beginning with the most substantial item, the capitation grant for pupils. Expenditure on this item can vary for three reasons; first, because of a change in the number of recognised pupils; secondly, because of a change in the amount of grant per pupil; and thirdly, since there are different rates of grant for senior and junior pupils, by a change in the composition of the total pupil numbers. All three influences are reflected in the data. During the period from 1955/56 to 1962/63 the number of pupils rose from 59,300 to 84,900, an increase of 43 per cent. The grant per pupil remained constant at a maximum of £11 per annum for junior pupils (i.e. pupils up to intermediate certificate) and £16 annually for senior pupils. During the same period there was some change in the composition of the total, senior pupils rose from 14,300 or 24 per cent of the total in 1955/56 to 22,000 or 25 per cent in 1962/63. 5.28 For the year 1964/65 the capitation grant has been increased to a maximum of £14 for junior and £19 for senior pupils annually, and these amounts have been used for the forecast year 1970/71. The total number of pupils is expected to rise to 114,000 by 1970/71. Of this total, senior pupils are expected to account for 32,500 or approximately 29 per cent. Using these details the projected total of capitation grants would be as shown in Table 5.8.

5.29 The next item is laboratory grants, which refers to grants made to schools for the teaching of science, domestic economy and manual instruction. The grants are paid on a class basis, the maximum being £45 per class per annum. Two components have been added in recent years. First, with effect from 1962/63, grants have been made towards the furnishing and equipping of laboratories. These grants are estimated to cost £30,000 for 1962/63, £50,000 for 1963/64 and £40,000 for 1964/65. The second component, introduced in 1964/65, consists of a teaching grant for science and is estimated to cost £35,000 for that year. This grant is given to schools who employ science graduates, to enable them to offer higher salaries to such teachers.

5.30 In projecting the future level of grants it has been assumed that the rate of class grants remains unchanged, that equipment grants average  $\pm$ 50,000 annually, and teaching grants rise to  $\pm$ 70,000. State expenditure on class grants is projected to rise by 30 per cent between 1964/65 and 1970/71 as a result of increases in the number of classes. This increase in class numbers is based on the assumption that the same proportion of additional pupils will be studying these subjects as was doing so in the year 1963/64.

5.31 Irish and bilingual grants refer to amounts paid to schools where subjects are taught through the medium of Irish. In projecting future expenditure it is assumed that the rate of grant remains unchanged, but that the number of eligible pupils (the basis for making the grant) rises by 10 per cent as a result of the general increase in pupil numbers.

5.32 The only additional item in the table relating to the forecast years, is 'grants towards school building charges'. This refers to the scheme announced by the Minister for Education in May, 1964. For the purposes of the present table it has been assumed (1) that the number of pupil places built by schools eligible for such grants will be 25,000 by 1970/71, (2) that the average cost per pupil place

will be £300, (3) that the annual charge on the capital sums involved (interest plus sinking fund) will be  $6\frac{1}{2}$  per cent, (4) that the annual state grant will be 60 per cent of such charges, and (5) that there would be a 5 per cent reduction in the capitation grant payable in respect of all the pupils of such schools. The result of these calculations is the amount shown in Table 5.8. It should be nature or the extent of the proposed scheme. It is intended merely as providing a basis for deriving a projection of the future position.

5.33 The remaining income items for consideration are fees and other school income. It is impossible to discuss these adequately without considering the expenditure pattern of the schools. It is not proposed to do so here, beyond noting that most of the expenditure items included in Table 5.7 are likely to rise in cost during coming years. Items such as maintenance and cleaning may be taken to rise in cost at a rate similar to that projected for national schools. Items such as rents, rates or loan charges are more difficult to project. An arbitrary assumption of a 10 per cent increase by 1971 will be made. Finally, it may be noted that basic salaries to teachers have already risen by about 40 per cent since 1961/62. While a part of this increased expenditure would be met from state grants, it seems reasonable to conclude that there would be some pressure on fee levels also. Accordingly, fees will on average be assumed to increase 20 per cent by 1970/71 compared with 1961/62. Other school income will be assumed to rise by 20 per cent. On this basis Tables 5.8 and 5.9 showing estimated school income and expenditure for 1970/71 would read as follows :

#### TABLE 5.8

## Projected Income of Secondary Schools, 1970/1

(1) Fee Income (Day and Boa	rding)					£'000
(2) Other Income	rung)	•••		• •	•••	4,000
(2) Under Income	•••	••		• •		390
(4) State Grants:		•••	••	•••		3,680
(a) Capitation		• •			1,750	
(b) Laboratory					220	
(c) Irish and Bilingual					80	
(d) Building Grants (N	et)				230	
						2,280
			TOTAL			10,350

Teachers' Salaries (inclui	ding s	superar	inua-	~ 000
tion contribution)				5,200
Boarding				2,600
Other		• •		710
	••	• •		700
Total Current Expenditure				9,210
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE:				
Building				1,000
Total Expenditure				10 210

TABLE 5.9 Projected Expenditure of Secondary Schools in 1970/71

5.34 In addition to school expenditure, it is necessary to take account of grants to pupils in the form of scholarships. This comes from two sources, the schools themselves and public authorities. Scholarships for those schools contained in the sample had a value of £12,000 in 1961/62. Assuming this was representative, the position for all schools would be a total value of £17,000. These school scholarships are not reflected in the financial tables shown above since no actual money flows are involved. As the policy of schools regarding scholarships is not known, it will be assumed that the number of scholarships is kept constant for coming years. Reflecting anticipated fee increases the value of such scholarships is taken to rise to £20,000 by 1971.

5.35 Public expenditure on scholarships has risen substantially since 1961/62, as a result of the 1961 Scholarship Act. Under this Act it would seem that expenditure would reach a maximum of about  $\pm 360,000$  by the year 1965/66, and this figure is taken as also being applicable for 1971.⁴ Of this total  $\pm 200,000$  would come from central and the remainder from local government sources. The number of pupils covered by such scholarships would be about 10,000. Since scholarship moneys are used by the recipients to pay fees and other expenses, it may be appropriate when estimating net expenditure from public and private sources to deduct the value of state scholarships from fee income in order to arrive at a figure for net private spending. This will probably understate private spending, since not all scholarship money will go on direct fees etc. but in the absence of any data on the point, this assumption will be used. In sum then, spending on scholarships from both sources

⁴As of going to press, it has been announced by the Minister for Education that it is proposed to double expenditure on scholarships to a maximum of £720,000 by 1971.

(i.e. State and schools) would total at least £380,000 by 1971. Finally, the remaining item of current expenditure—namely books etc. borne by parents is assumed to rise to £350,000 by 1970/71.

5.36 It is also necessary to note the likely capital expenditure of secondary schools for coming years. A figure of 25,000 pupil places was used above (paragraph 31) at a cost of £300 per place, this gives a total expenditure of £7.5 million by 1971 on the part of eligible schools. In the previous chapter it was estimated that a total of at least 30,000 places would be provided by 1971. If it is assumed that the difference between this total and the figure of 25,000 mentioned above is the number provided by schools not eligible for grants, and that costs per place are similar, this implies expenditure by such schools of £1.5 million making an overall total of £9 million.

# VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS

5.37 The financing pattern of vocational schools differs significantly from that of the other divisions. The bulk of their income is derived from public funds, the largest portion coming from central government and the remainder from local authorities. Fee and other income is relatively small. Data on the aggregate income and expenditure of the various vocational educational committees are available for past years and are summarised in Appendix V. The position for 1961/62 is summarised in Table 5.10.

#### TABLE 5.10

Source of Income	£'000	Percen- tage of Income	Pattern of Expenditure	£'000	Percen- tage of Income
Central Government ¹ .	1,531.9	58.4	Instruction	1,658.6	63.2
Local Authorities ² Fees	838·8 154·2	32·0 5·9	Administration Maintenance etc Debt Service (T) ³	202·3 471·7 136·0	7.7 18.0 5.2
Sale of Books etc. Other	15·1 82·6	0.6 3.1	Scholarships (T) ⁴ Other	42·1 41·0	1.6 1.6
TOTAL	2,622.6	100.0	TOTAL	2,551.7	97.3

Income and Current Expenditure of Vocational Education Committees 1961/62

¹, ²Two items of expenditure, which are borne directly by the State and the Local Authorities and are not included in this table, are discussed in paragraph 5.40, ³, ⁴Transfer items. ⁴ Debt Service ³ includes interest on loans and repayments of principal. 5.38 The level of central government grant to vocational education committees varies somewhat as between committees. In general, the rate of grant for counties is £1 for every £1 allocated by the appropriate local taxation authority. In the case of the seven urban⁵ and three borough committees (Cork, Limerick, Waterford), the state grant is £4 for each local £1, while in Dublin City it is £2. In aggregate approximately 65 per cent is the state and 35 per cent the local proportion of total public contributions towards current vocational expenditure. Fees and sale of books are self-explanatory. The remaining residual category of income covers such items as payments by industry for special courses, receipts for the letting of premises, and so forth.

5.39 On the expenditure side the first item, covering all payments to teachers, is the dominant one. Administration refers to clerical, travelling and similar expenses. The next item is more complicated. In addition to maintenance in the usual sense, it includes purchases of classroom materials and minor equipment (which latter might be taken as capital expenditure). The fourth item refers to interest payments and repayments of principal in respect of earlier borrowings by the committees themselves. For the year 1961/62 these payments were estimated to total £136,000. In the Annual Reports this item is included under maintenance. Scholarships are self-explanatory, while the last item is miscellaneous in character and unimportant in extent.

5.40 Two items of direct central and local government expenditure referred to in the footnote to Table 5.10 call for some explanation. They are superannuation (State £34,300, Local Authority £32,400) and debt service (State £59,400, Local Authority £59,300)-the figures given are for 1961/62. Superannuation payments to staff of vocational committees are paid by the parent local authorities out of their general funds. The State, however, recoups one-half of the annual expenditure. Before 1948 the staff did not pay superannuation contributions; all new appointees since then have 5 per cent deducted from their annual salaries. Half these contributions are paid over to the local authorities and half to the Department of Education. How these contributions are handled is not shown in the published accounts. Accordingly, the figures in Table 5.10 for central and local grants are gross, i.e., the contributions have not been deducted. Correspondingly, they are included on the expenditure side under instruction, administration and maintenance. However, to avoid duplication, the superannuation expenditure of the State and local authorities given earlier in this paragraph is shown net, i.e., the gross

Bray, Drogheda, Dun Laoghaire, Galway, Sligo, Tralee, Wexford.

expenditure has been reduced by the amount of contributions for which each took credit. (On a minor technical point, the State and the local authorities do not in fact take credit for equal amounts. The local authorities are paid up to date in the current year, the state share is paid a year in arrears). In 1961/2 the total contributions paid back by the committees out of their grants was £37,900— (£17,973 to the State and £19,928 to the local authorities). In the case of debt service, payments are made by the State, the local authorities and by the vocational education committees. Committees may borrow for capital purposes on their own account : the item Debt Service in Table 5.10 refers to this as explained in paragraph 5.39. Alternatively, they may receive capital grants from the local authorities. In that case it is the local authorities which borrow the money and bear repayments and interest. However, the State recoups local authorities one-half of their expenditure.

5.41 Future expenditure may now be discussed. The projected number of teachers shows an increase of 50 per cent by 1970/71 compared with the estimated number in 1961/62. Salaries, in line with the assumption made earlier for other teachers, may be taken to rise by 36 per cent between 1961 and 1970. Allowing for these changes, teaching expenditure would double by 1970 and this estimate is shown in Table 5.11. Administration costs may also be taken to rise, though since they have risen in the past at a slower rate than teaching costs (100 against 150 per cent for the past decade) it will be assumed that this trend will continue resulting in a 70 per cent increase by 1970.

#### **TABLE 5.11**

Source of Income	£'000	Percen- tage of Income	Pattern of Expenditure	£'000	Percen- tage of Income
Central Government ¹	2,970	59.6	Instruction	. 3,385	68.0
Local Authorities ² Fees	1,600 290	32·1 5·8	Administration . Maintenance . Debt Service	344 788 350	6.9 15.8 7.0
Sales of Books etc. Other	20 100	0·5 2·0	Scholarships Other	63 50	1·3 1·0
TOTAL	4,980	100.0	TOTAL .	4,980	100.0

Projected Income and Current Expenditure of Vocational Education Committees 1970/71

¹,² Excluding direct expenditure, superannuation (State £75,000, Local Authorities £70,000), debt service (State £175,000, Local Authorities £175,000). See paragraphs 5.40, 5.45 and 5.46.

5.42 Maintenance expenditure is more difficult to project. It will be assumed that unit costs will rise, following the assumption made for national schools, by 11.3 per cent by 1970/71. Since the number of students for whom these services would be provided, would rise by about 50 per cent compared with 1961/62, this would suggest that total expenditure would increase by about 67 per cent.

5.43 Other expenditure, being a residual, tends to fluctuate. In the absence of any clear trend it will be assumed to be  $\pounds 50,000$ . Spending on scholarships has been rising steadily, and has increased 80 per cent in the past decade. Reflecting the rise in pupil numbers it will be assumed that spending will rise by a further 50 per cent by 1971.

5.44 This leaves interest payments as the remaining item. Expenditure here will clearly depend on capital expenditure of preceding years. It also, less clearly, depends on the financing method used. Taking total expenditure first, we have seen in paragraph 4.33 that an extra 16,500 pupil places are planned for 1970/71, compared with 1963/64. At £300 per place this would suggest a total of £5 million for the extra places. Replacement building would amount to approximately £0.5 million. In addition there would be expenditure of £1 million for a technological college in Dublin, and £1.5 million for a similar building in Cork. Another £2 million should possibly be allowed for additional expenditure on technical education, for regional technical of £10.0 million.

5.45 To estimate loan charges of vocational committees, it is also necessary to take account of the financing methods used. The two ways in which this may be done have already been explained. If a committee receives capital grants from the local authority, it will have no annual charge to meet. In recent years, vocational committees have been raising an increasing proportion of their capital needs by way of such grants. For the year 1962/63 the proportion was about 50 per cent. A continuance of this fraction gives approximately £5 million as the amount on which interest would be payable. Coupled with older debts still outstanding the projection would yield a total debt service charge of £350,000 by 1971. The State and local authorities would be liable for a similar amount to cover the balance of the capital expenditure.

5.46 The gross amount of superannuation to be borne directly by the State and the local authorities, as described in paragraph 5.40 is likely to increase to about £300,000 by 1970/71, due to a slight increase in the numbers retiring and to the higher level benefits which

would be payable. Contributions, however, may also be expected to increase, to around £160,000, reflecting increases in teacher numbers and salaries and also the fact that by 1970/71 a greater proportion of teachers would be paying contributions. The estimated net outlay on superannuation in 1970/71 is accordingly taken at £145,000, divided equally between the State and the local authorities.

5.47 The total projected expenditure is taken as equal to the projected income. It is assumed that fees will continue to be much the same fraction of total income. Sales of books, etc. may be taken to rise to £23,000 in line with pupil numbers. Other income is estimated at £100,000. In allocating the remainder as between central and local government it is assumed that the ratio 65 per cent to 35 per cent of central to local contribution will be maintained.

5.48 Finally, as with other schools, parental expenditure on books, etc. not covered by the above tables may be noted. This is estimated to have been of the order of  $\pounds 50,000$  in 1961/62 and is assumed to double to  $\pounds 100,000$  by 1970/71.

# COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOLS

5.49 In Chapter 3 a total enrolment of 5,000 in 1970/71 was projected for the proposed comprehensive schools. As the current and capital costs will be met mainly from public funds, the unit costs are likely to be closer to those of vocational rather than secondary schools. Total current expenditure therefore, may be around £500,000, the larger part, £300,000 being for teaching services. Fees may contribute around £15,000 and other parental expenses may amount to £25,000 per annum. On the capital side, again assuming a cost per place of £300, expenditure would amount to £1,500,000, all to be provided from public funds. Interest and repayment of this sum would mean an annual charge of approximately £60,000. As we pointed out in paragraph 3.16, however, only about half that number of pupils is likely to be additional to those already accounted for in secondary and vocational schools. We, therefore, take only half of these projected costs, although this may understate the costs.

## OTHER SECOND LEVEL

5.50 There remains a number of second level divisions for consideration, including agricultural schools and colleges, non-aided commercial schools, schools of domestic economy and non-aided secondary schools and religious establishments. The total pupil enrolment of all these establishments was about 4,000 in 1963/64 and is projected to rise to 5,000 by 1970/71 (Table 3.1). 5.51 Financial data for these areas are very slight, in some cases non-existent. Agricultural colleges and rural schools of domestic economy receive grants from the Department of Agriculture to cover their costs.⁶ Some of them also charge fees which are then remitted to the Department; accordingly, in estimating their expenditure, only the net amount of the subvention is shown as state, the fees being shown as private expenditure. There are also residential schools of domestic economy, which are paid grants by the Department of Education, and schools run by the Department of Lands, Defence and Justice. No data are available for the non-aided schools, secondary, commercial, or religious. As an arbitrary estimate their combined expenditure is taken to be £80,000 in 1961/62 and £140,000 in 1970/71.

5.52 Making the appropriate allowance for increases in teaching and other costs, the projected position for the aided schools in 1970/71 is as shown in the following table.

# TABLE 5.12

#### Other Aided Second Level Education: Estimated Current Expenditure 1961/62 and 1970/71

0	196	1/62	1970/71	
Type of School of College	Total	Of which State Grants	Total	Of which State Grants
Agricultural and Rural Domestic	200	160	350	300
Residential Schools of Domestic	30	20	50	35
Forestry Schools Other Aided Schools ¹	25 20	25 20	35 30	35 30
Total	275	225	465	400

(£'000)

¹As in paragraph 1.34.

# THIRD LEVEL

#### UNIVERSITIES

5.53 University income arises from three main sources, state grants, fee income and income from endowments. On the expenditure side, as with other levels, the most important item is teaching costs.

⁶Some also receive grants from the Department of Education as containing residential schools of domestic economy.

Accounts for the year 1961/62 may be summarised as follows, the figures being rounded off:

	72.3			0
1A	BI	LE.	5.	13

	Incor	ne	£'000	Expenditure	£'000	
State Grants ²			1,200	Teaching and related Expenditure	1,250	
Fees Other	::		750 250	Scholarships Other	50 800	
	TOTAL		2,200	TOTAL	2,100	

Current Income and	Expenditure of	f Universities ¹	1961/62
--------------------	----------------	-----------------------------	---------

¹Excluding College of Surgeons and Maynooth.

²Source : Appropriation Account 1961/62 and Statistical Abstract, 1963.

5.54 In seeking to project the future situation of university finances it will be convenient to consider first the expenditure side. Teacher numbers have been considered in chapter 4. Salaries may be expected to rise at the rate used at other levels, while no change in staff composition is assumed. The result of these estimates would be to give the expenditure of  $\pounds 2.9$  million as shown in Table 5.14. Administrative expenditure may be projected to rise at a somewhat lower rate than teaching expenditure, on the assumption that while salary levels may rise at the same rate, administrative staff numbers will rise more slowly than teacher numbers. Maintenance and other expenditure may be expected to rise as at other levels, through increases in unit costs and increases in student numbers.

5.55 On the income side it will be assumed that endowment income will remain almost constant, leaving increased expenditure to be met mainly from either fees or state grants. For the past decade state grants have risen at a faster rate than fee levels, for the future, fee income is projected to more than double, mainly as a result of increased student numbers. Thus fee income will rise at a faster rate, but by a smaller absolute amount than state grants.

Income		£'000	Expenditure	£'000		
State G	rants			2,700	Teaching and Related Expenditure.	2,890
Fees				1,700	Scholarships	50
Other				300	Other	1,760
		TOTAL		4,700	TOTAL	4,700

TABLE 5.14 Projected Current Income and Expenditure of Universities 1970/71

5.56 Capital expenditure for coming years is expected to be heavy and it is assumed that it will be met entirely from state funds. The components of this expenditure have been mentioned earlier. Up to 1964 £2.8 million had already been allocated for the building of the science block of the new college in Dublin. It may be assumed that at least £8.0 million more will be needed over the coming years to complete the project. In Cork the new science block is estimated to cost £1,143,000 and it may be assumed that at least £250,000 will be necessary in Galway, making a total of £9.4 million.

5.57 It should be added that this relates only to capital schemes which are already in effect or agreed to in principle. It does not allow for any additions which may be necessary to existing plans for Belfield or for any expenditure which might be necessary as a result of the recommendations of the Commission on Higher Education.

5.58 Of the other items, the most important is expenditure on scholarships. The universities themselves awarded scholarships whose estimated value was £50,000 in 1961/62 and it is assumed in Table 5.14 that this figure will be maintained for 1970/71. Scholarships from public funds are governed by the 1961 Act. The maximum expenditure would appear to be of the order of £100,000 for central, and £80,000 for local government. This level should be reached by 1965/66 and will be assumed to continue for 1971.⁷ Finally, parental/student expenditure on books etc. is estimated to have been £100,000 in 1961/62, and to rise to £250,000 in 1970/71.

# TEACHER TRAINING

5.59 There are two areas which fall under this heading, national teacher and vocational teacher training. In the case of national teachers and domestic science teachers for post-primary schools the training is provided by privately conducted colleges with the aid of substantial state grants. In projecting the future position the appropriate allowances for increases in costs and student numbers have been made. Vocational teacher training, which relates to only a few subjects is organized by the Department of Education. Similar allowances have been made for increased expenditure in this area. Projected income is taken to balance projected expenditure.

⁷As in the case of post-primary scholarships (footnote 4) the Minister for Education has announced that it is proposed to double expenditure by 1971.

## TABLE 5.15

## Estimated Income of Training Colleges

# (£'000)

	Sourc	e	1961/62	1970/71	
State ¹ Private ²			::	157 100	240 140
		TOTAL		257	380

¹Appropriation Accounts. ²Estimated.

5.60 Under capital expenditure, a total of £250,000 is assumed for the reconstruction and extension of a training college. No data were available on the non-aided training colleges.

## OTHER THIRD LEVEL

5.61 Of the remaining areas of state-aided third level education, the most important are the Colleges of Surgeons, Pharmacy, Dentistry and Art. The estimated income for these institutions is as shown below. Within the past year or so the Colleges of Dentistry and Pharmacy have been granted state aid for the first time. It seems reasonable to assume that such grants will rapidly become the most significant item in their incomes.

#### **TABLE 5.16**

Estimated Income: Other State-Aided Third Level

	Source	e	1961/62	1970/71		
State Private				20 165	150 190	
1. an .	Contra Contra	TOTAL		185	340	

20	۰.	2	0	2	
±.		U	0		0

5.62 Under capital expenditure, an estimate of  $\pm 500,000$  has been made for the building of new premises for the National College of Art.

# OTHER STATE EDUCATIONAL EXPENDITURE

5.63 There remain a number of items of state expenditure in the educational sphere, some of which are substantial from a financial

## 100

viewpoint. A summary of this expenditure for the year 1961/62 together with a projection of the 1970/71 position is as follows:

#### **TABLE 5.17**

# Other Educational Expenditure from Public Funds (£'000)

					1961/62	Projected 1970/71
Office of Minister Posts and Telegraphs Stationery Office A rates on Buildings Maintenance by Office of Administrative costs by Gaeltacht Grants Reformatories and Indu School Medical Services School Medis	of Pu Offic  strial	blic Wor e of Publ	ks lic Wo	  rks 	£ 443 14 25 10 83 185 31 463 140 170	£ 750 35 40 10 100 350 60 600 225 200
II. Superannuation			 Total	5	1,654	2,500

5.64 The first item refers to the general administrative expenditure of the Department of Education, office and inspectorial staff and so forth. It does not, however, include all of the expenditure shown in this heading in the official accounts, grants for various museums, international organisations and so forth being excluded.

5.65 Items 2 to 5 are self-explanatory and relate to the cost of services provided for the Department of Education by other Government Departments, or in the case of rates, by the local authority. Item 6 is a more unorthodox item and refers to the administrative expenditure involved in the national school building programme. The figures for capital expenditure, given in the table relating to national school expenditure. (Table 5.1) refer only to the actual costs of construction etc.; they do not include any part of the administrative expenses incurred by the Office of Public Works in the running of this programme. Accordingly, Item 6 is a rather crude estimate of such costs, obtained by calculating educational expenditure as a fraction of total expenditure on Public Works and Buildings and then taking this same fraction of the total administrative expenditure of the Office of Public Works as being the amount attributable to education. It does not pretend to be an accurate reflection of these costs, but is rather indicative of their magnitude. The estimate is believed to err on the conservative side.

5.66 The next item refers to the expenditure incurred by the Department of the Gaeltacht, consisting mainly of grants towards

the cost of summer study courses in the Irish language in the Gaeltacht (Irish speaking areas).

5.67 The claims of the remaining items for inclusion in a list of educational costs are more controversial. Item 8 refers to the capitation grant payable in respect of children in reformatories and industrial schools. This grant (which is borne equally by the State and local authorities) is primarily to cover the maintenance costs of such children, the major educational costs (teachers' salaries) being borne on the vote for national schools. As the schools however, incur some educational costs themselves, there may be some point in listing this maintenance expenditure, since the ability of such schools to provide educational facilities must in part be influenced by the amount of the maintenance grants. Again, the incurring of maintenance expenditure may be a necessary pre-condition for ensuring that such children receive an education. This last point also explains the presence of the next two items. Medical services and meals (which are again financed equally by the State and local authorities) have no direct educational content, but they may be necessary to enable some children to benefit from educational facilities.

5.68 The final item refers to the expenditure on pensions etc. for civil servants who were engaged in the Department of Education.

# SUMMARY

5.69 This concludes the consideration of educational expenditure. All of the estimates were based on the assumption that there would be no significant rise in the general level of prices, that is, they are related to real changes in national product, and would need to be corrected for any price inflation which occurs. The estimates are summarized in the tables which follow, 5.18, 5.19 and 5.20. Table 5.18 summarizes expenditure on current resources, including superannuation. The estimates of parental expenditure on books etc. in divisions other than the national schools are also included in this table. Table 5.19 covers transfer items (interest payments and scholarships schemes) while Table 5.20 summarizes the estimated capital expenditure for the seven-year period 1964/65 to 1970/71.

5.70 The total expenditure on education as summarised in these three tables is given in Table 5.21 and expressed as a percentage of National Product. The National Product figures for the forecast year were estimated by projecting a 4.14 per cent annual increase on the 1963 figure, in accordance with the target of the Second Programme for Economic Expansion. It seemed preferable to use the three major measures of National Product for the comparison, since they each provide a somewhat different impression of the relative magnitude of educational activity.
-	-	-		4
Г A		- H-C	15	10
				10
				L ()

Estimated Expenditure on Current Resources, 1961/62 and 1970/71 by Source o Finance

		- 14	. 14	
- 10.0				
	-			

Division		1961/62			1970/71	
Division	Public	Private	Total	Public	Private	Total
National Schools Non-aided Primary Secondary Other Second Level Other Second Level Universities Teacher Training Other Expenditure from Public Funds. Other Expenditure from Public Funds. Other Private Expen- diture (Books etc.).	11,044 	300 480 1,881 252  130 835 100 165  750	11,344 480 4,810 2,440 355 2,035 257 185 1,654 750	16,375 5,730 4,300 230 400 2,700 240 150 2,500	325 1,000 2,770 410 205 1,940 140 190  1,080	16,700 1,000 8,500 4,710 250 605 4,640 380 340 2,500 1,080
TOTAL	19,417	4,893	24,310	32,625	8,080	40,705

TABLE 5.19

Estimated Expenditure on Transfer Items by Source of Finance, 1961/62 and 1970/71

1	0.1	0	~	~	
1	C				-
	2				

Division Of		1961/62	E D		1970/71	(
Division	Public	Private	Total	Public	Private	Total
Debt Service: National Schools Non-aided Primary Secondary Vocational Comprehensive Other Second Level Universities Teacher Training Other third Level	380 	30 60 400  15  505	410 60 400 255  15  1 1,141	600 	50 80 480  10  620	650 80 710 700 30 15 10 10 2 2,207
Scholarships: Secondary Vocational Universities Teacher Training Other third level	112 42 96 21 1 272 908	17 50  67 572	129 42 146 21 1 339 1,480	360 63 195 24 1 643 2,230	20 50 70 690	380 63 245 24 1 713 2,920

		)													
			year total)	Total	17,500	800	7,000	10,000	1,500	200	9,400	250	500	47,150	
			7) 17/0701 (7	Private	2,500	800	7,000	I	I	1	I	1	I	10,300	
			1964/65 to	Public	15,000	[	I	10,000	1,500	200	9,400	250	500	36,850	
	of Finance			Total	2,500	100	1,000	1,450	150	5	1,400	L	500	7,100	
5.20 -	ure by Source	(0)	1970/71	Private	350	100	1,000	St.	1	1	1	I	1	1,450	
TABLE	ipital Expendit	(£,00	~	Public	2,150	1	I	1,450	150	I	1,400	1	500	5,650	
	Estimated Co	es.	2	Total	1,998	100	1,250	249	I	1	85	I	1	3,682	
			1961/62	Private	285	100	1,250	1	1	1	I	I	1	1,635	
				Public	1,713	1	1	249	1	I	85	I	I	2,047	
				1	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	.:	:	:	
				DIVISION	Vational Schools	Non-aided Primary	econdary	locational	Comprehensive	Other Second Level	Jniversities	eacher Training	)ther Third Level	TOTAL	

### TABLE 5.21 (a)

## Total Educational Expenditure (£'000)

		1961/62			1970/71	
	Public	Private	Total	Public	Private	Total
Current Resources Current Transfers Capital Items	 19,417 908 2,047	4,893 572 1,635	24,310 1,480 3,682	32,625 2,230 5,650	8,080 690 1,450	40,705 2,920 7,100
Total	 22,372	7,100	29,472	40,505	10,220	50,725

## TABLE 5.21 (b)

Expenditure on Education as a Percentage of Gross National Product

	1961/62	Public	Pri- vate	Total	1970/71	Public	Pri- vate	Total
G.N.P. at market prices.	£722m.	3.1	1.0	4.1	£1,070m.	3.8	0.9	4.7
G.N.P. at factor cost.	£636m.	3.5	1.1	4.6	£940m.	4.3	1.1	5.4
National Income at factor cost.	£594m.	3.8	1.2	5.0	£880m.	4.6	1.2	5.8



## PART II

In Part II an examination is made of the connection between the demand for persons in the labour force with various levels of educational qualifications and the supply of such persons coming from the educational sector. In chapter 6 we examine the pattern of this supply and, in the process of so doing, touch upon certain factors that influence it. In chapter 7 the present pattern of employment is examined and projections are made of its future extent and composition. In chapter 8 an attempt is then made to compare these employment requirements with the projected supply of qualified persons.



## CHAPTER SIX

## Educational Sector: Flow Pattern, Output, Participation

## INTRODUCTION

6.1 For the purposes of our analysis and projections a great deal of information was needed relating to the movement of pupils through and out of the educational sector (the 'flow pattern'). This information was not derivable from the kind of data traditionally collected by educational authorities, which related mainly to the numbers actually in the schools (the 'stock') as this was sufficient for ordinary administrative purposes such as payment of grants. Such data were of course indispensable for our purposes also but they were not sufficient. For instance the number of students in vocational schools each year was available but one could not deduce how many entered or how many left. It was, therefore, necessary for us to organise the collection and processing of the requisite data. The most feasible source of information was the school and accordingly, the appropriate forms1 were sent to the various schools, asking for information relating to their pupils in the school year 1962/63. It was not considered practicable in general to ask for information relating to previous years. The broad results of this survey are set out in this chapter and are used elsewhere in the report as indicated.

6.2 The main purposes for which this information was required are as follows. Firstly, in the context of the supply of qualified manpower it is clearly necessary to have an estimate of the supply being produced by the educational sector at present (the 'output'). In other words one needs to know the number of persons leaving the sector each year and such factors as their educational attainment on leaving. One also needs to know the extent to which the leavers enter the labour force. While it would be desirable in many respects to know the actual occupations taken up by the leavers, it was decided in this first instance to enquire what sector of the economy they entered.

6.3 Secondly, it was necessary to gain some insight into the possible effects that certain factors may have on the extent to which a person participates in education as a full-time student. This would clearly be of central importance in relation to the possible adoption of remedial measures if inadequacies were indicated in the supply of

¹Appendix VI.

qualified manpower. It is central to a discussion of whether there is a wastage of talent and whether adequate opportunities for development are available generally. It would also be indispensable in the context of a policy of reducing disparities of participation, if any, attributable to such factors. Questions were accordingly included relating to family background, etc., location and attainment, factors which had proved relevant in related studies elsewhere.² The detailed information obtained by us in this field has been used against a background of a wealth of general information based on the census of population, which was made available to us by the Central Statistics Office.

6.4 Thirdly, with particular reference to the problems of projecting the future state of the system and as a guide to the possible effects of particular courses of action, it was necessary to obtain data on the flow pattern in detail, as for example the rates of transition between, and retention in, the various divisions of the system, and the relevant age structures. Examples would be how many secondary pupils leave school before reaching the intermediate certificate level or how many vocational continuation students reach the higher levels. Certain technical coefficients were also required such as the rates of duplication and repetition in the case of certificants e.g. the number who sit a certificate examination twice or the number who receive two certificates in one year. It was also hoped that the question on parents' education would provide some data on the general inter-relation between education and occupation.

6.5 The general response to this survey was most gratifying. The school authorities, faced with a variety of forms and requests for information, gave a ready co-operation. It is noted that, while the headmasters of large national and secondary schools are not required to engage in teaching, there are no grants for secretarial assistance in the keeping of records in those schools. A small number of returns was found unsuitable for use but this appeared to be due mainly to unfamiliarity with some of the terminology. We envisage such surveys being repeated in the future and later in this report we recommend how the collection and use of statistical information in the Department of Education should be organised so that most benefit might derive from it. It is clear that if such work is to be most profitable, the full co-operation of the conductors of the schools must be obtained.

6.6 This survey does not claim to be exhaustive or conclusive.

²For references, see Hayward, O.E.C.D. DAS/EIP/63.31.

The issues involved call for a great deal of research³ and it is to be hoped that this pilot survey will stimulate and assist such investigations in the future. For example, data such as the survey sample of those leaving national schools in 1962/63 could provide a basis for mounting a major research project at relatively little cost, in as much as the future progress of those who entered secondary school, say, could be followed without much difficulty. Such a project could produce a great deal of information both on the relationship of the educational sector to other sectors and on internal relationships within the educational sector itself.

6.7 Attainment is here measured, for want of better indicators, in terms of results in the post-primary certificate examinations. These though not compulsory are taken by 99 per cent of the schools. The absence of any general tests of the predictive value of the examinations may be noted here, as well as a possible lack of motivation for some pupils to reach more than the minimum standards, if any, required for entry to the next stage.

6.8 The destinations of the 1962/63 pupils were asked of the schools in the late autumn of 1963. It was not feasible to specify a particular date for determining destination and while most of the forms were returned in October or November, 1963 some were returned in January 1964 and indeed at Easter 1964. Emigration was not specified as a separate category as it was felt that figures for emigration would be really meaningful and useful only if tied to a particular date, preferably a later one.

## PART I-FLOW PATTERN AND OUTPUT

6.9 In this first part of the chapter we shall be seeking answers to such questions as 'how many pupils leave school without reaching the post-primary level', 'how many leave secondary or vocational schools without reaching certificate level', 'what proportion of honours leaving certificates go on to university', 'how many persons holding the various certificates enter the labour force each year', and so on. Having thus asked 'how many' in the first part we shall then ask 'who' and 'why' in the second part, that is we shall examine the background of the various groups of pupils involved.

6.10 The flow pattern will be seen to be complicated and the various sections inter-related. In discussing the various sections we choose the order most suitable for presentation rather than the

³The discussion will indicate many areas for research.

chronological order. We then try to combine all the data into a consistent picture in the final tables, collating it with independent data where available (Tables 6.24 to 6.26).

## SECONDARY SCHOOLS

## INTERMEDIATE CERTIFICATE CANDIDATES 1963

6.11 Each secondary school (and secondary top) was asked to give, in aggregate, the destinations of those of its pupils who sat the intermediate certificate examination in 1963. The returns accounted for 87 per cent of the boys and 93 per cent of the girls.⁴ The following table gives the percentage distribution based on the returns. (Details of the various categories and of the response rates are given in Appendix VI, paragraphs 1-3. The response is also discussed in paragraphs 6.21-22).

## TABLE 6.1

### General Destinations of Intermediate Certificate Candidates, 1963 by Examination Result¹

		Boy	5			Girls			
Examination Result Destination	Honours	Pass	Fail	Total	Honours	Pass	Fail	Total	Total
12					Percentage				
Secondary School ²	94-9	82.9	58.9	85.2	87.1	66.7	45.6	73.7	78.8
Commercial School Other full-time	0.5	0.6	1.1	0.2	5.3	12.5	17.7	9.8	5.7
Education Left full-time	1.4	5.3	12.4	4.4	3.1	7.7	13.5	6.2	5.4
Education	3.2	11.2	27.5	9.9	4-6	13.2	23.2	10.3	10.1
Total of Percentages	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Total number of Candidates ³	4,065	2,968	1,251	8,284	4,258	4,871	855	9,984	18,268

#### (Percentage Distribution)

¹ Pass' means a pass (40 per cent) in Irish and four other subjects, 'Honours' means honours (60 per cent) in at least three subjects. Any lesser result is counted as a 'Fail.'

²Including Secondary Top.

³Annual Report 1962-63 (S.O.).

⁴No provision was made in the form for 'unknowns' but the number of candidates omitted from the returns used was negligible.

6.12 The following diagram summarises Table 6.1:

## CHART 6.1

## GENERAL DESTINATIONS OF INTERMEDIATE CERTIFICATE CANDIDATES 1963 BY EXAMINATION RESULT



We see that only 10 per cent (i.e. about 1,800 persons) left full-time education at this stage. (We shall see later⁵ that a considerable number leave secondary school before reaching this stage). A further 10 per cent of the girls (i.e. about 1,000) transferred to commercial school, a feature which we shall find again in dealing with other sections.6

6.13 Of the honours certificates only 4 per cent left full-time education ; in fact 95 per cent of the honours boys stayed in secondary school. There is a higher rate of leaving from the girls' secondary tops (13 per cent of honours, 21 per cent in all), but the numbers involved are relatively small-a total of 1,392 candidates.7 This part of our survey, therefore, does not point to any great wastage of talent at this particular stage.

6.14 Of those who went to 'Other Full-time Education', about 280 boys8 (half of whom had failed) and 450 girls transferred to vocational schools. From evidence on entrants to vocational schools (paragraphs 6.71 and 6.83) it appears that almost all of these went into continuation (i.e. junior) classes rather than technical. This may at

⁵Paragraph 6.25.

⁶c.g. paragraphs 6.30, 6.57.

⁷Paragraph 4, Appendix VI.

^{*}The numbers in these paragraphs were got by expanding the returns given in Table VI. 1, Appendix. The expansion may not be appropriate for small numbers.

first appear somewhat surprising : the explanation probably is that the girls do so for the sake of the commercial courses and the boys for the sake of the practical courses. 'Agricultural School' claimed only about 40 boys and 25 girls. Some of these girls may in fact have gone to Domestic Schools which were not specified on the form, as may many of the 140 or so returned under 'Other School or College', which also accounted for about 45 boys.

6.15 The number who stayed back in the junior cycle of the secondary schools was appreciable-about 750 boys and 700 girls.9 Although this phenomenon is well known, the reasons for it are not so obvious-only about 350 of them had failed while 600 had obtained honours and about 500 had passed. It can hardly be explained solely as preparation for a scholarship, since only about a hundred scholarships of limited value¹⁰ are awarded yearly on the results of this examination. It may be due to the wide disparities in age between candidates and that some are thought too young to proceed to senior level. No minimum standard of attainment in the certificate examinations is prescribed for entry to the senior cycle.¹¹

6.16. To gauge the ages of the candidates, we have tabulated below the ages of an approximate ten per cent sample¹² using the dates of birth given in the Departmental lists.¹³ The distribution of ages as of 31 May, 1963 was as follows :

### TABLE 6.2

	đ	3		Age (in y	ears) on 3	1 May, 19	63	Lands
	6	13	14	15	16	17	18	Total
	>	1. 1	diama de	in the second	NUMBER		and of	
Boys		2	68	315	303	64	3	755
Girls		10	62	370	347	59	4	852
Total		12	130	685	650	123	7	1,607
				PERCEN	TAGE DIS	TRIBUTION		
		0.7	8.1	42.6	40.4	7.7	0.4	100.0

Ages of sample of Intermediate Certificate Candidates 1963

This gives a median age for both boys and girls of 15 years 111 months i.e. exactly 16 years in mid-June, the time the examination takes place.

- ⁹Paragraph 4, Table 1. ¹⁰112 scholarships of £15—£40 p.a. for two years. (Annual report 1962/63).
- ¹¹cf. Rules and Programme for Secondary Schools, 1962/63 (S.O.), par. 22. ¹²Appendix VI, paragraph 6.
- ¹³Unpublished.

6.17 The spread of ages shown in Table 6.2 is characteristic of the system as a whole and there is much over-lapping of ages as between different stages, as may be seen in Table 1.2 in Chapter I. Persons of a given age, say 17, may be sitting for intermediate or leaving certificate or indeed their first university examination.

6.18 The fact that half of the candidates were sixteen years of age or older is of particular interest in the light of the raising of the school-leaving age to fifteen. It is sometimes assumed that this of itself would allow time for the completion of a course equivalent to that for the intermediate certificate. However, if the 1963 intermediate certificate candidates had left school at fifteen, half of them would have been a year short of the certificate examination, that is not allowing for repetition. There are no obvious grounds for assuming that the additional pupils who would be kept in school compulsorily would make faster progress than those now in school voluntarily. It would appear then, that if pupils as a whole are to reach intermediate certificate stage by fifteen, there must be some acceleration of the system, for example that pupils reach appropriate entry levels by twelve years of age. At present the median age of entry to secondary schools is thirteen years, two months,¹⁴ our estimate of median age at intermediate level being exactly three years more as might be expected, the time spent on the course varying from two to four years.

6.19 Of those who left full-time education¹⁵ (about 1,800) only 8.5 per cent were returned as 'unemployed, emigrated, ill, etc.' However, a further 7.5 per cent of those who left were unaccounted for as regards particular destination and another 20 per cent were employed in their own family business or farm. Thus, the percentage who left other than for profitable employment could be appreciable, the actual numbers of course being small. Of the 64 per cent who entered general employment, about a third were returned as 'other employment'. The most popular sectors were 'industry' for boys and 'public service' for girls.

6.20 As regards the attainment of those who left, the number with intermediate certificate is of course available from the returns (Table 6.1). The remainder are taken as having none of the department's post-primary certificates: the number of 'fails' in 1963 who had passed previously is assumed to be negligible, and further returns¹⁶ indicate that none of them would have a group certificate either.

¹⁴School-year 1962/63. Age on 1 August 1962 (Derived from Annual Report 1962/63). ¹⁵Figures derived from returns given in Appendix VI, Table 3. ¹⁵Figures derived from returns given in Appendix VI, Table 3.

¹⁶Paragraph 6.59, Footnote 2 to Table 6.13, and Table 6.16.

6.21 It would be of interest to see how the returns vary from one type of school to another. The number of ways in which the schools might be classified is quite high, however-size, location, fees, religion, sex, day/boarding, etc. As this part of the survey was not mechanised we limited ourselves to two aspects. Firstly it was found that the rate of leaving was appreciably higher in the girls' secondary tops¹⁷ than in the secondary schools¹⁸ generally. Secondly the returns were classified by the areas in which the schools were located.19 There was a high degree of uniformity among the returns for the boys except that as regards the overall rate of leaving Dublin City²⁰ schools (15 per cent) were appreciably higher than average (10 per cent) and Dublin County²⁰ schools (4 per cent) were appreciably lower. There was also a high degree of uniformity among the returns for the girls. Here Dublin City²⁰ and the Munster County Boroughs²¹ had the lowest rates of retention in secondary school (68-69 per cent against an average of 76 per cent) and the highest rates of transfer to commercial or other full-time education (20-22 per cent against an average of 15 per cent). The schools in the three Ulster counties had above average rates of retention in secondary school both for boys and for girls. The totals for the latter were small, however, and of course they include boarding pupils, as do all the others.

6.22 The schools not included in the response are analysed by location and size in Appendix VI (Table 6) and Table VI. 5 gives the response rate by area. It appears unlikely that the inclusion of the missing pupils would materially alter the general result. For example to increase the proportion of leavers from 10 to 11 per cent the missing schools would need to have about 20 per cent of leavers. The location of the missing schools does not suggest that. We have not analysed the destinations by size of school but the higher proportion of small schools among those missing could hardly affect the aggregate result substantially.

6.23 Such variations would be relevant to having such a survey done by sample in future. For instance the uniformity of the results by region suggest that a sample need not necessarily be balanced geographically. We discuss in Appendix VI. paragraph 6 how the results of a ten per cent sample which we took differed from the aggregate results.

¹⁷Table VI.4. ¹⁸Table VI.5. ¹⁹*ibid.* ²⁰For definition, see Table VI.5. ²¹Cork. Limerick, Waterford.

6.24 It is noted that 'the purpose of the intermediate certificate is to testify to the completion of a well-balanced course of general education suitable for pupils who leave school at about 16 years of age, and, alternatively, to the fitness of the pupils for entry on more advanced courses of study in a secondary or vocational school'.²² We have seen that relatively few leave school at that stage and that hardly any enter what would presumably be considered 'more advanced courses' in a vocational school. This poses the question, to what extent should these various purposes be reflected in the examination and in the courses prescribed for it?

# SECONDARY SCHOOLS: LEAVERS FROM JUNIOR CYCLE (NON-EXAMINEES)

6.25 The number of junior cycle pupils who left secondary schools or secondary tops during or at the end of the school year 1962/63 without sitting the intermediate certificate examination in 1963 is estimated to be 3,363 boys and 3,186 girls, as explained in the Appendix (VI. 7). Each school was asked to give the general destinations of those leavers in aggregate. The response was poor, accounting for only 1,915 boys (56.9 per cent) and 1,858 girls (58 per cent), a total of 3,773 (57.6 per cent). Again it is likely that the terminology was not fully understood (e.g. 'intermediate certificate cycle' for 'junior cycle'). The following is the percentage distribution shown in the returns:—

#### TABLE 6.3

	D'I		GENERAL DEST	INATION		
		Vocational School	Other Full-time Education	Left Full-time Education	Total	Total Leavers ¹
		1	PERCENTAGE DIS	TRIBUTION ²		NUMBER
Boys Girls		30·7 23·1	4·5 12·4	64·8 64·4	100 100	3,363 3,186

General Destinations of Leavers from Secondary Schools: Junior Cycle, 1962/63 (other than Intermediate Certificate Candidates, 1963)

¹Estimated, Appendix VI, Paragraph 8.

²Based on approximately 60 per cent. response.

6.26 The details of the returns are given in the Appendix, Tables VI. 9(a), (b), (c), the percentage distributions being given in the following Tables 6.4 and 6.5.

²²Rules and Programme for Secondary Schools, 1962-3 (S.O.).

#### TABLE 6.4

### Details of 'Left Full-time Education' in Table 6.3

			Di	ESTINATION				
	Family Farm	Family Business	Total Family Employ- ment	Non- Family Employ- ment	Not yet at work and other	Un- accounted for	Total	Total Left full time Education ¹
			PERCENT	AGE DISTRI	BUTION			NUMBER
Boys	35.8	9.8	45.6	37.7	7.3	9.4	100	2,179
Girls	15.6	8.6	24-2	59.1	11.9	4.8	100	2,052

¹Estimated from Table 6.3.

### TABLE 6.5

### Details of 'Non-family Employment' in Table 6.4

	SECTOR									
	Farm	Industry	Distri- bution	Transport	Public Service	Other	Total	Total Non- Family Employ- ment ¹		
	PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION									
Boys	3.8	36-5	18.2	2.6	4.3	34-6	100-0	821		
Girls	0.3	27.2	18.8	0.1	16.5	37.1	100.0	1,213		

¹Estimated from Table 6.4.

6.27 The total of about 6,500, two-thirds of whom left altogether, is appreciable in relation to entry figures of about 25,000. We have very little data on these leavers,²³ there is scope here for research. We do not know, for instance, how many of them left on reaching the school-leaving age (14), nor do we know anything about their attainment or ability—except that almost none of them had a postprimary certificate. This is based on the proportion of examinees who return to junior cycle and the proportion who repeat the examination. The fact that they were in secondary school does not tell us a great deal about their ability—the entrance standards vary greatly from school to school, no obvious minimum being enforced. It will be noted that an appreciable number transfer to vocational school—here again we do not know how this is related to curricula.

²³cf. Paragraph 6.128 re social group composition.

job expectations, fees, etc. It will be seen later that there is practically no movement in the opposite direction.

6.28 It will be seen from Table 6.4 that more than half of the boys and a third of the girls who left altogether went to family employment or were not yet at work. This suggests that the lure of profitable employment is only part of the reason for leaving.

6.29 The term 'wastage' is sometimes applied to such non-terminal leaving but this could be misleading in our case. We do not have direct evidence on which to say whether or not there is great wastage of talent here (but see paragraph 6.128), nor on the other hand can we say that the time they have spent in post-primary school has been wasted, even from a narrow economic viewpoint. The evidence of employer evaluations, though they are of course influenced by supply and demand, is another caution against too free an acceptance of the idea of wastage. For instance the requirement for recruitment as clerk-typists to the Civil Service is seventh standard in the national schools, and it would hardly be argued that a year or two of post-primary education would be wasted in such a post.²⁴ Similarly, on the vocational side, some government departments advertise for students who have done half of their continuation course.

SECONDARY SCHOOLS: SENIOR CYCLE. LEAVING CERTIFICATE EXAMINATION 1963.

6.30 Each secondary school, and secondary top, was asked to indicate the destinations of those of its pupils who sat the leaving certificate, as ordinary²⁵ candidates, in 1963. The following is a summary of the percentage distribution indicated—details of the various categories, response rates, etc. are given in the Appendix.²⁶ The response rates are also referred to in the next two paragraphs.

²⁴It is commonly observed that most of those recruited have obtained intermediate or leaving certificate. ²⁶Cf. Paragraph 6.55. ²⁶Paras, VI.9. et seq.

	All Ca	ndidates	Those who obtained Honours Certificate			
GENERAL DESTINATION	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls		
	PERCENTAGE					
University (Full-time) ¹ Teacher Training ² Commercial School Other Full-time Education	26·4 2·4 2·3 11·9	10·4 7·0 24·8 11·8	42.9 6.9 1.6 6.8	18·5 16·6 17·5 9·4		
Total in Full-time Education	43.0	54.0	58.2	62.0		
Religious Life ³	9.1	6.8	8.2	8.6		
Left Full-time Education ⁴	47.9	39.2	33.5	29.4		
Total of Percentages	100	100	100	100		
TOTAL NUMBER OF CANDIDATES ⁵	5,090	4,696	1,521	1,653		

TABLE 6.6 General Destinations of Leaving Certificate Candidates, 1963

¹Excluding evening students and others: see Table 6.7.

²National teachers, Domestic Science, Physical Education, Froebel, Montessori. ³Other than those in preceding categories. ⁴See paragraph 6.33 below.

⁵Source: Annual Report (S.O.) 1962/3.

6.31 The school returns of those entering university or teacher training college were verified and completed by comparing data on entrants supplied by the universities and the colleges with the departmental lists27 of examination candidates and results, giving the following figures, which are those applied in Table 6.6.

TABLE 6.7

Number of Leaving Certificate Candidates, 1963, who entered University (Full-time) or Teacher Training College in 1963

Contraction 3		UNIVE	RSITY ¹		TEACHER TRAINING COLLEGE ²			
Result	Honours	Pass	Fail ⁴	Total	Honours	Pass	Fail	Total
Boys	653	680	13	1,346	105	16	0	121
Girls	306	179	3	488	275	49	4	328
TOTAL ⁵	959	859	16	1,834	380	65	4	449

¹Full-time (day) students. Excluded are students of Physiotherapy or Radiography, Diploma students other than in Music, students of hysiothelapy of Radiography, Chipman Students other than in Music, students marked "non-university", e.g., 'Kings Inns Non-University'. Law students marked "Solicitor's Apprentice' have been included even though some of them may be 'non-university'.

^aExcluding a few who transferred to university later in 1963.
^aLeaving Certificate, 1963.

⁴These would presumably have passed the university matriculation examination. 5Overall results in the leaving certificate examination were:

Boys: 1,521 Honours, 3,074 Pass, 495 Fail. Girls: 1,653 Honours, 2,689 Pass, 354 Fail (as in Appendix VI.12).

27Unpublished.

6.32 The rest of Table 6.6 is based on the actual school returns which indicated destinations for about 80 per cent of the remaining candidates, a further 7 per cent being 'unknown'.28 This means that Table 6.6 is based on information covering just 83 per cent of all the boys and 86 per cent of all the girls.

6.33 The destinations shown are of course only the immediate destinations. This is especially relevant in considering the number who 'left full-time education'. Other data show that a number enter university or training college one or more years after leaving school. This is particularly true of those entering religious life, many of whom become teachers. In 1963 for example, there were 425 university29 entrants who had sat the leaving certificate examination in 1962 or 1961 (cf. Appendix VI. Table 15). On the other hand, a considerable number entered commercial schools, the courses in which are generally of not more than one year's duration.

6.34 We see from Table 6.6 that only a third of the honours boys left full-time education at that stage. This means that, with our present levels of participation, employers³⁰ seeking to recruit boys with honours leaving certificates are competing for only about 500 boys in the whole country. From the point of view of these employers, the position would improve with increased entry and increased retention in the secondary schools, but would worsen with an increase in the proportion going on to further education. It could well be then that recruitment policies will have to be modified³¹ to meet changing conditions.

6.35 The situation is not much different in the case of the honours girls. The figure of 29.4 per cent (i.e. 486) girls with honours certificates who left full-time education includes 5.5 per cent (i.e. 91 girls) who went to what we may call ' professional apprenticeships ' -nursing etc. The number of girls with honours leaving certificate available for ordinary employment may be estimated as only about 700, including those who went to commercial courses (approximately 300).

6.36 Over 550 girls in all were returned as going to professional apprenticeships-mostly nursing. These are included under 'left fulltime education' in Table 6.6 : see Appendix VI for details. This

²⁸ Details in Appendix VI, Table 10.

²⁹N.U.I.

³⁰ e.g., Executive officers are recruited to the civil service on the results of the leaving certificate examination.

³¹As regards the civil service, a scheme was introduced a few years ago to allow a very few executive officers attend university as full-time students: an appreciable number of serving officers obtain a university degree as evening students. The number of graduate appointments to the general civil service is very small.

category was not on the forms but 'nursing' etc. was written in by many schools. The figures therefore do not purport to be complete —others may have been returned as 'other employment' for example.

6.37. Apart from that category (professional apprenticeships) the number of candidates in general who left full-time education at that stage was 47 per cent of the boys (i.e. 2,386) and 27 per cent of the girls (i.e. 1,286). Adding in the figures for commercial schools for girls (25 per cent or 1,166) gives 52 per cent (i.e. 2,452 girls) or about 5,000 candidates in all.

6.38 The returns indicate (Table 6.6) that 25 per cent of the girls-that is over 1,000 girls-enter commercial schools. We saw earlier³² that almost as many intermediate certificate candidates did likewise. These are nearly all in non-aided commercial schools and colleges, judging by the enrolment in those colleges (paragraph 6.81). The number of girls returned as going to vocational school on the other hand was only about a hundred³³ (Appendix VI Table 14(a)). It seems surprising that so many of them should go to feecharging schools rather than avail themselves of the almost free vocational schools. Such commercial courses add to the length and expense of the girls' education. Many of the schools are in the cities so that maintenance costs are often involved also. It may be that private schools are more favoured by private employers, but one suspects that there are other reasons also. Some of the commercial schools are attached to secondary schools, but these courses- typewriting etc.-are not among the subjects recognised for inclusion in the secondary school curriculum.

6.39 Entry to teacher training colleges is discussed in more detail elsewhere in this report.³⁴ We may note here the high proportion of honours certificants, and the fact that for the girls these colleges figure almost as largely as the university, while for the boys they play a relatively small part.

6.40 An estimated 607 boys (11.9 per cent) and 554 girls (11.8 per cent) went to 'other full-time education' (details in Appendix VI Table 14 (a)). Of these about 240 boys and 120 girls remained in secondary school, about 75 boys and 100 girls went to vocational school, 110 boys and 30 girls went to a college of technology, 150 girls went to domestic school while 120 boys went to arricultural

³²Par. 6.12.

³⁵There is a possibility that in some instances the term 'commercial school' may have been interpreted as including commercial courses in vocational schools.
³⁴Annex A

schools and 120 girls went to education abroad (e.g. to France for a year). The remainder went to schools of art, etc. These numbers are the expanded³⁵ returns and being so small the expansion may not be appropriate. They must therefore, be treated with caution in particular cases.

## MATRICULATION REQUIREMENTS

6.41 In considering the proportion who enter university it must be noted that a pass or honours in the leaving certificate does not necessarily qualify one for university matriculation. The requirements for the former are, in general, a pass (40 per cent) in Irish and any four other subjects to obtain a 'Pass'; and honours (60 per cent on honours paper) in three of the subjects to obtain 'Honours'. The minimum requirement for matriculation in the National University is as follows:— passes³⁶ in (1) Irish,³⁷ (2) English, (3) a third language, (4) a fourth language (which must be Latin or Greek if not already taken) or mathematics, (5) a fifth language or any other subject of the leaving certificate with the exception of art, drawing, domestic science, physiology and hygiene.³⁸ We examined the results of a sample of leaving certificate candidates—every tenth number on the list³⁹—and found the following number not to be eligible for matriculation:—

TABLE 6.8

Sample of Leaving Certificate Candidates 1963, by eligibility for Matriculation (N.U.I.)

		Во	vs		GIRLS			
Leaving Certificate Result	Honours	Pass	Fail ¹	Total	Honours	Pass	Fail ¹	Total
Number in Sample Number not eligible Percentage not eligible	168 15 9	295 101 34	45 45 100	508 161 32	167 49 29	276 177 64	29 29 100	472 255 54
Random Sampling Error ^a (Approx.)	2%	3%	-	2%	3.5%	3%	-	2%

¹These are all ineligible, by definition.

²Regarding each column as a random sample.

This suggests that of those with Pass certificates less than 40 per cent of the girls and 70 per cent of the boys would be eligible for

³⁵By about a third.

³⁸Either in the leaving certificate or the matriculation examination. No distinction is made between pass and honours.

³⁷We ignore non-Irish candidates in this argument.

³⁹Derived from General Regulations, University College, Dublin, Session 1963/64.

³Pass Lists (S.O.). This includes absentees whom we ignore.

matriculation (N.U.I.). Of those with Honours certificates 90 per cent of the boys would be eligible but only 70 per cent of the girls.⁴⁰ It will be seen that a person must pass in Latin or Greek or mathematics. But in the 1963 leaving certificate examination no girl took Greek, only 1,473 girls passed Latin and 2,710 passed mathematics, out of a total of 4,696 girls.41 The implications of the extent to which these matriculation requirements, with their emphasis on languages, influence the curriculum being followed in secondary schools generally will not be gone into here. It may be noted, however, that no number of honours in science subjects, mathematics, history, commerce etc. is of any avail for matriculation if the candidate has not passed in three languages.

6.42 Candidates could, however, obtain a pass in the missing subject or subjects by sitting the matriculation examination itself in summer or autumn 1963, or they might have already obtained such a pass in a previous year-we shall see later⁴² that a considerable number sit the leaving certificate examination as special candidates in one or more subjects, possibly for this purpose among others. In the absence of a system of individualised data43 we do not know how many of the leaving certificate candidates might be eligible for matriculation on this basis. There are, however, reasons for thinking that their inclusion would not substantially alter the results of the previous paragraph. Firstly the number of such persons entering university is quite small, as we shall see.44 Secondly only about 230 girls and 70 boys passed Latin taken specially as a lone subject in the leaving certificate in 1963: the corresponding figures for mathematics were about 110 boys and 130 girls. These are the commonest subjects lacking for matriculation. This would suggest that the inclusion of such cases would increase the percentage of boys eligible by less than five per cent and girls by less than ten per cent.

6.43 We have seen (Table 6.7) that of the girls with honours certificates almost as many enter teacher training as enter university. It is interesting, therefore, to note here that the minimum requirement for entry to the training colleges for national teachers is as follows: honours in Irish and passes in English, mathematics, history, geography and two other subjects, with singing and, for girls, needlework. If a candidate had a language as one of the

⁴⁹For the result of a detailed examination of the 1962 figures see 'University Selection,' Nevin, M., Irish Times, 26-27 October, 1964. ⁴¹Annual Report, 1962/63.

⁴²Par. 6.55.

⁴³cf. The Use of Individualized Data in Educational Statistics, Hyland, W. J., O.E.C.D.

⁴⁴Table VI.15.

other subjects he or she would be eligible for matriculation. It would seem then that a school need not find any serious clash between the two sets of requirements.

6.44 The general requirements for matriculating in the University of Dublin (Trinity College) on the results of the leaving certificate examination may be roughly summarised as follows.45 The subjects passed must include English and either (a) Latin and three other subjects one of which is not a language, or (b) mathematics and three others, one of which is a language. The candidates must have obtained honours in at least two subjects (to obtain an honours leaving certificate one must obtain honours in at least three subjects).

6.45 If we now express the number of leaving certificate candidates, 1963, who entered university in 1963 as a percentage of those eligible⁴⁶ for matriculation⁴⁷ we get the following: 47 per cent of the Honours boys, 33 per cent of the Pass boys, 25 per cent of the Honours girls, 19 per cent of the Pass girls. The entrants also included a very few who failed leaving certificate in 1963 (Table 6.7).

## COMPARISON WITH ENGLAND AND WALES

6.46 The difficulties in the way of international comparisons, which we refer to elsewhere, may be illustrated by seeking to compare those percentages with the figures48 for school leavers in England and Wales49 as in Table 6.9. The immediate difficulty is that we have no translator of 'A' level G.C.E. passes into honours leaving certificates, apart from our own impressions. If we compare honours leaving certificate with one or more 'A' levels we see that there is remarkably close agreement in the percentages of boys going to university (44.8 per cent against 42.9 per cent in Table 6.6). However, if we take two or more 'A' levels the percentages diverge rapidly, the choice of standard of comparison being critical. The position is complicated by the appreciable number of Irish university entrants who have only a pass leaving certificate.

⁴⁶For details, see Dublin University Calendar, 1963-64.

⁴⁶As estimated in par. 6.41.

⁴⁷N.U.I.

⁴^oDerived from Statistics of Education, 1962, Part Three (H.M.S.O., London).

### TABLE 6.9

		Numbe	d'at 'A'	Toru					
		1	2	3	4 or more	TOTAL			
Boys	Number of School Leavers ² Number who Entered University Percentage who Entered	5,790 140 2·4%	8,770 1,890 21.6%	15,360 9,780 63·7%	5,180 3,910 75•5%	35,100 15,720 44·8%			
Girls	Number of School Leavers ² Number who Entered University Percentage who Entered	5,700 30 0.5%	6,900 670 9·7%	9,140 4,860 53·2%	1,340 970 72·4%	23,080 6,530 28·3%			

England and Wales: School Leavers 1961/62 with G.C.E. 'A' Level Passes, who entered University¹

¹The number who entered university without any 'A' level passes was very small—230 boys and 70 girls. ²With one or more G.C.E. 'A' level passes.

6.47 We have seen from Table 6.7 that boys with pass certificates are more numerous among the entrants than are boys with honours certificates. From paragraph 6.45 we see that the proportion of eligible pass certificants entering university compares quite favourably with that of the honours certificants. This may at first seem remarkable. This situation must be viewed, however, in the context of the existing requirements for university entrance, which, as we have seen, make no distinction between pass and honours. There is thus no great incentive for the pupil who is favourably situated. financially or geographically, to reach more than a pass standard, particularly if his school or family environment places no great premium on intellectual achievement. In short, we do not know how many of the present university entrants would reach honours certificate standard if it were required of them.

6.48 In this connection it is interesting that there is no official information available to the public on the examination results of the pupils in the various schools. Without indulging in such publicity as would exaggerate the importance of examinations, it would seem worth considering whether parents are not entitled to some official information on this facet of a school's activities. Neither is any official information available as to fees, curriculum, staff etc.

UNIVERSITY ENTRANTS, 1963, IN GENERAL

6.49 The proportion of honours leaving certificants among 1963 university entrants with leaving certificate from any year is given in Table 6.10. We confine ourselves for convenience to Irish¹⁰ entrants to the National University as the number of other entrants who take leaving certificate is quite small. This table does not include those who sat leaving certificate earlier than 1961, (83 male, 69 female). They are included in the detailed table in the appendix (Table VI, 15), which also shows those who did not sit for the leaving certificate at all (97 male, 48 female).

#### TABLE 6.10

National University: Irish¹ Entrants 1963 with Leaving Certificate, showing percentage of Honours Certificants, by College

	,	Boys	1.5	Girls		
Year of Leaving Certificate College	1963	1961-63 (inclusive)	1963	1961–63 (inclusive)		
	Percentag	e of Entrants ² who	had Hono	urs Certificate		
Dublin Galway Cork Maynooth	45 48 55 62	43 47 47 62	53 65 70 —	49 63 65		
All Colleges	49	46	60	56		

¹Home residence in the State.

²Entrants who sat for the Leaving Certificate in the years shown.

It will be seen that of those entering who had sat the leaving certificate, as had the vast majority of Irish entrants, less than half of the boys had obtained honours in that examination. The Dublin college had the lowest ratio and in all colleges the ratio was worsened by the inclusion of the entrants from 1962 and 1961 (Maynooth had none of the latter).

6.50 It is of interest to consider the proportion of honours certificants among entrants to each faculty as shown in the following table.

⁵⁰Home residence in the State.

#### TABLE 6.11

		Boys									
University College Faculty ¹	Dublin	Galway	Cork	Maynooth	All Colleges	All Colleges					
	Percent	age of enti	rants ² to 1	Faculty who	had honours	s certificate					
Agriculture Architecture Architecture Commerce Law Medicine includ- ing Dentistry Science Pharmacy Social Science Medicine Medicine	30 26 48 25 85 20 29 62 27 * 14	44 45 36 80 	24 42 29 80 -* 25 71 - 41		32 26 49 27 83 20 28 61 27 * 14 41	* 62 63  17 44 68 58 21 					
All Faculties	43	47	47	62	46	56					

N.U.I. Entrants, 1963: Percentage of Entrants who had Honours Leaving Certificate by College and Faculty

¹or sub-faculty. ²Entrants who sat for leaving certificate, 1961–63. *small numbers.

It will be seen that entrants to Engineering have easily the highest proportion of honours certificates, appreciably more than the next highest, Science. All of the other faculties attract less than half:³¹ Arts is just under the 50 per cent but all the others have less than a third—Medicine, Commerce, Architecture, Law, Veterinary Medicine etc. The reasons why people gravitate towards particular faculties are a fit subject for research. It is doubtful whether career guidance plays its proper part in these decisions.

## LEAVING CERTIFICATE 1963 : LEFT FULL-TIME EDUCATION

6.51 From Table 6.6 we see that 47.9 per cent of the boys and 39.2 per cent of the girls were returned in the category 'left full-time education'. This includes 1 per cent of the boys and 11.8 per cent of the girls who entered 'professional apprenticeships'—nursing etc. The remainder were distributed as follows—(details of returns in Appendix VI. Table 14 (c).

51Boys.

### TABLE 6.12

## Leaving Certificate, 1963: Percentage Distribution of 'Left Full-time Education' in Table 6.6

Employment ¹	Male	Female	Total
	1	Percentages	
By own family: on farm	7·2 7·6	6.5 5.5	6·9 6·8
Total Family Employment	14.8	12.0	13.7
Farm	$ \begin{array}{r} 0.4 \\ 19.5 \\ 5.2 \\ 3.4 \\ 16.7 \\ 28.9 \end{array} $	0.6 6.8 3.7 0.7 37.4 26.3	0.5 14.8 4.6 2.4 24.4 27.9
Total Non-family Employment	74.1	75.5	74.6
Other (illness, emigration, etc. ³ )	11.1	12.5	11.7
Total of Percentages	100.0	100.0	100.0
N.		Number	
Total of such Candidates ⁴	2,386	1,286	3,672

## (Other than Professional Apprenticeship)

¹Apprenticeships were to be specially indicated but the number thus indicated in the returns was so small (33 boys, 9 girls) that they are not shown separately here. ²Including those returned as 'army'.

³See paragraph 6.52. ⁴Estimated, Table 11, Appendix VI.

6.52 As a measure of the lack of employment among these leavers one can take the figure for 'Other' in Table 6.12 i.e. 11.7 per cent of the 3,672 who left full-time education at that stage, i.e. only 4.4 per cent of all leaving certificate candidates (9,786). The category 'Other (includes illness, marriage, emigration etc. or death)' was intended to cover 'not-yet-at-work' which was often written in by the school. However, some of those returned as in family employment (family farm or business) may be in a sense 'unemployed'. To include all of this latter category (13.7 per cent of the 3,672) would more than double the above measure of lack of employment.

6.53 The proportion returned as 'Other Employment' in Table 6.12 may perhaps have been exaggerated by difficulties of interpretation. There was evidence here, as in the intermediate certificate returns, that a breakdown by occupation would probably be easier for the girls' schools, particularly as regards clerical workers.

6.54 It is noted⁵² that the 'aim of the leaving certificate is to testify to the completion of a good secondary education and to the fitness of a pupil to enter on a course of study at a university or an educational institution of similar standing."

## LEAVING CERTIFICATE 1963: SPECIAL ENTRANTS

6.55 Another aspect of the leaving certificate examination must be adverted to here. Only those candidates who are entered in the ordinary way from secondary schools or secondary tops are eligible for the award of the leaving certificate as such : the published results and the preceding paragraphs refer only to those. However the examination itself, but not the certificate, is open to all on payment of a fee. A considerable number (840 boys and 950 girls in 1963) other than such as are accounted for above do in fact sit the examination under this rule.⁵³ These are known to include secondary school pupils entered for one or two subjects from the first year of the senior cycle who would sit it again next year, ex-secondary school pupils in employment, pupils of private commercial colleges, persons seeking passes in one or more subjects to fulfil the entry requirements of professional institutes etc. An exact analysis of the composition of this group would be extremely tedious. As just half of them enter individually from private addresses⁵⁴ it was not considered practicable to include them in the survey. An analysis⁵⁵ of the results achieved by the corresponding group in 1962, however, supplied by the Department, shows that of about 1,400 in that year less than 400 obtained results equivalent to a pass ('equivalent passes'). The great majority of the others presented for less than the normal minimum of five subjects : indeed many presented for only one subject.56 The number obtaining honours marks in the individual subjects was very small⁵⁷. It is not possible, in practice, in the absence of an individualised data system,58 to ascertain how many complete the equivalent of a pass by sitting the examination in various years, as equivalent passes are not recorded by the Department. Equivalent passes are recognised by certain outside bodies such as the universities, as are passes compounded of leaving certificate and matriculation subjects. Of the corresponding 1963 group only a very small number were found to have entered university in 1963.59 To summarise, while many aspects of this

57 Table VI.17 (c).

⁵²Rules and Programme for Secondary Schools, 1962-63 (S.O.).

 ⁵⁴Rule 76, Rules and Programme for Secondary Schools (S.O.).
 ⁵⁴Table 17 (a), Appendix VI.
 ⁵⁵Table VI.17 (b).

⁵⁶ Derived from Pass Lists, 1962 (S.O.).

⁵⁸cf. Paragraph 6.42, footnote 43.

⁵ N.U.I. Entrants: Equivalent passes: 15 boys (4 with honours), 7 girls; and approximately 10 boys and 10 girls without passes, excluding some repeating the examination.

phenomenon remain to be analysed it seems hardly likely that such analysis would change our general results once we have made due allowance for the number of equivalent passes. We take 300 as the number of those obtaining equivalent passes in 1963 who left fulltime education in that schoolyear, including two other small groups of examinees mentioned in Appendix VI. paragraph 12.

## MATRICULATION EXAMINATION

6.56 As regards university matriculation certificates, of recent years only a small number of Irish candidates obtain the certificate of the National University without having sat the leaving certificate examination, according to information supplied by the Registrar. In 1962, for example, of the 3,483 (Irish and non-Irish) who obtained matriculation certificates, only 766 had passed the matriculation examination itself and the great majority of the latter are understood to have sat the leaving certificate examination also. The number, therefore, who obtained this certificate in 1963 who are not accounted for in the preceding paragraphs or who are counted as 'Fails' can hardly exceed a few hundred.⁶⁰ This is supported by the figures for university entrants (Table VI.15).

## **OTHER SENIOR CYCLE LEAVERS**

6.57 The number of senior cycle pupils who left during or at the end of the schoolyear 1962/63 without sitting for the leaving certificate in the ordinary way in 1963 is estimated (as explained in Appendix VI, paragraph 11), to be approximately 1,900 (800 boys, 1,100 girls). The response to this part of the survey was poor. accounting for only 360 boys and just 500 girls, probably owing to unfamiliarity with such terminology as 'leaving certificate cycle'. There was also an element of ambiguity here as some of these would doubtless figure among the special examination candidates mentioned in paragraph 6.55. The returns⁶¹ show 60 per cent entering employment-the most prominent being nursing and public service for the girls and family farm or business for the boys-and 25 per cent remaining in full-time education, half of which was university for the boys62 and commercial school for the girls. Of those leaving fulltime education about 6 per cent had leaving certificate or equivalent. 74 per cent had intermediate certificate and 20 per cent were returned as having none of these certificates.

⁶⁹The number of Irish students sitting the Trinity matriculation examination is quite small; and similarly for the College of Surgeons. For instance the number of Irish entrants to Trinity College on 1963 who had not sat the leaving critificate examination in 1963 was only 139 (102 boys, 37 girls). (Data supplied by University.)

⁶¹cf. Appendix VI, Table 19.

⁶² These had leaving certificate from a previous year or its equivalent.

6.58 We have not analysed the general leaving certificate returns by other factors, such as location. The missing schools are much the same as those for the intermediate certificate returns.

### VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS

## Continuation Courses: Day Group Certificate 1963

6.59 Turning to the vocational schools, we consider firstly the group certificate examinations, which may be thought of as the vocational school counterpart to the intermediate certificate examinations. A difficulty here was that while the official results are given in terms of the number of certificates issued, some candidates may receive more than one certificate. It was first necessary then, for our purposes, having recourse to the original result sheets, to ascertain how many individuals had passed (obtained one or more certificates) and how many had failed (obtained no certificate). These unduplicated results63 were used to check the returns from the schools, which accounted for 4,300 boys (89.2 per cent) and 3,126 girls (90.2 per cent), excluding a few returns which were not used owing to inconsistencies, and excluding 97 boys and 49 girls who were not accounted for in the returns received-about half of these had failed. The general distribution of destinations was as follows. in percentage form, (details of the returns are given in Appendix VI, Tables 20 and 21).

		0		·				
	Boys				Girls			
Examination Result General Destination	Pass	Fail	Total	Pass	Fail	Total	TOTAL	
A second	Percentage							
Vocational School	23.6	31.7	25.9	37.5	38.8	37.9	30.9	
Agricultural School ¹	1.6	1.1	1.4	2.1	0.7	1.8	1.6	
Other Full-time ² Education	1.6	0.7	1.4	4.3	2.0	3.6	2.3	
Left full-time Education	73.2	66.5	71.3	56.0	58.5	56.7	65.2	
Total of Percentages	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	
	Number							
Total Candidates (unduplicated)	3,397	1,422	4,819	2,516	948	3,464	8,283	

TABLE 6.13

General Destinations of Group Certificate Candidates 1963, by Examination Result (Percentage Distribution)

¹Including domestic science schools in some cases.

²Hotel training schools, domestic, commercial, secondary, etc. Only 5 boys and 10 girls in all were returned as going to secondary school.

63Shown in last line of Table 6.13.

6.60 The movement into other education is quite limited. This might be due among other things to institutional rigidity, specialised curricula etc. At present then a person who starts in a vocational school is very unlikely to enter another division or indeed, as we shall see, to reach the higher levels of technical education. Against that background it is unlikely that these schools attract their proper share of the better pupils and these handicaps must be borne in mind in any assessment of the work of the vocational schools.

6.61 Again it must be remembered that these are only the immediate destinations. For example 'Vocational School' means that a pupil returned to a vocational school after the summer of 1963 but it gives no indication how long he may have stayed.

6.62 The following was the percentage distribution of those in 'left full-time education ':--

A REAL PROPERTY.	Boys				Girls	1			
Destination Result	Pass	Fail	Total	Pass	Fail	Total	TOTAL		
			1	Percenta					
Family farm	9.5 2.3	17·2 3·7	11·6 2·7	8.5 1.6	11·2 3·6	9·3 2·2	10·7 2·5		
Total Family Employment	11.8	20.9	14.2	10.2	14.9	11.5	13.2		
Farm	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.5 \\ 48.1 \\ 1.5 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.7 \\ 14.6 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 2.5 \\ 30.3 \\ 1.7 \\ 7.4 \\ 2.2 \\ 13.4 \end{array} $	$     \begin{array}{r}       1 \cdot 8 \\       43 \cdot 4 \\       1 \cdot 5 \\       5 \cdot 0 \\       4 \cdot 0 \\       14 \cdot 3     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 24.1 \\ 0.8 \\ 14.7 \\ 12.9 \\ 28.5 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 0.6 \\ 13.3 \\ 1.0 \\ 15.1 \\ 5.0 \\ 31.1 \end{array} $	0·3 21·0 0·8 14·8 10·7 29·2	$     \begin{array}{r}       1 \cdot 2 \\       35 \cdot 2 \\       1 \cdot 3 \\       8 \cdot 6 \\       6 \cdot 5 \\       19 \cdot 8     \end{array} $		
Total Non-family Employ- ment	74.5	57.5	70.0	81.2	66.1	76.9	72.5		
Unaccounted for	5.7	9.6	6.7	1.3	2.8	1.7	4.9		
Not yet at work and other ²	8.0	11.9	9.1	7.3	16.3	9.8	9.3		
Total of Percentages	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100-0		
	Number								
Total ³	2,487	946	3,433	1,409	555	1,964	5,397		

### TABLE 6.14

Group Certificate, 1963—Percentage Distribution of 'Left Full-time Education' in Table 6.13

¹Industrial enterprises included under 'industry'.

²Includes illness, emigration, etc., or death. ³Estimated from Table 6.13.

6.63 While, in Table 6.14, only 9.3 per cent are returned as 'not yet at work' there was a further 13.2 per cent in family employment and 4.9 per cent unaccounted for, so that the percentage really 'unemployed' might be over 20 per cent. Of the sectors, Industry predominates, all the others being very much smaller—Transport and Farm being the lowest. The high proportion returned as 'other employment' suggests that in some cases allocation by sector may have been misunderstood, particularly in the case of the girls.

6.64 It is interesting to find so many remaining in vocational schools as this examination had been thought of as a terminal one. Over a quarter of the boys and a third of the girls staved on-and this was largely independent of result. It will be seen later that very few of these entered technical (senior) courses. It would appear to indicate either a lack of employment opportunities for these students or a demand for something more than the ordinary two years' course. It would seem appropriate that further study should be made of the return to vocational schools of so many candidates, particularly as it appears to imply a demand for more than the normal two years' course. It is not known how many take the examination after only one year but the proportion is thought to be quite small-the median age of candidates has been estimated from a small sample to be about 15 years 9 months. Neither do we know how permanent the return is, but some indication of this is given by the estimated figure of  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent who repeat the examination. That the return is largely independent of success or failure at the examinations is also clear from Table 6.13. Tables VI. 20, 21 in the appendix show that the return is related to the group of subjects taken at the examinationfar less of the secretarial group (girls) returning. (This course is generally a three-year one.) This possibly reflects favourable employment prospects for the secretarial group-although the number involved is admittedly much smaller-a higher proportion of them obtaining non-family employment (more than a third of them enter the Public Service). There is also wide variation from county to county in the percentage of those leaving.

## OTHER LEAVERS FROM VOCATIONAL SCHOOL (CONTINUATION COURSES)

6.65 In order to calculate the total number of leavers from the vocational schools (continuation) we needed to know the number of entrants. As part of our survey details of entrants for each of the five years 1959/63 were sought.⁶⁴ Returns were received from all committees save one and that being small its data were estimated. The returns were checked for consistency and proved satisfactory, apart from a small change in one case. We feel confident that the

⁶⁴Appendix III.B.

figures are reliable. The 1963/64 figure was 16,014 made up of 9,154 boys and 6,860 girls.

6.66 Combining this with the figures for the stock—as in paragraph 6.25 for the secondary schools—gives the total leavers, as follows—

#### **TABLE 6.15**

Estimated Total Leavers from Vocational Schools (Continuation Classes) 1963

			Ī	Boys	Girls	Total		
1962/63 Enrolment ¹ 1963/64 Entrants				15,370 9,154	11,858 6,860	27,228 16,014		
1963/64 Enrolment ²		Sum		24,524 16,280	18,718 12,689	43,242 28,969		
Total Leavers Examinee Leavers ³		··· ··		8,244 3,572	6,029 2,151	14,273 5,723		
Total Non-examinee	Leavers			4,672	3,878	8,550		

¹February Census, 1963. ²February Census, 1964. ³As estimated (Table 6.13).

This of course gives the leavers between February, 1963, and February, 1964, rather than in the schoolyear 1962/63. The aggregate individual enrolments for 1962/63 and 1963/64 as given in the Annual Reports were not used in this table (i) because the 1963/64 figure was not available at the time the forms were processed and (ii) the enrolment figures are not shown separately for boys and girls. If the Annual Report figures are used, the nonexamine leavers are some 800 less than shown in table above.

6.67 The schools were asked for aggregate returns for the nonexaminee leavers in the schoolyear 1962/63. The response covered schools with about 95 per cent of the total enrolments. The totals shown in the returns (4,869 boys, 4,423 girls, 9,292 in all) actually exceeded our estimate of the previous paragraph by 742 or about 9 per cent, which is probably an accumulation of small errors. It would appear that an estimate of 8,550 as a total is the more reliable. The details were as follows:---

### **TABLE 6.16**

# Destinations of Leavers from Vocational Schools (Continuation) 1962/63

(Other than Group Certificate candidates 1963)

(School Returns, not amended)

		Tatal	Destination				
		Leavers	Secondary School	Other School	Left Full- Time Education		
Pour	With Group ¹ Certificate	 610	_	18	592		
BOYS	Without	 4,259	35	36	4,188		
Cirla	With Group ¹ Certificate	 715	3	35	677		
GIrls	Without	 3,708	48	57	3,603		
	TOTAL	 9,292²	86	146	9,060		

¹From a previous year.

²The estimated total is 8,550.

6.68 As the estimate of 'examinee leavers' in Table 6.15 is unlikely to be too high, we take the estimate of 8,550 for the total non-examinee leavers, the figures in Table 6.16 to be scaled down accordingly (by about 8 per cent).65 We note also that about 1,300 had a group certificate from a previous year, which tallies with our earlier estimates of the number of certificants remaining in school. Allowing for some 'fails' from the previous year, this would give a figure of about 7,000 students leaving continuation classes in that year without having sat the group certificate examination. Very few would have a secondary school certificate.66

6.69 This lower figure is strikingly high for a two year course with entry figures of about 16,000 and moderate fees. The rate of leaving is highest in the county boroughs and in the urban schemes where travel would not be a deterrent. Our remarks about the corresponding leavers from the secondary schools67 apply with even greater force here.

6.70 Almost all of these non-examinee leavers left full-time education; the returns for their employment status were as follows :---

⁶⁵The estimate based on Annual Report figures is somewhat lower. See paragraph 6.66. 66Paragraph 6.14.

### TABLE 6.17

	Not yet at work etc.	Family Farm	Family Business	Farm	Industry	Distri- bution	Trans- port	Public Service	Other Employ- ment	Total Number ¹
				PER	CENTAGE I	Distribut	TION			
Boys Girls	10·5 13·7	25·8 11·1	3·1 4·2	4·2 —	30·9 23·4	10·4 21·3	-	3·3 6·8	11·8 19·5	4,780 4,280

## Details of 'Left Full-Time Education' in Table 6.16

¹These figures should be scaled down by about 8 per cent.

### ENTRIES TO VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS

6.71 We have seen earlier that an appreciable number of pupils move into vocational schools from secondary schools while the reverse flow is quite negligible. As a check on these figures, the vocational schools were asked to name the schools from which their entrants had come—for a 10 per cent sample. Unfortunately the name of the school was not always sufficient to show whether it was primary or secondary and entrants from these are listed as 'doubtful' in the following table. The original number of 'doubtful' was more than twice this but this was reduced on the basis of the returns from primary schools—Form DI.

### TABLE 6.18

Total Entries	School	last attended	Enternate form (added)				
	National School	Secondary School	School Uncertain	uncertain' by year of birth			
	-			1947	1948	1949	1950
16,014	1,313	179	89	20	26	31	12

Sample of Entrants to Vocational Schools, 1963/64

The 179 would give an aggregate of 2,200 compared with the figure of about 2,800 derived from the secondary schools forms. It would seem reasonable to take a figure of 2,400 by ascribing 15 of the 'doubtfuls' to secondary. There is an element of doubt here however, as the age is not a certain guide—the median age of national school entries for example is 14 with the range going as high as 16 (derived from national school returns). This figure of

2,400 from secondary schools means that the entry from national schools was 13,600.

6.72 A survey was also carried out of the qualifications of the entrants, using the same sample. The response was about 80 per cent and showed the following percentage distribution :--

### **TABLE 6.19**

	Tatal					
Primary	Intermediate or Leaving	Other	None	Not Known	Total	Entrants
66·9 66·7	2·5 6·4	0·1 0·2	23·3 23·9	7·2 2·8	100 100	9,154 6,860
	Primary 66-9 66-7	Certif Primary Intermediate or Leaving †Percentag 66-9 2-5 66-7 6-4	Certificate held           Primary         Intermediate or Leaving         Other           !Percentage         distribition           66-9         2-5         0-1           66-7         6-4         0-2	Certificate held           Primary         Intermediate or Leaving         Other         None           !Percentage         distribution           66:9         2:5         0:1         23:3           66:7         6:4         0:2         23:9	Certificate held           Primary         Intermediate or Leaving         Other         None         Not Known           Percentage         distribution           66-9         2.5         0.1         23.3         7.2           66-7         6.4         0.2         23.9         2.8	Certificate held           Primary         Intermediate or Leaving         Other         None         Not Known         Total           !Percentage         distribution           66·9         2·5         0·1         23·3         7·2         100           66·7         6·4         0·2         23·9         2·8         100

### Certificate Status of Entrants to Vocational Schools 1963/64

This suggests that almost a quarter of the entrants (i.e. about 4,000 students) had not obtained a primary certificate. This emphasises what we said earlier68 about the handicaps under which the vocational schools labour.

## NON-AIDED PRIMARY SCHOOLS

6.73 The attempt to analyse the leavers from non-aided primary schools was not successful. The main reason was probably confusion between 'establishment' and 'enterprise'-pupils who moved from such a school to the attached secondary school not being returned as leavers at all. It would seem reasonable, however, to assume that the flow out of education from non-aided primary is negligible. On the basis of the stock figures obtained from the censuses⁶⁹ in February. 1963 and 1964, we take 2,050 (950 boys and 1,100 girls) as the number entering post-primary schools (in this case secondary) from non-aided primary schools in 1963, and we use this figure in what follows (see Appendix VI, paragraph 16).

## NATIONAL SCHOOL LEAVERS

6.74 Since children enter national school at the age of 4-6 and leave about ten years later, it will be appreciated that there can be a large outflow owing to emigration and death. Although actual entry figures are not available it is possible to estimate the flows into or out of

⁶⁸Par. 6.60. ⁶⁹Chapter 1.
each standard by using the published⁷⁰ data on promotions from one standard to another. We found that for 1961/62 the number leaving national schools from fourth standard or higher was about 54,500, excluding the estimated leavers from secondary tops. This tallies with what one would expect from general considerations : taking one year with another the total leavers from the primary cycle should more or less equal a cohort aged about 13. At the 1961 Census of Population there were 58,465 persons aged 13 (30,018 boys, 28,447 girls). Deducting the estimated number of leavers from the non-aided schools (2,050—previous paragraph), and allowing for numbers in various categories of special schools, we arrive at a figure of about 55,000 which we take as the number of leavers from national schools, from fourth standard or higher (excluding secondary tops) in the schoolyear 1962/63.

6.75 Of those, 21,700 are estimated to have gone to secondary school (official entry figure of 23,700 less 2,000 from non-aided primary), 2,200 to secondary tops, and 13,600 to vocational schools (gross entry 16,000 less 2,400 from secondary schools—paragraph 6.71). Assuming that only a negligible number went to other schools, that would give 17,500 as having left full-time education at that stage.

6.76 Our survey referred to 10 per cent of all leavers from national schools (excluding secondary tops) but the response accounted for only 4,107 or 75 per cent of the expected sample. Of these 1,748 went to secondary school or secondary top (i.e. 75 per cent response), 1,205 went to vocational or other school (about 85 per cent response) and 1,154 left full-time education (66 per cent response). Thus this last category is not as well represented in our sample as are the other two. The largest urban schools were also somewhat under-represented.

6.77 It was decided not to ask for the certificate status of leavers. However, when we referred to the Department's lists¹¹ of examination results we found ourselves in some technical difficulties—school numbers had changed and we were unable to trace some schools. The following table shows the results of our analysis in percentage form :—

⁷⁰Annual Reports of the Department of Education. ⁷¹Inpublished.

### TABLE 6.20

#### National School Leavers, 1962/63

	Pri	imary Cei	tificate re	sult		
	Pass	Fail	Absent	No Trace	Total of Percentages	Total who left full-time education ¹
	P	ercentage	Distribut	tion	(managering a	and an other states
Boys Girls	26 30	7 10	10 11	57 49	100 100	9,507 7,952
Total	28	8	10	53	100	17,459

Primary Certificate-Status of those who left Full-Time Education

¹As estimated in paragraph 6.75.

6.78 A word of explanaton will be in order here. The heading 'no trace' means that the names of those candidates could not be located on an examination list in any of the three years 1963, 1962, 1961 (in some cases the school list was untraced). As the Department's regulations prescribe that in general all pupils in the sixth standard at a certain stage of the year must be entered on the examination lists, the above result suggests that these pupils left school without having reached or without having completed sixth standard. Applying the percentage (53 per cent) to the calculated total of 17,500 gives a figure of roughly 8,000 persons in this category in 1963. The figures for Dublin are on a par with those for the rest of the country and are not shown separately. Indeed there was remarkable uniformity throughout the country.

6.79 Although this figure is undoubtedly exaggerated, the annual emergence of such a large number of young people who apparently have not reached what is commonly considered a minimum level of education, can hardly be viewed with equanimity. The above figure may include some who would have been eligible for entry to the special schools for mentally handicapped children (these schools at present have about 2,500 pupils) but this would hardly account for an appreciable proportion of them.⁷² Nor are errors arising from pupils changing schools after examination entry thought to be of consequence. Figures for other years were not asked for in the survey as it was not thought practicable, but there is no reason to think that 1963 was exceptional in this respect. This view is supported by the figures in the Department's Annual Report for

⁷²See Report of the Commission of Enquiry on Mental Handicap, Chapter 3, 1965 (Pr. 8234).

1959/60 of the numbers of pupils of age 14 who have not yet reached sixth standard. A general discussion of the relationship of age to standard in the National Schools may be found in Chapter 9.

6.80 There are the further 18 per cent who failed or were absent from the examination. This would mean perhaps a further 3,000 persons who do not have a primary certificate, making about 11,000 in all who left the national schools without this certificate. In view of the apparent seriousness of this phenomenon it would seem to merit full examination.

## **OTHER SCHOOLS**

6.81 Private commercial and secretarial schools—61 in number had an aggregate enrolment of 155 boys and 2,029 girls on 1 February, 1963, mainly in the age range 15 to 20. The number leaving annually is probably about 2,500: perhaps 1,000 would have a leaving certificate and 1,000 an intermediate certificate. The outflow from various other schools (residential schools of domestic economy, agriculture etc.) is small numerically.

# UNIVERSITY LEAVERS

6.82 For a variety of reasons, technical and otherwise, this survey was not extended to include leavers from the universities. The number of degrees awarded in 1963 is given in Table 6.21, which is taken from the Statistical Abstract, 1964 (Central Statistics Office). Owing to the lack of compatible statistics, however, it was not found possible to estimate the number who leave without a degree or diploma.

# TECHNICAL COURSES

6.83 The output of the technical courses is discussed in detail in chapter 8, in relation to the output of technicians.¹³ The output of the whole-time courses is of the order of 300 a year, the qualifications covering a wide range—hotel chef, A.M.I. Mech.E., A.R.I.B.A. etc. The entries to wholetime technical courses for 1963/64 (apart from the commercial courses in the College of Commerce, Rathmines) are shown in the following tables 6.22 and 6.23. Since not all these are direct entrants from other full-time education they are not all accounted for in the flow pattern in Table 6.24. It will be noted that they do not include the Army school in Naas. The courses listed in Table 6.23 may be regarded broadly as requiring a leaving certificate or similar entry qualification: most

⁷⁸The information collected by us on examination results and destinations is summarised in Appendix VI, Table 22.

of these courses lead to technological qualifications and may be regarded as third level non-university.

6.84 These tables do not claim to be complete. Only courses in respect of which returns were made have been included.

## TABLE 6.21

Degrees Conferred in each Faculty in the Universities¹ in the Academic Year, 1962/63

		First I	Degrees		Hi	igher	
Faculty	Ho	nours	Ord	inary		grous	TOTAL
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Architecture Agriculture, Forestry and Horticulture Veterinary Medicine Arts Commerce Dairy Science Social Science Dentistry Engineering Kedicine Science Law Divinity			7 53 42 425 117 6 14 38 80 129 102 21				7 65 45 1,053 209 12 38 44 140 188 375 39 1
Total Degrees 1962/63	448	139	1,034	405	157	33	2,216

Source: Statistical Abstract, 1964. ¹Excluding Maynooth and College of Surgeons. The figures for Maynooth are 114 degrees—81 in Arts and Science, 3 in Canon Law, 13 in Philosophy, 17 in Theology. Eight of these were higher degrees—5 in Philosophy and 3 in Theology. The figures for College of Surgeons are 100 first degrees and 10 higher degrees. ²Excluding higher degrees granted without further study.

# TABLE 6.22

Entrants to Full-Time Day Technical Courses, 1963/64 by Course and Centre

Area	Centre	Course	Male	Female	TOTAL
Dublin City	Kevin Street	Opticians Senior Science	7	3	10
	Bolton Street	Architectural Technology	7	9	16
		Technology Building	7		7
		Technology Preliminary	18	.6	18
		Engineering Aircraft	37	0F	37
		Technicians Engineering	12	e —	12
	Cathal Brugha	Draughtsmanship	8	-	8
	Street	Household Management Hotel Cookery Chef Apprentices		30 _24	30 24 12
Cork City	Crawford M.T.I.	Marine Engineering	16	-	16
	School of Art	Technology Art	27 2	- 2	27 4
Limerick City	School of Art	Art	7	5	12
Waterford City	School of Art	Art	1	3	4
Co. Galway	Foras Ostachais Mhuire	Commis Chefs and Waiters	19	-	19
-0	r	Total	217	77	294

#### TABLE 6.23

Area	Centre	Course	Male	Female	TOTAL
Dublin City	Kevin Street	Electrical Engineering	12	_	12
		(Inter. B.Sc.)	7	1	8
	Bolton Street	Health Inspector's Diploma Architecture General Surveying	8 32 21	 4 1	8 36 22
		Surveying	24	02	24
	Cathal Brugha	Diploma in Engineering	26	2-	26
	Street	Institutional Management Hotel Management		19 12	19 22
Cork City	Crawford	Industrial Science	15	3	18
	B. Cast and	Engineering	9	_	9
Co. Clare	Shannon	Hotel Management	13	9	22
		TOTAL	177	49	226

Entrants to Full-Time Technological and other¹ Third Level Courses 1963/64 by Centre and Course

¹There were also 53 entrants (39 male, 14 female) to a one year pre-university course in Kevin Street.

## SUMMARY

6.85 On the basis of the foregoing the following tables have been drawn up to show the flow pattern for those divisions in the school year 1962/63. The fact that some left school between autumn 1962 and summer 1963 introduces an element of ambiguity but it is not thought that this materially affects the general picture. Flows from standards lower than fourth in the national schools are not shown. The tables do not show the complete output in as much as drop out from third level for example is not allowed for. The complete output of certificants is used in chapter 8, in which chapter the implications of the certificate status of the output will be discussed.

			TABLE	6.24				
Educational	Sector	Flow	Pattern	1963	(excluding	Third	Level)	
		Tota	il Boys (	and G	irls			

	TOTAT	1017		2,050	55,000	18,268	6,800	9,786	1,938	8,283	8,550	•	2,500	1	VI 7.).
		Leaving	0					8,770	200				1,075	5,045	td. par.
action	e Status	Inter-	mediate			1,310	200	509	1,223	105			1,050	4,397	,356 (Es
I-time Edu	Certificat	Group	dinoun							3,895	1,300			5,195	/ Tops 2 s.
Left Ful		No Post-	primary		17,459	536	4,200			1,400	7,025	0	375	30,995	scondary School
	Total	TOTAL			17,459	1,846	4,400	4,279	1,423	5,400	8,325	130	2,500	45,632	tion. Se Training
	in E1	time Fduca-	tion	2,050	37,541	16,422	2,400	5,507	515	2,883	225	1	1	1	publica Hotel
	Other ⁴	time Fduca.	tion			258	590	1,2247	25	323	125	1		2,5455	prior to Includes Religiou
		1 eacher Training						449	P			1		4495	)63–64, s. ⁴ ] 782 in (8).
	1-14	versity				X	0	1,834	120			1		1,9545	(A.R. 19 s repeat includes chapter
		com- mercial			(	1,020	-	1,284	200			1.		2,5045	r ²³ ,730 include r ³
-	onal	Whole- time	nical	2	0	50	30	250	04	75	1	1		4758	condary 1 13,373 n 'Othe detail in
	Vocati	Continu-	попр	-	13,605	675	1,530	104	100	[2,485]1		1		16,014	sed in ssed in
0	ling	lary s)	Senior			12,969	250	[362] ¹			1	1		13,219*	aminees 584 ( <i>ib</i> In is discu
	Second (inclue	Top	Junior	2,050	23,936	[1,450] ¹				1	100	1		26,086ª	ry Tops entrants schnical
To	1				:	Inter. Cert. 1963 Examinees	Others	Leaving Cert. 1963 Examinees	Others	1963 Group Cert. Examinees	Others	ie al	al	from within	to balance (d) Seconda , not total o
				led Primar	al School	Junior Cycle		Senior Cycle		Continu- ation		Whole-tin Technic	Commerci	Entrants or, 1963	vs, showr 2,789 ( <i>ib</i> , nts, only of the wl
		-	FROM	Non-aid	Nationa	anib (eq	(inclu	Secondary Secondary		Isno	ocatio	Λ		Total	nal flov ndary 1. ct entra
	eferences in	aragraphs	ind lables	Par. 6.73	Par. 6.74	Par. 6.11	Par. 6.25	Par. 6.30	Par. 6.57	Par. 6.59	Par. 6.65	Par. 6.83	Par. 0.81		¹ Inter ³ Secor ⁵ Direc

 TABLE 6.25

 Educational Sector Flow Pattern 1963 (excluding Third Level)

 Total Boxs

4.425 150 618, TOTAL 950 28,600 3,513 5,090 825 2,275 2,100 75 Inter- Leaving 100 50 1,563 mediate 338 550 50 100 Certificate Status Left Full-time Education 2,486 600 3,086 Group 900 25 2,248 16,748 343 9.507 No Post-4.325 150 23,672 2.438 650 3.436 9.507 818 2,348 Total 1,383 100 2,652 7,466 1,165 175 19.093 [otal Educa-950 in Full-time tion 6211 133 200 10 50 1,102 88 Other Fulltime Education Teacher versity Training 1,346 110 1,456 Uni-40 118 158 Com-150 30 50 270 25 Whole-Technical Vocational Continu-800 54 [1.200] 9,154 8.020 255 ation [242] 6.308 150 6,458 Senior Secondary (including Secondary Tops) [750] Junior 50 12,073 950 11,073 Examinees ... Examinees ... Intermediate £ 1 1963 Group Whole-time Technical² Total Entrants from within Sector in 1963. Examinees Certificate Certificate Certificate Leaving Others Others Others 1963 1963 Continu-Senior Cycle ation Junior Cycle Private Primary National School Secondary Tops) Commercial Vocational Secondary (including FROM

²cf. chapter 8.

¹Including 463 in religious life.

	uk	TOIVE		1,100	26,400	9,984	3,287	4,696	1,113	3,464	4,125		2,350	1
		Loaving	Guineron					1,670	100				1,000	2,770
Ication	Status	Totor.	mediate			835	100	171	673	55			1,000	2,834
l-time Edu	Certificate	Canon	daoin							1,409	200			2,109
Left Ful		No	primary		7,952	193	1,952			500	3,300	2	350	14,247
		Iotal		1	7,952	1,028	2,052	1,841	773	1,964	4,000		2,350	21,960
T. A.	in	time time	tion	1,100	18,448	8,956	1,235	2,855	340	1,500	125			
	Other	time	tion			170	390	6031	15	190	75			1,443
		Training				0	2	328						328
		Uni- versity			0	K.		488	10					498
		Com- mercial			0	980		1,166	200	1				2,346
-	onal	Whole- time	nical	0		25	15	100	40	25	I			205
	vocan	Continu-	ation		5,585	420	730	50	75	[1,285]				6,860
1	ling	lary s)	Senior			6,661	100	[120]		1				6,761
	(inclue	Top	Junior	1,100	12,863	[002]				1	50			14,013
To	†					Intermediate Certificate 1963 Examinees	Others	Leaving Certificate 1963 Examinees	Others	1963 Group Certificate Examinees	Others	e Technical		sctor in 1963
				:		Junior Cycle		Senior Cycle		Continu-	ацоп	Whole-tim		om within Se
			L KOM	Private Primary	National School	3aib (o	y ToT	Secondary Secondar		len	oitsoo	Λ	Commercial	Total Entrants fre

¹Including 319 in the religious life.

 TABLE 6.26

 Educational Sector Flow Pattern 1963 (excluding Third Level)

 Total Civile

# PART II—PARTICIPATION

## INTRODUCTION

6.86 Having considered the pattern of the supply produced by the educational sector at present (1963), we next consider whether there are grounds for believing that this supply might be improved and whether the existing facilities for development of resources are adequate in practice. In this connection we examine the flow pattern in more detail and, in particular, we try to see to what extent participation in education is associated with factors such as family circumstances.

# SOCIAL GROUP

6.87 For this purpose we have classified the pupils by social group, that is, by the occupations of their parents, as is done in the Census of Population. The social groupings used in this chapter are based on the groupings used in the Census of Population and are as follows:

# GROUP A: Farmers.

- B: Professional, employers and managers, salaried employees (senior).
- C: Intermediate non-manual workers, e.g. own account proprietors, clerks (including bank clerks and civil servants below rank of higher executive officer), shop assistants, garda.⁷⁴
- D: Other non-manual workers, e.g. bus or lorry drivers, conductors, postmen, caretakers, waiters, railway porters.
- E: Skilled manual workers, e.g. electricians, carpenters, foremen.
- F: Semi-skilled and unskilled manual workers, other agricultural occupations and fishermen, e.g. agricultural labourers, turf workers, builders' labourers.
- G: As used here this consists of cases where the father is unemployed or deceased and no occupation other than 'housewife' is given for the mother. This code was not used where it was indicated that the widow was carrying on the late husband's business or farm.

⁷⁴Up to and including the rank of sergeant.

# H: As used here this consists of cases where no information was given as to the parents' occupation.

6.88 It must be emphasised that the division into social groups does not purport to be a division by level of income, data for which are not available. No comparisons as to gross income or disposable income are implied either within a group or between groups. For instance Group A (Farmers) covers a wide range of incomes,75 their holdings vary in size from under 15 acres to over 200 acres and in rateable valuation from under £2 to over £200-in 1951 two farmers in every ten had less than 15 acres while one in ten had more than 100 acres 76

6.89 As a first step in considering the association between social group and participation in education, the relevant data derivable from the Census returns were obtained from the Central Statistics Office.⁷⁷ Tables 6.27 to 6.29 and Chart 6.2 are based on these data. It is important, however, to note the basis on which these tables have been compiled, which is as follows.

6.90 The Census data give the parents' social grouping for all children under 14 and for those over 14 in full-time education, for the rest they give the person's own group. The breakdown of total persons in say the 15-19 age group by parents' social group is thus not available, so that it is not possible to compare actual participation rates by social group. Therefore, for purposes of comparison the numbers in education in a particular social group in 1961, aged 15-19 say (Table 6.28), have been expressed as a percentage of the number of persons aged 5-9 in the same social group in the 1951 Census (reduced slightly to allow for deaths).

6.91 Tables 6.27 to 6.29 and Chart 6.2 may, therefore, be regarded as giving the relative probabilities that a child in a particular social group in 1951 would be participating in full-time education in Ireland in 1961. This is subject to the qualification that we do not know how a particular parent's social grouping may have altered between 1951 and 1961. The change in the general pattern of social groupings between 1951 and 1961, however, is not of such a magnitude as to cast doubt on the general conclusions drawn from these tables. The relative rates given in these tables are lower than the actual rates based on the 1961 population because some of the 1951 children

⁷⁶National Farm Survey.
⁷⁶Appendix VI. Table 26. Source: Census of Population, 1961.
⁷⁷See Appendix.

will have emigrated in the interval—some of these may of course be at school in their country of residence. The actual participation rates in 1961—those based on the 1961 population—are given in the last row of each of these tables. As might be expected the difference is most marked in the case of the highest age group (20-24) (Table 6.29). Census data would include students from outside the State.¹⁸

6.92 These tables (6.27-6.29) and the accompanying diagrams¹⁹ show a very marked association between social group and participation in full-time education. In particular they show a marked contrast between Groups B (Professional, Senior Employees, etc.) and C (Clerks, etc.) on the one hand and Groups D, E, F, (Skilled, Semiskilled and Unskilled Workers, etc.) on the other, a contrast which becomes the more marked the higher the age group and the higher the level. If the same circumstances were to prevail in future it would mean that today's children of those latter social groups would have a relatively small chance of being in full-time education in ten years' time.

## **TABLE 6.27**

Relative Rates of Participation in Full-time Education, 1961, by Social Group, Persons aged 14

Social	1951 ³ Population	Persons age	ed 14 in full-tim at 1961 Census	e Education
Group	aged 4	Total	Primary	Post-primary ⁴
0	2	As percentag	e of 1951 Popu	lation aged 4
A	15,500	69.4	19.1	50.3
B	6,100	73.6	3.4	70.2
C	5,900	74.1	7.5	66.8
D	5,900	52.7	10.7	42.0
Е	9,300	52.6	9.3	43.3
F ¹	15,300	43.4	14.3	29.1
Total ²	61,300	60.1	13.0	47.1
	1961 Population	Total as per	rcentage ⁵ of 196 aged 14	1 Population
	57,500	64.0	13.8	50.2

(Calculated from Census of Population data supplied by the Central Statistics Office.)

¹Group G is included among the other groups in the Census. For Group H see next footnote.

²Including 3,300 in Group H (social group not known) of whom 2,560 were in

⁷⁸The Census was taken at vacation time, however. ⁷⁹Chart 6.2.

#### **TABLE 6.28**

## Relative Rates of Participation in Full-time Education, 1961, by Social Group, of Persons aged 15-19

(Calculated from Census of Population data supplied by the Central Statistics Office)

		1951	Pers	sons aged 15	–19 in full-t 1961 Census	ime educatio	on at
So	ocial roup	Population ³ aged 5–9	Total	Primary	Post- primary	Third- level ² (excluding Theology)	Theology
			As P	ercentage of	1951 Popul	ation aged s	5-9
A		71,000	27.7	1.0	25.8	0.9	0.1
В		27,800	46.5	0.4	39.7	6.2	0.3
С		27,100	39.3	0.5	35.9	2.8	0.2
D		26,900	16.6	0.6	15.4	0.5	0.1
E		43,100	17.3	0.6	16.1	0.6	_
F		70,600	9.8	0.8	8.8	0.1	-
Тот	AL1	279,600	24.9	0.8	21.7	1.6	0.7
		1961 Population	То	tal as Percer a	ntage of 196 ged 15-19	1 Population	1
		233,800	29.8	1.0	26.0	2.0	0.8

¹Including 13,100 in Group H (social group not known) of whom 7,400 were in full-time education (400 in primary; 4,400 in post-primary; 800 in third level; 1,800 in Theology).

²Including some students from outside the State.

³Adjusted for deaths 1951-1961 (estimated).

#### TABLE 6.27 (contd.)

full-time education-660 in primary, 1,900 in post-primary including 60 classified as 'Theology'. ³Adjusted for deaths 1951–1961 (estimated).

4Including a very small number (0.1 per cent. of total) classified as ' Third Level '. ⁵The pupil numbers from which these percentages are derived were, of course, counted as of the date of the Census and accordingly would not be the same as Department of Education statistics, which relate to the beginning or end of the school-year, or to February. Hence no direct comparison with departmental statistics is possible.

#### TABLE 6.29

Relative Rates of Participation in Full-time Education, 1961, by Social Group, of Persons aged 20-24

(Calculated from Census of Population data supplied by the Central Statistics Office)

Social	1951 Population ³	Persons	aged 20–24 in 1961 C	full-time educa census	ation at
Group	aged 10–14	Total	Post- Primary	Third-level ² (excluding Theology)	Theology
		As percer	ntage of 1951 I	Population age	d 10–14
Α	65,800	1.3	0.2	0.8	0.3
B	25,800	7.9	0.6	6.8	0.5
с	25,000	4.1	0.4	3.4	0.3
D	24,800	0.7	0.1	0.5	0.1
Е	39,800	0.8	0.1	0.6	0.1
F	65,500	0.2	0.1	0.1	
TOTAL ¹	258,900	3.1	0.2	2.0	0.8
	1961 Population	Total a	as percentage aged 2	of 1961 Popula 0–24	tion
	158,000	5.1	0.3	3.4	1.3

¹Including 12,200 in Group H (social group unknown) of whom 3,300 were in full-time education (100 in post-primary; 1,600 in third level; 1,600 in Theology). ²Including some students from outside the State. ³Adjusted for deaths 1951–1961 (estimated).

## CHART 6.2

RELATIVE RATES OF PARTICIPATION IN FULL-TIME EDUCATION



(Based on 1961 Census of Population data)



Persons aged 15 - 19.



Persons aged 20 - 24.



## TOWN/RURAL

6.93 Table 6.31, based on Census of Population data in Table 6.30, gives the participation rates by male/female and by town/rural. It shows the rural rate as higher than the town rate and the female rate as higher than the male rate-the rate for rural females being by far the highest. Comparisons based on these rates must be treated with caution, however. In particular, it must be noted that these figures embody the effects of migration of persons from rural areas to work⁸⁰ in towns. Such migration reduces the rural population and so gives an increased rural rate of participation while at the same time increasing the town population and so giving a reduced town rate of participation. That the higher rural rate owes much to this migration is supported by the fact that the rural males aged 15-19 outnumber the town males and have the lowest rate while the rural females age 15-19 are fewer than those in the towns and have the highest rate. Without migration one would expect the town/ rural balance to be much the same for females and for males, as in the age group 0-14 where the rural areas outnumber the town areas in both males and females.⁸¹ Another factor to be considered is the possible differences in emigration as between town and rural areas and as between males and females.

## COUNTY DIFFERENCES

6.94 Such differences in participation can be further investigated by comparing the position in the different counties.⁸² For each

## **TABLE 6.30**

	MA	LE	Fem	ALE	Tor	TAL
	Population aged 15–19	Number in full-time post- primary education	Population aged 15–19	Number in full-time post- primary education	Population aged 15–19	Number in full-time post- primary education
Town	53,148	14,527	59,033	13,144	112,181	27,671
Rural	67,199	13,834	54,452	19,221	121,651	33,055
TOTAL	120,347	28,361	113,485	32,365	233,832	60,726

Number of Males and Females aged 15-19 and Number in Full-Time Post-Primary¹ Education by Town and Rural Areas, 1961

¹Second Level.

Source: Census of Population, 1961.

⁸⁰The Census was taken at a time when university and boarding school students ⁸¹Census of Population, 1961, Vol. II, Table 16. ⁸²Investment in Education, Cannon, National Press, Dublin 1963.

### **TABLE 6.31**

		Male	Female	Total
		Percent	tage in full-time ed	ucation
Fown areas		 27.3	22.3	24.7
Rural areas		 20.6	35.3	27.2
Тот	AL	 23.6	28.5	26.0

Number of Males and Females aged 15-19 in Full-Time Post-Primary¹ Education as Percentage of Population aged 15-19, by Town and Rural Areas

¹Second Level.

county there is available the population by age in the census years and the number of secondary school pupils whose home residence is in that county.⁸³ The number of secondary school pupils from each county can thus be expressed as a percentage of the appropriate age group in that county. We have taken the school-year 1962/63 and the Census of Population in 1961, being the latest for which data were available.

6.95 The pupils in the secondary tops⁸⁴ were ascribed to the county in which those schools were situated, as were the pupils in the vocational schools⁸⁵ (whole-time day continuation) as their county of home residence was not known. However, since almost all such pupils are day pupils this procedure is unlikely to cause more than marginal errors in allocation. The same is not true of vocational pupils in whole-time technical⁸⁶ courses, however, and for that reason these have not been included at all.

6.96 The age range 13-17 at Census time (April) was taken because the median age of entrants to secondary school is 13 years, 2 months in August⁸⁷ and five years appears to be the general norm for completion of the secondary school course. For instance, on 1 February, 1964 only about 6,500 secondary pupils were under 13 and only about 3,500 were 18 or over out of a total of about 88,000 pupils. This age range is unflattering to the vocational school participation as the continuation course is generally only a two year one, from about 14 to 16 years of age. It might have been more appropriate to have taken the age range 11-15 in 1961 to correspond to 13-17 in 1963.

6.97 It will be appreciated of course that these figures do not give the overall participation in full time education in the age range

 ⁸³Annual Report (S.O.).
 ⁸⁴February, 1963 school census data.
 ⁸⁵, ⁸⁶Annual Reports (S.O.).

⁸⁷Based on Annual Report, 1962-63.

13-17 as many would be attending other schools—primary, commercial, university etc. Nor is any account taken of education outside the State.

6.98 The details are given in Table 6.32 and the results are summarized in the diagrams.⁸⁴

6.99 It will be seen at once that there are marked differences in participation between the counties. In regard to the secondary schools the highest counties have about twice the rate of the lowest counties, while in secondary and vocational together the highest counties have fifty per cent more than the lowest. Since the lowest county in each case is one of the most populous (Donegal, with 11,784), it will be seen that there is an appreciable number of potential pupils involved.

6.100 A comparison of the order of the counties in the two diagrams will show the effect of adding on the vocational pupils. Leitrim and Longford, the two smallest counties numerically, improve their placing considerably as does Sligo—these have the highest participation in vocational (about 20 per cent)—while Waterford and Dublin decline, having the lowest participation in vocational (about 7 per cent). It may at first seem somewhat surprising that those predominantly rural counties should do relatively so much better than Dublin as regards vocational continuation education, but then Dublin City has heavy commitments in higher technical education and the effects of migration must also be borne in mind—see paragraphs 103 *et seq*. It is mentioned elsewhere in this report that there appears to be an unsatisfied demand and a shortage of capacity in Dublin.

6.101 What are the counties that do relatively badly as regards participation? Donegal is easily the worst, and the six lowest counties—in each diagram—are the three Ulster counties (Donegal. Cavan, Monaghan) and three of the Leinster counties (Laois, Meath, Kildare). Indeed of the twelve Leinster counties, nine are in the lower half for secondary schools and eight in the lower half for secondary schools and eight in the lower half for secondary schools. The Munster counties on the other hand are all well placed, particularly in the case of secondary schools. The five Connacht counties figure reasonably well although the two most populous of them (Galway and Mayo) are in the lower half in the second diagram, having about 41 per cent participation against 52 per cent for Tipperary with much the

⁸⁸Chart 6.3.



CHART 6.3



		2		
2				
1			ĥ	
2		2	2	
			2	
	1			

Secondary and Vocational School Pupils 1962/63 by County of Home Residence, as Percentage of Population aged 13-17 (1961 Census)

Secondary and Vocational as Percentage of Population	4482 84482 94482 40447 40447 40441 40418 8920 8920 8920 8920 89280 40448 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 89280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 80280 8028000 802800000
Vocatioual as Percentage of Population	12-22 12-24 12-24 12-24 12-24 12-24 12-25 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 12-22 1-
Vocational ⁴	2005 2007 2007 1,205 1,205 1,215 1,416 1,215 1,215 1,215 1,215 1,215 2,205 2,205 1,216 1,216 1,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,216 2,2
Secondary as Percentage of Population	29-96 29-96 29-57 29-57 29-57 29-52 29-52 29-52 29-52 29-52 29-52 29-52 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55 29-55
Total Secondary	1,005 1,005 1,005 1,005 1,005 1,007 1,007 1,007 1,007 1,007 1,007 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,008 1,
At Secondary ^a Tops ('62/'63)	21 1000 1000 1000 21 1000 201 201
At Secondary ² School ('62/'63)	1,877 1,877 1,900 1,010 1,010 1,010 1,117 1,117 1,117 1,118 1,118 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,
Population ¹ 13-17 years	2,2,35 5,775 5,775 5,775 6,775 6,775 6,11,784 6,775 6,114 6,456 6,116 7,126 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,
County	www.mwww.mwww.mwwww.mwwww.mwwww.mwwww.mwwwwww

same population (12,000 to 16,000). Here again it will be seen that the numbers involved amount to thousands of potential pupils.⁸⁹

6.102 These differences by province are illustrated by diagram (iii) in Chart 6.3 derived from Table 6.32. Dublin (City and County) is shown separately as its population is so large—greater than the rest of Leinster, and greater than Connacht and the three Ulster counties together. A difference of one per cent here represents of course a much greater numerical difference than in the case of the counties as we are now dealing with the population of provinces.

6.103 In making these comparisons, as in paragraph 6.93 above, it must be borne in mind that these rates relate to the number of persons aged 13-17 actually residing in the county at the time of the Census.³⁰ These rates therefore, embody the differential effects of migration and emigration.⁹¹ The more who leave a county the higher will the rate of educational participation appear : conversely the more who enter a county the lower will the rate appear. It could be argued, for example, that the relatively high rate in Leitrim and the rather moderate rate in Dublin are largely due to this factor, and that since the three Ulster counties have been an area of relatively high emigration⁵² their true relative position is probably even worse than already stated. Indeed the availability of education may itself be a cause of migration.

6.104 To gain some idea of the effects of this emigration factor we expressed the 10-19 year old population in 1961 as a percentage of the 0-9 year olds in 1951, by county. (Table 27 Appendix VI). The percentage decreases range from 21 per cent for Leitrim to 5 per cent for Dublin, the other highest being the three Ulster counties and Wexford (18 per cent), while the other lowest were Cork, Louth, Offaly and Galway (11 per cent). This suggests that the high ranking of Leitrim and the lower ranking of Dublin in educational participation may be somewhat exaggerated, while it accentuates the high ranking of Cork and the low ranking of the three Ulster counties and Wexford.

6.105 To examine this emigration effect further we also expressed the pupils as a percentage of the 3-7 year olds at the 1951 Census.

^{*}These results agree generally with those in the work referred to in paragraph 6.94, footnote 82, the four lowest counties being the same. Sligo and Roscommon figure much higher here, however, owing to the large numbers in secondary tops. *University and boarding school students would normally be home on vacation

⁹⁰University and boarding school students would normally be home on vacation at that time.

⁸¹The term ' net emigration ' in reference to a county is used to cover net movements out of the county whether migration within the State or emigration out of the State.

⁹²Statistical Abstract 1962, Table II.

The results were given in Table 28, Appendix VI. The general picture is not substantially changed. As expected Leitrim has fallen back, from third place to tenth, while Dublin has improved its rankingfrom fourteenth to eighth : Cork has moved into second place while Wexford has dropped back slightly. Rather surprisingly, however, Sligo is still the highest and Roscommon has moved nearer the top. Apart from that the general rankings show little change. The same four counties—indeed the same ten—are still lowest though in slightly different order, Donegal retaining its position at the bottom. Nine of the Leinster counties are still in the lower half and only one county, Leitrim, has dropped out of the first eight. The ratios between lowest and highest counties are practically unchanged : the Donegal figure is now 56 per cent of the Sligo figure as against 57 per cent in Table 6.32 The provincial order⁹³ is unchanged but Dublin is now ahead of Connacht.

6.106 By analogy with paragraph 6.91 these rates might be regarded as giving the relative probabilities that a child aged 3-7 living in a particular county would be living in the same county ten years later and be in secondary or vocational school. However, there is probably much greater mobility between counties than between social groups, the point of discussion in paragraph 6.91.

6.107 We now ask ourselves the question 'why have some counties so much smaller participation than others?' Since we have already found a marked association between participation and social group, we first see to what extent the county differences can be explained on that basis, or rather to what extent the two factors are inter-related. This ideally would call for more detailed analysis but we have had to content ourselves with the following, perhaps summary, examination. The social group composition of persons aged 0-14 is available²⁴ for each county : we expressed these in percentages as follows :--

⁹³Chart 6.3 (iii). ⁹⁴Census of Population, 1961.

		Social Group ¹							
Province and County	A	В	С	D	E	F	Total ²		
	Percentage Distribution of Population aged								
Dublin Rest of Leinster Munster Connacht Ulster (three counties)	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.0\\ 24.2\\ 27.9\\ 57.5\\ 42.7 \end{array} $	15.6 7.8 8.9 7.1 7.1	14·1 8·3 8·9 6·4 8·1	15·4 7·8 8·8 4·8 6·7	$\begin{array}{c} 22 \cdot 1 \\ 14 \cdot 9 \\ 14 \cdot 7 \\ 8 \cdot 1 \\ 10 \cdot 3 \end{array}$	26.5 32.0 26.2 12.4 21.0	100 100 100 100 100		
Total	25.5	10.0	9.7	9.6	15.4	25.2	100		
Cavan Donegal Monaghan Sligo	51.8 36.8 46.3 45.2	6.0 7.1 8.4 9.4	7·4 8·5 7·9 7·0	5·4 7·6 6·1 7·0	8.8 10.7 11.2 10.5	$   \begin{array}{r}     17.6 \\     24.7 \\     15.8 \\     16.4   \end{array} $	100 100 100 100		

## TABLE 6.33 Social Group Composition of Population aged 0-14 by Province and Selected Counties (Derived from Census of Population, 1961)

¹For details see paragraph 6.87.

²Including unknowns-about 5 per cent, all round.

We then applied to each social group its participation rate in postprimary education (from Table 6.27), to give a rough comparative index. These were then compared with the rates found earlier,95 as follows :--

## TABLE 6.34

Actual and Hypothetical Participation Rates, by Province and Selected Counties, and Rateable Valuations of Farms¹

Province and County	Actual Rates of Participa- tion ² in Post- primary Education	Participation Rates derived from Tables 6·32, 6·28	Propor farms 1 Rateable tion Under £10	tion of having a valua- of £50 and over	Income in Agriculture per £ valuation ⁴ £
0					
Munster Connaught Dublin Rest of	44·1 39·8 42·2 36·5	19·9 23·1 19·7 18·7	$     \begin{array}{r}       15.7 \\       36.0 \\                                    $	23·4 3·9 ⁵ 35·6	21.6 21.1 5 15.5
Ulster (three) counties)	27.2	21.2	35.5	8.4	16.4
Sligo Monaghan Cavan Donegal	46.2 29.1 28.8 25.8	22·1 22·2 22·2 20·4	27.8 11.3 16.9 60.9	5.5 12.4 7.8 6.8	$     \begin{array}{r}       18.7 \\       12.3 \\       15.3 \\       21.2     \end{array} $

¹These are included for reference later in pars. 6.111, 6.113.

²Par. 6.105 and Appendix VI, Table 28. ³Census of Population, 1961.

4Irish County Incomes in 1960 Atwood and Geary, Economic Research Institute, Dublin (September, 1963).

5Included in Rest of Leinster.

⁹⁵Paragraph 6.105, Appendix VI, Table 28. The general result is the same if we use the rates in Paragraph 6.98 (Chart 6.3 and Table 6.32).

6.108 The attempted explanation clearly fails: on that basis, Connacht and Ulster should head the list, while Cavan and Monaghan should do as well as Sligo instead of being at the other end of the list (as in Chart 6.3, paragraph 6.98).

6.109 Alternatively we might try to relate the county differences to the size of a particular social group in the counties. However, this does not prove fruitful either : on the basis of groups A, D, E, or F, (Table 6.33) Connacht and Ulster should again head the list; on the basis of Group C Connacht would be below Leinster and Ulster. Group B is the most promising as regards the ranking referred to in paragraph 6.105 i.e. Munster, Dublin, Connacht, Rest of Leinster, Ulster in that order.

6.110 The percentage of Group B in a county plotted against the percentage participation in secondary education,⁸⁶ is given in Chart VI.1, Appendix. The graph shows that the association is quite weak. As an indication of how far it departs from a linear relationship we find the correlation coefficient (0.39) is only just significant. The association with secondary and vocational together is much the same.

6.111 We have thus failed to explain the county differences on the basis of differences in social grouping. However, it may be that the social groupings as we have used them are not sufficiently sharply defined for this purpose, in particular Group A (Farmers). We see from Table 6.33 for instance that Connacht has more than twice the national average proportion of farmers and only half the national average of unskilled and semi-skilled workers (Group F). The same applies to a somewhat lesser extent to Ulster. This suggests that we should take a closer look at the farmers' category. As mentioned earlier⁹⁷ the size and valuation of holdings vary considerably. In Table 6.34 we have shown the percentage of holdings with valuations under £10 and those of £50 and over for the areas listed. This immediately affords a plausible explanation on the basis of income of why the Connacht and Ulster social groupings gave such a falsely high ratio of participation-they have 36 per cent of farms under £10 valuation as against 16 per cent for Munster and a mere 6 per cent for Leinster, and conversely they have only between 4 per cent and 8 per cent of farms over £50 as against 23 per cent for Munster and 36 per cent for Leinster. Probably the most striking example is Donegal itself where over 60 per cent of the farms have a valuation of less than £10. It might well be then that if Group A in Table 6.28 were broken down by valuation, the resulting ratios would go further towards accounting for the county differences.

⁹⁶As in Par. 6.105.

⁹⁷Par. 6.88 and also Table 26, Appendix VI.

6.112 Valuations of course may not always reflect earning capacity. Data on agricultural income per £ valuation are available.⁹⁸ The range is very great, from £11.6 in Westmeath to £37.7 in Kerry, with an average of £18.6. Table 6.34 shows the figures for the areas listed. These tend to reduce the effect of the disparity in valuations between Leinster and Munster while accentuating the low valuations in Ulster.

6.113 This brings us naturally to consider whether the county differences in participation in education are closely associated with differences in income. Estimates of the personal income⁶⁹ per head of population are available¹⁰⁰ for each county and we have plotted these against the percentage participation¹⁰¹ in secondary education in Chart 6.4.

6.114 It will be seen from the graph that the association is quite weak. There is no question of approximating the relationship by a straight line—the correlation coefficient is only 0.17. For instance of the counties with lowest participation, Donegal and Cavan have two of the lowest incomes while Kildare and Meath have two of the highest. Some of the counties with highest participation—Sligo, Roscommon, Clare for instance—have lowest incomes. Of course the county income per head refers to all of the people in the county, and not just to the parents of children aged 0-14 as was the case with the social groupings used in paragraphs 6.87 *et seq.* This effect however, is not thought to be of great consequence to our argument—see Appendix VI.

^{98, 100}See footnote to Table 6.34.

⁹⁹This includes social welfare, emigrants' remittances etc.

¹⁰¹Par. 6.105 and Table 28, Appendix VI. The general result is the same if the rate in Chart 6.3 are taken.



CHART 6.4

164

NUMBERS RECEIVING POST-PRIMARY EDUCATION AS



PERCENTAGE PARTICIPATION IN POST-PRIMARY EDUCATION

(as in Paragraph 6.105)

6.115 We have thus failed to explain the differences between the counties on the basis of social group or county income, even though these undoubtedly have some effect. Since grants are not available for transport, the density of population in a county might be a factor. Chart 6.5 shows, however, that the association between density of population and participation in education is quite weak. It is far from being a linear relationship-the correlation coefficient is a mere 0.1. The relationship with degree of urbanisation (percentage of population in towns) is little better-Chart VI.2, Appendixthe correlation coefficient being only 0.21. Dublin was excluded from these calculations. The data are given in Appendix VI, Table 30.

6.116 Looking for other possible causes one sees102 that the three Ulster counties have substantial Protestant minorities (11.7 per cent to 14.2 per cent). However, Protestants as a whole appear to have a much higher rate of participation in secondary education than the rest of the population. In 1961 there were an estimated 10,631 Protestants¹⁰³ aged 13-17 in the State, including visitors and others born outside the State, while there were 5,277 pupils104 in the 45 Protestant¹⁰⁵ secondary schools¹⁰⁶ in 1962/63. This gives a participation rate of 49.6 per cent against 33.5 per cent for the population as a whole.¹⁰⁷ In the three Ulster counties, the percentage of Protestants among children aged 10-14 in 1961 was :- Cavan 10 per cent, Monaghan 11 per cent, Donegal 12 per cent. There are no data available on the number of Protestants from a particular county who are attending secondary school. The pupils in Protestant schools in those counties formed the following proportions of the total pupils at schools in these counties, in 1962/63 :- Cavan 9.6 per cent, Monaghan 7.8 per cent, Donegal 10.1 per cent, which are slightly lower than the 10-14 percentages, but it is clear that little reliance can be placed on that as a measure. All in all we cannot say that the size of the Protestant minority in the Ulster counties is a cause of the relative lowness of participation in education there.

6.117 There may be a slight tendency in those counties to send children to schools outside the State, given for example that the

¹⁰⁶Excluding the very few non-aided secondary schools. 107 Table 6.32.

 ¹⁰²Census of Population, 1961.
 ¹⁰³Mean of 11,129 aged 10–14 and 10,133 aged 15–19, Census 1961. These figures comprise all persons other than those returned as 'Catholic'.

¹⁰⁴Pupils eligible for recognition. List of Recognised Secondary Schools 1962-63 (S.O.).

¹⁰⁵The main religious denomination of the pupils in a secondary school is not officially designated but it is a matter of common knowledge. Of course of the two sets, Protestant pupils and pupils of Protestant schools, neither totally includes the other.

diocesan seminary for part of Donegal is outside the State. However, this is hardly of great proportions nowadays. Again there may be difficulties of communication in Donegal and Cavan, but the same can scarcely be said of Kildare and Meath which are also among the lowest. Of course it may simply be that there is less interest in education in those counties but we have no direct evidence of this.

6.118 We have failed, therefore, to find a distinctive pattern which would explain the differences between counties in the matter of participation in education. Although our examination of this complex phenomenon has admittedly been rather summary it would appear to be forcing us to the conclusion that the cause of much of the disparity lies in the procedure by which secondary schools come into being. Until now¹⁰⁸ at any rate the State has never accepted responsibility for providing secondary education and it has not taken any initiative towards the establishment of secondary schools apart from aiding them when they are established. This has, therefore, depended on private enterprise, religious or lay, and local ecclesiastical encouragement, the absence of either of which would effectively preclude the founding of a school in an area. Three points may be noted here. Firstly, the great majority of the secondary schools in the country were founded by the dioceses or religious orders, some of them indeed before any public aid was available to them.¹⁰⁹ Secondly, since Government aid was not sufficient to induce the schools to dispense with fees and since grants were not available for transport or maintenance, it is not surprising that some areas would tend to be more favoured than others.¹¹⁰ Thirdly, it is noteworthy that schools run by religious orders of brothers and the lay Catholic schools are most numerous in Munster, which has the highest participation, while there is no secondary school run by a religious order of brothers in Cavan or Donegal, two of the counties with the lowest participation (except for one school at the edge of the latter county where county and ecclesiastical boundaries do not coincide). The establishment of vocational schools on the other hand is the responsibility of the local vocational education committees. It may be noted that the smallness of the local revenue need not prevent the provision of adequate facilities, as additional State grants may be paid to cover deficiencies in the normal revenue of vocational committees. The poorer counties have been receiving such grants, in some cases since 1955. We have seen that three of the poorest counties, Leitrim, Longford and Sligo, have the highest participation in vocational education.

1081963.

¹⁰°Cf. Report of the Council of Education on Secondary Schools (S.O.). ¹¹⁰°Cf. Chapter 10, for distribution of schools by areas.

6.119 We have perforce taken the county as our unit of comparison in these paragraphs. It will be obvious of course that conditions may vary greatly within a county, and that this problem needs to be examined for each locality. Separate figures for boys and girls by county were not available.

6.120 It must be remembered that even when there is a post-primary school in a locality it may be unsuited to some by reasons of limitations on entry (sex, religion, fees etc.), curriculum and standards (availability of subjects, instruction through Irish, etc.) or other factors. It appears then that if educational opportunities in the less fortunate areas are to be improved the State must concern itself with examining the present provision in each locality and with using its financial and other initiatives to see that no area is left without adequate facilities for post-primary education.

# LEAVER'S SURVEY

6.121 We now describe briefly the results of our survey of pupils. The results are consistent with the general picture given by the earlier tables (Tables 6.27-6.29) based on Census data. As regards the accuracy of the social groups ascribed to pupils, we did not of course have the checks on their accuracy that would be used in a census of population. There may have been an element of upgrading in the returns, but in most eases the parents' occupation was given by the school. Groups B, C are shown as a composite group for convenience —the differences between those two groups do not become appreciable until the university stage is reached.

# NATIONAL SCHOOL LEAVERS

6.122 The national school principals were asked to give the destination and parents' occupation for a ten per cent sample of those who left between autumn 1962 and autumn 1963. As explained earlier there were difficulties in estimating the rate of response. The lack of a reliable list of roll numbers was a source of uncertainty in all our work pertaining to national schools. We understand this lack arose largely from the practice of changing the roll number of a school when it is rebuilt and, as we have mentioned, the building programme has been stepped up in recent years. Another source of uncertainty is the number of small schools which would have no pupil in the ten per cent sample of leavers. That there was a bias in the response against the urban schools is indicated by Table 24, Appendix VI which shows the proportions of the different sizes of schools not covered by the response. It is also indicated by the social group composition of the response (Appendix VI, Table 25) which has a higher proportion of farmers and a lower proportion of skilled workers and other non-manual workers. Unfortunately, therefore, the element of uncertainty in these results is larger than we would wish. In all the response covered 4,107 pupils out of an expected 5,500 i.e. just 75 per cent (See par. 6.76).

6.123 The following table and chart 6.6 show in percentages the results of the survey, which covered 2,114 boys and 1,993 girls, of whom 1,462 boys and 1,491 girls entered post-primary education. A very small number, not included here, transferred to non-aided primary schools.

## TABLE 6.35

Percentage Distribution of Sample of National School Leavers, by Destination, 1963, by Social Group

		SOCIAL GROUP							
	Destination	A	B/C	D	E	F	G	$H^3$	Total
		~		Percen	tage Di	tributio	on		
	Secondary School ¹ Vocational School ²	34·9 33·2	73·8 13·3	34·6 47·5	46·4 39·0	20·8 33·2	13·8 42·5	39·5 25·0	36·9 32·2
Boys	Total Post-Primary	68.1	87.1	82.1	85.4	54.0	56.3	64.5	69.1
	Left Full-Time Education	31.9	12.9	17.9	14.6	46.0	43.7	35.5	30.9
	Тотаl	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
	02			Percen	tage Di	tributi	on		
Cial	Secondary School ¹ Vocational ²	56·7 26·3	78·0 11·6	41·2 37·0	53·0 28·0	24·3 30·1	29·7 43·3	45·6 20·6	48·5 26·3
GILIS	Total Post-Primary	83.0	89.6	78.2	81.0	54-4	73.0	66-2	74.8
	Left Full-Time Education	17.0	10.4	21.8	19.0	45.6	27.0	33-8	25.2
	Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

¹Including secondary top.

²Including some commercial.

³Social group not known.

It will be seen that as regards total post-primary there is a fair degree of uniformity with the exception of group F (unskilled and semi-skilled) which is well below average, and of group G (unemployed etc.) which is also below average. Conversely of course these groups figure largely among those who left education altogether. Those who left full-time education from group B/C included the children of a number of army privates (group C) as well as the children of some professional men who were going abroad.







6.124 As regards secondary education, however, there is a very marked superiority in the composite group B/C. These figures do not include those from the non-aided primary schools which would undoubtedly accentuate this superiority. The proportion of group F and G are extremely low and group D (other non-manual workers) is also below average. We have seen that there is practically no transfer from vocational to secondary school at this stage are highly unlikely to get into it at all. In group A (farmers) the girls do far better than the boys as regards secondary school.

6.125 Conversely group B/C has a very low proportion entering vocational education. The division as between secondary and vocational need not affect the combined output of persons with junior post-primary certificates, but it must affect the output of persons with higher certificates since, as we have seen, there are few avenues to higher levels from the junior cycle of vocational schools. It must also affect the quality of the output of the vocational schools. It is known that this latter problem has been engaging the Department for some time and that the proposed technical leaving certificate and regional colleges are expected to modify the position.

6.126 A factor which must influence pupil/parent choices in this regard is that entry to certain skilled trades has been largely restricted. In this context we note the recommendation of the Commission on Youth Unemployment (1951) that 'there should be no bar to entrance into apprenticeship of any young person save failure in the educational test prescribed by the Apprenticeship Committee, or physical unfitness.' Furthermore the age of entry (15 or 16) to apprenticeship effectively precludes the gaining of senior cycle education—in practice one cannot be a skilled tradesman and have a leaving certificate.

6.127 To give an indication of the composition of secondary school entrants we did not expand the sample but applied the proportions in Table 6.35 to the social group composition¹¹¹ for the 0-14 ages, allowing for the leavers from the non-aided primaries. It was assumed that the latter are predominantly from groups B/C and that they all go into secondary school. The result is shown in Chart 6.7 (second line).

¹¹¹Census of Population, 1961.



CHART 6.7

## SECONDARY SCHOOLS

6.128 We do not have data on the social group of those leavers who do not reach intermediate certificate level but we can effectively deduce it from the social grouping of those who do. Chart 6.7 shows the social group composition of the sample of intermediate certificate candidates described in paragraph 6.16 excluding those in Group H, i.e. those about whose social group no information was given. Comparing this with the composition of entrants to secondary school (previous line in Chart 6.7) we see that the social groups D, E, F have fallen off while group B/C has increased its proportion, group A being more or less the same. Although these are not the same cohort it suggests that drop-out from the junior cycle is relatively heavier among the children of the unskilled and skilled manual workers.

6.129 The same applies to the senior cycle. Chart 6.7 also shows the social group composition of leaving certificate candidates 1963. It will be seen that the process is continuing: compared with the intermediate candidates we see that groups B and C have increased their proportion while most of the other groups have lost ground.

## UNIVERSITY

6.130 The final line in Chart 6.7 gives the social group of those leaving certificate candidates of 1963 who entered university in 1963. The parent's occupation was obtained for all of these-those not obtained through the schools were obtained from the university registrars.¹¹² It will be seen that by this stage the disparity between the social groups has become most marked and the strong association between university entrance and social group is unmistakable. It may be noted here that the number of university scholarships awarded by the county councils in 1962/63 was 214, of which 45 were in Dublin County Borough (Annual Report 1962/63). There were a further 25 scholarships awarded by the Department for students taking their university degree course through Irish. Of course, our data on composition at the different levels refer to different age groups, but to detract from the force of the university figures one would have to argue that the position further down was very much worse some years ago.

## VOCATIONAL SCHOOLS

6.131 As in paragraph 6.128 for the secondary schools, we have the social group composition of group certificate candidates in 1963 from an approximate 8 per cent sample :---

¹¹²In some cases these latter may refer to the parent's occupation as given on the student's birth certificate, but this is not thought to affect the general result.

	Social Group								
	A	B/C	D	E	F	G	н	TOTAL	Number in Sample
		Percentage Distribution							
Boys Girls	 28·3 45·3	10·0 13·9	10·8 8·2	17·9 11·2	19·9 15·4	8·1 3·0	5·0 3·0	100 100	381 267
Boys and Girls	35.3	11.6	9.7	15.1	18.1	6.0	4.2	100	648

Percentage Distribution by Social Group of Sample of Group Certificate Candidates, 1963

6.132 Now the social group composition of entrants to vocational schools from national schools (about 85 per cent of total entrants) was as follows, in percentages.

## **TABLE 6.37**

Percentage Distribution by Social Group of Vocational School Entrants from National Schools 1963

			Social Group								
		A	B/C	D	Е	F	G	Н	TOTAL		
			Percentage Distribution								
Boys Girls	S	 36·7 35·7	5.6 6.9	11·3 8·4	11·7 8·9	26·9 31·3	5·0 6·1	2·8 2·7	100 100		

This suggests that the early leavers are drawn largely from group F (semi-skilled and unskilled).

6.133 In considering the change in the proportions of the various groups shown in Chart 6.7 one must advert to the differences between the number involved at the various stages. Chart 6.8 is intended to give a general picture of the average progress of a cohort through the educational system. The picture is of course greatly simplified in the absence of individualised data.
## CHART 6.8



DECLINE OF COHORT IN PASSING THROUGH SECOND LEVEL.

<u>Hote:</u> This much simplified diagram is intended only to illustrate the general magnitudes involved. It does not in practice represent the progress of an

actual cohort as the time spent in the different stages varies appreciably. The numbers are approximate; the number of examination candidates excludes repeats. Secondary school includes secondary top.

#### SUMMARY

6.134 It would appear then that the main areas in which improvement might be sought are as follows :---

- (i) The number who leave school without having reached primary certificate level.
- (ii) The low rate of participation in post-primary (and higher) education by children of social groups F (unskilled and semi-skilled workers) and G (unemployed, widows, etc.).
- (iii) The high rates of early leaving from vocational schools (continuation) and to a lesser extent from secondary schools (junior cycle).
- (iv) The apparently small proportion of continuation students (vocational schools) who reach third level courses.
- (v) The low rate of participation in university by many social groups and the relatively low certificate attainment of many entrants.

It is obvious of course that the above items are interrelated. It must be borne in mind that there are many and complex factors affecting the rate at which people in varying circumstances participate in education as full-time students, of which income is only one. On the one hand there are the schools, their location, their fee levels, whether there are specific restrictions on entry (e.g. confined to pupils from non-aided schools, boarders or postulants), their capacity, curriculum and organisation generally. On the other hand there are the potential pupils and their parents, their income and disposable income, their preferences as to spending, their environment, traditions etc. Influencing all of these are the actions, financial, regulatory and informational of the State and of public and private bodies. Measures designed to induce changes in participation must take account of these various factors.

6.135 The influence of such factors—social group, location etc. on participation in education has of course been observed in many countries. Experience in other countries¹¹³ has also shown that a significant improvement in participation by certain social groups can be a very slow and expensive process.

¹¹³e.g. 15 to 18; a Report of the Central Advisory Council for Education (England). H.M.S.O., 1959 (The Crowther Report).

## CHAPTER SEVEN

#### Manpower

7.1 In this and the next chapter the present and future manpower patterns are surveyed. An examination is made of the amount and composition of projected employment on the one hand, and the size and qualifications of the potential working population available to full such jobs on the other. The relationship which this manpower pattern has to the educational pattern is then considered.

In framing educational objectives future manpower patterns are 7.2 obviously one of the relevant considerations. Raising the living standards of the community-an accepted goal of policy here as elsewhere-requires consideration of how the increase is to be achieved and of the adequacy of the resources available for the purpose. Skilled and qualified personnel are vital to the expansion of an economy, particularly so in an era of rapid technological change. If there is a shortage of some kinds of qualified persons, economic expansion may be checked or may be dependent on the immigration of persons with the required qualifications. Such a position might exist alongside a surplus of other kinds of personnel, with consequential unemployment of such people. Hence a comprehensive programme for economic development requires that the manpower aspects of the programme be integrated as far as possible with the other factors. The relevance of manpower factors may be illustrated in the Irish case by considering the following four tables :

- Table 7.1 (a) Percentages of various social groups unemployed.
  - (b) Percentage of unemployed by social group.
- Table 7.2 Number of immigrants by year of entry.
- Table 7.3 Occupational distribution of immigrants by social groups.

Table 7.4 Educational level of Irish immigrants in Great Britain.

7.3 While no one of these tables taken in isolation may give any clear evidence of past imbalances in the manpower field, yet taken in combination the tables constitute strong circumstantial evidence of such imbalances. Thus, Table 7.1 (a) indicates that the heaviest unemployment occurs among unskilled workers (a phenomenon observed in many countries other than Ireland). According to Table 7.1 (b) the bulk of the unemployed are in this category. Table 7.3

relating to immigrants shows that these groups occupy a higher proportion of the administrative and professional positions—suggesting that on average those who have been, and are, entering the country contain a high proportion of highly qualified people. Table 7.4 on the other hand suggests that the occupational/educational level of Irish emigrants to Great Britain has been relatively low. In short, unemployment and emigration appear to be predominantly associated with lack of skills or other professional qualifications, while at the same time it is apparently necessary to import highly skilled people. The importation of skilled manpower is not of course conclusive proof of the lack of such skills in the country. It may be associated with the establishment in the country of foreign enterprises or with foreign control of existing enterprises. We were not in a position to verify the extent to which this would explain the phenomenon in the case of Ireland.

# TABLE 7.1 (a)

Percentages of the Labour Force in each Social Group who are Unemployed

Social Group				Perce Male	entage Female
Farmers		2		 _	-
Professional and Technical	Sonio	or Sala	ried	 0.8	1.5
Employees.	Seme	or Bala	liticu	0.5	_
Intermediate Non-Manual				 2.1	2.6
Skilled Workers				 4.6	3.3
Other (mainly unskilled)	••	• •		 14.8	5.4
.6			TOTAL	 5.7	3.0

#### TABLE 7.1 (b)

Percentage Distribution of the Unemployed by Social Group

Social Group	Perce Male	entage Female
Farmers	0.6	7.0
Employees.	0.4	-
Intermediate Non-Manual	4.1	25.5
Skilled Workers	11.4	7.0
Other (mainly unskilled)	83.4	60.5
Total	100.0	100.0

Source: Census of Population, 1961.

#### TABLE 7.2

Period of Entry	Number ¹	Year of I	Year of Entry				
1920-29	502	1955		1,496			
1930-39	603	1956		1,703			
1940-44	399	1957		1,913			
1945-49	1.162	1958		2.376			
1950-55	1,457	1959		3,061			
	-,	1960		4,364			

Persons born outside all Ireland, resident in the State at April, 1961, Classified by year of taking up residence (Visitors excluded)

¹Data for 1920-55 are annual averages for each period.

Source: Census of Population, 1961.

*Note:* This table does not give the aggregate number of persons born outside Ireland, who took up residence in the State in the periods or years listed. The data refer only to those who were still in residence in April, 1961.

#### TABLE 7.3

Total Population and Total Residents born outside the State (26 Counties) Classified by Occupational Category (Persons aged 14 and over)

Occupational Category	Total Populat 14	('000) ion aged	Person outside	the State	Those b side the a perce the tota at	oorn out- State as ntage of al popul- ion
	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females
Agricultural, Forestry	353.0	42.1	4,457	809	1.3	1.9
Producers, Makers and Repairers, etc.	219.8	43.7	6,499	843	3.0	1.9
Transport and Com-	66.0	10.7	2,539	171	3.9	1.6
Clerks and Typists Commerce, Insurance	31·6 65·9	46·3 38·7	1,721 3,296	1,869 1,092	5·4 5·0	4·0 2·8
Service and Entertain-	25.5	62.5	1,739	1,854	6.3	3.0
Administrative, Executive and Managerial.	12.4	0.9	2,342	163	18-9	23.9
Professional and Technical	37.7	41.2	4,463	2.907	11.8	7.1
Other Labour Force	9.5	0.5	470	26	5.0	5.2
TOTAL Labour Force	821.5	286.6	27,526	9,734	3.4	3.4
Non-Labour Force Catego Retired At School 14+ Higher Education Others not in the Labour force.	ries 78·5 47·8 11·5 38·1	17·0 52·5 4·5 640·4	3,874 1,679 2,252 980	945 1,571 828 28,000	4·9 3·5 19·4 2·6	5.6 3.0 18.4 4.4
TOTAL Non-Labour Force	176.0	714.5	8,785	31,344	5.0	4.4
TOTAL Population aged 14 years and over	997.5	1,001.1	36,311	41,078	3.6	4.1

Source: Census of Population, 1961.

TABLE 7.4

Occupation, School Leaving Age and Further Education of Persons from the Republic of Ireland, Resident in Great Britain in 1961—Percentage Distributions

%         School leaving age         %         Further education and Vocational training         9           1         18         2         University/College	-
1         18         2         University/College              2         17         4         Technical College/Art School              2         16         11         Apprenticeship/                12         15         16         11         Apprenticeship/               2         14         57         Domestic Training                22         13         4         Other replies                                                     <	ain
2         17         4         Technical Colleg/Art School            2         16         11         Apprenticeship/             12         15         16         Apprenticeship/              12         15         16         Commercial Training              9         14         57         Domestia Training              22         13         4         Other replics              23         Volder 13         5         No further education              24         Volder replics                28         Volder 13         5         No further education              10         10         10         10         10	
2         16         11         Apprenticship/	
12         15         16         Commercial Training	
9         14         57         Domestic Training                                                                                                     <	
22     13     4     Other replies         2     Under 13     5     No further education         28     10     10     10     10       10     100     100     10     10	
2         Under 13         5         No further education	
28         28           5            10            7         No answer           10         10           100         100	
5         1           10         10           100         100	1
10         No answer         1           7         No answer         1           100         100         100	
7         No answer         1           100         100         100	
100 100 100	

Source: 'Studies on Immigration from the Commonwealth', booklet No. 4. Economist Intelligence Unit, London, 1963 (Copyright). The data, which relate to pressons of frish origin only, are taken from a wider sample survey of immigrants to Great Britain. The sample covered 3,000 persons, of whom about 1,500 were frish.

7.4 There would probably be general agreement that the educational sector should provide an outflow of qualified persons sufficient to meet the manpower needs of the economy. Acceptance of this view in no way implies the existence of an upper limit to the number of persons who might acquire any given amount of general (or indeed specialised) education for other (non-occupational) reasons. The manpower approach is primarily concerned with establishing the *minimum* numbers who should complete each type of course. Since it usually takes several years to acquire specialised qualifications, and since in addition, it may also require several years to provide or expand the physical facilities for various educational courses, it follows that the problem of achieving manpower objectives must be considered many years ahead—hence the need for manpower forecasting.

7.5 The objective of such manpower forecasts is to provide a perspective of future trends and developments which may serve as a basis on which decisions, especially those of an investment nature may be taken. Hence it is desirable that manpower forecasts should not be formulated in isolation, but should be compatible with other socio/economic forecasts.

# COMPATIBILITY OF MANPOWER REQUIREMENTS WITH POPULATION DATA

7.6 If estimates of the total population and its composition are available, the compatibility of an aggregate labour force projection with the population data must be checked by projecting labour force participation ratios (i.e. the proportion of any age-sex group who are in the categories 'at work' or 'actively seeking work'). A satisfactory (arithmetical) relationship between these three elements must be established. Trends in the individual participation ratios must also be compatible with some reasonable expectations of the economic and social situation envisaged at the target date.

# METHODS OF FORECASTING

7.7 If such forecasts are needed how can they best be made? The question of manpower supply may be left aside for the moment; here the problem will be that of forecasting manpower demand i.e. the amount and composition of future employment. The first question to be resolved is the size of unit for which projections should be attempted, whether for a firm, an industry, a whole sector (agriculture or industry) or for the whole economy. The more usual method is to adopt the individual industry, or industry group to be precise, as the unit.

7.8 Three main approaches may be used in attempting a projection of employment both in total and by occupation for each industry.¹ These are discussed briefly in the paragraphs that follow.

7.9 Historical Approach This method consists in developing a historical profile or 'picture' of the relationships which have existed for the industry group, as between changes in output and productivity on the one hand and the pattern of manpower usage on the other. In general, it seems broadly true that if labour is graded along a spectrum of skills, technical progress has the effect of increasing the proportion of the more highly qualified engaged in most industries. The actual analysis may be done either by using formal econometric methods or by simpler, more 'intuitive' methods, including discussions with industry specialists. In either case it is affected both by the availability of data and by the evaluation of historical experience in relation to future trends.

7.10 This latter point can be important in many instances, because past trends may be capable of several interpretations. Thus, if there has been a rise in the number of employees in any one group, one does not know whether this is primarily the result of a demand influence, an increase in the number of jobs which actually call for such workers, or whether it is a supply influence, that because workers in one particular group were available they were employed, whereas some other group would have been preferred had they been available.²

7.11 **'Structural' Approach** This approach takes two forms: the one dealing with the home economy, the other dealing with advanced economies elsewhere. In each case the manpower structure of the most advanced firms, in either the home or more advanced countries, is examined on an industry by industry basis, both as to present composition and past development. The assumption is that the remaining firms will in future years tend to develop manpower structures similar to those at present prevailing in the advanced firms—in other words, it is assumed that there is a time-lag in the behaviour of most firms. It may be, for example, that the present ratio of say, research staff to total employees in a leading firm may be a useful guide to the future position for the industry as a whole.

¹As this part of the art is still in its infancy and as the amount and accuracy of the available data is low in most countries, the description given here may be regarded as in part an expression of intent rather than a report of work systematically performed. The area is, however, developing with great rapidity.

^aThese demand/supply difficulties may also come about through shifts in the relative prices (wages) of different groups, as much as through shifts in their actual availability.

7.12 While such analyses and comparisons may be useful as partial indicators of future trends, they cannot and do not pretend to be a complete guide to future patterns. While they may give some indication for the majority of firms, they obvously do not say anything as to the future position of the advanced firms themselves. In addition, it is necessary to take account of changes in the overall industrial structure, which would result from the formation of new industries and the decline or cessation of existing ones. Because of such changes, it is probable that comparisons with more advanced countries would be more useful in Irish circumstances than comparison among firms within the country itself. Such international comparisons have been made as part of the present study. But while these may be useful in developing perspectives, they must always be used with caution. A mechanistic comparison will be of greater value the more the two countries concerned have in common in such matters as resource endowments, comparable knowledge of, and access to technological processes, comparable social, economic and institutional patterns and similar policy objectives.³ Since it is highly improbable that any two countries would possess such a degree of similarity, it is clear that account must always be taken of the distinctive characteristics of each economy.

7.13 Establishment or Survey Approach. This approach is associated with its use in general economic forecasting. A sample of firms is chosen and the employers are asked for their estimates of future output, employment and occupational 'mix'. The replies are analysed by size and type of firm. They are aggregated, by assuming some projected distribution within the industry by size and type of firm at some future date, and the trends for each industry may then be projected. It will be evident that this method would not be adequate, if employed naively, due to inconsistencies in the assumptions of the respondents. If however, as part of a compre hensive programme, a series of revised estimates were obtained after the initial tabulations of the data had been shown to the respondents, it seems possible that more reliable estimates could be developed.

# TRANSLATION OF CHANGES IN REQUIREMENTS TO 'FLOW' DATA

7.14 Given that estimates showing the total labour force for a target date are obtained by the use of any or all of the three methods indicated, the results represent a number of jobs that have to be filled at this future date. Hence the difference between such figures and

^aIndicators of the rate of change in occupational structure relative to economic growth may however, be rather independent of some of these factors. The evidence at present is inconclusive, mainly due to lack of data.

the data for employment in the initial period constitutes an estimate of the (net) 'new' (or extra) jobs available between the dates in question—this may be termed 'expansion demand'. To estimate, however, the number of *persons* who will *move* into the labour force in the intervening period it is also necessary to take account of:—

- (a) those who will retire or die during the period,
- (b) those in the labour force at the initial date who will resign in the period e.g. because of marriage or emigration.
- (c) those who will enter the labour force after the initial period but resign before the target date.

Taken together these three groups give rise to what may be termed 'replacement demand'. Hence the total number of persons who will join the labour force in the period in question (the 'inflow' into the labour force) will be the sum of the 'expansion demand ' plus the 'replacement'. This 'inflow' may in turn be thought of as coming from three sources.

- (i) the educational sector
- (ii) other non-labour force sectors (e.g. home duties)
- (iii) immigration.

If items (ii) or (iii) are of any numerical significance, they must be taken into account before the 'flow' required from the educational sector can be estimated. The 'flow' into the labour force is in turn only part of the 'flow' out of the educational sector because this 'outflow' is itself composed of three parts:

- (iv) the 'flow' to the labour force sector
- (v) the 'flow' to the non-labour force sector
- (vi) the 'flow' to emigration.

Hence to estimate the total outflow required from the educational sector it is necessary to estimate (1) the fraction of entrants to the labour force who come from the educational sector and (2) the fraction of leavers from the educational sector who will enter the labour force. It would be necessary of course, to allow for different ent patterns of movement both for different educational levels and different occupations, but the basic procedure would remain unchanged.

#### MANPOWER PROJECTIONS

7.15 Given this summary of the methods available for, and the factors associated with, manpower forecasting, we turn now to describe what has actually been done for the present survey. The

framework of future economic development is outlined in the Second Programme for Economic Expansion⁴ which relates to the period 1964/70. This Programme contains a projection of total employment⁵ for 1970 broken down by major sectors (agriculture, industry and services) and by major industrial groups (textiles, chemicals, building, etc.). However, as much of the demographic data relating to these forecasts is derived from population censuses, we decided, for our particular purposes to adjust the Second Programme figures to the level expected to obtain as of April, 1971, (when a population census would be due).

7.16 The total employment figure on this adjusted basis is 1,132,500 (compared with 1,053,000 in 1961). The estimate of a  $3\frac{1}{2}$  per cent unemployment rate assumed in the Programme would give approximately 40,000 as the number of persons out of work and hence a total labour force of 1,172,500 in 1971 (compared with 1,108,000 in 1961). Given these estimates of employment both in total and for each major group the three main problems to be resolved were :---

- to obtain a breakdown by occupational skill, of total employment in each industry group,
- (ii) to verify the compatibility of the manpower forecasts with detailed population and emigration forecasts,
- (iii) to forecast the 'replacement' demand for each group, by skill level.

7.17 In general the 'historical' approach, supplemented where possible by the other methods, was used. The occupational classification adopted was determined by the data available from Census of Population material. Twelve socio/economic groups based on occupation, are used in the Census,⁶ but for our purposes we have compressed them into the following seven categories : (1) professional and technical workers, (2) employers, managers and salaried employees, (3) intermediate non-manual (e.g. clerical workers), (4) skilled manual workers, (5) other non-agricultural workers, (6) agricultural workers, (7) farmers.⁷ (For some tables the last three categories were aggregated).

CONFRONTATION-ADJUSTMENT OF INITIAL ESTIMATE

7.18 When the initial estimates were derived they were sent to the Economic Development Division of the Department of Finance

⁴Stationery Office, Dublin 1964 (Pr. 7670).

Slightly revised figures are given in the first Progress Report on the Programme published by the National Industrial Economic Council in November, 1964.

^{*}For definition of the categories see Volume III-Occupations, Census of Population 1961.

^{&#}x27;The term 'farmers' as used in this report includes assisting relatives.

available to the General Purposes Committee of the National Industrial Economic Council. Both of these groups gave us their comments on the estimates presented and where necessary adjustments were made in the light of these comments. The team is, however, solely responsible for the estimates now presented relating to the occupational distribution of the labour force. The figures for total persons at work are naturally, derived from those used in the Second Programme for Economic Expansion (with adjustment from 1970 to 1971).

7.19 Table 7.5 summarises for 1961 and 1971, the total labour force classified by major sectors of economic activity and by socioeconomic groups. The main point illustrated by these data is that as a result of expected changes in relative employment levels in each sector, there will be a corresponding change in the socio/economic composition of the labour force. The numbers employed in industry and services are expected to rise sharply, while the numbers in agriculture are expected to fall. Since industry employs more professional and technical workers than does agriculture, the socio/economic composition of the labour force is projected as showing an increased proportion in the numbers in these skilled categories.

7.20 The professional and technical group may be considered in somewhat greater detail, since this category gives rise to the greatest difficulty from an educational viewpoint. Accordingly, Table 7.6 has been prepared giving an estimated breakdown of this group from 1926 to 1976.8

7.21 The projected figures for 1966, 1971 and 1976 were derived by examining the distribution of persons in the professional and technical category by occupation and industrial group in 1961 and applying a similar distribution to the 1971 projection (the distribution for 1961 is given in Appendix VII. A. Table 5).

COMPATIBILITY OF MANPOWER REQUIREMENTS WITH ESTIMATED POPULATION IN 1971

7.22 The relationship between the total manpower requirements and the number of persons available to meet these requirements in 1971 is shown in the tables 7.7 and 7.8 and in Appendix VII. B. The tables

⁸The figures for the earlier years were adjusted in some cases to accord with the definitions used in the 1961 census. Projections for 1976 were extrapolated from the 1961/71 trends,

show the distribution of the 1971 population by type of activity (labour force, not yet at work, full-time education, others not in the labour force, remainder not gainfully occupied) and for male, female and total population, the numbers in the labour force and the percentage participation in the labour force (male or female) by age group, for chosen years from 1951 to 19766.

7.23 There is a relationship between (i) projected rates of emigration and death—and consequently the composition of the population of working age, classified by age and sex; (ii) the labour force participation rate for each age/sex group and (iii) the total labour force requirements at a target date. Various combinations of emigration, death and participation rates would be compatible with any given total labour force. The particular combination of rates chosen for this survey is that which appears most compatible with current trends, taking all the various factors into account. The hypotheses relating to emigration are compatible with the assumptions in the Second Programme and with current (1961-1964) trends in net passenger balance. The projected death rates represent a continuance of present trends (in each age/sex specific group) and may be regarded as provisional, until the Life Table based on the 1961 Census of Population is available and projected.

7.24 The main features in the participation tables are (i) a decrease in labour force participation by the younger age groups (ii) an increase in the overall participation of females in the labour force. The first is accounted for, both by the projected increase in the school-leaving age to 15 by 1970, and by the increasing trend to longer 'voluntary' education. As regards the increase in female participation, it has been found in other countries that female participation increases as economic conditions improve. This is particularly true in the early years of rising affluence.

	6
	-
	0
	8
	2
	~
	9
	0
	0
	_
	a
	12
	0
	-
	5
	5
	-
	So.
	õ
	6
	-
	2
	0
	2
	a
	te
	5
	6.
~	0
2	2
-	-
	_
	SI
ŋ	as
H	id as
BLE	nd as
ABLE	and as
IABLE	51 and as
IABLE	961 and as
IABLE	1961 and as
IABLE	1961 and as
IABLE	on 1961 and as
IABLE	ion 1961 and as
IABLE	sition 1961 and as
IABLE	osition 1961 and as
IABLE	position 1961 and as
IABLE	Position 1961 and as
IABLE	er Position 1961 and as
IABLE	ver Position 1961 and as
IABLE	ower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	power Position 1961 and as
IABLE	npower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	anpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	of Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	of Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	y of Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	ary of Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	nary of Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	unary of Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	mmary of Manpower Position 1961 and as
IABLE	ummary of Manpower Position 1961 and as

	Other (mainly inskilled)	1111	114·3 123·7 132·7 142·2	136-7 144-2 151-8 163-8	250-9 267-8 284-5 306-0	32.6 31.0 27.0 23.0	283.6 298.9 311.5 329.0	250-9 267-8 284-5 306-0
	Agricultural Workers, Turf Workers, Foresters and Fishermen	57-3 48-1 39-5 32-0	440 8450 850 850	0.000 0.000	66.5 57.6 49.5 42.5	12:0 8:5 5:0 2:5	78-4 66-1 54-5 45-0	9-0 9-5 10-0
group	Farmers etc.	319-9 300-5 279-0 256-5	1111	1111	319-9 300-5 279-0 256-5	1111	319-9 300-5 279-0 256-5	1111
Socio-economic	Intermediate Non-manual Workers ¹	1111	19-0 25-1 31-5 40-5	148·3 159·0 169·0 183·0	167·3 184·1 200·5 223·5	4:0 4:5 3:5	171.3 188.6 204.5 227.0	167-3 184-1 202-5 223-5
	Skilled Manual Workers	1111	105-9 121-0 137-5 156-5	22-0 24-5 27-5 31-0	128-0 145-5 165-0 187-5	6-0 5-0 3-0	134.0 150.5 169.0 190.5	128-0 145-5 165-0 187-5 iical Workers.
	Employers, Managers and Salaried Employees	0-9 1-0 1-0	10-1 12:5 15:0 18:0	31.0 32.5 34.0 36.0	42-0 46-0 50-0 55-0	1111	42.0 46.0 50.0 55.0	41.1 45.0 49.0 54.0 ional and Techn
	Professional and Technical Workers ¹	0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5	5-5 7-7 10-8 14-3	72.0 81.4 92.7 104.7	77-9 89-5 104-0 119-5	6.0	78-8 89-5 104-0 119-5	77-5 89-1 103-5 119-0 ed with Profess
	Total	378-7 350-0 320-0 290-0	258.8 294.5 332.5 377.0	415.0 446.5 480.0 523.5	1,052.5 1,091.0 1,132.5 1,190.5	55.6 49.0 32.0	$1,108 \cdot 1$ $1,140 \cdot 0$ $1,172 \cdot 5$ $1,222 \cdot 5$	673-8 741-0 812-5 900-5
	Year	1961 1966 1971 1976	1961 1966 1971 1976	1961 1966 1971 1976	1961 1966 1971 1976	1961 1966 1971 1976	1961 1966 1971 1976	1961 1966 1971 1971 1976
	Major Sector	Agriculture (inclu- ding Forestry and Fishing)	Industries	Services	Total at Work	Unemployed	Total Labour Force	Total Non-Agricul- tural (at work) (i.e industries and services)

#### TABLE 7.6

# Professional and Technical Personnel, Projected to 1976

(1961 Definition)

(000's)

	1926	1936	1946	1951	1961	1966	1971	1976
Physicians, Surgeons and Dentists	2.6	2.5	3.2	3.4	3.5	3.7	4.0	4.3
Other Medical Personnel Pharmacists and	8.2	9.8	13.0	15.5	16.9	17.8	19.0	20.2
Higher Technical (Medical).	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.9	1.4	2.0	3.0
Veterinary Surgeons Religious Teachers (Lay)	0·3 15·7 16·9	0·3 17·5	0.4 20.5	0.5 20.3	0·7 22·0	0.8 23.9 20.4	1.0 25.8	1·2 27·9
Engineers, Surveyors and Architects†	1.1	1.3	2.1	2.6	3.8	4.5	5.5	6.6
Draughtsmen† Technical n.e.s.†	0.3 0.1 n.a.	0·3 0·2 n.a.	0.4 0.3 n.a.	0.5	1·3 0·8 2·0	2·3 1·0 3·2	4·0 1·5 5·0	7·0 2·0 8·0
Professional n.e.s Accountants	3·2 0·7	3.6 1.0	3.8 1.7	4.7	5.3	6·0 2·7	7·0 3·2	8·4 3·7
Social Welfare Workers	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	0.4	0.4	0.3	1.0	1.4
Total Professional and Technical (including draughtsmen).	51.0	55.5	63.5	67.9	78.8	89.5	104.0	119.5
Total Labour Force (1961 definition).	1,299	1,331	1,290	1,262 Perce	1,108 ntage	1,140	1,172.5	1,222.5
Professional and Technical as percent- age of total labour force.	3.9	4.2	4.9	5.4	7.1	7.8	8.9	9.8
Total Scientific and Technical (total of items marked [†] )	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	4.4	7.9	11.1	16.0	23.6
excluding Medical etc. (000)				Perce	ntage			
Scientific and Technical as percentage of Pro- fessional and	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	6.5	10.0	12.4	15.4	19.7
Scientific and Technical as percentage of total labour force.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	0.35	0.71	0.97	1.36	1.93

Note: n.e.s. not elsewhere shown. n.a. not available

Figures for earlier years have been adjusted as necessary to accord with the definitions used in the 1961 Census.

TABLE 7.7

Distribution of Population aged 14 years and over by Major Sectors, 1951, 1961 and 1971, Males ('000)

	65 and over		155-0 149-3 153-0		90-5 76-9 76-5						64-5 72-4 76-5
-	60-64		61.4 64.5 67.0		53-1 55-1 56-5						8·3 9·4 10·5
-	55-59	Ì	65-0 68-6 78-0		60·3 63·2 71·0					s)	4.7 5.4 7.0
	50-54	Ì	82-9 81-7 77-0		78-8 78-0 74-0					her sector	4·1 3·7 3·0
-	45-49	<u> </u>	82·4 89·0 75·0		79-1 86-5 73-0				X	for in ot	3.3
-	40-44	Ì	94-0 84-8 70-0		91-4 82-5 68-0		2	2		accounted	2.6 2.3 2.0
	35-39		102-3 81-6 66-0	se l	99-8 79-6 64-4	14 years	5	at work		ot already	2.5 2.0 1.6
	30-34		96-5 75-3 69-0	pour Ford	94-2 73-3 67-2	ion-over	0-2 0-3 0-4	Not yet	0.1	ed (and no	2·1 1·6 1·4
Age	25-29	opulation	99-6 72-3 94-0	Lat	95-7 69-6 90-6	ne Educat	1:1 2:1 2:1		0.1 0.1	ly occupie	2.8 1.4 1.2
	20-24	P	105-4 80-4 126-0		97-8 72-4 114-4	In Full-tin	4.7 6.1 10-0		0-1 0-6 0-5	ot gainful	2.8 1.3 1.1
3	15-19		125-7 120-3 139-0		90-8 77-4 83-4		22-5 33-6 54-0		10-9 7-5 1-2	Residual n	1.5 1.8 0.4
	14 years		26-7 29-7 29-0		7-0		11-7 18-2 28-5		6·3 3·6  -		0.8 0.9 0.5
	Total		1,096.9 997.5 1,043.0		939-4 821-5 839-0		40-2 59-4 95-0		17·3 11·9 1·8		100-0 104-7 107-2
	Year		1951 1961 1971	-	1951 ¹		1951 ¹		951 961 971		951 ¹ 951 961 971

¹Adjusted to 1961 definitions.

190

Adjusted to 1961 definitions.

TABLE 7.8

Distribution of Population aged 14 years and Over by Major Sectors 1951, 1961 and 1971, Females ('000)

191

7.25 The following table (Table 7.9) shows the population (under 14 years of age and 14 years and over) by type of activity, for 1951, 1956, 1961 and the projected figures for 1966, 1971 and 1976.

		Popula	tion of 14 3 ove	rears of a	ge and	Percent 14 and	tage Distribut over by type	ion of popu of activity	lation
Year	Population under 14 years of age	Labour Force	Full-time Education and Not Yet at Work	Others Not in the Labour Force	Total	Labour Force	Full-time Education and Not Yet at Work	Others not in the Labour Force	Total
1951	802.1	1262.4	116.9	779.3	2158.6	58.5	5.4	36.1	100.0
1956	818.3	1185.2	$128.0^{1}$	767·11	2080.3	57.0	6.2	36.8	100.0
1961	819.8	1108.1	138-4	752.1	1998-6	55.4	6.9	37.6	100.0
1966	819.8	1140.0	157.4	734.8	2032-2	56.1	7.7	36-2	100.0
1971	836.0	1172.5	189.5	741.0	2103.0	55.8	9.0	35.2	100.0
1976	863-4	1222.5	215.5	739.6	2177.6	56.1	9.9	34.0	100.0
						143			

TABLE 7.9

Distribution of Population, age 14 and over, by Type of Activity ('000's)

¹Estimated.

7.26 The most striking figure in the above table is probably the increase in the percentage of the population in 'full-time education and not yet at work'. As indicated in paragraph 7.24 the figures for 1971 and later years take into account the raising of the school-leaving age to 15 years.

7.27 We may summarise portion of the above table in the following form, which shows the labour force, broken by male and female, as a percentage both of the total population and the population 14 years and over.

#### **TABLE 7.10**

Labour Force, as Percentage of Population aged 14 and over, and of Total Topulation, 1951–76

	Ma	les	Fem	ales	Total		
Year	Labour Force as Percentage of Population 14 and Over	Labour Force as Percentage of Total Male Population	Labour Force as Percentage of Population 14 and Over	Labour Force as Percentage of Total Female Population	Labour Force as Percentage of Population 14 and Over	Labour Force as Percentage of Total Population	
1951	85-6	62.4	30.4	22.2	58-5	49.6	
1956	84.1	60.2	29.5	21.2	57:0	40.0	
1961	82.4	58.0	28.6	20.4	55.4	20.2	
1966	81.8	57.8	30.7	22.0	56-1	40.0	
1971	80.4	56.9	31.5	22.7	55.8	30.0	
1976	79.8	56.5	33.0	23.8	56.1	40.2	

7.28 We have discussed in some detail the manpower requirements for 1971. Table 7.5 of this chapter has shown the projected 'stock' position in that year. The following table helps to give an indication of the numbers who will need to flow into the labour force in the ten year period 1961—1971 in order to meet the manpower requirements. This table shows demand classified by expansion and replacement.

#### **TABLE 7.11**

Projected Total Manpower Demand 1961-1971 by Major Socio/ Economic Categories

Nature of Demand	Profes- sional and Technical (1)	Employers, Managers, Salaried Employees (2)	Skilled Manual Workers (3)	Inter- mediate non- Manual (4)	Farmers, Agricultural Workers and Other (5)	Total (6)
Expansion	25	8	35	33	-37	64
Replacement	15	12	45	80	234	386
TOTAL	40	20	80	113	197	450
Annual Rate	4 %	2	8	11	20	45

(000's)

7.29 The derivation of this table is discussed in Appendix VII.C. It will be seen there that the resignation component is relatively high compared with the retirement component (which implicitly also includes withdrawals due to death). Four relevant points may be mentioned in this context. Firstly, many young people in rural areas, particularly boys, spend a few years on a farm either as assisting relatives or agricultural workers and then emigrate. This would also seem to occur in some 'dead-end' jobs. Secondly, many girls have a short 'working life' in that they join the labour force after leaving school, work for a few years and then leave the labour force either to marry or emigrate. Thirdly, a number of women return to the labour force on the death of their husbands. This would appear to happen primarily in agriculture, in the hotel, restaurant and boarding house industry and in some other service trades. Fourthly, it seems likely that since women are marrying at significantly younger ages, there may be a greater tendency for such women to rejoin the labour force when their families have grown up. This seems to be the trend in many countries. Due to the absence of data, however, the latter two factors could be taken into account only to a very limited extent.

## HIGHLY QUALIFIED MANPOWER

7.30 It is not proposed to give a table for flows of high-level manpower, comparable with the stock situation shown in Table 7.6, however desirable this would be, owing to difficulties in estimating the figures.

7.31 The problem of the increasing international mobility of highly qualified manpower is one which exists for all countries to some extent. It creates particular difficulties for countries such as Ireland which supply highly qualified manpower to other wealthier economies.⁹ In this respect Ireland is in a special position; one which has many advantages for some of its people, but one which carries some disadvantage for the society in general and provides a difficult problem for framers of educational policies.

7.32 If the people of the countries of the world are classified by national income per head, all of the first fifteen countries, representing 440 million people, speak either English or another European language. Of these countries, six representing 290 million people, are English speaking: they have a total estimated G.N.P. of \$750 billion or \$2,60010 per head. The other nine countries, representing 150 million people with a total G.N.P. of \$200 billion or \$1,30010 per head, speak another European language. In general, apart from (largely temporary) personnel engaged on organised technical assistance projects or foreign investment projects, highly qualified manpower moves from the poorer countries (where the need is greater but the opportunity less) to the wealthier countries. However due (a) to restrictions on immigration into wealthier countries, frequently based on considerations of colour and (b) to the problems of language, mobility even of highly qualified manpower is relatively low. Ireland however, is in the position of being the poorest (in terms of income per head)11 country of those who are both Englishspeaking and whose emigrants are accepted virtually without any effective immigration or social restriction in any of the wealthy English-speaking countries already mentioned. In addition, Ireland is geographically adjacent to the second largest of these countries (Great Britain) and has special ties with the largest and wealthiest (U.S.A.). Ireland has also a well established missionary tradition in English-speaking countries, wealthy and poor, and a tradition

⁹It is not overlooked that Ireland also acts as a source of supply of unqualified manpower for these economies. In this context this does not create a special problem since we are considering only the outflow of qualified persons for manpower reasons; the basic level of education given to all must be decided primarily by general, social and educational objectives and not merely on manpower considerations.

¹⁰Estimates for 1961.

¹¹Approximately \$600 in 1961. (Statistical Abstract, 1964).

of professional service abroad. Hence the international mobility of highly qualified Irish personnel is considerable.

7.33 The problems to which this mobility gives rise are many: in the context of education the major implication is that so long as emigration continues it is necessary to 'over-produce' highly qualified people.12 The actual rate of over-production (which may need to vary from one speciality to another) must be determined on general, social and economic grounds. No doubt, better statistical data on current and historical trends would be useful, as would some exercises dealing with the implications of various alternative projections. It is likely, however, that any detailed long-term forecasts relating to required outflows of specified 'graduates', would have only a very limited accuracy or utility. Furthermore, this mobility is probably positively associated with qualification, in that the higher the qualification the greater the mobility. Finally, it operates both ways, so that for a variety of reasons, many highly qualified Irish graduates leave Ireland for a period of years-sometimes to gain specialised post-graduate qualifications or professional experience-and then return to the Irish labour force.

7.34 This mobility applies not only to highly qualified university graduates,¹³ but also to almost all grades of qualified persons—a particular example of importance in recent years being skilled workers in the building industry. Movements are of course, responsive to economic circumstances and in this sense we may say that salary and wage differentials abroad, particularly those in Britain, are to some extent 'imported' into Ireland and exert an influence on the domestic pattern.

# **REVISION OF ESTIMATES**

7.35 The estimates given in this chapter are presented in a form which will, it is hoped, facilitate continual revision and updating. In particular, when for any reason revised figures for an industry group are available, the present estimates can be deleted and the revised ones inserted. The revised total for the labour force by skill composition can then be readily derived. This means that partial revisions of the figures are quite feasible and it is not necessary to wait for a total re-evaluation to adjust them. This would appear to have important practical consequences in our present situation in Ireland. As this is

¹² i.e. It is necessary to decide that *as a minimum* we will attempt to produce X per cent more of people with specified qualifications than would be necessary to meet domestic needs.

¹³In certain special cases (of categories employed primarily by, or in association with, the public sector), the mobility may be one way only, as employment conditions are generally such as to constitute an effective barrier to re-entry.

the first overall exercise in manpower forecasting for the Irish economy, it is to be expected that it will encourage various experts to make more detailed projections than hitherto in their own fields. We will not be surprised, therefore, if a subsequent stage of revision following publication of our efforts is required before any forecasts gain wide and general acceptance.

7.36 To facilitate such revisions, estimates for 1966 have also been prepared. The Census of Population in 1966 will enable the estimates to be checked for general validity at a relatively early stage. Any serious adjustments required can then be made and decisions taken in the light of these forecasts can be re-evaluated. In view of (i) the paucity of data in many areas, (ii) the variety of methodological problems that remain for further research, (iii) the difficulties of economic and social interpretation of historical statistical trends, and (iv) the inherent difficulties in forecasting, it seems desirable that such interpolations should be presented when any forecasts, likely to affect public policy are made.

#### CHAPTER EIGHT

## Manpower : Comparison of Requirements and Supply by Educational Levels

8.1 In this chapter a comparison will be attempted between the manpower requirements indicated in the previous chapter and the expected educational levels of the population. Such a comparison implies a 'conversion' of manpower requirements (expressed in terms of socio/economic groups) into educational terms-specifically, into the general level of educational qualification 'required' for each occupational level. There have been few studies of a type which would enable statements to be made with any degree of confidence as to the minimum level of education 'required',-in the sense of being most effective,-for any given occupation or group of occupations. Indeed, as is indicated in chapter 15, the problem is not a simple one and any answer to it is always relative to the circumstances of the time and place. The problem is complicated by such factors as the conventions which have grown up relating occupations to certain types of educational preparation, the long period which elapses between leaving the education sector and completion of working life, the extent to which further education and training while 'on the job ' make up for educational ' deficiencies', the extent to which much of the education actually received is relevant to proficiency of operation in employment and so forth.

8.2 The approach which has been adopted for this purpose in several countries has been to prepare for the labour force as a whole an estimate of target education levels for each occupational group. This target of the educational 'requirements' of the labour force is then compared with the expected numbers of persons with corresponding educational characteristics. Such a comparison would give a measure of expected deficiencies which, when corrected for emigration and immigration of qualified persons and expressed in the form of annual averages, would define an incremental target which the educational system might be encouraged to provide over a given period. In other words it would indicate 'desirable' changes in the net output of the educational system in order to eliminate the educational deficiencies of the labour force. There are several reasons why we did not follow this approach. One was the absence of data on the educational level of the population, and secondly, there is a need to allow for the non-labour force sector of the population. In our circumstances it is doubtful if such 'stock' targets are the most

useful ones for economic development programmes. Since such programmes are concerned with changes over a given number of years, it may be more appropriate to concentrate on the 'flow' of persons into and out of the labour force during the plan period. Accordingly, we have directed our efforts towards these 'flow' aspects.

## FACTORS INFLUENCING CHOICE OF 'TARGET'

8.3 In order to discuss the problem in quantifiable terms a 'target' (educational) attainment for each occupational group has of necessity to be defined. Apart from the factors listed above the choice of any particular target may be influenced by a number of considerations: (i) defined and accepted standards where such are available (e.g. intermediate or group certificate as an entry requirement to apprenticeship in certain trades) and reasonable deductions from them, e.g. the extension of this requirement to almost all forms of apprenticeship by a given date, (ii) knowledge of what advanced competitor countries are achieving or hoping to achieve by a target date, (iii) projections of actual current trends (if known) in educational/occupational relationships, (iv) employers' requirements as expressed, for example, in educational standards specified in job advertisements or in statements as to the educational targets which they specify or will seek to specify for given occupations. In the absence of more comprehensive studies such methods provide a basis for determining a 'reasonable' target structure.

## ACTUAL TARGET SUGGESTED

8.4 Table 8.1 presents the target set of educational/occupational relationships adopted for comparisons relating to the period 1961/71. Various alternative hypotheses as to desirable target structure might, of course, have been suggested. The table, however, would appear to be broadly compatible with a 'reasonable' development of existing conventions and trends. The data available from the leavers survey (chapter 6) indicate that the targets are generally not unrealistic. Much higher targets could reasonably have been selected in many cases. In particular, if modifications are made in coming years in the conventional age of entry to apprenticeship in skilled trades and the length of training allowed to vary with level of education at entry, it would seem desirable for a proportion of new entrants to apprenticeship to have a general or technical leaving certificate. However, our intention was to be on the conservative side so that the targets would constitute a statement of the minimum rather than maximum educational levels appropriate for presentday conditions.

Major occupational category	Percentage distribution of inflows by highest qualification held								
	No post/	Post-P	rimary	Third	Total				
	Qualific- ation	Junior Certificate	Senior Certificate	Qualific- ation	Total				
Professional and Technical, including Draughtsmen and other Technicians	1	_	35	65	100				
Employers, Managers and Senior Salaried Employees.		20	60	20	100				
Other Clerical (Inter- mediate non- manual).	-	70	30		100				
Skilled manual	40	60	19	-	100				
Farmers Others in the labour force.	65 65	20 30	10 5	5	100 100				
Non-labour force (home duties, emi- gration etc.). 14 years of age and over ¹ .	67	16	12	5	100				

Flow Target Educational Pattern for inflows by Major Occupational Categories, 1961–1971

¹The target for these categories is chosen to be equal to the expected supply (movements) to these sectors.

8.5 It may be noted that educational groupings have been made on the basis of the highest qualifications held by individuals. Thus, a person who has a primary certificate and who has also received some post-primary education, but has not obtained any post-primary qualification'. To this extent the certificate status may be said to understate the actual amount of education which people will have received. It is felt that this is compensated for by the fact that the targets are relatively modest ones. It will also be noticed that while one educational level is, in a sense, taken as being typical for each group, it is also assumed that some fraction of persons in each group would come from other educational levels. Thus, it is assumed that the majority of clerical workers would have junior level post-primary qualifications, but that some fraction of the group would have other educational qualifications.

# FLOW COMPARISONS

8.6 The following table shows the estimated outflow from the fulltime education sector by level of qualification. The figures are given in the form of annual averages for each five year period from 1951 to 1971. This table thus provides a basis for estimating the supply of persons with various educational qualifications entering the labour force during the decade 1961/1971.

#### TABLE 8.2

Five Year Period	No Certificate	First Level Certifi-	Second Le ca	vel Certifi- ants	Third Level Certifie	Total Certifi-	Total Annual Average	
		Carto	Junior	Senior	cants		Outflow ¹	
1951/2-1955/6	29.7	14.3	6.7	3.5	1.8	26.3	56.0	
1956/7-1960/1	23.9	15.1	8.2	4.7	2.1	30.1	54.0	
1961/2-1965/6	. 18.0	13.0	11.0	7.0	3.0	34.0	52.0	
1966/7-1970/1	. 12.0	11.0	13.0	10.0	4.0	38.0	50.0	

# Annual Average Outflow from the Educational Sector of Certificants and Non-Certificants in 1951–71 by Highest Level of Certificate

('000)

¹This column shows the average total outflow from the educational sector (with or without a certificate).

8.7 It is estimated that of the 510,000 people who will leave the full-time educational sector during the 1961-71 decade 450,000 will enter the labour force and 60,000 will not. Of those who do, it is estimated that 250,000 will flow into one or other of the non-agricultural 'skilled' categories, i.e. professional and technical, employers, managers, senior salaried employees, clerical and sales workers and skilled (industrial) workers. With the help of some assumptions based in part on the data on school leavers discussed in chapter 6, the percentage of the post-primary certificants who do not enter the labour force has been estimated. On this basis, Table 8.3 has been compiled, relating certificant status to labour force participation.

TABLE 8.3

Estimated Absorption into the Labour Force of Educational Leavers by Certificant Status and Absorption Sector, 1961/71

('000)

Certificant Status (Highest level attained)	TOTAL	Abso	orption Sector	S	Non-labour
(mgaser is er artalied)	from educational sector	Non- Agricultural labour force 'Skilled' ¹	Other labour force	Total labour force	- Iorce including direct emigration
Post-Primary Certificate ² Primary Certificate No Certificate	240 120 150	210 40 —	10 60 130	220 100 180	20 20 20
Total	510	250	200	450	60

¹As specified in paragraph 8.7. ²Including some third level. 8.8 With the projected 'supply' of persons to the various sectors of the economy derived, this may now be compared with the 'requirements'. If the 'target matrix' (Table 8.1) is used to translate occupational terms into educational terms, the following table expresses the resulting comparison between the actual educational qualifications of those entering the labour force as shown in Table 8.3 and the 'target' qualifications which such persons might be expected to possess.

	1 2 2 1	 0	
1.7		 × /	
	<b>N I D</b>	0.4	

				and the second s	200
Cotorory	Total	Third lovel	Second	- No Post-Primary Qualifications	
category	Certificants		Senior Certificate		
Total Supply	510	35	85	120	270
Expected supply to Non- Labour Force ¹	60	3	7	10	40
Total Supply to Labour Force	450	32	78	110	230
Labour Force Demand	450	31	73	186	160
Total Demand ^a	510	34	80	196	200
Labour Force Surplus or Deficit	-	+1	+5	- 76	+ 70
Average Annual Surplus or Deficit	-	neg.	+0.2	-7.6	+7.0

Summary	of	Supply	and	Demand	by	Educational	Qualifications.	Flow
			(	Comparison	n-1	1961-71. ('00	(00	

Including direct emigration. neg.=negligible.

²Non-labour force demand is taken as equal to expected supply to the non-labour force (including direct emigration).

8.9 It will be seen from these tables that the projected outflow from the educational sector would not suffice to attain the target levels for some of the categories, particularly the junior post-primary certificate stage. It is estimated that of the total outflow during the decade from the educational sector, 30 per cent will have no qualification, 25 per cent will have at most a primary certificate, 38 per cent will have at most a second-level certificate while 7 per cent will have a third level qualification (Table 8.2). It should be noted that a liberal view has been taken of the inflow of certificants into the labour force. If more of the certificants were to be outside the labour force, the deficits would, of course, be greater. This may or may not be felt to provide a basis for seeking to expand activity in the appropriate categories. It is necessary to emphasise once again the rather inadequate statistical base for many of these calculations. When allowance is made for this the conclusion may none the less still be that even from a narrow manpower viewpoint the average qualification level of those completing their education during the present decade can hardly be considered excessive. If the line of reasoning advanced elsewhere (chapter 15) is accepted, it would seem that there are other ways in which economic activity may be fostered by education and that there may be good grounds for claiming that the existence of a high general level of education of itself acts as a spur to the further expansion of an economy. If this is so, then in general it would be preferable to overestimate rather than under-estimate the 'target' educational levels for various employment groups and aim accordingly at the expansion of education, whether in general or in specific fields.

8.10 It is worth repeating the nature of the 'targets' adopted. They are the result of a combination of social, economic and institutional factors. Given the information at our disposal regarding the requirements for entry into various occupations, in so far as these relate to educational levels, the targets seem not unreasonable. In developing these targets, however, we did not attempt to relate productivity rates to any specific level, or combination of levels, of education. The targets put forward are not then intended to relate solely to economic factors.

8.11 For the reasons indicated in paragraph 8.2, we did not attempt to base our assessment of educational requirements on the total labour force. It may, nevertheless, be of interest, in view of the rapid growth in the numbers of persons possessing post-primary and higher qualifications, to present some data on the age-composition of persons with such qualifications, together with a projection of the position beyond 1971 to obtain some indication of the subsequent rate of growth. Such data may be useful in forming a perspective against which to assess our 'flow' targets.

8.12 No statistics setting out the existing or historical situation regarding the educational qualfications of the population of Ireland were available to us-it has not been the practice to include questions relating to educational attainment in the various Population Censuses. However, we prepared a preliminary estimate of the existing stock of persons in Ireland by age, sex and general educational qualifications. (A description of the methods used and further details are given in Appendix VIII.A). These estimates were then related to the labour force participation of the population by assuming, for want of indicators, that within each age/sex category, participation in the labour force was independent of educational qualification. Given these estimates of the educational levels of the population and the labour force at different points of time, estimates of the rate of change in educational levels can be obtained. The following table summarises the results of these estimates for the years 1961, 1966, 1971 and 1976, in respect of persons possessing post-primary (and higher) qualifications, showing the estimates for each age group separately.

#### TABLE 8.5

Estimated Number of Persons with a Post-primary Certificate by Age Group

Ye	ar	15-19	20-24	25-29	30-34	35-39	40-44	45-49	50-54	55-59	60-64	65 and over	TOTAL
1961		50.2	44.6	30.5	22.0	17.9	14.1	8.8	4.5	2.6	1.5	0.7	197.4
1966		68.6	75.4	40.1	28.8	21.1	17.0	13.5	8.4	4.2	2.3	1.2	280.6
1971		83.1	108.9	71.2	38.7	28.1	20.6	16.5	12.9	7.8	3.8	2.0	393-6
1976	***	101.2	133-7	103-2	68.9	37.9	27.3	19.8	15.7	12.1	7.1	3.1	530.0
			1								100		

('000)

8.13 The above table probably underestimates the existing level of education of the population for two reasons: (i) as in paragraph 8.5 educational classification has been made on the basis of certificates held by individuals, (ii) as noted in Table 7.3, the proportion of persons born outside the State who hold professional, technical and administrative posts, is relatively high. These people may be expected to hold correspondingly high educational qualifications and are probably, for the most part, not included in the above table. It may be noted that these limitations apply also to Table 8.6. On the other hand, it is probable that if the data were adjusted for these factors, the rate of growth of qualified persons would be lower. The actual types of qualifications which the age groups shown in Table 8.5 are estimated to hold are as follows:

#### TABLE 8.6

Estimated Numbers in the Population with a Post-primary Certificate by Highest Type of Certificate

Year	Group Certificate	Intermed- iate Certificate	Total Junior Certificates	Leaving Certificate ¹	University Degree	TOTAL
1961	27·1	83·2	110·3	60.6	26.5	197·4
1966	51·2	107·6	158·8	88.4	33.4	280·6
1971	87·0	133·4	220·4	129.9	43.3	393·6
1976	134·0	154·9	288·9	186.3	54.8	530·0

('000)

Including those with third level qualifications other than a university degree.

8.14 These two tables illustrate the rapid growth which is expected to take place in the numbers of persons holding various types of qualification. It will be seen, for example, that the total number with post-primary certificates is expected to double over the decade 1961/71. The effect which such increases would have on the

educational composition of the adult population and of the labour force, may be illustrated by the following table.

#### TABLE 8.7

Year	Post-Primary percentage of po and	Certificants as opulation aged 15 over	Post-Primary Co force as percenta	ertificants in labour age of total labour orce
	Male	Female	Male	Female
1961 1966 1971 1976	9·9 13·7 18·5 24·0	10.5 14.7 20.0 26.0	$     \begin{array}{r}       10.2 \\       14.1 \\       19.3 \\       25.2     \end{array} $	15·7 21·6 28·6 35·4

#### Estimated Proportion of Post-Primary Certificants (a) in the Adult Population, (b) in the Labour Force

8.15 Despite this rapid growth in the proportion of post-primary certificants, a considerable time (at least three decades) would elapse before their number would rise to a level comparable with the 'target' level used earlier for new entrants to the labour force during the decade 1961/71. Thus if the educational targets given in Table 8.1 are applied to the *whole* of the projected 1971 labour force, there would be 'deficits' of 340,000 in the number of persons with junior post-primary, 160,000 with senior post-primary, and 90,000 in the numbers with third level qualifications. This illustrates in a striking manner the rapidity with which educational levels have been rising during the past half-century.

8.16 The position emerging from the foregoing examination may be summarised briefly. Our flow targets for the decade 1961/71 were based on contemporary requirements for the various occupations either as prescribed by the relevant vocational institutions or as suggested by current standards. Our analysis reveals that there will be an appreciable deficit in regard to these educational requirements in the present decade. These deficits relate solely to persons entering the labour force during the decade. The deficits would be much more serious if any account were to be taken of the fact that the educational composition of the total labour force falls far short of the contemporary educational requirements on which our flow comparisons were based. If the proposition that education has a beneficial effect on productivity is accepted, measures which tend to bring the educational levels of the labour force as a whole closer to present-day standards should be promoted.

#### TYPES OF EDUCATIONAL 'DEFICIT'

8.17 The conclusion which emerges is that, in terms of the targets specified, certain education 'deficits' exist in the present labour force, and will continue to persist (though on a much reduced scale) among persons entering the labour force during the decade 1961/71. Action to remedy those 'deficits' might equally proceed along both lines, that is, programmes might be introduced for the further education/training of persons in the labour force, while measures might also be taken to provide more education for persons at present in the educational sector. This latter procedure will be discussed in chapter 12 in conjunction with other possible changes suggested by the analysis of other chapters. It may be useful therefore, to consider briefly the question of courses of a type relevant to their present or prospective occupations for those already in the labour force.

8.18 The problem may be thought of as having three main aspects:---

## (i) 'Deficiencies' in basic education :

The investigation of the occupational distribution and the educational level of the labour force (within each age/sex category) indicated that there were significant 'deficiencies' in the educational levels of many persons, given present standards and the stated targets. Such 'deficiencies' are of course greater in the older age groups. However, it is generally accepted that one of the most rapid ways of improving the educational level of the labour force is to design and operate imaginative programmes for persons currently in the labour force, especially those in the younger age groups, whose original education may now be inadequate, but who are still able to benefit from suitably designed courses.

# (ii) Re-training arising from redundancy and change of occupation : The level of employment in particular occupations occasionally

decreases, for both economic and technological reasons. On social and economic grounds, courses designed with a view to helping at least some of the younger members in these redundant occupations to attain an acceptable proficiency in an alternative one may be considered desirable.

## (iii) Refurbishing, broadening and updating :

Although most specialised workers achieve a higher level of proficiency in their profession as time goes by, due to a widening of their experience, it may equally be true that they forget a good deal of what they once learned. Again they frequently find that they need some additional subjects as a result of an expansion in their interests; this is particularly so in this era of interdisciplinary research. Finally, it may happen that in their own subjects they are increasingly liable to obsolescence, due to the rapid growth of relevant new knowledge. For all of these reasons many highly qualified members of the labour force may require re-training at intervals. Part of this need may be met by occasional refresher and evening part-time courses, but it is already clear that in the more advanced countries it will be necessary to make more systematic provision to cope with the problem.

8.19 Thus the object and hence the scope of education and training for persons in the labour force may vary considerably as between different groups. Before any specific measures should be decided upon, several other questions would also need to be resolved. Chief of these other factors would appear to be (a) the question of a target date by which the 'deficits' should be remedied and (b) the extent to which courses should aim at remedying 'deficits' in relation to specific occupations with relative ease.

8.20 The choice of a target date for achieving some sort of 'equilibrium' is bound up with the volume of resources which would be needed to provide the necessary courses. Thus if it were the intention to eliminate all 'deficits' at an early date, this would presumably require relatively large numbers of teachers and instructors, along with the appropriate buildings and equipment. Given that these resources could be made available and the programme undertaken successfully, then on its completion it would be necessary to transfer these teachers and other resources to some alternative use, since they would no longer be required in the educational sector. Hence a large scale programme would only be appropriate to an economy which possessed a high degree of flexibility in its pattern of output and resource use. This is seldom, if ever, the case where highly-skilled persons (such as teachers) are concerned, nor would it appear to be the case in Ireland. It would seem, therefore, that some time would elapse in diverting the necessary resources into and out of the educational sector, resulting in a position of scarcity being succeeded by a period of surplus. Of the three types of course identified above it would seem that the third ('updating') might present the least long-run problems in this respect, since there is likely to be a more or less continuous need for keeping persons abreast of new developments in various fields. Hence the problem here may be mainly one of building up the initial level of activity, which would then be sustained indefinitely. The other two categories may on the other hand involve more 'once for all " activities, in which case any plans should allow not only for the introduction and completion of the necessary programmes, but also for the subsequent use of the resources involved.

8.21 The second question is essentially a balancing of short-run and long-run considerations. To provide courses which make persons highly skilled in one specific occupation is desirable, so long as they remain in that occupation, to provide courses which make workers suitable for a variety of occupations may be desirable if one is thinking in terms of the whole working life of an individual. The latter result may usually be achieved by an adequate level of full-time education, whereas it is often considered to be the function of short-term and part-time courses to achieve the former objective. Insofar as the type of courses required falls into the second and third of the three categories identified above (i.e. redundancy and updating) then they may be taken as in the main referring to training for specific occupations. Courses for the first category-correcting deficiencies in basic education-may take either form, but might be supposed to be general rather than specific in character. It might be expected that eventually there would no longer be a need for such courses, as the general level of educational accomplishments rose.

8.22 It is not proposed to attempt here any more specific formulation of this question of imbalances between demand and supply of manpower. In particular it may be noted that no attempt has been made to break-down the category of high-level manpower. To do so would entail projecting the detailed destination of persons leaving the educational sector with various types of qualifications, together with changes in occupation by those already in the labour force. Thus to relate the demand and supply for, say, engineers, it would be necessary to know how many of the persons who graduate as engineers in a given period will in fact take up employment in that profession. how many persons will enter such employment from other sources and how many persons will leave employment as engineers not merely for normal retirement etc., but also to take up other positions (such as management). One problem with such projections is that because of the possibilities of substitution occurring, since any given position may be filled by persons with various qualifications (or to say the same thing differently, persons of given qualifications may take up various types of occupation) the margin of error rises as more specific categories are chosen. Hence, for projections to be reasonably accurate, the categories used must be fairly broad. On the other hand, to be really useful the definition of categories might need to be very narrow. Thus 'engineer' might be insufficient if one is interested in planning for additional teaching facilities; it might also be necessary to specify the type of engineer involved-electrical. civil, chemical and so forth. Given the data and resources available to us, it was felt that the degree of detail should be confined to the broad groupings of the tables in the earlier part of this chapter. However, while we have thus avoided any consideration of the position in relation to any particular skill or category of the labour force, we find it necessary to discuss even in a brief way, the question of the future demand and supply of technicians.

## TECHNICIANS

8.23 As no national survey of the technician problem has yet been undertaken in Ireland, it is possible to discuss it only in aggregate terms. However, there seems to be fairly general agreement that the following groups of technicians can be identified : research and development, design, production planning, organisation and methods, production, testing, sales, site installation, administration and other miscellaneous groups.

8.24 There exists by now a not inconsiderable literature on technicians, particularly on the difficulties of estimating the present situation and projecting the future demand.¹ Much of the discussion has been taken up with the problems of identifying and classifying the fields of technician activity and the estimates of demand and requirements made to date reflect these problems. Although such estimates would seem to have a limited validity, they are useful as indicators of the magnitudes involved.

8.25 In our consideration of the demand side, we have drawn extensively on other work in this field, particularly the publications referred to in the footnote. On the supply side we have examined in some detail the present output of qualified persons from the educational sector. Such data does not appear hitherto to have been collected for Ireland.

## THE DEMAND FOR TECHNICIANS

8.26 In *Training of Technicians in Ireland*, Table 9, lower and upper estimates of the present stock of technicians have been calculated, on the basis of a ratio of technicians and technologists of 2.6 in the transportable goods industries and 1.15 in building, public utilities etc. This places the number of technicians between 2.920 and 5.680.

¹The Irish situation is examined in *Training of Technicians in Ireland* (OECD, Paris 1964). See also *Technicians for Irish Industry* by G. L. Latchford, published by the Board of Studies of the City of Dublin Vocational Education Committee, *Technicians* by Professor J. C. Dooge, a paper prepared for Cumann na nInnealtóiri, (The Engineers' Association) in June, 1962 and Meeting the Demand by J. P. Hyland, and J. H. Harbison, a paper presented at the annual conference of Cumann na Infinealtóirit (The Engineers' Association) on 3rd October, 1964.

It is not clear from the context if these figures are intended to refer to all technicians : it seems doubtful if they were intended to cover medical and dental technicians. If they are, it might be suggested that they are on the low side, bearing in mind that in 1961 there were 7,900 scientific and technical personnel and over 20,000 medical personnel and pharmacists in the State.

8.27 In chapter 7, the total number of scientific and technical personnel, excluding medical personnel and pharmacists, is projected to more than double, to 16,000 in 1971 (Table 7.6). Assuming the ratio of technicians to technologists remains unchanged, this would result also in a doubling of the number of technicians required. If therefore, for the purposes of discussion, the mean of the OECD estimates of the 1961 stock position were taken (4,300), it can be assumed that by 1970 an additional 4,300 technicians would be required. If replacement demand is assumed on the same basis as for professional and technical personnel generally, i.e. about one-fifth of the 1961 stock, (Table 7.11), we get a total demand of 5,000 for the decade 1961-71

8.28 If it is accepted, however, that the number of technicians in Ireland is inadequate, it becomes necessary to project an 'ideal' situation by 1971. One way of doing this is to examine the situation at present in other more industrially advanced countries and to project the requirement to enable the Irish position to approximate to the standard in these countries by 1971. This is an area where international comparisons are extremely difficult and call for an expert knowledge both of educational systems and professional qualifications.² For example, in several European countries there exist two grades of professional engineers, one with a university degree, the other with a professional qualification below university level. It might be said that the latter would correspond to technicians in this country, but in that case there is the additional difficulty that some countries have also a recognised technician grade e.g. Sweden, Belgium.3

8.29 It seems feasible, however, to accept some target figures for the relationship between technicians (including draughtsmen) and scientists, engineers and technologists, by using some data available from such sources as those referred to earlier and also available data for a number of other countries. Some of the most useful data of

²See Resources of Scientific and Technical Personnel in the OECD area, Chapter

[&]quot;See Resources of Scientific and Technical Personnel in the OECD area, Chapter 11, Part A, VII (OECD), Paris, 1964. "The problem is to apply in practice agreed occupational definitions e.g., the EUSEC definition. In the public discussions, it would seem as if 'technician' is sometimes given an educational connotation. Thus engineering technicians are generally defined by reference to the non-university trained engineer found in many European countries.

this type were the results of an establishment survey of manufacturing industry conducted by the U.K. Ministry of Labour in May, 1964 and published in *Statistics on Income, Prices, Employment and Production*, March, 1965. These data give some indication of the ratio of technicians to other scientific and engineering professionals for each industry or industry group. Similar data are also available for some other European countries.

8.30 While the element of arbitrariness in all such targets, as well as the difficulties of identifying in practice the precise boundaries of the word 'technician', should not be ignored, it nevertheless appears worthwhile to attempt to define this target and thereby develop some arithmetical estimates of the future 'demand' for technicians. These estimates would appear to be useful as a provisional basis for decisions in this field.

8.31 In principle, the demand we are concerned to define is the 'stock' demand at a given future target date. Given present practices, it is evident that, taking any specific overall technician/ technologist ratio, however conservative, such a target could not be met in the forecast period. Hence, there is likely to be a continuing deficit in the supply of technicians. To remedy this it might be necessary to train technicians in numbers in excess of the target ratio for a period of years in order to reduce the backlog. It would also appear to have some advantages if this incremental production of technicians were concentrated to the greatest possible extent onupgrading the qualifications of persons at present in the labour force, with partial or incomplete qualifications. While one would not suggest any rigid formula, it would avoid some of the problems if special incentives could be arranged to enable persons with partial qualifications currently engaged on technician type work to upgrade their qualifications.

8.32 In paragraph 8.27 an expansion demand of 8,000 in the number of scientific and technical personnel⁴ has been indicated between 1961 and 1971 (excluding medical, veterinary, agriculture and teaching personnel). If replacement demand is estimated at a further 2,000, we get a total flow demand of about ten thousand over the ten year period or roughly one thousand per annum for all scientific and technical personnel (excluding medical, veterinary, agricultural and teaching personnel).

8.33 We may distribute this total flow in the ratio of 3 technicians to one technologist as a reasonable flow target to aim at in the next

⁴Occupation Codes (187, 188, 189, 194, 206), Table 3, page 15 of Volume III-Occupations, Census of Population 1961.
few years. This gives a total inflow requirement of 7,500 technicans for the decade to 1971. The position in regard to scientific and technical manpower then would be that there would be around 11,000 technicians (assuming there are about 4,300 at present, which seems to be rather doubtful) and 6,000 scientists and technologists, a ratio of 1.83:1 against a present estimate of 1.07:1. In this connection it is of interest to note that in the paper *Meeting the Demand*, Hyland and Harbison have forecast a requirement of a stock of 3,500 engineers in 1970 and they say that the figure presumes a basic population of not less than 9,500 technicians.

8.34 From the foregoing estimates it can be concluded that the required numbers moving into the labour force would need to be approximately 750 technicians (including draughtsmen) as compared with 250 scientists, engineers and technologists per annum. It is considerably more hazardous at the present stage of development of long-term manpower forecasting to attempt to allocate each of these figures to specific categories of either group. The figures may, however, when increased by some factor to take account both of expected "drop-outs" on the one hand and potential emigrants on the other, serve as a kind of approximate measuring rod of the number of persons who should begin courses of these types each year. Using a factor of about one-third to cover both of these contingencies it may be estimated that approximately 350 students should begin courses of university type in science and/or engineering while about 1.000 students should begin technician-type course. In addition to these numbers a number to correspond to future teaching needs should also begin university or teacher training courses in natural sciences, both physical and biological. This number is also dependent on the rate at which we may wish the backlog to be reduced as well as on the expected drop-out ratio and the potential number of emigrants. Taking these factors into account we may suggest a figure of about 150 as the minimum required number of entrants for this purpose. Combining these figures we get a total required entry figure of about 500 to university type courses in science, engineering, architecture etc. and about 1,000 to technician type courses.

8.35 The corresponding student stock figures can be derived by multiplying these entry figures by the number of years for each kind of course, adjusted for 'drop-outs' on the one hand, and for repeaters and transfers on the other. The minimum capacity required is a simple matter in the case of full-time pupils, being at least equal to the proposed stock of pupils (and preferably rather more, thus allowing for some expansion). It is, however, a more complex matter when considering part-time or sandwich students

since the same capacity can be utilized by more than one such student in different circumstances.

8.36 With the foregoing data as a background, we can now proceed to consider the output of persons with technician-type qualifications.

# TECHNICIAN-TYPE QUALIFICATIONS

8.37 Technician-type qualifications are generally obtained through attendance at appropriate courses in vocational schools. As we have pointed out in chapter 1, most of these courses are organized on a part-time basis. The examinations taken by students are mainly the Technical School Examinations (Technological) of the Department of Education and the examinations of the City and Guilds of London Institute. There are also more specialised examinations, of which the most important numerically seem to be the examinations of the Institute of Medical Laboratory Technologists.

8.38 The Technical School Examinations are single subject examinations in trade and theoretical subjects. For trade subjects there are associated practical and written examinations at two levels, junior and senior. The technological examinations (as the theoretical examinations are called) are provided at three levels, elementary, intermediate and advanced; a fourth level, called the higher technological, is provided in mechanical engineering and mathematics. A diploma course is provided in applied chemistry.

8.39 Examinations are provided in the following groups: mechanical engineering, motor-car engineering, electrical engineering, building, applied chemistry, flour-milling, radio service work and hairdressing. Examinations at elementary, intermediate and advanced stages are also held in commercial, domestic science and art subjects. A detailed list of the subjects in which examinations are provided will be found in Appendix VIII C.

8.40 While the theoretical examinations are described as technological examinations, they are generally considered to be of the technician type. We understand that the possibility of devising a more apt tille is being considered.

8.41 The conditions for the award of certificates vary considerably. In trade subjects a success in both practical and written tests is normally required. For technological certificates, subjects are often linked and success in a set of subjects is required to obtain a certificate. In many cases therefore, it takes some years to qualify for a certificate. 8.42 Candidates for the examinations are, in the main, part-time students, including apprentices. They would have followed evening courses or various forms of day release, block release or sandwich courses.

8.43 The examination records are kept in the form of individual record cards. Each card contains the name and date of birth of the candidate, the subjects taken by him with years and results and a note of certificates issued: the subjects of a group are normally recorded on the one card. A candidate generally takes the examinations over a period of years and so some duplication of records may occur. It is possible also that there are some lacunae in the record of certificates awarded. Generally, however, these cards seemed to be suitable for analysis and they formed the basis for our work.

# SUPPLY OF TECHNICIANS

8.44 In order to obtain some estimates of the annual output from the educational sector of persons with technician-type qualifications, we analysed the results of the Technical School Examinations from 1945 to 1963 inclusive. This analysis could be taken back to 1936, when the present scheme of examinations was established; the examinations prior to 1936 were on a somewhat different basis and comparable analyses may not now be possible.

8.45 Table 8.8 shows for each main examination group the total of individual certificants at each level. It shows that between 1945 and 1963 a total of 2,580 individuals⁵ received one or more recognised technical qualification from the Department of Education. Of the total, those with intermediate and advanced stage qualifications might be regarded as technicians. We are not in a position to express a firm judgment on this; some of the advanced certificates might more properly be regarded as technological qualifications and some of the elementary qualifications might be accepted for lower technician positions.

8.46 Table 8.9 shows the average annual output in each five-year period by examination group. It will be seen that generally the output has been increasing significantly in recent years. It can be assumed that this trend will continue so that the total output of certificants for the decade to 1971 should pass 2,000. However, for the intermediate and advanced stages, on the basis of Table 8.9 the total would be possibly about 1,000.

⁵Including Post Office employees.

## TABLE 8.8

Technical School Examinations (Technological) 1945–63—Individual Certificants by Examination Group

	Stage					
Examination group	Elementary		Interme	diate	Advanced	
	1945/59	1960/63	1945/59	1960/63	1945/59	1960/63
	1	otal num	ber of ind	ividual ce	rtificants	
Building Mechanical Engineering Motor-car Engineering Electrical Engineering Applied Chemistry ¹ Flourmilling Post Office (Communications) ² . Food Technicians Diploma,	50 227 178 357 155 —	57 144 120 199 8 — —	74 90 94 44 36 17 —	45 38 69 41 11 4 -	43 35 25 11 33 21 —	$     \begin{array}{r}       36 \\       33 \\       42 \\       20 \\       - \\       - \\       10     \end{array} $
TOTAL	967	528	355	208	168	144
Mathematics ³	444	550	43	123	30	46

¹In 1955 the scheme of examinations in applied chemistry was reorganized on a new basis.

*These examinations are not divided into stages. The scheme has been extensively recast in recent years. From 1960 to 1963 the number of individual certificants was 210.

^aThere is some overlap between mathematics and other groups, e.g. applied chemistry, as it is sometimes required for the award of certificates in these groups. Note: Detailed tables for each examination group will be found in Appendix VIII.C.

#### TABLE 8.9

Technical School Examinations (Technological), 1945–63—Average Annual Output of Individual Certificants by Group, 1945–59 and 1960–63

	Stage							
Examination Group	Eleme	entary	Interm	ediate	Advanced			
	1945/59	1960/63	1945/59	1960/63	1945/59	1960/63		
	Average Annual number of individual certificants							
Building Mechanical Engineering Motor-car Engineering Electrical Engineering Applied Chemistry Flourmiling Food Technicians	3 15 12 24 10 —	14 36 30 50 2 —	5 6 3 2 1	11 10 17 10 3 1	3 2 2 1 2 1 2 1	9 8 11 5 		
TOTAL	64	132	24	52	11	37		
Mathematics	30	138	3	31	2	12		

Post Office (communications): Average 1960–63=53. Note: Averages are given to the nearest whole number. 8.47 It must be emphasised that the term 'certificants' is not synonymous with 'certificates'. The word is used in reference to individuals, an individual being counted only in relation to the highest stage certificate obtained by him during the period covered by the tables. He may, indeed almost certainly will, have obtained more than one certificate, but he has been recorded only once—under the highest stage certificate obtained. Tables 8.8 and 8.9 therefore, are a record of the highest levels of attainment reached by individuals, not of the number of certificates issued by the Department. (It may be useful to add at this point, that equally, passes in the examinan need not be synonymous with certificates issued).

8.48 The City and Guilds of London Institute provides a more comprehensive range of examinations in trade and technological subjects than the Department of Education. There is a great variety of stages, levels and certificates. We did not succeed in collecting any statistics on Irish entrants for these examinations. The number of subject entries from the Republic in 1963 was 2,089.6 This is the aggregate number for all subjects and the number of individual candidates would be considerably less. The Department of Education keeps a record of the examination results of candidates in the Republic, but it is not in a convenient form for analysis. However, we made a cursory examination of the 1963 result sheets. This showed that the majority of the candidates are entered by the colleges of technology in Dublin. The largest groups of candidates are in communications, electrical engineering and power plant operation, printing, radio and electronic servicing, catering and the building and furniture trades. The number of candidates for other subjects, such as jute spinning, textiles and instrument maintenance is extremely small.

8.49 A check of approximately 400 candidates in communications revealed that there were only about 180 individuals. It is unlikely, therefore, that the number of individual candidates in 1963 exceeded 1,000. It is also unlikely that this total has fluctuated very much in recent years. The percentage of total passes in the Institute's examinations was 62 per cent, but it appears to have been somewhat lower in some of the groups mentioned in paragraph 8.48. Assuming that the Irish candidates perform no better than the general body of candidates, this means that the number of successful individual candidates is unlikely to have exceeded 600. If allowance is made for trade certificates the number of technological successes was probably about 400. The actual output from this group, that is, those who

^eEighty-fourth Annual Report of the Institute, 1962/63-Part V (Examination Statistics, Home).

obtained their highest certificate in a given year, would of course, be a good deal smaller. Finally, there can be little doubt, particularly in view of the preponderance of candidates for examinations in communications and electrical engineering, that there is a considerable amount of duplication of entries between the Technical School Examinations and the City and Guilds Examinations.

8.50 It would appear, therefore, that the annual net increment of qualified personnel from the City and Guilds Examinations is small. It may, nevertheless, be an extremely important increment in so far as it occurs in such areas as printing, not at present catered for to technician level in the Department's examinations.

8.51 Finally, there is the output of technicians from formal wholetime and part-time day courses in technical colleges and vocational schools. Unfortunately we are unable to say to what extent the output from these courses is already comprehended in the certificant output figures for the Technical School and City and Guilds Examinations. In general, it may be taken that the greater part of the output from the wholetime day courses has not been previously accounted for: in the case of the part-time students about two-thirds of the output would have been accounted for in the Technical School and City and Guilds figures.

8.52 Table 8.10 shows the numbers enrolled in wholetime courses, together with an indication of the duration of the various courses.⁷ The table shows that in 1962/63 there were 835 students enrolled in such courses; it may be noted as a matter of interest that new entrants to the same courses in 1963/64 numbered 352 (for details see Tables 6.22 and 6.23). The list may not be comprehensive, but it appears to be a reasonably complete indication of the whole-time training courses available for technician trainees. Some of the courses listed may be felt to be more properly sources of technological than technician personnel; they are all shown here as potential sources of technicians.

8.53 We did not succeed in collecting very much data on outputs of certificants.⁸ An effort to obtain information on those who leave without completing the course was not successful.

⁷Persons following commercial and catering courses have been excluded, as not appropriate to the discussion.

⁸Some data are given in Appendix VI. Table 22.

8.54 Our information on part-time courses, both day and evening, is limited to stock figures for the years 1962/63 and 1963/64. (Table 8.11). This table is reasonably comprehensive, but some courses may have been omitted. A difficulty about assessing the technician content of part-time courses is that a number of courses, especially single subject evening courses, not specifically designed for technician trainees (or at least not so described), may be availed of by students studying for various external examinations that would qualify them as technicians. Some of the courses on our list might be more properly regarded as courses for apprentices and others may be designed to produce technological personnel; again, they have been included as potential sources of technicians.

8.55 Examinations taken by the wholetime students are generally, as indicated in paragraph 8.51, of a specialist nature, either special internal college examinations or examinations of professional institutes. A considerable number of the part-time students take the

		Y . Y	0.0	-
1.7	<b>N D</b>	1.160	¥ 1	11
1 /			0.1	

	_		
Course		Enrolment	Duration of Course (years)
Opticians		11 20 21 75 24 19 41 39 12 39 10 36 54 41 116 180	3233244131413444432
Total		835	

#### Wholetime Day Technical Courses-Enrolments 1962/63

¹Includes students in the 2 non-aided Radio Schools. Source; Annual statistical returns to the Department.

#### **TABLE 8.11**

Caura	Number of stu	Number of students in attendance			
Course	1962/63	1963/64			
Architecture Building Technology Engineering Automobile Engineering Engineering draughtsmaship Senior Science B.Sc. (Intermediate) B.Sc. (Intermediate) B.Sc. — Part I B.Sc. — Part I B.Sc. — Part I B.Sc. — Part I Medical Laboratory Technician Post Office Engineering Agric, Engineering Technicians Food Technology Instrument Technicians Food Technology Paper Technology Paper Technology Paper Technology Chemical Technology Welding Technology Welding Technology Matrice Science Science Science Science Paper Technology Welding Technology Matrice Science Science Science Matrice Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Science Scien	1902/03 100 89 2250 22 80 22 80 22 80 16 4 114 221 25 14 13 110 100 6 4 12 12	1303/04 120 78 270 63 80 30 88 16 19 4 159 196 9 10 10 10 18 30 12 38 30 7 444 			
*Flourmilling Technicians     Microbiology     ·····     *Industrial Electronics     *Dental Mechanics     *Electrical Technicians     ···	$ \begin{array}{r} 24\\ 9\\ 24\\ -15\end{array} $	13 23 12 28 20			
TOTAL	1,433	1,427			

Part-time Technical Courses—Estimated Numbers of Students Attending Day and/or Evening Courses, 1962/63 and 1963/64

*Students may take the Technical School Examinations and/or City and Guilds Examinations, on their own or in addition to other specialized examinations.

## **TABLE 8.12**

Technical School Examinations: Percentage of Individuals Holding Technological Certificates who also held Trade Certificates, in Certain Groups, 1945/59 and 1960/59

Group		Highest level technological certificate held Elementary Intermediate				
		1945/59	1960/63	1945/59	1960/63	
A subject to desire		Percentage who also held trade certificates				
Building		50 47	53 69	66 58	91 74	
Electrical Engineering	•••	83 45	93 75	96 64	97 73	

#### 218

examinations of the Department or the City and Guilds also, particularly the latter. Allowing for failures and attrition, both of which are probably fairly high, the annual net output (excluding medical laboratory technologists) not already counted is probably of the order of 250-300, of whom about a quarter might be regarded as technological manpower.

8.56 Taking into account all qualifications, Technical School Examinations, City and Guilds and the smaller specialist groups, it is unlikely that the total annual output of technician certificants is more than 400 annually. A small proportion of the elementary Technical School Examination certificants might perhaps, be added to cover some lower technician posts.

8.57 Our discussion has treated only of persons with full qualifications. The picture would be improved if persons with part qualifications could be included. There must be a considerable number of these. For instance in the Technical School Examinations virtually all the certificates require success in groups of subjects. For various reasons many do not complete the groups. Some fail the examinations, others find they need only certain subjects for their employment and they are content to qualify only in these. It is impossible for the non-specialist outside observer to say to what extent such part qualifications are useful. If a view might be hazarded, it would be that while useful in the short term, in the longterm such technicians may experience difficulty in absorbing new knowledge and adapting to new techniques, to the detriment of efficiency and productivity. It is, however, a situation that is likely to continue so long as there is a failure to delimit and define technician functions and develop formal training courses and recognised qualifications.

8.58 Table 8.12 shows the percentage of Technical School Examination certificants who also held junior or senior trade certificates. This table might support a view that many of these certificants are not in fact employed as technicians. On the other hand, in the case of the whole-time day technical courses, the majority of entrants held the secondary school intermediate or leaving certificates.

8.59 It seems clear that even the most optimistic forecast of output for the decade will fall short of the minimum estimated inflow of 5,000. If the higher estimate (on the ratio of 3 to 1) is taken, by 1970 the deficiency will have assumed formidable proportions.

8.60 It is difficult to see what measures can be taken to avert this situation, particularly as the facilities of the proposed regional technical colleges will not become available until late in the decade. One possibility might be that mentioned in paragraph 8.31, to select suitable persons from the skilled trades and from apprentices and qualify them as technicians on part-time courses. It would of course, be necessary for industry to provide the appropriate incentives. Measures of this type might at least keep the situation within bounds, as there is a danger that the 'backlog' demand may become so big as to persist through the seventies.

8.61 Finally, a word on the coverage of technician courses. A glance at the tables shows the variety of courses being provided, some for quite small groups. There is a possibility that in the anxiety to resolve the shortages in the major areas, e.g., engineering technicians, the smaller groups may, if not overlooked, at least not be given their due share of attention. One reason for this would derive from the problem of organization. Suitable courses for such groups can be provided only in one or two central locations. If they are to cater for trainces from all areas a concerted effort of organization will be required from employers and educational authorities.

8.62 It is also of interest to note the industries not represented in the tables. Two examples will suffice, textiles and footwear. Both are fairly widely distributed over the country, provide considerable employment and are major exporters. Both must contend with serious competition, especially in export markets. In both industries also there have been major technological and scientific advances in recent years and more may be expected. In regard to technician training they present an interesting contrast. The City and Guilds provide suitable courses for both. The footwear industry in Dundalk, but not in other centres so far as we are aware, has endeavoured to avail itself of these and courses are provided by the vocational education committee. In recent years, we understand, some students have reached the full technological level. In the case of textiles a perusal of the 1963 examination results for the City and Guilds showed only two candidates.

8.63 These remarks are not intended as criticisms of the two industries mentioned; they have been cited only to illustrate the fact that there appear to be important areas for which educational provision is not being made at present. The Committee on Industrial Organization has commented in its reports on the dearth of educational courses at operative and higher levels in virtually all the industries it has surveyed. It is indeed one of the matters it has commended to Adaptation Councils for their consideration. No doubt as these Councils begin to have effect the situation will show a gradual improvement. 8.64 Given the limited data available much of this discussion must be regarded as rather tentative. Of the reality of the shortage of technicians there can be little doubt. Equally, there seems to be little doubt that it will not be resolved by 1970. In order to provide the data on which appropriate measures might be based the first need is to determine, by sector, the present stock of technicians and future requirements. Experience shows that in present circumstances this is a formidable, indeed frustrating task, and it would seem to be a matter for whatever body is entrusted with general manpower forecasting.

8.65 It will be noted that in Tables 8.8 and 8.9 and in the tables in Appendix VIII.C, persons currently pursuing their studies are included. It is not possible at this stage to say how many such persons are included. In addition many of the persons with advanced level qualifications may be teachers and thus not making a direct shortterm contribution to economic progress. We have not data to enable us to say how many such persons there may be. These two problems, and the general difficulty, experienced in the preparation of this sector, of expressing examination results in terms of unduplicated individual qualifications, where several examination avenues are available, would suggest that the development of an individualized system of data collection and processing for technical education deserves high priority in any scheme of statistical reform.

## CONCLUSION

8.66 The discussion in this chapter suggests that there may be a need on manpower grounds for providing more education and training, not only to persons in the educational sector, but also to those who are already in the labour force. Any precise formulation of the necessary increases would require more data than are currently available, but the broad scope of the action required can be described. Some of the questions which need to be resolved before any specific policy is adopted have also been suggested. In chapter 12 it will be assumed that these manpower requirements do in fact provide a reasonable basis for action; they will be there considered in relation to other aspects of the educational system.



# PART III

In Chapters 9 and 10 of Part III an examination is made of the efficiency of the educational system with particular reference to the manner in which resources are being used in it. Chapter 11 considers the structure of educational financing.

We confine ourselves to the first and second levels as the Commission on Higher Education is enquiring into third level education.



# CHAPTER NINE

# The Use of Resources in National Schools

9.1 In this chapter an examination is made of the manner in which the available resources are distributed throughout the national school division (the State supported primary sector), together with some attempt at assessing the efficiency of this distribution. An economic study of this nature would preferably be conducted in cost/benefit terms; that is the costs and benefits which arise both for the people directly concerned and for the community as a whole would be directly concerned and for the community as a whole would be theoretical problems of such an approach in the educational field coupled with the paucity of relevant Irish data compel us to place the major emphasis on the cost aspect of the problem. Some possible indicators, albeit inadequate, will however be offered of the benefits, which may result from educational expenditure.

# COST ASPECTS

9.2 The consideration of national school costs has been framed mainly in terms of the provision of teaching services, since teachers account for over five-sixths of current expenditure—£10.5 million out of £12.4 million in 1962/63. In 1962/63 there were, in round figures, 4,800 schools in operation (exclusive of special schools) with 14,000 teachers and 483,000 pupils. The distribution of these totals by size of school is given in Tables 9.2 and 9.3, while the percentage distribution is given in Table 9.4.

## THE DISTRIBUTION OF TEACHERS

9.3 The number of teachers whom the Department will sanction in a given school, and hence the pupil/teacher ratio in the school, is determined by the number of pupils. Details of the existing' regulations are given in Appendix IX.A. Table 9.1 shows the possible range of pupil numbers for a given number of teachers and the possible range of the resulting pupil/teacher ratio: the overlapping of the pupil numbers is due to differences in the rules, depending on whether the pupil numbers in the school are falling or rising. For example a school is not allowed a third teacher until it reaches 90 pupils, but once having reached that level it may retain three teachers until the number of pupils falls below 80. Thus one school with 85 pupils is allowed three teachers while another

¹The details of the regulations have since been changed.

school with 85 pupils is allowed only two teachers. The figures in this table relate to what are called 'classification schools' which account for the bulk of the total : the rules for 'capitation' schools are slightly different but the basic features are the same.

## TABLE 9.1

National Schools: Possible Range of Pupil Numbers and Pupil/Teacher Ratios for Given Number of Teachers

Number of Teachers	Possible range of Pupil Numbers	Possible range of Pupil/ Teacher Ratio
1	7-35	735
2	28-89	1444
3	80-139	2746
4	125-209	3152
5	190-264	3853
6	245-319	4153
7	300-399	4348
8	320-384	4048

(According to regulations in force in June, 1964¹)

¹The details of the regulations have since been changed.

9.4 Given the possible pupil/teacher ratios in Table 9.1 it will not be surprising to find that large classes are the rule in the larger schools—this is discussed later (paragraph 9.14). It will also be seen from Table 9.1 that the pupil/teacher ratios in the small schools could vary considerably and could be much smaller than the ratios in the large schools. We now look at the position in practice, as shown by Table 9.2.

#### TABLE 9.2

National Schools: Pupils and Teachers by Size of School, (Number of Teachers Employed), 1962/631

Size of School	Number	Number	Number	Pupil/
(Number of Teachers	of	of	of	Teacher
Employed)	Schools	Teachers ²	Pupils ³	Ratio
1 Teacher          2 teachers          3 teachers          4-6 teachers          7 teachers and over	. 736	736	13,185	17·9
	2,458	4,916	129,080	26·3
	. 878	2,634	87,343	33·2
	. 405	1,875	75,744	40·4
	. 344	3,918	177,268	45·2
TOTAL .	. 4,821	14,079	482,620	34.3

(Including Secondary Tops, excluding Special Schools).

¹These figures differ slightly from those in the Annual Report 1962/63.

²Excluding supernumeraries (404) in capitation schools.

³Average number on rolls.

Source; Annual returns (form AR. 1) submitted by schools to the Department.

It will be seen that there is in fact a very wide spread in the pupil/teacher ratio. While the overall average is 34, the average for the one-teacher schools is less than 18 and the average for the largest schools is greater than 45. Allowing for supernumerary teachers (404 in 1962/63), all of whom were in schools of more than two teachers, would reduce the disparity only slightly.

9.5 It is also of interest to examine these differences by the actual enrolments of the schools, as in Table 9.3.

#### TABLE 9.3

National Schools, Pupils and Teachers by Size of School (Number of Pupils), 1962/631

Size of School (Number of Pupils)	Number of Schools	Number of Teachers ²	Number of Pupils ³	Pupil/ Teacher Ratio	Average Size of School (Number of Pupils)
024 2549 5099 100199 200499 500 and over	620 1,222 1,829 649 356 145	635 2,315 4,152 2,211 2,588 2,178	9,795 46,068 127,497 83,721 115,673 99,866	15·4 19·9 30·7 37·9 44·7 45·9	15.8 37.7 69.7 129.0 324.9 688.7
TOTAL	4,821	14,079	482,620	34.3	100.1

(Including Secondary Tops, Excluding Special Schools)

Source; Annual returns (form AR. 1) submitted by schools to the Department.

¹These figures differ slightly from those in the Annual Report 1962/63. ²Excluding supernumeraries (404) in capitation schools. ³Average number on rolls.

The wide variation in the pupil/teacher ratio is equally clear from this aspect : while the average ratio for schools of less than 24 pupils is only 15, the average ratio for schools of 200 pupils and over is over 45. (See Chart 9.2—' E Size ' means the number of pupils on rolls). It may be noted that there has been little change in the overall pupil/teacher ratio in recent decades—from 37 in 1932/33 to 34 in 1962/63 (Graph 9.1). The corresponding ratios for other O.E.C.D. countries are given in Appendix I.A, Table 6.

9.6 The basic data of Table 9.3 are given in percentage form in Table 9.4. This shows that the schools of less than 50 pupils have 21 per cent of all the teachers whereas they have only 11.5 per cent of all the pupils. On the other hand the schools of over 200 pupils have 45 per cent of the pupils but only 34 per cent of the teachers. (See also Chart 9.1).





TABLE 9.4

Percentage Distribution of National Schools, Pupils and Teachers by Size of School (Number of Pupils), 1962/63

Size of School (Number of Pupils)		Schools	Teachers	Pupils		
				Perce	entage Distributio	n
0-24				12.9	4.5	2.0
25-49				25.3	16.4	9.5
50-99				37.9	29.5	26.4
00-199				13.5	15.7	17.4
200 and over				10.4	33.9	44.7
	Te	DTAL		100.0	100.0	100.0

(Including Secondary Tops, Excluding Special Schools)

CHART 9.2



THE DISTRIBUTION OF SCHOOLS

9.7 We have thus seen that small schools are relatively heavy users of teachers. We now consider what factors are associated with the existence of small schools.

9.8 Table 9.5 and Chart 9.3² give the national schools by size by centrality (location) and by religion. They show clearly the connec-

² 'E-size' means the the number of pupils on rolls.

#### TABLE 9.5

#### Distribution of National Schools by Size (Number of Pupils) by Centrality, by Religion, with Total Pupils and Teachers by Centrality

		Size of	Total	Total				
Centrality (Location)	0-24	25-49	50-99	100-199	200 and over	Total	of Pupils	of Teachers
		N	umber of	Schools				
Cities ¹	1	8	29	57	260	355	135,943	3,096
Towns (1,500 and over)	-	10	24	79	198	311	93,184	2,117
Towns and Villages ² (200-1.500)	5	69	449	303	38	864	84,591	2,418
Rural Areas ³	324	1,023	1,293	201	4	2,845	157,086	5,846
Total	330	1,110	1,795	640	500	4,375	470,804	13,477

⁽a) Catholic Schools

h	Protestant	School	ls
	1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 1	2011001	~

	Siz	e of Schoo	ol (Numbe	r of Pupils			
Centrality (Location)	0-24	25-49	50-99	100 and over	Total	Number of Pupils	Iotal Number of
	2	Number	r of Schoo	ls			Teachers
Cities ¹	7	19	18	10	54	3,523	122
Towns (1,500 and over)	42	26	10	-	78	2,239	116
Towns and Villages [*] (200-1,500)	99	31	4	-	134	2,736	158
Rural Areas ^a	142	36	2	-	180	3,318	206
Total	290	112	34	10	446	11,816	602

¹The four county boroughs (Dublin, Cork, Limerick, Waterford) and Dun Laoghaire.

²,³The term 'rural areas' as used in chapter 2 comprises both of these categories.

Source; Annual statistical returns to the Department.

tion between those two factors and the size of schools. Treating first of the location of the Catholic schools, we see that schools of less than 100 pupils (1 to 3 teachers approximately) constitute over 90 per cent of the schools in rural areas and 60 per cent of schools in small towns or villages, but only 11 per cent of schools in the large towns or cities. Of those small schools over 75 per cent are in rural areas, and over 95 per cent are either in rural areas or small towns or villages, that is, in 'rural areas' as defined in chapter 2.

9.9 The size of schools in an area will clearly depend on the density of population and its mobility. Since schools have a rather long effective life, the location of the schools may have been decided upon at a time when the population of an area was appreciably higher

		THE PE	SRCENTAGE I	ISTRIBUTI	ON BY E-S	IZE WITHI	EACH CENT	FRALITY AN	D RELIGION			
Total Schools:	0-24	M	25-49				E-size (	f School		-001	199	+000
atholic Schools:		M										
Cities												
Towns	X											
Cowns and Villages												
Rural Areas		M	XXXX	XXX								
Protestant Schools:		XI	XXXXXXX	XXXXX	XXXXX	XXXXX	THINK A					
Cities					<b>X</b>	TA A						
Towns								XXX	XXX			
Fowns and Villages										KXXXXX		
Rural Areas										$\mathbb{X}$		
	-0	10	20	30	4	-0	50	60	70	80.	96	100

CHART 9.3

than it is now, given the pattern of population decline and population movement in Ireland. The density of population in Ireland is now quite low. The population in rural areas (Chapter 2) at the 1961 Census represented just 9 persons, including 2.7 aged 0-14, per 100 acres. Finally, the lack of transport facilities meant a very limited mobility on the part of school children, resulting in schools generally being provided within 'walking distance' of the children's homes (3 miles apart).

9.10. Table 9.5 also shows that while Protestant schools account for 9 per cent of all national schools—Protestants form 5 per cent of the population—they account for almost 50 per cent of schools with less than 25 pupils, but for less than 1 per cent of schools with 100 pupils or more. It is understood that in the great majority of cases the pupils of a national school are either all Catholics or all Protestants—the regulations make provision for the recognition of very small schools where necessary to cater for different religious needs. Protestant schools have an average pupil/teacher ratio of 20 as against 35 for Catholic schools.³ (Derived from Table 9.5).

9.11 Another factor which may contribute to smallness of schools is separation of boys' and girls' schools. In a number of cases there is a boys' school and a girls' school in the same building or in close proximity which are treated as separate and distinct schools. In 1962/63 there were some 400 small schools in that category in rural areas.⁴ (They are not treated as separate schools if the number of pupils in either falls below  $40^{\circ}$ ). Furthermore where a boys' school is conducted by a religious order of brothers it cannot be combined with a girls' school. Where there is a mixed school at present it may be replaced by separate boys' and girls' schools if the number of pupils in each is likely to be at least  $60^{\circ}$ .

9.12 Another factor which might conduce to smallness in national schools is the presence of non-aided schools. These are mostly in Dublin and, therefore, the effect is not so marked, but their presence may be a cause of the surprising smallness of the national schools in some districts in Dublin. A further factor might be the recognition of schools for special purposes, such as all-Irish schools, but so far this is not known to have had any appreciable effect on the size of other national schools.

9.13 The combination then of such main factors as density and mobility of population and separation by religion and sex, determines

³The pupil/teacher ratio by centrality and religion is given in Appendix IX. A, Table 2.

⁴Including small towns and villages.

⁵, ⁶Rules for National Schools (S.O.).

the number of schools which are made available to cater for any given number of pupils. At the one extreme, it may result in one school catering for say 1,000 pupils, at the other fifty or more schools might be needed for the same number. In this sense then the distribution of teachers may be said to be more the result of external factors than of conscious official policy—this latter arising only at the stage of framing the operative limits for teacher appointments.

9.14 The wide disparity in pupil/teacher ratios as between large and small schools suggests a corresponding disparity in class size. The size of classes in a school will also depend, of course, on the distribution of the pupils by standard and on the number of teachers who are employed as non-teaching principals in large schools. Table 9.6 shows the position as of 1 February, 1963.⁷ It will be seen, as expected, that large classes are closely associated with large schools: over 40 per cent of all classes in the largest schools had 50 pupils or more. Indeed less than 25 per cent of the classes in the large schools were under the maximum of 40 pupils proposed by the Council of Education. In terms of pupils, 84 per cent of the pupils in the large schools were in classes of 40 pupils or over as against 56 per cent in the 4-6 teacher schools and 16 per cent in the 1-3 teacher schools.⁸

#### TABLE 9.6

National Schools—Percentage Distribution of Classes by Size and by Size of School (Number of Teachers Employed) on 1st February, 1963

Charle Caleral			Size of	Class		
(Number of Teachers Employed)	Less than 20 Pupils	20–39 Pupils	40–49 Pupils	50–59 Pupils	60 pupils and over	Total
the state of the s		Percenta	age Distri	bution of	Classes	
1—3 teachers 4—6 teachers 7 teachers and over	24·1 6·8 1·5	66·9 49·8 22·7	7.6 28.3 34.2	$     \begin{array}{r}       1 \cdot 2 \\       1 1 \cdot 2 \\       3 2 \cdot 5     \end{array} $	0·2 3·9 9·1	100 100 100
TOTAL	15.9	53.0	17.4	10.7	3.0	100

(Excluding Secondary Tops¹ and Special Schools)

¹See Annexe D. Source; February census 1963.

9.15 We would expect (from paragraph 9.8) to find that these large classes were mainly in the cities and large towns. This is borne out by table 9.7 which shows that over four-fifths of city pupils are in classes of 40 and over as against one-sixth of the pupils in rural

⁷The data for Catholic and Protestant schools separately are given in Appendix IX A, Tables 9 and 10.

^{*}Details in Appendix IX, A, Table 11.

areas. Since the Department has recently taken steps to improve the situation, the measures being directed at classes of 50 and over in Dublin, classes of that size are also shown in Table 9.7. It will be seen that more than half of the city pupils are in classes of 50 and over. If the schools are classified by size (number of teachers employed) as in Appendix IX.A. Table 11, the same picture emerges, over half of the pupils in the large schools (7 teachers or more) being in classes of 50 and over.

TA	P	T i	F	0	7
11	D	1	E	2.	. /

National Schools: Percentage of Large Classes and Percentage of Pupils in those Classes, 1962/63, by Centrality

	Classes of	40 and over	Classes of	50 and over	
Centrality (Location)	As Percentage of All Classes	Pupils as Percentage of all pupils	As Percentage of All Classes	Pupils as Percentage of all pupils	
		Percer	ntage	f 50 and over Pupils as Percentage of all pupils 52.0 32.5 3.8 23.3	
Cities	75·3 54·4 10·6	82·4 69·1 17·9	43·4 22·0 1·8	52·0 32·5 3·8	
TOTAL	31.1	46.5	13.7	23.3	

¹Including towns and villages of less than 1,500 inhabitants.

9.16 The Department's efforts should lead to a reduction in the number of such large classes in coming years but as we have already noted (chapter 4) the number of teachers required to achieve the Council of Education targets is unlikely to become available given the existing organization and present strategies. Table 9.8 has been constructed on the basis of present trends to indicate what the position is likely to be in 1970/71.

## TABLE 9.8

National Schools—Projected Numbers of Schools, Pupils and Teachers by Size fo School, 1970/71

Size of School	Number of Schools	Number of Pupils	Number of Teachers	Average Pupil/Teacher Ratio
1 Teacher 2 Teachers 3 Teachers 4–6 Teachers 7 teachers and over	600 2,230 1,070 450 450	10,300 113,500 105,000 82,800 177,400	600 4,460 3,210 2,250 4,450	17 25 33 37 40
TOTAL	4,800	489,000	14,800	33

(Including Secondary Tops, Excluding Special Schools)

9.17 It will be seen that some reduction in the spread of pupil/ teacher ratios for different school sizes may be expected together with a slight fall in the overall pupil/teacher ratio from 34 to 33. At the same time it would seem that a substantial proportion of pupils would continue to be in classes of more than 40.

# CURRENT COSTS

9.18 The conclusion which emerges from the preceding examination is that teachers are distributed between schools on the basis of (1) a series of departmental regulations governing their appointment and (2) a series of factors governing the number of pupils in different schools. It has also been noted (in chapter 4) that given the present pattern of teacher distribution produced by these two determinants there are not sufficient teachers to meet the Council of Education target regarding the maximum size of class.

9.19 One consequence of this teacher distribution is that it produces significant differences in the costs of providing national school education for pupils in different types of school. Table 9.9 which is based on a 12 per cent sample of all national schools⁹ illustrates the manner in which teacher cost per pupil varies with the size and centrality of schools. In particular it demonstrates that the smaller the size of school the greater the costs per pupil. To allow for the services of supernumerary teachers in large schools would reduce the disparity only slightly.¹⁰ This table relates to the year 1961/62 as later financial data were not available at the time.

Controlling		School	Size (1	Number	of Teache	ers)	Average
Centraiity	1	2	3	4-6	7 and over	All Schools	per Teacher
the state state of		Teac	hing Co	ost per	Pupil (£)		£
Cities Large Towns	21 51	31 27	22 20	19 16	12 14	13 15	669 659
Small Towns Villages Rural	49 39 34	26 21 27	21 22 23	16 21 20		20 22 26	720 709 688
TOTAL	37	26	22	18	12	17	679
Average Salary ¹ per Teacher (£)	631	708	733	719	632	679	

TABLE 9.9

Teaching Cost Per Pupil in a Sample of 595 National Schools, by Teacher-size and Centrality of School, 1961/62.

¹In Capitation schools the total grant divided by the number of teachers, excluding supernumeraries.

⁹, ¹⁰See Appendix V.B. for details.

9.20 These differences, of course, follow logically from the fact that small schools have a much lower ratio of pupils to teachers. A teacher's salary is in the main independent of the size of school in which he or she works. The salary depends mainly on whether the teacher is married or single, trained or untrained, young or old, and whether he has special qualifications. With a given stock of teachers the total costs in salary would be largely independent of how the schools were organized. The only part of the salary which is directly linked to the size of the school is the allowance for principals and vice-principals. These amount to about £100 per annum for schools of less than 100 pupils, the amount per pupil falling with increasing number of pupils.11 Of course the more schools there are the more principals there are. It is to be noted, however, that the regulations provide that where two schools are amalgamated the two principals concerned continue to receive their allowances

9.21 Table 9.10, which is based on data for all schools, relates to other (non-teaching) expenditure items such as heating, cleaning and school materials.¹² These costs are borne partly by the managers and partly by the State. The most important is heating, which accounts for more than half of the total for each category of school. It will be observed that again it is the smaller schools which are the more expensive, but the extra amount involved in the one teacher schools is only about £1.10s, per pupil or about £20,000 annually. No allowance has been made for imputed labour costs in the schools run by religious, which comprise most of the large schools. The cost per pupil of heating and cleaning a school reflects, among other things, the extent to which the capacity of the school is being utilized. The differences in cost per teacher and hence perhaps in costs per classroom, are much smaller and represent only about £7,000 more annually in the smallest schools, as compared with the larger schools. Since size of schools is closely associated with location, differences in prices may also be involved. The slight rise in unit costs for the largest schools may be due to their greater provision of these services and also to their higher cost in city areas, but the difference is not great enough to pursue here.

¹³In 1965 the principal's allowance ranged from £95 for schools under 50 to £430 for schools with between 500 and 600 pupils, with an additional £60 for each additional 100 pupils (Rules for National Schools).

¹²Excluding costs borne entirely by managers, see Appendix V.B.

## **TABLE 9.10**

School Size (Number of Teachers)	Total Cost	Average Cost per School	Average Cost per Teacher	Average Cost per Pupil
		£		
1 Teacher          2 Teachers          3 Teachers          4-6 Teachers          7 Teachers and over	28,000 130,000 71,000 45,000 119,000	37·4 52·6 78·8 114·4 346·9	37·4 26·3 26·3 24·8 30·8	2·38 0·97 0·79 0·60 0·67
TOTAL	393,000	80.9	27.9	0.72

#### National Schools: Non-Teaching Current Costs by Teacher—Size of School, 1961/62. (All Schools.)

# CAPITAL COSTS

9.22 It may be of interest to examine the situation regarding the capital costs of schools to see if any alteration in the pattern occurs. Information was collected regarding all of the 586 schools completed during the five year period 1958/62 inclusive. Detailed information was obtainable for these schools and this was used in preparing the following table:

## **TABLE 9.11**

Cost per Pupil Place of New Schools Built During the Period 1958/62

Cine of Coloral	Reco	ognised Cos	ts	т	otal Costs	
(Number of Classrooms)	State Contribu- tion	Local Contribu- tion	Total	State Contribu- tion	Local Contribu- tion	Total
		Co	st per Pu	pil Place (£	)	
1 Classroom 2 Classrooms 3 ,, 4 to 6 ,, 7 Classrooms	109 81 68 74	16 11 9 10	125 92 77 84	120 89 75 82	20 14 11 12	140 103 86 94
and over All Schools	94 85	14 12	108 97	104 94	18 15	122 109

9.23 The presence of separate columns for recognized costs as distinct from total costs is due to the fact that not all of the expenditure relating to school construction is taken into account when preparing annual data on expenditure, or when apportioning the total as between state and local contributions. The normal data exclude items such as design and administrative charges in the case of the State, and land and legal charges in the case of the managers—hence the presence of the two sets of figures in the table.

#### 237

9.24 It will be seen that in terms of cost per pupil place the smallest schools are again the costliest. It will also be noticed that the cost per place rises rather sharply for schools of 7 classrooms and over. This may be due partly to the fact that such schools are designed individually by architects selected by the school managers, whereas the smaller schools are all based on designs prepared by architects of the Office of Public Works. The larger schools also tend to devote more space to vestibules, corridors, assembly halls and so forth. It may also be noted that since smaller schools tend to have the greatest amount of spare capacity,¹³ they would have much higher unit cost if the above data were to relate to the number of pupil places actually utilized rather than to the number of places made available.

9.25 The result of this brief examination of the cost aspects of national schools is to suggest that it is the smallest schools which are the most expensive to erect and to operate. This of itself is not adequate to enable any judgement to be formed as to their efficiency. It might well be that higher pupil costs are associated with greater benefits to the pupils concerned. Accordingly, it is necessary to turn next to an examination of this aspect of the question.

# ANALYSIS OF BENEFITS

9.26 The benefits derived from expenditure on a school system should presumably relate to the beneficial effects which the courses have on the educational development of the pupils concerned : no reliable indicators of these quality aspects, however, have as yet been developed. It is, therefore, not possible to quantify the 'benefits' of education in any precise sense; it may nevertheless be possible to develop some useful indicators bearing on this topic.

## EXAMINATION PERFORMANCE

9.27 In practice, the attainment level of pupils is the most frequently used indicator of benefits. A typical indicator of attainment is the examination performance of pupils. The purpose and structure of the examination must of course be taken into account; obviously, for example, the range of subjects and the degree of incentive are relevant in considering the suitability of a particular examination as a measure of attainment. In Ireland, there are two types of examinations which are taken by pupils at the termination of the primary school curriculum, one the primary leaving certificate which is taken by the majority of pupils and secondly, the annual examination conducted by the Department for scholarships to post-primary

¹³Appendix V.B.

schools. Of these two the latter is more likely to be suitable for the purpose of comparisons between different schools, since the former may be influenced by differences in the age pattern of the general outflow from national schools to post-primary schools, as between rural children (mainly in small schools) and urban children (mainly in large schools). These differences in outflow, which mean that many pupils leave before taking the primary certificate examination, suggest that this examination may not be a useful indicator. It has been decided, therefore, to use data from the scholarship examinations.

## TABLE 9.12

		Number	of Teachers	Employed i	n School	
	1	2	3	4-6	7 and over	Total
Number of Pupils ¹ Percentage Distribution	13,185 2·7	129,080 26·7	87,343 18·1	75,744 15·7	177,268 36·8	482,620 100
Number of Scholarships Obtained ²	22	302	226	189	914	1,653
Percentage Distribution	1.3	18.3	13.7	11.4	55.3	100

National Schools: Number of Pupils and Number of Post-Primary Scholarships obtained in 1963, by Size of School (Number of Teachers employed).

¹As in Table 9.2. ²Source: Department files. Excluding 236 Scholarships obtained by pupils already attending secondary schools.

## TABLE 9.13

National Schools: Number of Pupils and Number of Post-Primary Scholarships obtained in 1963, showing the cities separately

0		Number	of Teachers	Employed i	n School	
	1	2	3	4-6	7 and over	Total
City Schools ¹ Number of Pupils Percentage Distribution	312 0·2	3,881 2·6	7,228 4·9	25,738 17·4	110,974 74·9	148,133 100
Number of Scholarships Obtained	1	-	6	24	564	595
Percentage Distribution  Rest of Schools	0.2		1.0	4.0	94.8	100
Number of Pupils	12,873	125,199	80,115	50,006	66,294	334,487
Percentage Distribution	3-8	37.4	24.0	15-0	19-8	100
Number of Scholarships Obtained	21	302	220	165	350	1,058
Percentage Distribution	2.0	28.5	20.8	15.6	33-1	100

Including the schools in Dun Laoghaire and County Dublin.

9.28 Table 9.12, accordingly, shows the numbers of such scholarships¹⁴ obtained in 1963, analysed by size of school. In Table 9.13 data for the cities and the rest of the country are shown separately. A further 236 of these scholarships were obtained by pupils who were already at secondary school : they are not included here.

9.29 It will be seen from these tables that the proportion of scholarships going to small schools is not commensurate with their share of the pupils—despite the fact that in many counties a number of scholarships are reserved for small schools.

9.30 This difference could of course be due to the fact that some schools might not encourage their pupils to enter for the examinations, rather than to inferior examination performance. An analysis of a few areas indicated that only about one-third of the schools in those areas had entered pupils for the scholarship examination either in that year or in either of the two preceding years. Of course small schools would not on average have pupils of scholarship ability every year. Whatever the reasons, the conclusion remains that pupils of small schools are at a disadvantage compared with those of larger schools in the matter of scholarships. This does not necessarily mean of course that the education they receive is not as good or better than that in the large schools, but it does affect their chances of proceeding further. It has indeed, been argued that undue concentration on the scholarship examination at this stage is not in the best interests of the pupil-we do not have the data to say whether scholarship holders do better than others subsequently.

## AGE/STANDARD DISTRIBUTION OF PUPILS

9.31 Examinations refer, however, only to pupils who complete courses; some other measure is necessary, therefore, to assess the overall pattern of attainment. One indicator which suggests itself for this purpose is the age/standard¹⁶ distribution of pupils. While standard is not necessarily an indicator of attainment, since no levels of attainment are prescribed for promotion, we shall proceed for the moment on the hypothesis that the standard in which a pupil is enrolled is an indicator of his attainment. If standard is then related to the ages of the pupils a useful impression of their general position may be obtained.

9.32 Pupils who are in first standard at the age of 7 (on 1 February) should, with regular promotion, be in sixth standard at the age of 12 and thus be between  $12\frac{1}{2}$  and  $13\frac{1}{2}$  years of age on completion of

¹⁴Including Gaeltacht scholarships. There is a detailed consideration of the scholarship examination in Appendix IX.B.

¹³Standard' is used here in a sense identical with the use of the term 'grade' in UNESCO publications.

sixth standard. As most pupils are promoted regularly and fall into this category, they may be termed 'modal' pupils (modal meaning most common). The remaining pupils may be related to this modal group by terming as 'advanced' pupils whose age/standard situation is such that with regular promotion they would be in sixth standard at an earlier age; pupils who would be older than 12 may be termed 'delayed' pupils. The word 'delayed' is used only in a relative sense here. For convenience in later discussion it may be useful to apply the terms D1 to pupils 'delayed' one year and D2 to those 'delayed' for two years or more. Applying these concepts to the pupils enrolled in national schools at 1 February, 1963 the percentage of pupils who fall into each category is as shown in Table 9.14.

			0 4	
1.0	. H I	<u>н но</u>	0	121
1.0			2.1	

National School Pupils by Progress and Standard, on 1 February, 1963. (Excluding Pupils in Special Schools and Special Classes)¹

Degree of Progress	Standard								
(cf. par. 9.32)	Infants ²	1st	1st 2nd 3rd			5th	6th		
	Percentages								
Advanced Modal Delayed	89·8 10·2	21·2 54·4 24·4	17·8 51·4 30·8	15·9 47·4 36·7	14·3 45·5 40·2	15·4 40·6 44·0	13·3 45·2 41·5		
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100		
DelayedD1 D2	9·3 0·9	21·1 3·3	24·5 6·3	27·4 9·3	27·7 12·5	30·5 13·5	34·5 7·0		

¹Pupils in industrial schools are included.

he

al

of

²The position in Infants is not directly comparable with that in the other standards as Infants covers two standards.

9.33 Table 9.14 excludes pupils in special schools and those in special classes (in ordinary schools) for mentally or physically handicapped children. It also excludes pupils in standards higher than sixth.

9.34 It will be noted that the percentage of 'delayed' pupils rises steadily with progression through standards. This indicates that 'delay' cannot be said to be solely the result of the age at which pupils actually start school. One would expect that with increasing age the effects of differences between the pupils would become more marked and the effects of differences in entry age would become less marked. It will be seen, however, that the percentage of 'advanced' as defined by us actually decreases.

9.35 Two figures in the table, relating to D2 pupils, may be worthy of comment. The figure of 13.5 per cent shown for D2 pupils in fifth standard implies that this proportion of pupils would reach the school-leaving age (14) without completing the sixth standard.

9.36 The second figure worth noting in Table 9.14 is the figure of 7 per cent D2 pupils in sixth standard. As these pupils are already over the school leaving age, the figure may be an indicator of the number who remain on at school in order to complete the national school programme. It should not be taken as an indicator of the number of pupils who reach the school-leaving age with this degree of 'delay', since some pupils would have already left school by February. As such, the figure for sixth standard is not fully comparable with the other figures in the table.

9.37 The results of analysing the age/standard pattern of all pupils on the basis of centrality, religion and school size are summarized in Table 9.15 (full details are contained in Appendix IX.C). It will be observed that smaller schools have a higher proportion of 'delayed' pupils in each standard compared with the larger schools, but the difference between small rural schools and medium sized rural schools is quite small. The extent to which these differences may be due to differences in the age of entry or exit is not altogether clear. Since 'infant' classes span a two-year period the proportion of pupils who appear as 'delayed' is presumably about half of the figure which would be obtained were these classes to be shown for a one-year span. The data for first standard may, therefore, be taken

## TABLE 9.15

National Schools—Percentage of 'delayed' Pupils by Size, Centrality and Religion of School, on 1 February, 1963

Type of School ¹	STANDARD										
So	Infants	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th	6th	Change between 1st and 5th			
3	Percentage of Pupils 'Delayed'										
Catholic											
Small-Urban	14.8	30.1	35.3	41.6	46.1	49.8	42.6	+19.7			
Small-Rural	13.3	30.0	35.8	41.4	45.1	48.0	45.5	+18.0			
Medium-Urban	9.7	23.5	27.9	33-9	37-4	42.3	38.6	+18.8			
Medium-Rural	11.0	25.7	32.3	40.1	42.9	48.3	43.1	+ 22.6			
Large-Urban	7.6	17.7	25.3	30.5	33.6	40-2	37.3	+ 22.5			
Large-Rural	5.7	13.4	20.6	26.4	30.2	31-1	36-4	+17.7			
Protestant											
Small -Urban	5.8	11.7	12.8	20.6	23.8	26.0	29.6	+14.3			
Small-Rural	8.0	22.5	30.5	35.6	38.5	42.3	39.5	+19.8			
Medium-Urban	0.4	1.4	7.6	6.0	13.0	16.2	10.0	+14.8			
								1			

(Excluding Pupils in Special Schools and Special Classes).

¹In this and subsequent tables the terms small, medium and large are used as follows: small 1 to 3 teachers, medium 4 to 6 teachers, large—7 teachers and over. The approximate range of pupils would be: small 0–99, medium 100–299, large 300 and over.

'Urban' includes the cities and towns with population of 1,500 and over. 'Rural' covers all other areas.

as being the first figures which are useful for comparison with the later standards. Similarly at the other end of the scale the data for sixth standard may not be fully comparable because of differences in the rates at which children leave school on attaining the age of 14 or go to post-primary schools. Since the larger schools are often completely full, they may be inclined to encourage pupils to leave at this age, whereas the smaller schools may be quite willing to have them remain on.

ę

k,

러

31

113

9.38 If it is assumed for the moment that the whole of the 'delay' which occurs up to first standard is attributable solely to differences in the age of entry and that fifth standard is the last one for which data are directly comparable, we may, by comparing the changes in the proportion of 'delayed' pupils which takes place between these two standards, form some impression of the 'delay' which occurs during the years the pupil is at school. The last column of Table 9.15 shows these increases in the percentages of 'delayed' pupils for each category of school. Small schools seem to come out reasonably well on this comparison. The figures in this final column are in terms of total pupils; if the extra 'delay' is expressed in terms of the proportion of pupils who were not already delayed by the end of first standard, it will be seen¹⁶ that the rates are the same for the small rural schools as for the large urban schools.

9.39 The inference, therefore, would be that small schools have a higher incidence of delay in the initial years of schooling and an average rate in later years, so that over all they have a higher incidence of delay than the larger schools, though again there is little between the small rural school and the medium sized rural school.

9.40 It is of interest to see whether any light can be shed on the question of whether or not the whole of the initial delay (up to the end of first standard) can be reasonably attributed solely to differences in age of entry. Two considerations might suggest that it cannot. The first is that the high initial delay occurs in both urban and rural small schools, whereas conversely the large schools in both areas have a much smaller incidence of delayed pupils in infants and first standard. While it would appear that on balance urban children (who are mainly in large schools) start school at an earlier age than rural children (who are mainly in small schools should display the same features as small rural ones, nor large rural schools be the same as large urban ones. However, it must be remembered that the number of small urban schools, or large rural ones, is very small, so the data may not be adequate on this point.

¹⁶Appendix IX. C, Table 4.

9.41 The second consideration arises from an examination of D2 pupils (i.e. those delayed 2 years or more). Even if children entering small schools do so at the age of 6 (the legal starting point) while children in large schools enter earlier, the former would, if spending two years in infants, be 'delayed' only one year. Hence, it does not follow that significant differences in the incidence of D2 pupils in schools of different sizes can be attributed solely to differences in ages of entry. Table 9.16, therefore, summarizes in a manner comparable to that of Table 9.15 the position with regard to these pupils.

## TABLE 9.16

# National Schools—Percentage of 'D2' Pupils by Size, Centrality and Religion of School, on 1 February, 1963

Type of School	STANDARD							Change
	Infants	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th	6th	1st and 5th standards
		Percent	age of P	ipils 'De	layed' tw	o years	or more	
Catholic		0	P.,					
Small-Urban	1.9	4.0	8.3	11.5	15.2	18.8	7.6	+14.8
Small-Rural	1.2	4.8	8.2	12.0	15.2	16.0	8.5	+11.2
Medium-Urban	1.3	2.4	5.1	7.3	10.4	13.0	6.4	+10.6
Medium-Rural	1.0	4.4	7.8	11.7	15.8	17.7	10.8	+13.3
Large-Urban	0.5	1.4	3.7	5.1	8.3	10.6	4.7	+9.2
Large-Rural	G	1.2	3.5	5.1	8.5	9.2	7.3	+ 8.0
Protestant	1000						1.00	
Small-Urban	0.3	1.7	2.2	5.8	8.5	9.0	5.3	+7.3
Small-Rural	0.7	4.4	8.3	13.0	14.9	15.7	8.2	+11.3
Medium-Urban	-	-	0.8	-	4.6	7.2	3.3	+7.2

(4	xcl	uding	Pupi	ls in S	pecial	Schools	and S	Special	Classes	).
----	-----	-------	------	---------	--------	---------	-------	---------	---------	----

It will be seen that the features of this table are similar to those of Table 9.15. It is again the small schools in each centrality which have the highest incidence of D2 pupils in infants and first standard, the medium sized rural school being much on a par with the small rural school. This seems to suggest, therefore, that age of entry is not the sole determinant of 'delay' in the first years of schooling.

9.42 It may also be observed from this table that the rural schools, both medium and small,¹⁷ and the small urban schools have a higher incidence of D2 pupils in later standards. One important reason for considering these pupils separately is that these are the group who would not be in a position to complete the national school programme by the age of 14.

9.43 The general conclusion of immediate relevance to our argument to emerge from this examination of the age/standard position of pupils

¹⁷Large rural schools are very few.

is that it does not provide evidence that pupils in small schools show greater educational progress than those in larger schools. Of course, we are not in a position to assess the influence of outside factors on the pupils' progress.

9.44 There are, however, some qualifications which must be made to the above data as a basis for precise comparisons. Very little is known about the behaviour of cohorts of pupils as they progress through the system. The promotion, retention and outflow patterns of pupils must obviously have a major influence on the age/standard pattern. It is known for instance, that with progression increasing numbers of pupils are kept back in standards. We also know that from second standard onwards, there are significant outflows of pupils from the schools so that the size of the cohort remaining gradually decreases. To examine these matters in full we would have required individualized data for consecutive years. Until such data become available it will not be possible to say with any degree of certitude how the rate of delay varies as between different types of school. A second point is the paradox that it is the large schools, where the highest percentage of large classes occurs that have the lowest percentage of 'delayed' pupils. It may well be that the promotion of children in these schools is influenced by the pressure of numbers.

9.45 For the present, then, the concept of 'delay' may need to be used with caution. Pupils in rural schools, who tend to start later than those in urban schools could become 'delayed' much more easily. In the urban (mainly large) schools on the other hand, they may not only start earlier, but their promotion may be due, at least in part, to pressure of numbers. Hence the phenomenon of 'delay' may well be somewhat difficult to interpret in these cases. Over and above all this, however, small schools may still be more prone to keep pupils back in a standard. If, however, these qualifications are borne in mind, it would seem that this concept of age/standard, as a possible means of assessing benefits, may prove to be a useful one.

9.46 Apart, however, from any question of its uses as a measure of benefits derived by pupils, a consideration of the age/standard pattern is clearly relevant to discussions of the age at which children should transfer from primary to post-primary education. In this country, the age of 12 plus has been mentioned¹⁸ and seems to be gaining acceptance. The circumstances, therefore, in which 44 per cent of the pupils in fifth standard in February, 1963, could not complete the primary school course by that age (and 13.5 per cent

to

D?

¹⁸Council of Education.

could not complete it by 14 years) would seem to merit close examination.

# SCHOOL CURRICULA

9.47 Since the measures of pupil attainment present certain difficulties, an alternative approach to the question of benefits might be to examine the pattern of courses available to pupils in various types of school. The subjects taught in the national schools are described in chapter I, paragraph 1.10. The amount of time during which pupils are to receive instruction is prescribed at just under five hours daily for five days a week, with a reduction of an hour a day for infants. This would give an average weekly time of 221 hours, or 855 hours a year on the basis of the prescribed minimum of 190 days. For present purposes it would be desirable to know the number of schools that include the various subjects listed in chapter I in their curricula and the amount of time devoted to these subjects. The actual allocation of school time is not, however, available and to obtain it would require the analysis of the time-tables of the individual schools. This was not possible in the time available to us. In the absence of such an analysis we are dependent on common observation, the consensus of which suggests that the average division of time per week is roughly as follows:-

Religious instruction  $2\frac{1}{2}$  hours, vernacular languages 10 hours, (Irish and English in the approximate ratio of 2:1), arithmetic 5 hours, and 5 hours to other subjects (music, needlework etc.) with about 1 hour each to history and geography in the upper standards. (The classes in 'secondary tops ' are excluded from these comments since these follow the secondary school programme). It would appear that the use of Irish as a medium of instruction is very limited outside of infant classes. The number of national schools outside the Gaeltacht areas in which all subjects (except English) are taught through Irish is 135 out of a total of about 4,550 schools.¹⁹ In only 404 other schools are two or more consecutive standards other than infants taught through Irish.²⁰

9.48 Within this general pattern there are certain deviations as between schools of different types. Thus, in the case of mathematics (which is a compulsory subject for all schools), the algebra and geometry sections of the course are optional for 1 and 2 teacher schools, for 3 teacher mixed schools and in all classes taught by women. In the case of the other compulsory subjects (Irish, English, music, needlework, history and geography where appropriate) no explicit latitude is given, though there is provision for modifications necessitated by circumstances in the smallest schools.

¹⁹Annual Report 1962/63 (excluding about 250 Gaeltacht schools).
²⁰ibid.
9.49 The section on school facilities will show that the likelihood of the various optional subjects (drawing, physical training, rural science or nature study, cookery (girls), laundry (girls), domestic economy (girls) and manual instruction (boys)) being made available is very much smaller in the smaller schools. In general, therefore, it seems safe to conclude that the pupil of the smaller school is likely to have a more restricted curriculum available to him or her than is available in larger schools.

# FACILITIES AND AMENITIES IN NATIONAL SCHOOLS

10

in

な道

21

che

防脑

0

jodi

9.50 A supplementary method of considering the quality of the educational environment available to pupils might be to examine the facilities available in the schools. Details on this aspect were obtained from questionnaires sent to the schools. Returns were obtained from 4,795 schools. Table 9.17 shows the distribution of these schools by size and by year built. It will be observed that 2,167 schools or 45 per cent of all the schools are in nineteenth century buildings. Copies of the questionnaires and the detailed results of the processing of the returns will be found in Appendix IX.D.

# TABLE 9.17

Size of School	Period in which schools were built							
(Number of Teachers)	Before 1850	1850-99	1900-21	1922-34	1935-64	Period not known	School Untraced ¹	TOTAL
0				Number	of School	s		
1 Teacher	123	357	100	30	85	31	10	736
2 Teachers	173	936	338	179	767	52	13	2,458
3 Teachers	47	278	98	68	371	13	3	878
4-6 Teachers	36	127	45	29	151	17		405
7 Teachers and over	20	70	29	24	197	4	-	344
TOTAL	399	1,768	610	330	1,571	117	26	4,821

National Schools by Period Built and by Size, (number of Teachers), 1963/64 (excluding Special Schools)

¹Since the number of schools obtained through the February Census, 1964 was 4,800 (Chapter 1) it is likely that some of the 'untraced' schools are no longer in operation.

9.51 All the returns were processed in respect of drinking water and sanitary facilities. The results are given in Table 9.18. It will be seen that scarcely a third of one- and two-teacher schools have drinking water available either in the school or on the school site. In

## **TABLE 9.18**

	Delabian		Form of Sa	nitation	
Size of School (Number of Teachers)	Water in School or on School site	Flush Toilet	Chemical Closet	Dry Latrines	Other
		Perce	ntage of Sch	ools	
1 Teacher2 Teachers3 Teachers4 Teachers and over	28.5 33.7 60.6 95.1	25·9 31·7 59·9 95·4	6·1 1·3 0·2	62·9 63·4 37·6 4·2	5·1 3·6 2·3 0·4
All Schools	47.4	45.9	1.6	49.4	3.1

### Percentage of National Schools having Drinking Water and Various Forms of Sanitation, 1963/64

other words over 2,000 small schools do not have drinking water and about the same number do not have flush toilets or chemical closets. Almost all of the large schools have drinking water and flush toilets.

9.52 For the other facilities other than water and flush toilets, (equipment etc.) the returns were processed only in respect of a sample of schools. This sample covered 641 schools or approximately 13 per cent of the total. Approximately this proportion of all schools in each teacher-size category was included in the sample. The proportions by age proved to be a little biassed, there being rather more of the older small schools in the sample. However, a check using the water and sanitation data showed only a slight deviation from the aggregate result.

9.53 The results for these items are presented in Tables 9.19 to 9.22. The survey of heating and electricity for Tables 9.19, 9.20 was carried out by the Department. Table 9.19 shows that few of the small schools, but most of the large schools have a heating system other than open fires. Table 9.20 shows that the small schools also lag behind in the matter of electricity supply.

9.54 Tables 9.21, 9.22 relating to school equipment and special rooms show that the smaller schools are relatively poorly equipped. The returns suggest library facilities are an exception to the large disparity in most items. In particular instances the data may also provide some indication of the likelihood that certain optional subjects will or will not be provided. Thus the data on cookery

equipment suggest that this subject is not available in the bulk of the small schools (even though a few small schools are known to have external arrangements for cookery).²¹

9.55 The broad conclusion which emerges from this brief summary of school facilities is that the physical facilities of the smaller schools are very much inferior to those of the larger schools. Such handicaps are relevant to assessing the work of the small schools. It is obvious, of course that the more schools there are, the more expensive it is to provide comparable facilities in all of them.

### **TABLE 9.19**

Percentage of National Schools using Various Forms of Heating

		F	orm of Heat	ing	
Size of School	Open Fires	Stoves	Central Heating	Storage Heating (Electricity)	Total
		Percentage	Distributio	n	
1 teacher 2 teachers 3 teachers 4 teachers and over	62·0 76·7 64·7 18·5	32·3 16·9 14·5 6·0	1.8 2.3 9.9 58.2	3·9 4·1 10·9 17·3	100·0 100·0 100·0 100·0
All schools	63.0	17.2	12.4	7.4	100.0

Source: Department of Education Survey.

1 前刻 他 明 四

(): (1

### **TABLE 9.20**

Percentage of National Schools with Electricity, 1962/63

Size (Number	of Schoo of Teac	hers)		Electric Current	Power Points	Electric Water Pump
			1.1	Perc	entage of Sch	iools
1 teacher .				45.9	36.7	3.1
2 teachers .				54.3	49.9	11.5
3 teachers .				72.9	56.8	18.4
4 teachers and ov	er			92.8	74.3	26.0
All schools				62.5	53.0	13.8

Source: Department of Education Survey.

²¹Further tables in the Appendix give the number of schools with caretakers, the number of two storied schools with a fire escape, etc.

TABLE 9.21

Percentage of National Schools with Various Kinds of Equipment by Size of School, 1963/64

	County Library Service		32-2 54-9 56-0 40-6	49-8
Library	Special Library Room		 2.6 11.5	2.3
	Library		34-3 43-1 39-7 47-9	42-0
	Other		0-4 0-2 0-1 1-5	0-4
	Television		 0-1 0-3 1-8	0-4
sb	Radio		1.5 0.7 4.0	1:3
dio-visual ai	Record Player	e of Schools	2.4 2.5 4.1 24.8	6-1
Au	Tape Recorder	Percentage	1-0 2-0 2-7 14-3	3-9
3	Sound Film Projector		0-4 0-9 1-1 12-7	2.7
1	Strip Projector		2.0 1.7 4.4 24.7	5.6
ts	Rural Science		3:3 4:4 5:2 4:2	4.4
ecial subjec	Manual Instruc- tion		4-4 5-6 6-9 2-1	5-1
pment for sp	Laundry		1-1 2-4 7-8 30-2	2-3
Equi	Cookery		1-1 7-4 16-4 41-7	13-3
	Size of School (Number of Teachers)		1 teacher           2 teachers           8 teachers           4 teachers and over	All Schools

*Source:* Questionnaires completed by school managers. Norn: The information on equipment and libraries was processed on a sample basis. The information on audio-visual aids covers all schools.

TABLE 9.22

Percentage of National Schools with Special Rooms, 1963/4

1	Other		4-4 5-0	4·3 9·4	5.5	
	Dining		0.3	0-9 4-2	6-0	
	Staff Room		1.1 8.0	17-2 43-7	14-0	x de
	Principal's Room	CHOOLS	1.5	46.9	8.6	3
	Art	NTAGE OF S		11	I	
	Science	PERCE	11	2.1	0-5	
	Domestic Science		1.2	35.4	6-4	anagers.
	Music Room		11	0.9	2.5	d by school m
	Assembly Hall		1.2	36-5	6.2	aire complete
	Size of School		1 teacher	3 teachers	All Schools	Source: Question.

## SUMMARY OF BENEFITS

9.56 The general conclusion which emerges from the various indicators of benefits (number of post-primary scholarships, age/ standard progression of pupils, curriculum available and school facilities) is that the small schools do not appear to provide any greater educational benefits for their pupils which would offset their greater costs. The inference, indeed, is in the opposite direction, namely that the smaller schools confer lesser benefits on their pupils. Of course it does not necessarily follow that these differences in performance (in so far as our indicators are valid) are due primarily to the size of the schools. The differences may arise from other factors which happen to be associated with the small schools. For instance, differences of environment between pupils, difficulties affecting school attendance, etc. may be the causative factors of differences in performance. If such is the case, and if such factors were to persist, then it would not necessarily follow that merely bringing about an increase in the size of schools would eliminate the differences in performance. In view of the differences in teacher utilisation and teaching costs which are, of course, related directly to size (given the traditional form of the Department's regulations regarding teacher numbers) there appears, however, to be enough evidence to merit an examination of the feasibility of alternatives to the present school organisation. In this connection we turn next to a consideration of the school building programme.

# BUILDING OF NATIONAL SCHOOLS

9.57 Grants are given by the State towards the cost of erecting new national school buildings and towards the cost of replacing existing obsolete buildings, subject to certain conditions. In general these conditions specify that the Minister for Education is satisfied that the necessity exists for a new building; that a suitable site has been obtained by the local manager; that a lease of the site for the purposes of national education will be executed to trustees; that a local contribution will be provided towards the costs of erecting the building and that, when completed it will be maintained in proper condition.²²

9.58 The decision to erect a new building is taken in the Department of Education. The responsibility, however for making the preliminary arrangements is shared by the Office of Public Works, the Department of Education and the local manager. The general procedure for (a) replacing an existing obsolete building, (b) erecting a new non-replacement building, is as follows :--

²²See Rules for National Schools (S.O.).

9.59 Replacement buildings: When the local manager, or the inspector or medical officer draws the attention of the Department of Education to the unsatisfactory condition of a school building, the Office of Public Works is asked to furnish a report on the structural and sanitary condition of the building and to give their view as to whether the building should be replaced.²³ This report is considered in the Department and if it is agreed that the building is no longer suitable for school purposes, the question of whether any re-arrangement of the school facilities in the area might be desirable is investigated. In some areas it is clear that the erection of a new permanent school building would be an uneconomic proposition. Before the concept of temporary buildings (prefabricated etc.) was accepted, cases of this kind were usually 'streamed off' and labelled 'unlikely to mature'.24 In these cases the Office of Public Works might undertake essential work to make the school serviceable for a limited period.

9.60 Where it is decided that the old building is obsolete and should be replaced, the manager is asked to offer a site for a new building. When a site is offered the Department ensures that it is suitably located in relation to the homes of the pupils and decides the size of the new building, having first investigated the question of the probable future trend of attendance at the school. At this stage the Office of Public Works is asked to examine the site and furnish sketch plans and an estimate of the cost of the proposed new school. (In the case of a building with more than seven classrooms, the manager is authorised to employ a private architect to make the architectural arrangements—to prepare sketch plans etc. The architects fees in such cases are allowed for grant).

9.61 When sketch plans are prepared the Department enters into negotiations with the manager regarding the amount of local contribution to be provided. The Department's rules and regulations state that 'the amount of the grants to be made is normally two-thirds.' In almost all cases, however, grants in excess of two-thirds are allowed. In fact, grants allowed by the State between 1952 and 1962 averaged 86 per cent of the cost of new school buildings and major improvement schemes.

9.62 The manager must also secure satisfactory evidence of title to the school site before the grant may be sanctioned. This title

²⁹There is no systematic procedure by which the Department is notified as soon as a building becomes unsatisfactory. This means that many buildings throughout the country may be in an unsatisfactory condition for some years before the Department is aware of the necessity for investigating the matter.

²⁴It is not always clear whether these 'unlikely to mature' buildings were included in the Department's series of obsolete buildings.

must allow that the school site be vested in local trustees by an official lease for a period of 99 years. The Minister for Education is a party to this lease: the formal document is drawn up by the Chief State Solicitor, who is the Department's legal adviser.

9.63 When title to the school site is in order and the amount of the local contribution is decided, a grant for the new building is sanctioned by the Department. It is then a matter for the Office of Public Works to prepare working drawings and specifications and to invite tenders fro the new building. When a suitable tender has been accepted, the actual construction of the school commences.

9.64 Non-Replacement buildings: These are generally required in urban areas where the population is increasing and new housing schemes are being provided. Preliminary investigations are carried out by the Department as to the educational requirements of the areas. When a decision has been reached regarding the necessity for a school and the size of the building determined, the administrative machinery is set in motion. The procedure is the same as in the case of replacement buildings.

### TABLE 9.23 (a)

Average	Time	elapsing	between	Decision	n to	Replace	e and	Compl	etion	of	New	Schoo	l,
	1	for Repla	cement ¹	Schools	com	pleted in	1 1957	7/8 and	1961	1/2			

School Size	Number of Schools	Average Time Elapsing	Of which average time between acceptance of tender and completion of building
6 classrooms and under 7 classrooms and over	95 21	12 years 11 months 10 years 4 months	1 year 3 months 1 year 7 months
All schools	116	12 years 5 months	1 year 4 months

¹The average time elapsed for the 9 non-replacements was 6 years 1 month.

## TABLE 9.23 (b)

Percentage Distribution of Replacement¹ Schools by Time Elapsed

Time shared between		Size of School					
decision to replace and completion of new	6 Classrooms or under	7 Classrooms and over	All				
school	Perc	CENTAGE DISTRIBUTIO	DN				
5 years or less 5 to 10 years 10 to 15 years 15 to 20 years Over 20 years	· 9·5 · 40·0 · 12·6 · 15·8 · 22·1	19·0 33·3 33·3 9·6 4·8	11.2 38.8 16.3 14.5 19.2				
TOTAL	. 100.0	100.0	100.0				

¹Of the 9 non-replacement schools, the time elapsed was under 5 years for one and 5–10 years for the rest.

9.65 A sample of schools was selected in an attempt to examine the length of time associated with this procedure. Schools completed during the two years 1957/58 and 1961/62 were examined and the results obtained are summarised in Tables 9.23 (a) and (b).²⁵ The number of schools in the sample was 125 which included 9 non-replacement; leaving 116 as the number of replacement schools.

9.66 It will be seen that the time elapsing between the recommendation to replace and the completion of a school was considerable. Of the total time, only a small amount was accounted for by the actual building work. The bulk was accounted for by the administrative procedures described above. It will be seen that, as might be expected, this period is much shorter in the case of non-replacement as compared with replacement schools.

9.67 It is not proposed to attempt any apportionment of this time interval over the parties involved in school building; Department of Education, Office of Public Works and the school managers. Some of this delay is inevitable with existing arrangements. A manager often finds it difficult to obtain a suitable site. There may be difficulties in regard to title (in Ireland this problem of clear title is not of course peculiar to land for school building to benefit from a sewerage or water supply scheme being developed by the local authority. Nevertheless, in the past there appear to have been some unreasonable delays. Now that the Department and the Office of Public Works have been organised to carry out the present programme of a hundred new schools and fifty major replacements annually, it would seem a matter of importance that delays be reduced to a minimum.

9.68 The attached diagram (Chart 9.4) illustrates the various stages from the point at which a school is declared 'obsolete' to the point at which a new building is actually made available.

# THE SCHOOL BUILDING PROGRAMME

9.69 In considering the school building programme, there are two major determinants of the level of activity; first the suitability of existing buildings and secondly the existence of a policy as to the rate at which unsuitable buildings should be replaced. A major influence on the suitability of a building is its age. This may be

²⁵Details in Appendix IX.E.



clearly seen from Table 9.24 which shows the approximate age distribution of national schools in ten year age groups and the number declared 'obsolete' in each group by the Office of Public Works. The data on age distribution were compiled from a questionnaire on school facilities completed by school managers in 1964 (paragraph 9.50) supplemented by a check through departmental records. In a very few cases the age was estimated. It will be seen that almost all the 'obsolete' schools were in the age groups 50 years and upwards.

## TABLE 924

Age in Years	Number of Schools	Percentage Distribution	Number declared obsolete ²	Percentage declared obsolete
0-9 10-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90-99 100 and over	756 481 366 363 110 450 623 345 269 748	$ \begin{array}{r} 15.7\\ 10.0\\ 7.6\\ 7.3\\ 2.3\\ 6.5\\ 9.3\\ 13.0\\ 7.2\\ 5.5\\ 15.6\\ \end{array} $	$\left.\begin{array}{c}$	$\left.\begin{array}{c} 2 \cdot 8 \\ 9 \cdot 1 \\ 11 \cdot 6 \\ 14 \cdot 7 \\ 31 \cdot 5 \\ \end{array}\right\} 55 \cdot 1$
TOTAL	4,821	100-0	1,068	22.1

National Schools by Age, as on 31 March, 1964¹

¹Excluding special schools.

There may be other reasons apart from the condition of premises for declaring a building obsolete. Thus three schools in the age group 30–39 years were too small to cater for expanding populations. It was found that it would be more economic to replace than to enlarge them.

9.70 There is, however, a certain ambiguity surrounding a concept of 'suitability' which might be derived from such a table. It refers only to schools which have not been formally declared obsolete. It has been noted earlier that there is no systematic procedure by which the Department is notified as soon as a building becomes unsatisfactory, hence there may be some schools which if formally examined would be declared 'obsolete'. It may be convenient, therefore, to have an alternative measure of the adequacy or otherwise of schools. One measure which may be of use is the concept of a reasonable life for school buildings. At present the Office of Public Works generally regards 80 years as being the expected life of buildings, hence an alternative measure of suitability might be buildings which are less than 80 years of age and which have not been declared 'obsolete'. The term 'effective' will be used to describe this category. All other buildings; i.e. those over 80 years, together with



schools under 80 years which have been declared obsolete, may be termed 'non-effective'. It should be emphasised that this classfication is not intended to reflect the actual condition of any building the fact that an 80 year expectancy is attached to schools built at the present time, for example, does not mean that a similar expectancy applies to buildings erected 50 or 100 years ago: equally it may not hold in the future. The classification should be regarded only as an indicator of the potential requirement of new buildings in future years.

9.71 The second determinant of building rates, namely official policy, may be briefly dealt with. At the present time the policy is to erect 100 new schools and to complete major improvements on 50 schools, each year.

9.72 Using these data as a base, the future position regarding national schools may be estimated. Of the 4,821 operative national schools in the country in March, 1964, 1,068 or 22.1 per cent had been declared obsolete by the Office of Public Works. These schools are contained in 1,005 school buildings.²⁶ Building work was in progress in the case of 157 of these buildings and a decision had been taken to postpone the replacement of a further 186, due to uncertainty as to the future need for schools in certain areas and to other reasons. Consequently, 662 buildings, other than those where building work is in progress, are scheduled for replacement. In addition 20 new non-replacement buildings have been proposed and arrangements are being made for their erection.

9.73 Table 9.25 shows for each five year group since 1957 the number of buildings on the obsolete list (including buildings for

statte at a

SEGT

TOTOTOT The

022

TABLE 9.25

National School Buildings, Actual and Projected Series for Replacement

	Total Number	Re	placement Posit	ion
Period	declared obsolete	Grant not yet sanctioned	Unlikely to Mature	Sanctioned not yet completed
		Yearly Average Nu	umber of Buildi	ngs
1957–59 1960–64 1965–69 1970–74 1975–80	1,053 995 984 963 944	661 592 542 517 492	160 173 185 185 185 185	232 230 257 261 267

³⁶A distinction must be made between schools and buildings. A building often contains two or more schools, e.g., a boys' and a girls' school. No data are available regarding the number of national school buildings in the country but an analysis of the data relating to obsolete schools (almost 25 per cent of all schools) shows that for every 100 buildings there are approximately 107 schools.

which grants had been sanctioned and buildings where a decision had been taken to postpone replacement). This table has been projected to 1980 on the assumptions (1) that the number of schools becoming obsolete each year ('new cases' on to the obsolete list) will remain constant at the present level of about 90 per annum; (2) that the existing administrative procedures relating to rebuilding are maintained and (3) that the number of buildings completed in each year to 1970 will be 100, after which the number will increase gradually to 120 by 1980. These figures include the projected completion of about 10 non-replacement buildings per annum to 1980.

9.74 These assumptions revolve around a 'life' of 80 years for a building. We have already indicated that this may not be valid in the future One factor which could affect it would be an improvement in standards of maintenance. Until recently, maintenance was a matter almost entirely for the managers. The results, we understand, have not been altogether satisfactory. An inter-departmental committee on school building which reported to the Ministers for Education and Finance in 1961, expressed the view that the State's investment in school building had been allowed to deteriorate very rapidly through lack of adequate maintenance.27 State grants are now being paid towards the cost of painting schools. With this stimulus an improvement in standards of maintenance may be expected with a consequent prolongation of the life of school buildings. For these reasons our projections for 1980 may be regarded as indicating the least favourable position. Nevertheless, we are not disposed to regard them as needlessly pessimistic. Standards of school buildings seem to be changing with great rapidity: the possibility cannot be excluded that standards of school accommodation and facilities now considered satisfactory, will be regarded as inadequate by 1980.

9.75 Tables 9.26 and 9.27 show the likely outcome of this building programme. By 1980 there will have been a significant change in the age structure of the buildings; the percentage 'non-effective' should be 23 per cent against about 40 per cent in 1965. As this should mean that virtually all the nineteenth century buildings would have been eliminated, the great bulk of school buildings in 1980 should be structurally sound. Viewed in this light the fact that by that date the proportion of schools declared obsolete will have decreased by less than 14 per cent is not of itself an indicator of obsolete schools is based on the *status quo*; it assumes no improvement in

²⁷Report of the Interdepartmental Committee on standards of Planning for National and Vocational Schools, paragraphs 110–111. (Unpublished).

-	100	 0	00
1.0	. 12	 · •	26
10	VD.	2.	20

			Regarded	l as Suital	ole		Declared Obsolete		
Year	Total Number of Schools	80 Years and over	Under 80 years	Total	Percentage of all Schools	80 Years and over	Under 80 years	Total	Percentag of all Schools
1960	4,882	900	2,904	3,804	78.0	800	278	1,078	22.0
1965	4,864	854	2,931	3,785	77.8	800	279	1,079	22.2
1970	4,861	619	3,192	3,811	78.4	830	220	1,050	21.6
1975	4,866	400	3,436	3,836	78.8	818	212	1,030	21.2
1980	4,878	200	3,773	3,973	81.5	730	175	905	18.5

# Number of Operative Schools¹

¹Including special schools.

#### **TABLE 9.27**

Derived data on 'Effective' Schools1

		'E	ffective'	'Non-effective'		
Year	Total	Number	Percentage of	Number	Percentage of	
	Schools	of Schools	all Schools	of Schools	all Schools	
1960	4,882	2,904	59·5	1,978	40·5	
1965	4,864	2,931	60·3	1,933	39·7	
1970	4,861	3,192	65·7	1,669	34·3	
1975	4,866	3,436	70·6	1,430	29·4	
1980	4,878	3,773	77·4	1,105	22·6	

¹Including special schools.

*Note:* 'Effective' is defined as schools under 80 years of age which are in operation and regarded as suitable.

'Non-effective' covers all other schools which are in operation.

maintenance and that nothing is done to provide essential modern sanitary and other facilities. It must be accepted, however, that dramatic improvements in the condition of schools are not to be expected in the next seven to ten years. The reason for this need not necessarily be in defects of administrative organization; while the Department of Education and the Office of Public Works might be in a position to deal with a bigger programme, other limiting factors such as the supply of capital funds and the capacity of the building industry could be critical factors at any one time. Over the next decade, the demand for investment capital in all sectors of the economy is expected to be extremely heavy. Given the 'large size' of many building projects, the State may find it difficult at certain times to allocate to national school building a greater proportion of available funds. In the interests of reducing cyclical changes in the activity of the building industry phasing of public building contracts might

ilding ne fact

1 have

tor of

bsolete

ent in

ing for

be adopted, some order of priorities for the different types being necessary. School building might well be suitable for short-term increases or reductions provided that over a longer period (say a decade) the average level should accord with the priority which education would warrant as a factor in economic growth.

# TEACHER TRAINING

9.76 Data on teacher training are given in Annexe A. Some of the main points that arise are as follows :

(i) The supply of candidates of suitable academic standard is such that it is no impediment to increasing the output of trained teachers. Many have failed because of failure at singing or needlework, accomplishments which might not be essential for individual teachers except for small schools.

(ii) On completion of training, teachers are required to serve for five years as national teachers. If not they must repay the cost of their training. There are no scholarships available to student teachers but only repayable loans.

(iii) More than half of the 400 lay entrants to teacher training in 1963 came from five counties on the western coast (Galway, Mayo, Kerry, Donegal, Clare in that order) and a further 46 were from Cork. On the other hand less than a fifth of the entrants came from Leinster—8 from Dublin.

(iv) No girls took mathematics in the final examination in 1963 and only 14 boys did so, out of a total of 91 boys and 353 girls, although about a quarter of their time as teachers will be devoted to mathematics—in most cases, this is confined to arithmetic.

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

9.77 The size-pattern and distribution of national schools are the results mainly of political, social and demographic circumstances in nineteenth century Ireland. While these circumstances no longer obtain, the school system has remained fundamentally unchanged, although the total number of schools has of course declined considerably in consequence of the reduction and shift in population. We thus have a large number of small schools, situated mainly in rural areas and a smaller number of large schools, located mainly in towns and cities.

9.78 As between these two types of schools, there is a distinct imbalance in the allocation and utilisation of teaching resources. Seventy-six per cent of national schools have average enrolments of less than 100 pupils. They contain only 38 per cent of all pupils but 50 per cent of all the teachers; pupil/teacher ratios, therefore, are very much lower in these small schools. Correspondingly, ratios are much higher in the large schools and it is in these that there is serious incidence of oversized classes. Over 40 per cent of classes in schools of seven teachers and over have more than fifty pupils; over 50 per cent of the pupils in these schools are in such classes. In the small schools of one to three teachers, only one per cent of classes and three per cent of the pupils are in this position. Classes of forty and over are almost the norm in the large schools and contain 84 per cent of the pupils whereas only 16 per cent of pupils in small schools are in such classes.

9.79 As regards the possible benefits which result from this pattern it was seen that large schools perform best at the scholarship examinations, irrespective of location. The large schools can provide special preparation for the examination and there is no evidence that this is counterbalanced by the more favourable pupil/teacher ratios and smaller classes in the smaller schools.

9.80 There are some indications also that the progression of pupils is slower in the small schools, so that on balance pupils of the smaller schools take longer to complete the full course. The reasons for this are not immediately clear but are not apparently due entirely to differences in age of starting school.

13

196

ces in longer inged, j con-

latin

inji

inti

istad

JUICES

ents of ils but 9.81 While we have no information on the structural condition of the various sizes of schools, it will have been noted that small schools have far less satisfactory sanitary and drinking facilities, a high percentage of open fires, a minimum of special equipment and audio-visual aids and virtually no special rooms. And yet, per pupil place they are more costly to erect and the costliest to maintain. It was also observed that the pupil of a smaller school was likely to have a narrower range of subjects available to him.

9.82 An examination of the probable trends in building suggests that the building programme is not likely to change the size pattern of schools. There will apparently, be an accentuation of the trend to larger schools but fundamentally the structure of the system will not be altered. Since this building programme would on present policy result in the elimination of virtually all the nineteenth century buildings by about 1980 which in turn means the replacement or major repair and improvement of well over half the one- and two-teacher schools between now and 1980, there is apparently scope for altering the size-pattern during this fifteen year period.

9.83 For all these reasons, but above all because of the uneven distribution of that scarce and costly resource, teachers, we raise the query whether the present distribution of schools is the most suitable, satisfactory or economical method of providing primary education. In view of the magnitude of the school building programme, it seems to us opportune to consider what alternative arrangements, if any, might achieve the same ends more efficiently and with at least the same degree of satisfaction. Some attempt to do this is made in chapter 12.

# CHAPTER TEN

# **Post-Primary Education**

## INTRODUCTION

10.1 As post-primary or second level education is more varied in scope than first level education it cannot be discussed in the manner adopted in the case of primary education. On the 'cost' side, however, the allocation of teachers will, as before, be analysed by school size. On the 'benefits' side the pattern of courses offered is used as the main indicator of the potential 'benefits' provided; a general aggregate analysis only of pupil attainment is attempted because of the variety of subjects.

## SECONDARY SCHOOLS

## DISTRIBUTION OF SCHOOLS

10.2 In the case of privately owned and operated educational units, the educational system might be expected to be relatively more developed-in the sense of capacity provided-in the principal centres of population and somewhat sporadically developed in other areas. This pattern would, of course, be modified by the introduction of subsidies. Subsidies might be expected to attract units where otherwise they might not exist. In addition, the educational pattern is of course, modified by community values and traditions which result in the provision of separate facilities to particular pupil categories on the basis of religion, sex, language or social class, The aggregate of these factors might be expected to lead to an increase in the number of units provided and to result in the existence of a rather large number of small schools. Table 10.1 shows the position in 1963/64 giving the secondary schools by size and by the size of the centres where they are located. The 24 religious juniorates and the 18 other boarding schools which do not take any day pupils have been excluded from this table, since their location is not related to the population of the area. It will be seen that of the 608 schools shown, 388 are under the minimum of 150 pupils specified by the Department for building grants for secondary schools.

Size of Less than 100-149 150-199 200-299 300 Pupils School 100 Pupils Pupils Pupils Pupils and over TOTAL Centrality (Location) Number of Schools 53 34 30 36 174 Cities Towns (5,000 and over) 19 20 22 30 10 101 Towns (1,500-5,000) 46 23 8 Towns (500-1,500) 13 5 124 Villages (200-500) 28 3 1 47 Rural 14 4 19

Secondary Schools (including Secondary Tops), by Size and by Centrality, 1963/64.

¹Including 81 secondary tops and excluding the 42 boarding schools which do not accept day pupils.

82

83

54

608¹

155

233

Source: February Census, 1964.

TOTAL

10.3 Table 10.2 shows the distribution in 1963/64 of the schools in each province, thus providing some indication of the regional availability of schools.

10.4 Participation in secondary education however, depends not only on the availability of schools but also on the ability of parents to pay the fees. These fees are fixed by the schools themselves,

### **TABLE 10.2**

Secondary Schools¹ (including the 81 Secondary Tops) by Sex by Province, 1963/64 and Population aged 13–17 by Province

Type of school Province	Boys' schools	Girls' schools	Mixed schools	Total num- ber of schools	Popula- tion ² aged 13–17
of these says of the state	0 1 000	('000)			
Munster	92	102	23	217	81
Connacht	37	34	24	95	42
Ulster (3 counties)	10	12	10	32	21
Leinster (excluding Dublin)	47	77	9	133	62
Dublin (City and County)	47	75	9	131	66
Total	233	300	85	608	271

¹Excluding 18 boarding schools (9 boys, 9 girls) and 24 religious juniorates (20 boys, 4 girls), none of which take day pupils.

²Census of Population, 1961.

hence there may be some variations as between regions. Table 10.3 shows therefore, the distribution of the schools in each province by fee level. This table is based on data supplied to the team by schools representing 75 per cent of all day pupils. This table relates to the school-year 1961/62 as financial data were available for that year only.

### **TABLE 10.3**

# Secondary Schools by Day Fees by Province, 1961/62

(Based on returns accounting for 75 per cent of all day pupils)

	Fee per a			
Province	Up to £15	£15 to £25	Over £25	TOTAL ¹
		Number of	Schools ²	
Munster Connacht Ulster (3 counties) Leinster (excluding Dublin) Dublin (City and County)	 160 65 10 67 30	10 10 14 30 31	16 5 4 10 40	186 80 28 107 101
TOTAL	 332	95	75	502

¹Excluding secondary tops and the 40 boarding schools which did not take day pupils.

The fees of schools that did not reply to the questionnaires were estimated by the team from personal knowledge or from information received, or by reference to the type of school involved, using the returns as a basis.

10.5 Finally, as an indication of the accessibility of the schools, Table 10.4 shows the distance travelled to secondary school by day

### **TABLE 10.4**

Secondary Schools, 1962/63, Percentage Distribution of Day Pupils in each Province by Distance Travelled to School

(Based on returns accounting for 75 per cent of all day pupils)

	1	Distance Travel	led to School ¹	
Province	Under 5 miles	5–10 miles	Over 10 miles	TOTAL
		Percentage D	istribution	
Munster Connacht Ulster (3 counties) Leinster	69·4 66·1 60·4 79·8	24·9 27·5 24·5 17·2	5·7 6·4 15·1 3·0	100·0 100·0 100·0 100·0
TOTAL	73.5	21.5	5.0	100.0

¹Single journey.

pupils. The city schools have been included in this table: it does not seem appropriate to exclude them as numbers of children from outlying rural areas attend city schools.

10.6 The table shows that an appreciable proportion of pupils attending secondary schools at present have to travel long distances to school, particularly in Ulster. This may be part of the reason for the low participation rates in some areas noticed in chapter 6. The mode of travel of day pupils is given in the following table which is also based on returns covering 75 per cent of day pupils. It will be seen for instance that on these estimates over 3,000 pupils travelled more than 10 miles to school, a further 13,000 travelled 5 to 10 miles and that 14,000 travelled by bus or train.

# **TABLE 10.5**

Secondary Schools, 1962/63: Percentage Distribution of Day Pupils by Distance Travelled to School and by Mode of Travel.

	Mode of Travel							Number
Distance travelled to school	On Foot	Bicycle	Private Car	Public Bus or Train	Private Bus	Other Means	Total	or Day Pupils
Miles	0	Percentage of all Day Pupils						
Under 5	26.8	32.4	3.2	10.8	0.3	_	73.5	45,925
5-10	0.1	11.5	2.3	6.6	0.9	0.1	21.5	13,485
Over 10	-	0.2	0.2	3.1	0.6	0.8	5.0	3,122
TOTAL	26.9	44-4	6.0	20.5	1.8	0.4	100.0	62,482
Number of Pupils ¹	16,808	27,742	3,749	12,809	1,125	249	62,482 ²	

(Based on returns accounting for 75 per cent of day pupils)

¹Obtained by applying the percentage distribution to the total number of day pupils. ²Annual Report, 1962/63.

## DISTRIBUTION OF TEACHERS

10.7 The distribution of teachers among these schools is similar to the pattern displayed by national school teachers, resulting in low pupil/teacher ratios in the smaller schools, though the range of variations is much smaller in the case of secondary schools. The details are illustrated in Table 10.6.

10.8 The large amount of detail regarding teachers requires some comment. Secondary schools engage both full-time and part-time teachers. Of the full-time group, the largest component consists of the

	ize of School, 1963
	by S
0.	Resources
IABLE 10	f Teaching
	Distribution of
	Schools ¹ :
	Secondary

D R P P

10 10

64

								1
	>	Day ² So	chools: size of s	chool		Boarding	Tuniorate ⁴ (Boardine)	TOTAL
	Less than 100 pupils	100-149 pupils	150-199 pupils	200-299 pupils	300 pupils and over	Schools ^a	iounner f	
Total Number of Schools Number of Pupils	176 11,689	138 16,537	81 13,787	79	53 22,083	18 3,012	24 1,502	569 87,948
Full-time Teachers .			14	Number	of Teachers			
Incremental Teachers ⁵	572	707	597	794	842	153	80	3,745
Other Registered Teachers	23	24	13	22	24	16	4	126
Probationary Teachers	81	44	37	64	43	6	8	286
Diploma Students	38	49	21	64	103	10	11	296
Other (Non-Registered)	89	112	89	119	63	30	27	529
Full-time Equivalent of total Teachers (full-time and				)				
(22 hours weekly=1 full-time equivalent teacher)	861	1,021	792	1,058	1,063	231	123	5,149
				Ra	tios			
RATIOS :					S			
(a) Pupil/Incremental Teacher	20-5	23-5	23-2	24-4	26-4	19-7	19-9	23.6
(c) Incremental teachers as percentage of the quota ⁶	81	75	62	62	11	95	85	62
Source: February Census, 1964. ¹ Exch 4Juniorates are secondary schools conducted Registered teachers in receipt of state incre 9The maximum number of registered teacher	uding second I by religious mental salari	ary tops. communities es. of whom the	² Including s for aspirant Department	combined da s to the religi will pav incre	y/boarding so ous life. They mental salari	thools. do not take	³ Not taking day p day pupils. nher is determine	upils. d hv the
number of pupils in the school.	and the set of		mannindar	arour fund mus				

269

incremental teachers. These are registered teachers who are paid state incremental salaries in addition to a basic school salary. The other categories listed, though nominally full-time, in fact display substantial variations in the number of teaching hours. Thus probationary teachers (i.e. teachers in the first year of service) taught on average for about four-fifths of the average time taught by incremental teachers. Similarly, Diploma students (i.e. students for the Higher Diploma in Education) in aggregate teach for less than half the time of an incremental teacher. For this reason it was necessary to convert all teachers (both full-time and part-time) into full-time equivalents. This was done by taking 22 teaching hours weekly, the average for all incremental teachers, as being the equivalent of a full-time teacher.

10.9 It will be seen that the pupil/teacher ratio varies considerably as between school sizes. In the case of full-time equivalents, the ratio is over 50 per cent higher for the largest as compared with the smallest schools. In order to see how far this distribution may be the result of the Department of Education's regulations governing the numbers of teachers who may be recognised for salary purposes, the pupil/ incremental teacher ratio is also shown. It is interesting to see that this ratio is only about thirty per cent greater for the largest as compared with the smallest schools. The last line in the table shows that schools do not employ their full quota of teachers (schools pay part of the teachers' salaries). It will be noted that the purely boarding schools are best equipped in this regard. Thus apart from the difference in the number of incremental teachers, it is the smaller schools who have the higher proportion of other categories of teachers. Hence it may be concluded that in terms of teaching resources used. smaller schools cost per pupil anything from one-third to one-half more than larger schools. This does not of itself imply that small schools are inefficient-as before, it would be necessary to know something about the educational benefits which the pupils receive.

10.10 A comment on the usefulness of data of the type contained in Table 10.6 relating to pupil/teacher ratios, may be relevant here. Very often it is desired to make comparisons betwen different school systems—between different countries for example. Such comparisons are often handicapped or invalidated by variations in the system. One such complicating factor is the extent to which there are variations in the numbers of teaching hours expected of teachers in different systems or countries. Accordingly, an alternative indicator of teacher utilisation may be used, namely the number of teaching hours provided per pupil. Table 10.7 shows the results obtained.

Size of School	Less than 100 pupils	100–149	150-199	200-299	300 pupils and over	All Schools
	-	Teachin	g hours p	er pupil p	er week	
Per Incremental Teachers	1.10	0.99	0.95	0.90	0.82	0.95
Equivalent Teachers	1.61	1.35	1.26	1.20	1.05	1.28

Teaching Hours per Pupil per Week in Secondary Schools¹, 1963/64.

¹Excluding secondary tops, 18 boarding schools which do not take day pupils and 24 religious juniorates. Source: February Census, 1964.

## THE QUALIFICATIONS OF TEACHERS

10.11 As well as the data on the allocation of teachers as between schools of various sizes, we examined the qualifications possessed by teachers of different subjects. In 1962 a questionnaire was circulated by the Department at the request of the Commission on Higher Education, to full-time teachers with university degrees. The response to this survey was incomplete-it covered 85 per cent of the full-time graduate teachers employed by the schools in that year. Although this survey did not account for part-time graduates, registered teachers with non-university qualifications or other nongraduate teachers, it was not considered feasible for us to make a separate survey. The completed questionnaires were made available to us and were analysed. The tables that follow show the results obtained from our analysis of the forms.

**TABLE 10.8** 

Qualification of Sample³ of Full-time Graduate Teachers in Secondary Schools, 1961/62 by University Degree, by Sex

Xu		Unive	ERSITY DEC	REE	
	B.A.1	B.Comm.	B.Sc.	Other ²	TOTAL
Male: Lay Religious	 715 663	36 3	67 77	23 36	841 779
Lay Religious	 586 691	78 47	59 76	22 53	745 867
TOTAL	 2,655	164	279	134	3,232
Percentage Distribution	 82-2	5.1	8.6	4.1	100.0

Note: Master's degrees are included with the appropriate primary degree. ¹Includes B.A. B.Comm.

²B.Mus., B.Agric. Sc., etc.

"The returns shown in the table accounted for approximately 85 per cent of all full-time teachers with a university degree.

		UNIVE	RSITY DEG	REE	,
	B.A.	B.Comm.	B.Sc.	Other	TOTAL
Male:					
Lay	333	11	29	9	382
Religious	388		47	24	459
Female:					
Lay	275	30	21	9	335
Religious	395	42	46	8	491
Total	1,391	83	143	50	1,667

Number of Full-time Graduate Secondary Teachers in Sample¹ who were in receipt of a Special Increment for Honours Qualifications,² 1961/2

¹⁸⁵ per cent. There were 3,232 teachers in the sample; the honours status of 315 of these was not ascertained.

²Honours degree or honours diploma.

10.12 From Table 10.9 it will be seen that just over half of the teachers accounted for in Table 10.8 had an honours qualification. This does not necessarily mean an honours degree; in a number of cases it would have been an honours Higher Diploma in Education. It was not possible from available data to identify this qualification precisely. In the case of 315 of the respondents we were unable in the time available to trace whether or not they had an honours qualification.

10.13 It is interesting to note that, if these results can be accepted as representative of the teaching force generally, religious in general have a higher proportion of honours qualifications than lay teachers.

10.14 Table 10.10 shows the distribution of teaching time by qualifications. It will be seen that an appreciable proportion of the teaching time in most subjects was provided by teachers who did not have the subject in their degree.¹ For instance only 44 per cent of the instruction in mathematics was given by teachers who had taken mathematics in their degree. Indeed in some subjects much of the instruction was given by teachers who had not taken the subject at university at all. History, geography and science were among the worst in this regard. The general picture as shown by Table 10.10 would of course be improved by the inclusion of part-time graduate teachers, but then it would be worsened by the inclusion of nongraduate teachers. It should be emphasised that this analysis in no

¹Many of the science teachers for example, would have passed the Department's qualifying examinations in science, the syllabuses for which are those of the Intermediate and Leaving Certificates.

			Qualifi	ication of teacher in	a subject	
		Total teaching	Subject tak	en at University	Subject not	Toru
Subject ^a		given by teachers in sample	In Final Degree examination	In First Uni- versity examina- tion	degree course	TOTAL
		Hours ('000)	Percen	tage distribution o	f hours	
Irish		11.6	81	16	3	100
English		9.3	69	22	9	100
Latin		7.9	73	22	4	100
Greek		0.6	71	21	8	100
French		5.3	73	15	12	100
German		0.1	66	24	10	100
Italian		0.1	32	21	47	100
Spanish		0.1	57	43	0	100
Science		4.7	64	5	30	100
Mathematics		12.4	44	37	19	100
Applied Mat matics	he-	0.1	79	13	8	100
History		6.2	53	15	32	100
Geography		4.9	21	31	48	100
Commerce		1.8	77	5	18	100
Agricultural Science		0.2	92	3	5	100

### Percentage Distribution of Teaching Time in each Subject given by Full-Time Graduate Teachers¹, Classified by Qualificatory Status of Teacher, 1961/62

¹Approximate 85 per cent sample.

TOTAL

ik,

00

10

²Excluding art, domestic science, etc.

65.3

way attempts to indicate the actual quality of teaching since this latter, among other things, would depend on the attributes of the individuals concerned. It is merely an indicator, using qualificatory status, of the degree of competence to teach possessed by the persons actually teaching each subject. If it is granted that teachers should preferably have a university qualification in the subjects they teach then it may reasonably be held that there is scope for improving this aspect of teaching. In quoting the first university examination we are following the form of the questionnaire supplied. We are not implying that a pass in that examination in, say, mathematics is necessarily of a higher standard than an honours in the leaving certificate examination: indeed the National University regulations for entry to engineering suggest the opposite.

62.0

16.5

100

10.15 In view of the data in Table 10.10 it would be desirable to analyse all teachers by subjects studied at university level. In the time available we were unable to do this for the teaching force generally; we did however, do it for science and mathematics. The results are in Table 10.11. It will be seen that only 311 (157 male,

Sample¹ of Full-time Graduate Secondary Teachers by University Qualifications in Mathematics and Science, 1961/2 by Sex

1 -	 		-
166	 	5 L	

		Mathematics qualification				
		Taken for degree	Taken in first year only	Not taken at Univer- sity	TOTAL	
			Number of	Teachers		
Science Qualification	Taken for Degree	90	48	19	157	
	Taken in first year only	27	17	38	82	
	Not taken at Uni- versity	223	433	725	1,881	
	TOTAL	340	498	782	1,620	

(		Mathematics	qualification	
e.	Taken for degree	Taken in first year only	Not taken at Uni- versity	TOTAL
6 V		Number of	Teachers	
cience Qualification Taken for degree	61	70	23	154
Taken in first year only	4	10	27	41
Not taken at Uni- versity	175	415	827	1,417
TOTAL	240	495	877	1,612

# (b) FEMALE

¹85 per cent.

154 female) had taken science in their degree and only 580 (340 male, 240 female) had taken mathematics in their degree: of these 151 (90 male, 61 female) were common to both categories. This means less than one science graduate per school and little more than one mathematics graduate per school, even allowing that we have not accounted for all teachers. If it were decided to restrict the teaching of science to graduates in the subjects, there would clearly not be sufficient teachers. A mathematics teacher would be wholly occupied in teaching four or five classes. If teachers who had studied the subjects in their first university year were allowed teach them, the supply position would be rather better, especially in mathematics. However, since all these teachers are fully employed² already, assigning them solely to science and mathematics could possibly have the

[&]quot;We have not analysed the teachers by subjects of degree by subjects taught.

effect of aggravating the 'shortage' of 'qualified' teachers in other subjects. In addition, however, there are several constraints on the mobility of teachers, which would make it impossible to redistribute the appropriate graduate teachers evenly over the schools. The main constraint is that teachers normally give instruction only to pupils of their own sex (in the case of some religious there may be express prohibitions). In addition, members of religious orders may in general move only between the schools conducted by their own order and in some cases this mobility is limited to one or two schools or to a diocese (nuns, including the two orders conducting most of the low and medium fee schools for girls are particularly affected in this way). The implications of this will emerge more clearly if the composition of the 580 graduates in mathematics is examined. They comprised 340 men and 240 women; 56 per cent of the men and 62 per cent of the women were religious.

10.16 If it is felt that teachers should have a formal university qualification in the subjects they teach, it would seem to be extremely desirable that detailed studies of the type described in the preceding paragraph be carried out to gauge the implications for the schools of introducing such a policy.

10.17 This brief discussion of the manner in which resources are distributed in secondary schools suggests some similarity with the results obtained in the previous chapter regarding national schools. It is the smaller schools which have lower pupil/teacher ratios and hence higher costs per pupil (the actual costs per pupil for each size of school were given in chapter 5, Table 5.6). With the secondary schools however, there may be significant quality aspects to be considered. Teachers are drawn from several sources, and they cover a wider range of subjects, as compared with national schools, hence there is the possibility of significant variations in the quality of teaching available in various schools. A full study of this area would need to take such factors into account.

# BENEFITS

mak

means an cui

ve ni achini not he xupiel

ied the

四世

anatics assign

areth

ight

10.18 It is important to emphasise that what is shown in the following tables concerning the pattern of education provided by schools bears on only one aspect of the quality of education available to pupils i.e. the variety of subjects provided. We do not have any measure of the benefits derived by pupils from such education in the wider sense of the term.

10.19 The problem of presenting an adequate picture of the curricula provided by schools is rather complex. There appear to be two ways in which the data might be presented, firstly by defining

various ' profiles' (i.e. subject groups comprising a course) and then specifying the number of schools which provide each profile, and secondly by specifying individual subjects and detailing the number of schools providing each subject. Both methods have been attempted in the following analysis.

10.20 Table 10.12 shows the percentage of students studying each subject in the junior (intermediate) and senior (leaving certificate) cycles respectively. Table 10.13 is an estimate of the allocation of

### **TABLE 10.12**

Percentage of Secondary School Students Studying each Subject, by Sex and by Cycle 1962/63

			1	
Cuala	Во	ys	Girls	
Subject	Intermediate	Leaving	Intermediate	Leaving
State of the second	Per	centage taki	ng the subject	
Irish Literature Irish Language ¹ English Literature English Language ¹ Greek Latin Greek Greman Spanish Geography Music Music Drawing Mathematics Elementary Mathematics Commerce Science (intermediate) Agricultural Science Applied Mathematics Physics Physics and Chemistry' General Science Manual Training Botany	83.6 16.0 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.1 97.2 95.2 95.2 0.1 44.7 0.4 7.9 95.2 0.1 44.7 0.4 7.9 95.2 0.1 100.0 8 0.4 7.9 9 34.1 100.0 8 34.1 100.0 8 23.6 74.0 23.4 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	99.3* 99.7 8.6 88.3 0-1 1.9 0.5 3.2 21.0 1.9 0.5 3.2 22.0 99.3 - 22.0 - 4.0 99.3 - 22.0 - 3.7 10.9 28.6 1.9 9.5 3.2 2.1 0 2.1 0 5 3.2 2.2 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	88:1           11:7           97:1           97:1           2:9           0           48:4           0:1           82:8           2:6           0:7           1:0:1           1:8           27:0           28:4           25:3           0	99-4* 
Domestic Science	-	-	69.9	60.3

¹The 'language' course is an alternative to the 'literature' course.

"This line does not give the percentage who took both of the subjects 'physics' and 'chemistry'. 'Physics and chemistry' is a separate subject.

Source: Annual Report 1962/3.

*Essential subjects for recognised pupils.

Notation: In this table the symbol — means that the subject is not applicable at that level. The symbol 0-0 means that less than one half per cent took it and 0 means that nobody took it.

time between the various subjects. As regards the junior cycle, Table 10.12 shows that apart from the subjects which are essential for recognition (Irish, mathematics, history and geography) and English, which is taken by all, the commonest subjects for boys are Latin, which is taken by 95 per cent of them, science (74 per cent) and French (45 per cent). Of the girls in the junior cycle less than half take Latin but over 80 per cent take French; only 25 per cent of them take science but 70 per cent take domestic science. In the senior cycle although Irish is the only subject essential for recognition English and mathematics are taken by over 99 per cent of the boys while Latin is taken by 88 per cent of them, geography and history being the next most common. Mathematics is also taken by over 80 per cent of the senior girls, Latin is taken by only 39 per cent of them but 64 per cent of them take French as against 21 per cent of the senior boys. Geography is taken by 90 per cent of the girls and history by over 70 per cent. Very few senior girls take science other than physiology and hygiene or domestic science : chemistry is taken by about 30 per cent of the senior boys and physics is taken by about the same number: it is not possible, however, to deduce from Table 10.12 what proportion of pupils take either chemistry or physics or both. It is interesting that the proportion taking French drops off sharply in the senior cycle as also does the proportion of girls taking commerce, and similarly for art and drawing. Whether these are largely temporary phenomena, arising from an increased interest in those subjects in latter years, could be gauged from the corresponding tables for later years which can be readily derived from the annual reports as they are published. The differences between the proportions of boys and girls taking various subjects may owe something to the level to which subjects are taught. A school teaching a subject to honours level may feel it necessary to allocate more time to it than would a school providing it only to pass level. A special example of this would, of course, be mathematics. The data on availability of subjects and the ' profiles ' that follow, are intended to shed some light on this aspect of the matter.

10.21 Table 10.13 shows that nearly half of the pupil hours in secondary schools is devoted to languages. This is, of course, in keeping with the traditional concept of secondary grammar education. Modern continental languages play a small part, however. Only 218 boys obtained honours in any one of them at the leaving certificate examination, 1963. It is not our function to comment on the aptness of this allocation : the table does, however, make it easier to appreciate how difficult it is to provide for other subjects, such as science, art and music. These percentages do not take account of religious instruction or of extra-curricular activities.

11.0

		Estima- ted total pupil hours ⁵ for the school year, 1962/63	Pupil hours in millions	28-38 28-10	10-28 9-47	
		Total		100	100	
		Other		0.1	11	
		Manual Training		0-1	11	
		Geo- graphy		6-1 6-0	9-8 10-7	
		History		9-1 9-0	7-8	
		Music, Art and drawing	lours	3-4 4-6	2-6 3-7	
		Com. merce	of Pupil H	2-9 3-4	2-7	
		Mathe- matics	tribution	18·1 15·9	18-6 13-1	
		Total	ntage Dis	9-3 12-3	10-9 17-8	
	ience	Domes- tic Science	Perce	9.3	9.6	
S	Sc	Life Sciences		1.7	1-4 6-4	
1		Physical Sciences		7-6 2-0	9-5 1-8	
		Total		51-0 48-8	47-6	
	iges	Modern Contin- tal Lan- guages	Ī	5-8 12-1	3-2 10-0	
	Langua	Ancient Classics		14-0 5-8	13-2	
-		Verna- cular Lan- guages ^a		31-2 30-9	31-2 29-7	
		5		Boys Girls	Boys Girls	
		Subjec		Junior	Senior	

Estimated percentage distribution of Pupil Hours in Secondary Schools by subject, by sex and by cycle, 1962/63

¹Excluding formal religious instruction. 1 Trish and Fangiha, Jueda than half being given to Irish. ¹The aggregate of the hours speart in school by each individual student.

278

10.22 Tables 10.14-10.16 give data on the subjects provided in the various types of school. They are based on an analysis of the 1963 leaving certificate examination lists. In table 10.14 a school is listed under 'mathematics' if any pupil in that school obtained honours in mathematics : it is also listed under mathematics and science if honours were obtained in mathematics and in science, not necessarily by the same pupil. It will be seen that in only 47 schools in all were honours achieved in mathematics, science and a modern continental language. In the context of the need for exports and of our possible entry into the European Economic Community it is of interest to note that very few of the boys' schools achieved honours in a modern continental language-indeed the Annual Report for 1962/63 shows that the total number of boys obtaining honours was as follows: 165 in French, 6 in German, 1 in Italian and 6 in Spanish. To emphasise the scarcity of these subjects we note that no boy attending school in the City or County of Cork (Population 330,000) obtained honours in a modern continental language at the leaving certificate examination in 1963. The scarcity of honours in mathematics in the girls' schools is of course only too obvious. In fact only some 2 per cent of girls obtain honours in mathematics at the leaving certificate although at the intermediate certificate some 13 per cent do so. Finally Table 10.17 shows the number of schools from which candidates were entered in certain subjects at the intermediate certificate examination 1963.

## **TABLE 10.14**

Number of Secondary Schools in which Honours were obtained in Certain Subjects at the Leaving Certificate Examination, 1963

.0.	Boys'	Schools	Girls'	Schools	Mixed	Schools
Subjects ¹	Schools obtaining Honours	As percentage of Total (228)	Schools obtaining Honours	As percentage of Total (261)	Schools obtaining Honours	As percentage of Total (68)
ALL	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage
Mathematics	139	61-0	15	5.7	10	14.7
Mathematics and Science ²	120	52.6	11	4.2	7	10.3
A modern continental language	41	18.0	124	47.5	17	25.0
Mathematics, Science and a modern continental language	34	14-9	8	3.1	5	7•4

'The subject groups are not mutually exclusive, e.g., the 139 under 'mathematics' (boys) includes the 120 under 'mathematics and science'. The final number in a column is included in each of the numbers above it.

²Other than Domestic Science or Physiology and Hygiene.

Note: The total number of schools was as follows:-boys' schools, 228; girls' schools, 261; mixed schools, 68.

10.23 Our evaluation, based as it is on one year's results, is biassed against the very small schools in as much as they might not have a student of honours ability every year. Again there may be factors extraneous to the school such as home environment. In spite of these reservations, however, Tables 10.14 to 10.17 do suggest that over the system as a whole the provision of subjects is closely linked to size and to fee levels. It is obviously expensive and difficult to provide a broad curriculum for small numbers of pupils, even if teachers with the required range of subjects can be obtained. We have seen that the majority of day pupils were charged in 1961/62 less than £15 per annum. It is not surprising then that schools should tend to a programme that will suit the majority of their pupils and that can be provided by a small staff. The most useful teacher for this purpose is likely to be an arts graduate, as he can usually take two or three subjects. Inevitably, therefore, the schools settle for a curriculum that, whatever its virtues or defects, will meet the examination needs of the pupils at an acceptable cost level.

## SUMMARY

10.24 The secondary school system has some of the marks of a private system in that it has a large number of small units and is unevenly spread over the various regions. Regionally, Munster has the most schools per total population and the three Ulster counties have the least. We have already mentioned (Chapter 6) that the lay Catholic schools and the religious orders of brothers are most widespread in Munster.

10.25 The pupil/teacher ratios in day schools increase with size of school. The ratios are lowest of all in the juniorates, which are also small, and in the boarding schools—these last employ almost their full quota of incremental teachers. Teachers are not restricted as to the subjects they teach and a significant amount of instruction is given by teachers with no university qualification in the subject being taught. The majority of registered teachers are arts graduates. Other teachers may be unevenly distributed over the system owing to the limited mobility of religious; as a result there may be local shortages of certain types of teacher.

10.26 The curriculum in a great many schools is limited and is of a classical grammar school type. Small schools in particular, appear to have difficulty in providing a varied course. We have seen in chapter 5 (Table 5.6) that the cost per pupil is highest in the case of the small schools. If modern requirements should indicate a need for more flexibility in secondary education, such schools are likely to find themselves faced with difficulties of adaptation.

Percentage of Secondary Schools, by Fee Level, in which Honours were obtained at the Leaving Certificate Examination, 1963.

Fee ¹ Lev	el	Estimated total number of schools ^a	Mathematics	Mathematics and Science	Modern Continental Language	Mathematics, Science and a modern continental language
				Percer	ntages	
Up to £15		355	26.8	22.3	21.2	3.7
£15 to £25		107	30.8	25.2	44.9	11.2
Over £25		95	37.8	33.7	62.1	23.2
TOTAL		557	29.5	24.8	32.7	8.5

¹Fees shown are day fees. The corresponding boarding fees are: up to  $\pounds75$ ,  $\pounds75$  to  $\pounds100$  and over  $\pounds100$ .

²For the purpose of this table the fees of schools that did not reply to the questionaires were estimated by the team from personal knowledge or from information received and by reference to the type of school involved, using the returns as a basis,

### **TABLE 10.16**

Percentage of Secondary Schools by Size and Showing Boys', Girls' and Mixed Schools separately, providing Certain Subject Groups at Honours Level in the Leaving Certificate, 1962[63

	Ma	athemat	tics	Ma	athemat id Scier	tics	Moder	n Conti anguag	inental je	Ma Scie mode 1	themat ence an rn cont anguag	cics d a inental e
Type of school Size of school	Boys	Girls	Mixed	Boys	Girls	Mixed	Boys	Girls	Mixed	Boys	Girls	Mixed
0-99 pupils 100-149 150-199 200-299 300 and over	24·1 57·4 76·7 94·4 100·0	1.2 3.8 11.1 10.0 14.3	9.8 8.3 66.6 100.0 100.0	17·7 46·0 70·0 86·1 94·4	1.2 2.6 6.7 7.5 14.3	5·9 8·3 33·3 100·0 100·0	6·3 6·4 23·3 27·8 41·7	17·9 47·4 77·5 75·0 78·6	11.8 50.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	1·3 6·4 20·0 25·0 41·7	1.2 1.3 4.4 5.0 14.3	2.0 8.3 33.3 100.0 100.0

#### **TABLE 10.17**

Number of Secondary Schools, by Sex, which presented Candidates for Certain Subjects in the Intermediate Certificate Examination, 1963

Subjects		Boys' Schools ¹	Girls' Schools ¹
Mathematics, full course Science or agricultural science ³ Modern continental language Commerce	··· ·· ··	² 217 116 114 174	214 132 265 157 213

¹Total number of schools: boys, 228; girls, 261; mixed, 68. Mixed schools have been included under both boys and girls.

^aAll boys schools must provide the full course in mathematics, ^aExcluding domestic science.

p

ik

# VOCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION

# INTRODUCTION

10.27 In the session (or school-year) 1963/64 there were 308 schools providing vocational education, including 4 colleges and 4 other centres devoted exclusively to technical and commercial education, 3 schools of art and 3 schools of music. 49 schools were used exclusively for evening courses. Whole-time day continuation courses were provided in the remaining 245 schools; in addition these centres provided evening classes for adults and a number provided part-time day technical education for apprentices and others. Occasional courses, mainly adult education, were provided in a further 416 centres, (local halls, temporary huts etc.). These 'out-centres' are usually served from the nearest permanent school.

10.28 It will be recalled from the general account of the educational system in Chapter 1, that the distinctive feature of vocational education vis-a-vis the other branches of education is the administrative organisation. Unlike the national and secondary divisions, the unit of administration is not the school but rather the scheme (a city, urban or county area). By comparison with the other divisions, this means that there is a degree of flexibility in the allocation and utilisation of financial and teaching resources (and equipment, to a lesser extent). Financially, funds are provided from local and central government in accordance with a clearly defined procedure and the schools are not dependent on voluntary contributions (as in the case of the national schools) or on fees and other private sources of finance (as in the case of the secondary schools).

10.29 While an evaluation of the use of resources in vocational schools will follow the same general principles used in the case of national and secondary schools, it will clearly be complicated by the two facts that the individual school is not an autonomous unit and that it serves a diversity of educational needs. These latter range from the provision of continuation courses for post-primary students through the varied field of technical education to adult education and even some general community services of an advisory character. Broadly, however, the activities of the vocational schools fall into two, or perhaps three parts. These are continuation education for young persons moving on from the national schoolthis is junior cycle post-primary education-and technical education for apprentices and others in industry or preparing for employment. This is provided mainly at the second level with some third level courses in the colleges of technology. Adult education might perhaps be regarded as a third division, although it has a not incon-
siderable technical and commercial content, which relates it closely to employment.

10.30 In point of size and consumption of resources, continuation education is the most significant activity of vocational schools.³ For many of the smaller schools, technical education, if it exists in them, is very much a marginal activity. Adult education in the form of evening classes is of course, provided in most schools; the justification for building some schools to their present size and in their existing locations is probably to be found in the fact that the building and the staff could be used for both day and evening work. We have, accordingly, limited our study almost exclusively to the continuation cycle.

10.31. In the short term, of course, technical education is more relevant to economic growth and development. Regrettably, we were unable to apply appropriate analytical methods to this sector: time and problems of data collection effectively prevented this. Although restricted in coverage, technical education in the range of its activities, entry requirements and outputs is a highly diversified and complex field. We did collect some information. Part of it will be mentioned here but we felt that most of it would be more appropriate to the discussions of participation and certificant outputs and so it will be found in chapters 6 and 8.

# CONTINUATION EDUCATION

### LOCATION OF SCHOOLS

10.32 As already noted in chapter 4 most of the 245 schools providing whole-time day continuation courses⁴ were built since 1900, the great majority in fact since 1930. Their rate of development would appear to have been influenced largely by the general level of governmental subsidy on the supply side and the general rate of development of industry on the demand side. A variety of factors would appear to have operated to influence the specific location of schools. Among these are the availibility of alternative forms of post-primary education at a moderate fee, the regional development of industry, interest in adult education, especially for farmers in specific areas and finally the growth of popular demand associated with the development of voluntary community organisations. In particular it may be noted that vocational schools have been provided

³⁷⁰ per cent of the teaching resources are devoted to this activity.

[&]quot;To be cent of the teaching resoluces and a college of catering and domestic science providing a school of commerce and a college of catering and domestic science providing a course for small numbers. These institutions are not considered here in relation to their main functions as centres of technical and commercial training.

in a number of smaller centres where it might not have been economically feasible to establish secondary schools. In this connection also it should be said that certain factors which appear to effect the size of school in the case of secondary schools e.g., sex, religion, social class, do not affect the size of vocational schools. A vocational school is in general, open to cater for everybody in its area, irrespective of sex, religious, linguistic or social background.

10.33 Table 10.18 shows the distribution of the schools by location and by enrolment size.

TA	BI	E	10	.18

Centrality Size of School	Cities	Towns 5,000 and over	Towns 1,500- 5,000	Towns 500- 1,500	Villages 200- 500	Rural	Total
			Nur	nber of Sch	ools		
0-99 students	3	2	15	46	25	28	119
100-149	1	3	31	16	6	3	60
150-199	6	4	11	5	_		26
200-299 ,,	11	14	4	3	-	-	32
300 and over	5	3	9-	-	-	-	8
TOTAL	26	26	61	70	31	31	245

Day Vocational Schools by Enrolment-size and Centrality

Source: February Census, 1964.

10.34 On 1 February, 1964 there were 28,969 students in attendance at whole-time day continuation courses, as shown in Table 10.19. It may be mentioned in passing that there are substantially more boys than girls in the schools, 16,280 against 12,689 and this is true irrespective of the location of schools.

### **TABLE 10.19**

Continuation Students in Vocational Schools on 1 February, 1964 by School Size and Centrality

Centralit Size of School	y Cities	Towns 5,000+	Towns 1,500 – 5,000	Towns 500- 1,500	Villages 200– 500	Rural	Total
			Nun	aber of Stud	lents		
0-99 students .	177	152	1,084	3,028	1,349	1,291	7,081
100-149 " .	128	385	3,883	1,768	663	321	7,148
150-199 ,, .	953	713	1,846	821	-	-	4,333
200-299 ,, .	3,053	3,248	876	639	-	-	7,816
300 and over .	1,658	933	-	-	-	-	2,591
TOTAL .	5,969	5,431	7,689	6,256	2,012	1,612	28,969

Source: February Census, 1964.

10.35 Over the whole country nearly half of the schools had enrolments of less than 100 pupils (Table 10.18). These schools were attended by just one quarter of the students (Table 10.19). The provincial variations, however, may be of interest. In the table that follows the four borough and seven urban schemes have been excluded.

TAB	LE 1	0.20

Continuation Courses—Schools with Less than 100 Students as Percentage of Schools in Each Province, and Students as Percentage of All Students, 1963/64

	Schools of less	than 100 Pupils		
Province	As Percentage of Schools in Province	Students in those schools as Percentage of Students in Province		
	Percentages			
Connacht Ulster (3 counties) Munster Leinster	63 54 62 56	48 33 37 30		

Source: February Census, 1964.

It will be seen that Connacht has the highest incidence of small schools, which is in keeping with the lower population density of that region.⁶ The inclusion of the county borough and urban schemes would not affect Ulster; it would affect the figures for Connacht somewhat and would have a marked affect on the figures for Munster and Leinster.

10.36 As regards the accessibility of the schools, an enquiry made by the team in February, 1964 gave the following results :

Percentage Distribution of Day Continuation Students by Distance Travelled to School, 1963/64

	Distanc	e Travelled to So	chool ¹	
Province	Less than 5 miles	5 to 10 miles	Over 10 miles	Total
	Pe	rcentage Distribut	tion	
Connacht	51.3	41.3	7.4	100
Ulster (3 counties)	39.0	46-0	15.0	100
Munster	59-7	82.7	7.6	100
Leinster	70.1	27.2	2.7	100

¹Single journey.

国國部部國一國

Source: Information supplied by vocational education committees.

⁵Statistical Abstract, 1964, Table 1.

**TABLE 10.21** 

10.37 Table 10.21 shows that in Ulster the majority of continuation students have to travel long distances to school. There seems to have been some tendency to concentrate on the larger population centres and to assist students from outlying areas to meet transport costs.6 Co. Donegal, for example, has both the largest number and the largest proportion of students travelling more than ten miles to school. In Connacht, with a rather small population and relatively few large centres, an effort has been made to meet the vocational education needs by providing a large number of small schools but almost half of the students travel over 5 miles. While most of the Munster students travel less than 5 miles there is still an appreciable proportion who travel more than 10 miles. The percentage of travel in Leinster is low-Dublin being included here. The total number of students who travelled more than 10 miles to school was 1.800; a further 9,400 travelled 5 to 10 miles. The pattern of travel (on foot, by bicycle etc.) is very much the same as for secondary pupils, except that the percentage travelling by private car is rather smaller.

10.38 Reference has been made to assistance with travelling expenses. This is done by way of 'travel scholarships'. Schemes were operated in 15 counties in the session 1962/63, covering 1.6927 students at a total cost of £12,446. The provision of the transport is not arranged by the committees. Public transport is used where available, otherwise it is a matter for arrangement by the local community.

## DISTRIBUTION OF TEACHING RESOURCES

10.39 As indicated above the pattern of resource utilisation is rather more complex than in national schools due to the fact that there are several different groups of students to be catered for. For this reason total teaching hours for each group have been used as the basic measure of input. In the case of whole-time continuation courses total teaching hours can be translated into full-time equivalent teachers and a pupil/teacher ratio derived.8 At this stage it may be commented that while in the case of continuation pupils no problem arises in defining a pupil/teacher ratio, since the pupils are following a whole-time course, it is very difficult to define a meaningful ratio where the pupils are following part-time courses. One possibility, sometimes used, is to take a quota of attendance hours to represent a full-time pupil; this is not satisfactory as it fails to

See Table 2, Appendix X.B for details of the number of travel scholarships in each county.

^{715.5} per cent. of all students who travel more than 5 miles to a school.

^{*}The same concept as was used in the discussion on secondary schools. For vocational teachers it assumes an average of 900 hours per annum by whole-time teachers on continuation courses. The derivation of this average is discussed in Appendix IV.C.

distinguish between two factors which should be kept quite separate in any analytical work, (i) attendance ratio and (ii) the ratio of teaching hours to pupil enrolment hours. Even if pupil enrolment hours were available, however, it is rather artificial (in the sense of providing an adequate basis for international comparisons) to translate them into full-time equivalent pupils by use of an arbitrary quota. For this Report, therefore, we have simply provided the basic data in the case of part-time students.

10.40 Table 10.22 shows the average weekly teaching hours per student. The student/full-time equivalent teacher ratios are in Table 10.23.

### **TABLE 10.22**

Average Weekly Teaching Hours per Student on Day Continuation Courses by Enrolment Size and Centrality (Location) of Schools, 1963/64

0-99	100-149	150-199	200-299	300 and over	All sizes
1.56	1.41	1.18	1.22	1.20	1.33

## (a) E-SIZE (NUMBER OF PUPILS)

(b) CENTRALITY

Cities	Towns 5,000 +	Towns and Villages 1,500–5,000	Villages 500-1,500	Villages 200-500	Rural	All Areas
1.25	1.22	1.41	1.33	1.41	1.53	1.33

Source: February Census, 1964.

#### **TABLE 10.23**

Student/Teacher Ratios (Full-time Equivalent Teachers) on Continuation Courses, by Enrolment Size and Centrality of Schools, 1963/64

(a) E-SIZE (NUMBER OF PUPILS)

0-99	100-149	150-199	200-299	300 and over	All sizes
16.6	17.7	21-2	20.5	20.8	18.5

#### (b) CENTRALITY

Cities	Towns 5,000 +	Towns and Villages 1,500-5,000	Villages 500–1,500	Villages 200–500	Rural	All Areas
20.1	20.5	17.8	18.7	17.8	16.4	18.5

Source: February Census, 1964.

10.41 Given that the average number of teaching hours per week is approximately 25 per whole-time teacher and that the average number of student hours is around 28, it is possible with the average teaching hours per student to estimate the distribution of student/ teacher ratios. This was done on the 1963 February census and showed that two-thirds of the schools had ratios of less than 20. For the small schools, with enrolments of less than a hundred, the proportion was just over three-quarters. A detailed table will be found in the appendix.

10.42 In the vocational, in contrast to the national and secondary school divisions, there is a relative absence of regulatory procedures, e.g. quotas, which might modify the student/teacher ratio. Within each scheme the sole criterion for the employment of teachers is that it must be possible to employ them fully. In the case of a wholetime teacher this means providing an average of 900 hours teaching per year. These hours may be aggregated by the teacher teaching on more than one type of course (e.g. continuation and evening classes) and in more than one school within the administrative area. For these reasons we examined the student/teacher (full-time equivalent) ratio by scheme. The relevant table and also tables showing the distribution of schools and students by size within each scheme, are given in the appendix. On the whole, the differences revealed by this table correspond to variations in the size of schools and distribution of pupils within schemes. Generally the more students are concentrated into larger schools the higher will be the student/teacher ratio for the scheme. However, this is blurred in schemes with a large number of small schools (0-99), demonstrating that no matter how efficiently a scheme may be organised, there is an irreducible minimum of teaching services, which must be provided even in the smallest school if the students are to receive instruction in the full course.

10.43 The ratios in the cities,⁹ especially Dublin, seem to call for comment. For some years there has been an unsatisfied demand and severe pressure on capacity in these schemes; one would expect to find rather higher ratios than in fact obtain. There may be a number of explanations for this phenomenon but the one that suggests itself is that the city schemes use relatively more teaching resources than the counties. Since the cities provide a much wider range of technical and evening courses than the other areas, this apparent generosity in the case of continuation courses may be the result simply of the need to allocate aggregate hours in such a way as to ensure that there is economic employment for all the teachers required to operate the overall scheme.

Cork 22.0, Dublin 21.1, Limerick 21.2, Waterford 19.2.

e e V i n er a er de he ul for and to a stis cost of entry ure to

**TABLE 10.24** 

Qualifications of Whole-time Vocational Teachers by Category (September 1964)

Qualifications			University	Graduates					Others	-		
egory	B.A.1	B.Comm.	B.Sc.	B.Agr.Sc.	B.E.	Other ²	Department Trained	Domestic Science Diploma	Professional ³ Qualifications	Other Special Qualifications ⁴	Other	TOTAL
odwork and Building	1	1	1	1	1	1	373	1		1		376
	1	1	1	I	1	1		1	1	42	1	42
ence	1	1	85	61	1	4	1	1	I	1	9	95
sh and Generals	131	39	1	1	I	8	93	1	I	14	10	291
talwork and Engineering	1	1	1	1	13	63	200	1	07	1	6	225
mestic Science	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	221	1	1	1	221
nmerce	14	295	I	1	1	1	00	1	4	2	2	330
ral Science	1	1	1	75	1	I	73	1	1	1	63	150
ysical Education	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	4	96	13
sic, Drawing, Elocution	~	1	I	I	1	10	-	-	1	55	01	37
dio and Communications	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	-	4	6	1	16
ctrical Engineering	I	1	1	1	10	1	1	-	. 60	1	1	6
ides	1	4	1	1	1	1	23	9	-	38	6	75
iers*	I	1	01	1	1	5	1	Q.	. 00	1	1	15
TOTALS	148	338	89	78	20	20	292	221	18	140	56	1,895
									1×1			
cludes B A H Com	m. In oth	Pr races o	f multinli	damage t	and are	nond burn	allocated to	the doman	income toom	ato to those two	O O O	DOO

Threades BA, A.C.COMIN, IN UNITE CASE OF UNITABLE AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS A ADDRESS ADDRES A.R.I.A.I.

Yurt Teacher's Certificate, Diploma in Physical Education, City and Guilds of London Institute, Royal Society of Arts, etc. "And the second second

Nore : 'Category' refers to the category in which the teacher was appointed. It does not necessarily reflect the subjects actually being taught by the teacher.

289

## QUALITY OF TEACHING

10.44 While it is not for us to evaluate the quality of the teaching in the schools in the broad sense, we may refer to two factors, (i) the qualifications and training of each category of teacher (ii) the extent to which each teacher can be allocated to the subjects which he/she is most competent to teach, given the exigencies of the syllabus, especially in the smaller schools. Data on the first factor are available from central records and are shown in Table 10.24.

10.45 In addition to the teachers of music, architecture, radio and communications, electrical engineering, trades and the eight miscellaneous teachers, there were a number of others in the table who do not teach continuation courses. These include 14 commerce, 20 engineering and 14 teachers of mathematics and science. There were also 54 teachers of building construction (included with 'woodwork') who gave very little of their time to continuation classes.

10.46 The next table shows the percentage of graduates with honours degrees.

## **TABLE 10.25**

Whole-time Vocational Teachers—Percentage of Graduate Teachers with Honours Degrees, September, 1964

Degree	B.A.	B.Comm.	B.Sc.	B.Ag.Sc.	B.E.	Other	TOTAL
Percentage with honours	39	33	21	10	35	30	29

10.47 The small proportion of science (and rural science) graduates with honours degrees will be noted. At the time this enquiry was made—(September, 1964) only one of the honours graduates in science was employed outside a city scheme, as far as could be seen.

10.48 There were in addition 269 teachers with other honours qualifications. These included honours in the Higher Diploma in Education (16), Domestic Science Diploma (2), Art Teachers' Certificate or Diplomas (12) and Departmental qualifications in Woodwork, Metalwork and Irish.

10.49 As regards qualifications in the theory and practice of education our enquiries showed that rather more than half of all graduate whole-time teachers had the Higher Diploma in Education, although it is not required for appointment as a vocational teacher. All Department-trained teachers and all teachers of art, domestic science and physical education receive formal instruction in teaching theory and practice during their course of training. All teachers of Irish must obtain a Departmental qualification to teach the language, by attending a four week summer course. Similarly all rural science graduates who wish to become whole-time teachers must attend a fortnight's course in teaching methods. We have no information on the number of part-time teachers who hold such qualifications.

10.50 As regards continuation education, part-time teaching is not very significant outside the cities and a few other areas. Over the entire system it accounted for 11.3 per cent of all teaching hours in 1962/63, (details for each scheme are given in the Appendix). Where the percentage of part-time hours was significant it would seem to have been due to the employment of qualified married women to overcome local shortages of teachers of domestic science and commerce.

10.51 As regards the extent to which teachers can be allocated to the subjects they are most competent academically to handle, it was not possible to investigate this directly. In the time available it was possible only to make a comparison of the distribution of aggregate teaching hours for each of the main categories of teacher with the distribution of aggregate student attendance hours per subject. A serious defect in this approach is that no allowance could be made for the effects of dividing or amalgamating classes for particular subjects. While our data on teaching hours were adequate, the distribution of student attendance hours had to be done roughly. It was based mainly on our study of the pattern of education provided in the various schools. Nevertheless some indications emerge which, taken with other available information, would enable some conclusions to be drawn.

10.52 These conclusions as to the competence of teachers in particular subjects must of course be extremely tentative in the absence of any information in the case of graduates as to their degree subjects, or on the extent to which a Department-trained teacher is to be regarded as competent to teach a subject taken only as a subsidiary subject in his course of training. It would appear for example, that the provision of mathematics on the present scale is possible only because the subject is widely taught by metalwork (and sometimes woodwork) teachers. A similar situation obtains in regard to the teachers.

y 178

qui: Educe tificali

educe

radiosit

ication eacher 10.53 Bearing these points in mind we can say that our inquiry seems to show that woodwork, metalwork and rural science teachers generally teach certain other subjects in which their level of qualification is not immediately self-evident, namely mathematics, science and magnetism and electricity. Indeed this could have been inferred from an examination of the composition of the teaching force; there just are not sufficient graduate teachers of mathematics and science or engineering to sustain the level of activity in these subjects. In addition rural science and to a lesser extent domestic science teachers in some areas, appear to take general subjects such as English and arithmetic.

### PATTERN OF CURRICULA

10.54 Turning to the benefits aspect of the question and again using curricula as the indicator, one finds that the pattern of courses provided in the continuation cycle is rather more independent of school size than in the case of secondary schools. In part this is because in establishing such schools provision is made for courses in specified subjects, to be given either by resident or itinerant teachers. In some cases in the smaller centres the number of students enrolled can lead as we have seen to rather generous and hence rather expensive student/teacher ratios. Nevertheless there are variations in the courses offered, as will be shown in what follows.

10.55 Approximately twenty subjects are provided for in the state examination, the Day Vocational Group Certificate. In addition, some schools may provide other subjects, including a modern continental language. Partly because of the examination requirements, there is a core of subjects that will be offered in all, or virtually all schools, irrespective of size and location. This core consists of Irish, English, woodwork, domestic economy, typewriting, mechanical drawing, commercial arithmetic and commerce. We accordingly examined the extent to which the other subjects are taken, viz. metal-work, shorthand, mathematics, rural science, magnetism and electricity, other science subjects (mainly mechanics and heat), commercial geography, art and continental languages. The results are set out in Table 10.26. The details are contained in the Appendix.

10.56 From Table 10.26 it is evident that the range of subjects taken is dependent very much on the size of schools. The percentage of the smallest schools having any of the subjects listed (except rural science, which is a special case) is in almost all cases lower than that for any other size. It will be noted also that certain subjects are taken in rather small numbers of schools; in particular magnetism and electricity, other science subjects and art. On the other

	-			01
1.0	121	H	111	26
1/1			10.	20

	Size of Schools (Number of Pupils)						
Subject	0-99	100-149	150-199	200-299	300 and over	IOTAL	
		F	ercentages		0		
Metalwork Mathematics	21.5 83.8	82·0 98·0	80·8 92·3	100·0 100·0	60·0 100·0	50·8 90·0	
Electricity Rural Science	16·6 55·4	54·0 98·0	30·8 42·3	51·7 20·7	60·0 20·0	27·1 57·5	
Other Science Subjects Shorthand	27·7 51·5	66·0 100·0	53·8 80·8	93·1 93·1	100·0 100·0	47·9 71·3	
Geography Art	21.5 18.5	32·0 26·0	19·2 46·2	34·5 89·7	60·0 100·0	25·8 33·3	
language	16.6	16.0	19.2	41.4	40.0	16.2	
Total Number of Schools	130	50	26	29	5	2401	

Vocational Schools—Day Continuation Courses, Percentage of Schools of Each Size in which Various Subjects were taken, 1962/63

¹Timetables for 2 schools could not be traced.

in,

ai

の四山前町

hand it is interesting to see that modern continental languages (generally French), although only introduced in the past four years or so, have been introduced even in some of the smallest schools. While only about half of the smallest schools provided rural science almost all in the next size of school (100-149) included it.

10.57 It is a more difficult matter to determine how many students actually receive instruction in the various subjects. In some schools subjects are provided for one year only or for either boys or girls. However, the examination of time-tables, on which all this work was based, did give us a strong impression that in most schools students can exercise little or no choice of subjects. We can accordingly, take the numbers of students enrolled in the schools as indicating the numbers, who could have had an opportunity of receiving instruction in the various subjects. Table 10.27 summarises the position; details by school size and centrality are given in the Appendix.

#### **TABLE 10.27**

## Vocational Schools—Day Continuation Courses

		1	Boys	(	TOTAL	
Subject		Number	As Percent- age of Total Boys (15,200)	Number	As Percent- age of Total Girls (11,660)	Percentage of total students (26,860)
Metalwork Mathematics Magnetism and		11,145 14,763 6,304	73·3 97·1 41·5	352	<u>3</u> .0	56.3
Electricity Rural Science Other Science		6,746 9,343	44·4 61·5	696 1,972	6·0 16·9	( <i>a</i> ) 62·1
Shorthand Commercial Geography.		703 3,435	4·6 22·6	10,518 3,373	90·2 28·9	( <i>a</i> ) 25·4
Art Modern Contine languages	 ental	5,849 1,287	38·5 8·5	4,549 2,261	39·0 19·4	38·7 13·2

#### Maximum Numbers of Students who had the Opportunity of Receiving Instruction in Certain Subjects, 1962/63

Note; The symbol- denotes zero.

(a) Not applicable or meaningful.

10.58 Before leaving this subject it must be repeated that the purpose of these tables is to illustrate the variations in the provision of courses. They show only the numbers of students in schools providing certain subjects, they do not purport to show the numbers who actually studied those subjects. Another indicator of this latter point is the numbers entering for the subjects in the day group certificate examinations in 1963. These entries are made in the month of February each year and since the statistics in Table 10.27 are taken from the 'February Census', the two are directly comparable. It should be borne in mind, however, that the numbers entering for examination is less than a third of the total student body. The heavy 'attrition' from continuation courses has been noted in chapter 6. Even on this basis and allowing that several subjects are optional in the examination, it seems to be fairly clear that the numbers taking the subjects in the schools are less than the totals on the rolls (details are given in the Appendix). This may be a result of 'streaming' according to aptitudes or it may be taken as a concentration on the essential 'core' subjects for the examinations.

### UNIT COSTS

10.59 The financial costs attaching to the provision of continuation courses are discussed in paragraph 10.65.

# TECHNICAL AND APPRENTICE EDUCATION

10.60 The distribution of teaching activity in vocational schools is given in Table 10.28 (and illustrated by the accompanying chart). Continuation education has been discussed above. It is not proposed to discuss evening courses. The trends we discussed in Chapter 3 may lead to important changes in evening courses.

10.61 One comment, however, can be made arising out of Table 10.28. Over the whole country evening courses absorbed only 14 per cent of the teaching resources of vocational education. Even in Dublin City, the most highly developed scheme, the resources employed on evening courses are less than a quarter of the total. The significance of these figures lies mainly in the field of financial costs and we shall have occasion to refer to them again under that head.

### TABLE 10.28

Vocational Schools—Percentage Distribution of Teaching Hours by Type of Course, 1962/63

Type of Course	All areas	County Boroughs (including) Dublin)	Dublin City	Scheduled Urban Areas	Counties
	0	Percenta	age Distribu	tion	
DAY Continuation Whole-time	69·6 4·6	45·4 11·7	44·9 13·1	76.5	79·8 1·9
Apprentice Part-time Technical Part V ¹	4·2 2·5 0·8 1·6	9·4 8·1 2·8 0·9	11.7 7.8 	$\frac{2\cdot 4}{0\cdot 8}$	
TOTAL Day	83.3	78.3	78.1	82.9	85.6
EVENING Apprentice Technical and	1.8 8.4	4·6 11·4	5·3 13·9	2·7 6·7	0·4 7·2
Technological and Professional	0.8	2.5	2.5	0.3	0.1
Other	2.9	3.2	0.2	7.3	2.4
TOTAL Evening	13.9	21.7	21.9	17.0	10.1
Community Services	2.8		-	0.1	4.3
TOTAL	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

the () 27 bers det bees vera clea

n the

¹Compulsory continuation classes under Part V of the Vocational Education Act, 1930. Students attend one day per week until they reach the age of 15 years. This part of the Act operates in the County Boroughs of Cork, Limerick and Waterford,

Source: Information supplied by vocational education committees.



10.62 We see from the table that day courses, other than continuation, absorbed 13.7 per cent of teaching time in 1962/63 of which 11.3 per cent can be ascribed to technical and apprentice education. The corresponding percentages are of course considerably higher in the cities, as might be expected. Whole-time technical education is almost entirely confined to the cities; in 1963/64 out of a total of 1,607 students attending such courses 1,383 were enrolled in the four colleges in Dublin and the technical institutes in Cork and Limerick. Of these 594 students were attending third level courses. A further 295 students were attending full-time part-sessional technical courses, 207 at third level.

10.63 Table 10.29 shows the distribution of students attending part-time apprentice and other day courses. In the case of apprentices only 'day release' courses are included; a number also attend 'block-release' courses. It is clear that part-time education of any description is almost entirely confined to the cities and to towns over 1,500 population.

10.64 Because of the diversity of courses it is obviously impossible to evaluate the use of resources in technical education in the way we attempted for continuation courses. Given the variety of courses and the small numbers of students involved, one does not expect to obtain as high a return on the resources of teachers and equipment employed, as might be obtained in different circumstances. In many cases the nature of the courses, extremely small in aggreratios. For instance, the third level courses, extremely small in aggregate, call for specialist teaching skills and university-type ratios. We must here refer to the colleges of technology. The position at present is that to a greater or lesser extent technical education (excluding apprentice training) at second or third level is being provided on a whole-time day basis in Dublin, Cork and Limerick. Only in Dublin (and there in two of the colleges) has the position been reached that continuation courses have been excluded from the technical colleges; the two Dublin colleges seem to be developing to a point when apprentice courses will also be excluded and they will thus become purely colleges of technology in the sense in which the term is used abroad.

#### **TABLE 10.29**

Description of the local data and the local data an			and the second sec			
Centrality Course	Cities ¹	Towns 5,000 and over	Towns 1,500- 5,000	Towns 500- 1,500	Villages 200–500	Rural
Apprentice Courses		1	Number o	f Student	S	
Male	1,415 238	742 3	293	67	=	-
TOTAL	1,653	745	293	67	-	-
Part-time Vocational Male Female	110 278	162 4	99 15	93	74 10	Ξ
TOTAL	388	166	114	93	84	-
Part-time adult Education Male Female	49 476	20 19	65 25	60 42	56 40	15
TOTAL	525	39	90	102	96	15

Number of Students attending Part-time Day Courses on 1 February, 1964 by Centrality

¹The four county boroughs (Dublin, Cork, Limerick, Waterford).

Source: February Census, 1964.

21

ix

ni nei h pei nei h

# UNIT COSTS IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

10.65 Data on costs for vocational education were not readily available to us, since the various committees do not analyse their expenditure by the type of course provided. Accordingly, it was necessary to collect data on this topic (details are given in Appendix V.D). The results for continuation courses may be summarised as follows: —

#### **TABLE 10.30**

	All Schools	Dublin City	Counties
		£	
Teaching Costs per student Other Costs per student ¹	45·5 25·2	47·6 36·3	45·2 25·1
Total Costs per student ¹	70.7	83.9	70.3

Estimated Cost per Student in Continuation Courses, 1962/63

¹Includes interest payments and repayments of capital.

Source: Information supplied by vocational education committees.

The chief characteristic of these figures is that non-teaching costs are much more significant for vocational than for either national or secondary schools. In part this may be due to the manner in which non-teaching expenditure was allocated as between the various types of course provided by vocational schools (see Appendix). The data for Dublin City and for the counties are shown since they are consistent with the suggestion made in paragraph 10.43 that the provision of teaching services is somewhat more generous in Dublin than elsewhere. Data on student costs for each size of school were not asked for owing to the great deal of time involved. While it might be expected that they would be in line with the general tendency for smaller schools generally to have the higher costs, the differences might not be so great in the case of vocational schools on account of the considerably higher other current costs in the city as compared with the county schemes.

10.66 Tables 10.31 and 10.32 show the estimated (i) cost of instruction per teaching hour and per student for each main type of course (including continuation) and (ii) the estimated aggregate current cost (including instruction, maintenance, administration etc.) per teaching hour and per student. The cost of continuation courses has been commented on. As regards the other courses, in comparing the cost per student on evening courses with the cost for other courses, the cost per student is relatively high given the rather short period of attendance of the average evening student (about 50 hours in the session).¹⁰ The same observation applies to part-time day courses, including apprentice courses.

10.67 Probably the most significant figures in the tables are those relating to day technical courses, in particular the extremely high cost

¹⁰The allocation of costs as between specific types of evening courses may not be altogether reliable but we felt that the aggregate cost per student was not sufficiently meaningful.

		Community Services							I	
1961/63		Other		17-2 17-6 34-8 ¹				ng Courses		4-1 8-7 4-7
nurse, Session	040	Professional and Fechnological		27-4 16-8 31-8				All Even		6
and by Type of Co	e) Furwing Com	Technical and Commercial		18-2 17-7 19-4	-	(	2	Part-time Technical and Other	2	10-9 7-8 23-9
dent by Area o	Summe m) m	Apprentice		17-5 18-6 16-8	0	student (in £'s	2-	rentice	(3)	19-1 15-4 24-9
t 10.31 ad per Stu	acums no	Other	92	17-6 15-7 23-6		cost per a	COURSES	App	Cost	
TABLE Teacher an	nos bei se	Part V	t in Shilling	19-9		istruction	DAY (	Technical		
ction per stimated of		Part-time Technical	Cos	26-4 16-6 31-6		timated In		Whole-time		80-5 47-6 112-5
t of Instru (a) F	Y COURSES	Apprentice		26-4 12-0 29-0	umbers.	$(b) E_{S}$		u		
Estimated Cos	DA	Whole-time Technical		28-4 19-4 33-6	very small n			Continuatio		45-5 45-2 47-6
Schools:		uo	-		Based on		of Course			
ocational		Continuati		19-0 18-7 19-6	1		Type			eas es City
4	Type of	Area		All Areas Counties Dublin City				Area		All Ar Counti Dublin

Source: Information supplied by vocational education committees.

3.7

299

33	
0	
-	
щ	
M	
R	
H	

Vocational Schools: Estimated Total Current Cost¹ per Teaching Hour and per Student by Area and by Type of Course (Teaching and other Current Costs¹ Combined)

		Community Services		26-4 27-1 26-6 28-8 49-8		Courses		
	Sa	rofessional and echnological Ot	_	42-0 25-2 54-5		All Forming		
	EVENING COURS	Technical and F Commercial 7		27-9 26-8 34-4			Part-time Technical and Other	
ur (in shillings)		Apprentice		28-6 28-1 39-5	it (in £'s)	é.	prentice	st (£)
ching hou		Other		25-1 23-7 38-6	per studen	COURSES	Ap	Cos
st per teu		Part V	n Shillings	33:8	ted cost ]	DAY	Technical	
imated co	9	Part-time Technical	Cost i	40-2 25-1 54-3	5) Estima		Whole-time	
(a) Esti	AY COURSES	Apprentice		40-3 18-1 52-5	0	-	tion	
	D	Whole-time Technical		46-9 28-6 56-3			Continus	
		Continuation		29-8 28-8 34-8	,	Type of Course		
	Type of	Course Area		All Areas Counties Dublin City			Area	

¹Includes interest payments and repayments of capital. *Source:* Information supplied by vocational education committees.

6-3 5-6 8-8

17-8 11-9 41-0

31-2 23-3 44-5

131-1 71-1 182-3

70.3

All Areas ... Counties ... Dublin City ...

300

relatively of wholetime technical education in Dublin. It is possible that the presence of third level courses may have inflated the costs somewhat, but it does suggest that the expansion of day technical education throughout the country may prove to be quite expensive.

10.68 At present about 70 per cent of all current expenditure on vocational education can be ascribed to continuation courses.¹¹ Technical education of all kinds accounts for 17 per cent and all evening courses for 13 per cent. On the basis of our projections in chapter 3, it would seem that by 1970/71 the proportions for both continuation and evening courses will fall and that for technical education will rise. Continuation courses will then account for only 64 per cent of expenditure, evening courses for 10 per cent and all forms of day technical education for 26 per cent. This may hold interesting implications in regard to methods of financing.

# SUMMARY OF VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

10.69 Low population density, and in some areas competition with secondary schools, has resulted in the establishment of a large number of small schools. The organisational structure has the effect of alleviating the problems of efficient use of resources traditionally associated with small units, but it cannot overcome them completely. More importantly, perhaps, the provision of certain facilities, both of equipment and teaching services, is limited by the size of schools (an obvious example is metalwork). The range of subjects available to students in the smaller, mainly rural schools is thereby restricted.¹² Connacht is particularly affected in this way because of the large percentage of students involved.

10.70 Outside the large centres of population, continuation education seems to have been organised around a small core of specialist teachers, viz. woodwork, rural science, domestic science, Irish and general subjects. To these the commerce teachers have been gradually added. While there have been, and are teacher shortages, especially in rural science, the supply of teachers in general seems to have been reasonably adequate. In the past decade with the introduction of metalwork into medium and smaller-sized schools a shortage of that category of teacher has arisen.

10.71 These six categories of teacher carry the brunt of vocational teaching. The greater part of the continuation course falls on them;

¹¹Table 14, Appendix V.D.

¹⁸To some extent this may have been due to differences in outlook in the past on the extent to which continuation courses should be related to other than purely local circumstances. *Vide* memorandum V.40 — Organization of whole-time continuation courses in borough, urban and county areas, page 15 (Department of Education—1941).

as does adult education. The scarcity of other types of teacher means that these teachers may have to take subjects such as science and mathematics in which their background and experience give them only a limited expertise.

10.72 If the only reason for these schools were the provision of continuation education, it would appear that many of them are too small to enable this education to be provided with the maximum degree of efficiency, using the terms in an economic sense. Moreover, the continuation course is now to be extended to three years and the curricula revised and an avenue provided to higher levels. The efficient utilisation of resources will, therefore, be all the more necessary.

## CONCLUSION

10.73 This chapter has attempted a brief examination of postprimary education. The main objective has been to show that the approach adopted in the previous chapter on national schools, is valid here also, though it needs to be adapted to the particular characteristics of this level. Given the data at our disposal it was not possible to discuss the various factors as comprehensively as we would have wished, but we nevertheless feel that it provides some useful indicators of the effectiveness of activities at this level and that it also suggests the areas in which further enquiries should prove highly valuable.

## CHAPTER ELEVEN

# The Financing of Education.

11.1 One aspect of educational activity which seems sufficiently important to merit separate discussion is the pattern adopted for the financing of education from public funds. The methods and extent of public financing of the various educational levels appeared in chapter 5, as part of the consideration of the costs of education. The intention in the present chapter is to examine the appropriateness of financing methods in terms of their efficiency in promoting the various objectives which they may be intended to achieve.

11.2 To do this fully, however, would require, among other things, a knowledge of the goals which every item of expenditure was intended to promote. As of course no such precise listing of policy objectives is ever likely to be available it would not be possible to discuss the problem in a positive manner (i.e. here is what the State wants do to, and this is what it does) which would enable firm conclusions to be drawn as to the efficiency of the actual financing methods used. The alternative might appear to be to discuss the question in a normative way (i.e. to list what the State ought to do, and then describe the methods which would best enable this to be done) but this would involve policy judgements or recommendations on our part, and these are outside the scope of this Report. Instead then of using either one of these methods, the solution adopted here is to discuss the existing pattern in a general way from both view points.

11.3 By way of introduction it may be useful to summarise the major details of educational financing from public funds. Firstly, it may be convenient to distinguish the flow of funds to those who provide education on the one hand (school authorities etc.) and to those who avail themselves of it (parents and students) on the other. Table 11.1 accordingly classifies public expenditure for each educational level for the year 1961/2. It will be seen that the bulk of public funds flows to the school authorities and teachers rather than to the parents or pupils.

#### TABLE 11.1

Allocation of Public Expenditure on Education in 1961/2 between Schools etc. and Pupils

### (£'000)

		Payments to School Authorities, Teachers, etc.	Payments to Parents/Pupils
National Schools	 	11,044	_
Secondary Schools	 	2,929	112
Vocational Schools	 	2,692	49
Other Second Level	 	170	Co-
Universities	 	1,197	103
Teacher Training and Other Third Level	}	195	20

Source: See Chapter 5.

11.4 It may next be useful to summarise the trend in the flow of funds to each major educational division. Table 11.2 accordingly summarises the position in this respect for some past years, together with the projected position for 1971 (this latter on the basis of the estimates in Chapter 5).

#### TABLE 11.2

Year National		Secondary	Vocational	University	Other	Total					
Percentage Distribution											
1926/7 1936/7 1946/7 1951/2 1961/2 1970/1	80·3 73·9 68·0 67·6 58·8 46·3	5.4 9.1 11.3 11.1 13.6 14.7	$ \begin{array}{r} 6.0 \\ 8.9 \\ 11.2 \\ 11.7 \\ 12.2 \\ 15.2 \end{array} $	4·4 3·5 3·7 4·1 7·0 10·4	3.9 4.6 5.8 5.5 8.4 13.4	100 100 100 100 100 100					

Percentage Distribution of Public Expenditure on Education by Division, in Selected Years and as Projected for 1970/71

Source: See Appendix V.E.

It will be seen that the proportion of funds going to first level education has been falling; while that going to post-primary and universities has been rising.

11.5 Finally, before examining the financing pattern of each educational level it may be useful to sketch the type of framework within which the discussion may be conducted. Government activities in the economic sphere are generally classified into three main groups (1) those aimed at satisfying social or collective wants, (2) those which effect a redistribution of income and/or wealth, and (3) those designed to promote economic growth or stability. Examples of those in the

#### 304

first group might be the provision of a police force or of a light-house service, in the second group the provision of pensions to old or blind persons, and in the third group the granting of subsidies for the establishment of new firms or industries.

11.6 State activities in the educational sphere might fall into any or all of these three groups. Thus it is often contended that the benefits from education may accrue not merely to the person educated but also to the community as a whole. Hence there may be economic grounds for financing education on a collective rather than on an individual basis. Again, since the available data suggest that on average people with more education earn higher incomes than those with less, public provision of education might be intended to influence the income distribution in the economy. Finally, as the discussion of chapters 7 and 8 illustrated, governmental activity in education might be the result of concern for the prospects for economic growth.

11.7 In practice it is unlikely that any neat allocation of activities into specific groups would be possible. It may well be that an activity is intended to achieve more than one objective; for example, an educational scheme for poorer children might be aimed, among other things, at effecting an income redistribution in the community and also at providing trained manpower for an economic growth programme. Alternatively, an activity may be intended to achieve one objective, but the authorities may be prepared to accept that it will have consequential effects in other areas. Thus, for example in the case of roads which are made available freely and for which the necessary funds are raised by taxation, this particular method of financing may have been adopted because it might be administratively inconvenient to charge a toll to each road user for each journey. The primary objective of such a road programme may be to meet a social want, but the authorities concerned may be prepared to accept the redistributional consequences which will result from it. It may be noted here that what is administratively feasible will vary with time and place; hence no dogmatic statements can be made on such topics.

11.8 In the case of re-distributional activities there may be an additional complication. Re-distribution of income may be effected in a number of ways by the State. It may be done on a personal basis, by imposing taxes on the incomes of wealthier persons and at the same time granting pensions and other types of cash supplements to poorer groups. Alternately, re-distribution might be attempted on a commodity basis, by taxing items which are mainly consumed by wealthier persons, such as diamonds, and subsidising items which are of greater relative importance for poorer groups such as bread and

3¢1

or ite up ite

butter. When done on this latter basis, a commodity may then be either made available to all at the subsidised price, such as with bread, butter etc., during the war-time and post-war period, or it may be restricted to certain groups as with health scheme benefits.

11.9 In general, it would appear preferable on grounds of economic efficiency to effect all re-distribution on a personal basis, but there is the difficulty that if recipients of benefits are left free to spend them as they wish, they may neglect some essential items, such as food. Because people may behave in this 'irrational' way, it may be decided to operate a re-distributional scheme on a commodity rather than on a personal basis.

## NATIONAL SCHOOLS

11.10 The national school system is explicitly financed in such a way as to make available free of direct charge, at least a minimum of education for all children. This pattern of financing might place the activity in one or both of two groups, (1) meeting a social want and (2) re-distribution of income from one sector of the community to another, but whether these are objectives or consequences is not clear. Thus, in organising a school system, the State could, in theory, have financed it in a manner intended to serve a particular objective. namely that of meeting the social wants of a specific group, by arranging that pupils be charged a fee sufficient to cover costs. In fact no direct charge is made and the necessary revenue is raised from general taxation. This has some re-distributional effects-in general from those who pay most taxes or who avail themselves least of the educational services, to those who pay least taxes or who avail themselves most of the service. This might be construed as an intention to achieve re-distribution or alternatively the re-distributional effect may be thought of not as an objective in itself but as a consequence of the first objective-namely, providing a community service.

11.11 In this context the administrative arrangements designed for education are, of course, relevant. In addition to the financing method used, the State also imposes legal sanctions requiring all children between the ages of 6 and 14 to attend school. Such sanctions influence educational participation in two ways, Firstly, there is the direct effect resulting from the threat of legal action against recalcitrant parents and children. Secondly, there is an indirect persuasive effect in that children under 14 cannot legally be engaged in full-time employment. Hence, given this restriction, there is no significant loss of earnings to be considered as one of the costs of acquiring this education. Again, however, these legal requirements appear capable of

alternative interpretations. On the one hand, it might be contended that they constitute re-distribution on a commodity basis, since the State's intention is to ensure that everybody will receive, at least, the specified minimum of the subsidised commodity (in this case, education). Against this, it might equally be held that the regulations are primarily designed to stimulate the flow of educated people.

11.12 There are some further expenditure items which suggest that the State is prepared to accept re-distributional effects with regard to national school activities. These are the existence of such facilities as school meals and school medical service and grants of free school requisites to needy children, all of which suggest that the State is prepared to incur additional ancillary expenditure in order to ensure that all children may be in a position to derive reasonable benefit from the educational service provided.

11.13 It may be concluded that with national education, state activity probably falls into the areas of meeting a social want and effecting a re-distribution of income; it may possibly also involve the third area of promoting economic growth. Nothing definite could be said in economic terms concerning the first area, unless some data were available as to the private and social benefits produced by education, which would give some indication of the degree of service called for. With regard to the re-distributional area, again nothing definite could be said unless some measure of the intended re-distribution were given. One measure which is frequently suggested 'equality of opportunity' is of itself somewhat vague and would need to be more specifically quantified before any conclusions could be drawn. Thus, it may be noted that while there is equality of access to national schools for all children, there may be some disadvantage as regards school amenities for children in poorer areas. Again, as chapter 9 shows there are significant differences in the size of schools which suggests that equality of expenditure per pupil throughout the country would not result in equality of opportunity to derive benefit from a given period spent at school. As regards the third area of promoting economic growth, it is again not possible to say anything definite for reasons which are discussed in chapter 15.

## POST-PRIMARY FINANCING

机旅

úsi

5-1

in

(038

enix

goad for

metho

chiltre sanctini re is th

calcing

ire effet

time to

nt loss d

is educ

apable d

11.14 In the case of post-primary education, the financing methods differ from those which operate for national schools. State financial aid for secondary school education is given in two ways, firstly, in the form of various grants to the schools themselves and, secondly, by way of scholarships to pupils.

11.15 The bulk of the subsidy to schools is accounted for by two items—teachers' incremental salaries and pupil capitation grants. One result of subsidising secondary schools in this way is to lower the price (fee) which the pupils are charged by the schools. It has no doubt stimulated consumption of the commodity (secondary education); there is, however, a very low participation rate on the part of children from some social groups which are generally associated with low incomes. The low participation rate of such children may arise not only because their families must pay the fees, but also because they must also meet the cost involved in keeping children at school rather than allowing them to enter employment.

11.16 In the case of children who enrol in secondary schools the State makes the same grant per pupil and pays the same salary scale to all teachers. Incremental salaries are paid to recognised teachers, the basis for recognition being the number of pupils enrolled (roughly speaking a school is allowed one extra teacher for every fifteen extra pupils). Many schools, however, do not engage the number of registered teachers to which they are entitled. This may well be due to the fact that the schools themselves must pay a basic salary to the teachers; this is additional to the salary paid by the State. Not only may the better-off schools score in the actual number of teachers, through taking up their full quota; they may also offer higher basic salaries and be more attractive places to work in and, as a result, more successful in getting teachers of subjects who are in short supply. This consideration, however, is counterbalanced to some extent by the fact that many teachers are members of religious orders.

11.17 Such is the pattern produced by the two major components of state financing; it must now be seen whether the remaining items modify the pattern. The two remaining significant forms of grant to schools are grants for science and grants for Irish. The intention here is, presumably, to encourage the teaching of these subjects so that while these grants might influence the composition of the curriculum available to pupils they probably have no great effect on the decision as to whether or not to enrol in a secondary school.

11.8 The remaining important financial item is scholarships. Though relatively insignificant when expressed as a fraction of total state spending on secondary schools, they are an important area in their own right in so far as they are the one item which might at first glance be taken to have as their aim the second expenditure objective, namely, re-distribution. Such scholarships were financed by local authorities prior to 1961 by which year they were costing roughly £90,000 annually. The 1961 Scholarship Act provided for central government expenditure in addition to the local authority effort and when fully operative (by 1965/66) should be running at an annual level of £200,000 State and £160,000 local authority spending. The maximum scholarship is generally about £100 in the case of boarding schools and £50 in the case of day schools.

11.19 Scholarships generally are awarded on the results of competitive examination, but in some areas a number of scholarships are reserved for particular categories of pupils e.g. pupils from small rural schools. There is also a limit on the size of family income, which at the present time is £1,200, and 75 per cent of scholarships are reserved for children whose family income is below this figure.

11.20 It may be, however, that under the present scholarship scheme children of very low income families may not be able to benefit to a reasonable extent. From a maximum of £50, day pupils would first need to meet a fee (which averaged £16 in 1961/2, the only year for which this data are available) then the cost of books, transport and other incidentals, added to which the family must bear the most substantial item, maintenance costs. Nor is the situation any better for the boarding pupil. In his case the average fee in 1961/2 was £93, though probably scholarship holders would attend schools with lower fees—perhaps a figure of £75 would be more typical but none the less the margin is not generous. The actual situation is not even as favourable as this, as in many areas the value of scholarships is a good deal less than the maximum, so that £40 would be nearer the average value of day scholarships and £80 for boarding.

が位

前

rea to

11.21 The scholarship scheme is in practice, therefore, far more likely to encourage pupils from families whose incomes lie above some 'threshold' minimum (below which education could not be afforded), but below the ceiling of £1,200. Families in the £500-£1,200 range may benefit further by the income tax concessions. These concessions enable parents to claim the child allowance, which would otherwise cease at age 16, for any child who remains in full-time education. In order to benefit from this concession it is of course necessary to be earning sufficient income.  $\pm500$  is the amount which a married man may earn tax-free; hence beyond that figure, there may be a tax saving for each child who remains in full-time education; at present rates this saving is of the order of  $\pm30$  per annum. It should be emphasised that this saving would arise only in the later years of post-primary schooling, that is from age 16 onwards. 11.22 Any judgment as to the effectiveness of these scholarship schemes would, as with other items of expenditure, depend on their objectives. If the objective be of a manpower nature, designed to increase the flow of more highly educated people, then the scheme might be regarded as fairly successful, since it probably selects a high proportion of students who will be successful at terminal examinations. Studies in other countries show that educational motivation and achievement are fairly closely correlated with the socio-economic grouping of parents. In particular, of the groups affected by scholarships, children of 'white-collar' workers tend to be successful, whereas children of unskilled or semi-skilled workers fare rather badly. Since the scholarship scheme seems likely to favour the former group it probably achieves a high degree of success, in the sense of selecting pupils who are likely to pass the subsequent examinations.

11.23 If, on the other hand, the primary aim of the scholarship scheme is to provide some sort of equality of opportunity for children in lower income groups, there may be grounds for considering the scheme to be less successful, and for altering it accordingly, since greater incentives would appear to be needed for those in very low income groups.

11.24 Even these tentative conclusions, however, need to be qualified. While a manpower approach might apparently favour the present scheme, it might also be possible that such an approach to economic growth is too short-run. A longer-run approach might suggest the cultivation of every source of potentially successful students, on the basis that human talent is also a scarce resource.

11.25 In the case of the other major type of post-primary education, vocational education, there is an entirely different financing pattern. Here public authorities take responsibility for almost all of the expenditure involved, with pupil fees accounting for less than 5 per cent of total revenue. Of the 95 per cent which public authorities provide roughly two-thirds comes from the central government while one-third is contributed by the local authorities. It is likely that this financing pattern also produces some significant re-distributional effects though they are probably not so pronounced as with secondary schools. These would suggest that a poorer county would find it more onerous to raise the local grant than would a wealthier one, yet it is the poorer counties which would probably have the greater need for vocational schools, since in some cases they have a smaller fraction of children in other post-primary schools.

¹The data were not readily available on the social grouping of those who obtained scholarships.

# THIRD LEVEL

i di

tin, ten, ten, ten,

ad for

e mit

11.26 In third level education the principal category of public expenditure is that on universities. Here, the major part of state spending takes the form of block grants to the various colleges, designed to cover the gap between their other receipts and expenditure. The effects of this system are similar to those discussed in connection with secondary schools. The state subsidy results in lower fees, which encourages attendance at universities, but only by those who can afford the fees and maintenance costs involved. This will, of course, depend in part on whether or not the student's home is in a university town. As before, the poorer student can have recourse to scholarships and, as before, scholarships do not vary in value with individual circumstances. The student is either eligible or not; as before, one may infer that scholarships most favour children of parents nearest the upper income limit of £1,200.

11.27 In university financing it is also important to note the effects of differences in the cost and duration of various courses. A degree course in Medicine is of six years duration; a course in Law may only take three years. Hence, even if the same annual fee is charged differences in cost will arise for the course as a whole. Again, one might have courses of equal duration for which different fees are charged, which would again result in different total costs to the students concerned. There are thus two conflicting aspects to be reconciled in this area. On narrow economic grounds it would generally be the intention that the respective fees charged should reflect the costs involved in each course. On social grounds, however, (and broad economic grounds if the reasoning of chapter 15 is accepted), it might be preferable that students should choose their field of study on the basis of personal preference and interests without undue regard to cost differences.

11.28 It seems reasonable to conclude that the present system achieves neither economic nor social objectives. While universities and, in some cases, professional institutions charge different fees for various courses, it may be surmised that the differences are the result of convention or approximation. The universities do not in fact know the relative costs of various courses; they are not, therefore, in a position to charge fees which reflect the costs involved. In particular, since they do not know how their cost patterns may alter as student numbers change, the universities do not at present appear to be in a position to pursue a narrow economic policy even if they wished to do so.

11.29 Nor is the position any better with respect to the broader objective. The cost differences, whether due to the differences in

annual fees or to differences in duration of courses, are substantial enough to make it probable that for many students they are a factor in choosing a field of study. In the case of scholarships some attempt to meet this difficulty might be made by varying the value of the awards according to the faculty chosen. As already observed, however, scholarships are not really tailored at present to individual circumstances and varying their values according to faculty would not really remedy the position. Even if it did so, the problem would still remain for the majority of the students who did not hold scholarships.

### CONCLUSION

11.30 Our brief survey in this chapter may serve to indicate the relevance of financing methods to the attainment of educational objectives. Without in any way attempting to say what the existing financing methods are intended to achieve, or what they ought to set out to achieve, it may at the same time be reasonable to conclude that they are not likely to be the most effective ones for the attainment of economic objectives in the educational sphere. This is hardly surprising, Historically, the main pressures for state aid to expand educational facilities were social and cultural in their emphasis. Many of the existing financing methods were introduced during the nineteenth century when the foundations of the present system were being laid. Whether and to what extent educational objectives have changed with the times is beyond our compass, though our terms of reference require us to take account of economic growth as one such objective of educational policy. Accordingly, in chapter 15 some indications will be given as to the changes in financing methods which this objective might justify.

# PART IV

Part IV consists of Chapters 12, 13, 14 and 15. In Chapter 12 some possible variations in the educational system are discussed with a view to satisfying certain social and economic objectives and achieving the efficient use of resources. Chapter 13 contains the recommendations of the report as required by the terms of reference on the organisation of educational planning.

Chapter 14 refers to educational aid for developing countries. Chapter 15 considers the relationships of education to economic progress.



### CHAPTER TWELVE

## **Educational Organization and Development**

12.1 Using the analysis of the six preceding chapters the question of formulating alternative projections to those given in chapters 3 to 5 may now be considered.

12.2 One difficulty in the way of making such projections is that some assumptions as to the future course of educational policy and the objective(s) which such policy might seek to achieve, are necessary in order to formulate reasonable projections. Thus, the examination of manpower requirements in chapters 7 and 8 indicated that there would be scope for policies aimed at altering the qualificatory status of people leaving the educational sector. Given our terms of reference it would also seem that we should frame projections of the additional resources needed to meet such a manpower objective. In order to make such projections it is necessary to know (or assume) both the extent of, and the methods by which to increase the numbers of certificants.

12.3 In the following discussion it is, therefore, necessary for us to make various assumptions regarding the methods by which different targets or objectives might be achieved. Such assumptions are in no sense recommendations as to form(s) which future policies might take. Our aim is rather to see that the quantitative information which is an essential component of any soundly-based decision in this field, is available, in so far as that is possible.

12.4 We may, therefore, proceed to discuss in a general way how certain possible courses of action might affect some of the main problems which the foregoing analysis appears to pose. It will be appreciated that such a discussion, based as it is on quantifiable aspects of educational activity, is necessarily intended to be illustrative rather than comprehensive, both in its selection and consideration of problem areas.

12.5 The demand on the educational system may be thought of as two-fold, to cater for the numbers who seek education for any reason, and also to produce the qualified manpower required by an expanding economy. Three of the problems which our survey suggests need to be overcome in order to meet these demands are, the below average participation of certain sections in post-primary and higher education, the shortfall in the output of certain certificants and finally, the need to ensure that resources are used to best advantage. It may be useful initially, to review our findings on each of these matters.

12.6 In chapter 6 we showed the low proportion of children from the semi- and unskilled occupational group who proceed to postprimary education. We demonstrated also that the participation of these groups becomes progressively lower as one proceeds through post-primary and on to higher education. An important aspect of the problem is the high percentage of pupils who 'drop-out' after a year or two in junior post-primary education.

12.7 On the manpower side, the major point to emerge from chapters 7 and 8 is that on the basis of the educational targets selected, a serious shortfall is likely by 1971 in the number of junior cycle certificants entering the labour force. Very roughly we estimate a shortage over the decade of 76,000 workers with this level of qualification.

12.8 Chapters 9 and 10 have pointed to the problems of organization. Thus the existing organization of national schools results in an allocation of teachers that at the one extreme may give a teacher for 8 pupils and at the other, one teacher per 45 pupils or more. On the post-primary side, the schools are unevenly distributed and many are small. As Table 10.6 shows the number of pupils per equivalent full-time teacher varies from 12 or 13 in the boarding schools to 21 in the largest day schools. This in turn has repercussions on their curricula.

12.9 In addition we have shown in chapter 5 that simply to meet the normal expansion of the system will increase expenditure on education substantially by 1970. If special measures are to be taken to increase participation by certain groups or to produce more certificants, a further increase in expenditure must be accepted. Any suggestions therefore, that might lighten the burden are worthy of consideration. In what follows, it is proposed to consider the three questions of manpower needs, increasing participation rates, and more efficient use of resources.

### MANPOWER

12.10 Here the main problem which it was found possible to identify is essentially a short-term one, namely to provide sufficient junior cycle certificants by 1971 to meet reasonable educational targets for the manpower requirements of the Second Programme for Economic Expansion. There are other areas where shortages may already exist but due to the lack of data they are not discussed here. Even if, however, these existing shortages had been eliminated by 1971 and the education system had been geared to the production of the required numbers of junior certificants, it would be naive to think that our manpower worries would be at an end. If the expansion of the economy is maintained, other shortages of qualified manpower will become manifest, most likely at a higher level of specialisation and qualifications. This specific 'deficit' represents the immediate effect of national development in necessitating the introduction of new skills and the deepening of old ones. In the short-run it will no doubt be largely met by substitution, either by national school leavers or by those who have spent some time in a junior cycle post-primary course.¹ But while the problem might in some sense be thought of as 'solved' there would none the less be a price which the economy as a whole must bear in terms of the reduced efficiency of the labour force.² The importance of these deficits lies in their being a warning for the future. The educational system may be unable to meet a 'target' expected of it simply because the 'target' was not specified in time. There is the problem of adapting the educational sector to changing conditions, apart from organizational problems such as providing the schools and teachers, or getting sufficient students into the courses. This of course, pre-supposes that it is possible to forecast manpower needs in sufficient detail and sufficiently far ahead. Our own work in Chapter 8 has demonstrated that there are severe difficulties in formulating estimates of this type in the light of present knowledge. Nor is it likely to become a simple task in the foreseeable future. There is no need here to digress into a discussion of the 'manpower approach' to education, but it would seem from our experience that manpower forecasting will need considerable development before it can be fully integrated into the general educational framework. In the realm of highly qualified manpower, limited forecasts can be made and in time such limited forecasts may acquire a high degree of accuracy.

12.11 It would be unrealistic however, to plan the organisation of post-primary education in Ireland solely on the basis of producing an additional 76,000 junior certificants by 1971. The value of this

¹In the longer term such educational deficits could be a severe handicap in retraining persons with only a minimum education in new (and probably more complex) skills. This point is of course relevant given a working life of 40-50 years and the possible effects of automation.

^{as}For most tasks there may be a minimum level of skill required to perform them at all, but this does not mean that a task should be performed by the least skilled person capable of doing it. People with more than this minimum may vary in the speed and effectiveness with which they can perform the task and those more highly skilled may do it more effectively than those less highly skilled. In the case of people with higher education there is the further point that they not only perform tasks that are put before them but they often discover new tasks to be undertaken.¹

Planning the Scale of Higher Education in Britain: Some Statistical Problems, C. A. Moser and P. R. G. Layard, (Paper read before the Royal Statistical Society, May 27th, 1964).

estimate is that it suggests that there may be economic grounds for supporting an expansion of the system so that it will be producing substantially more of these certificants by 1971. This means increasing the number of entrants to junior post-primary courses and inducing more of those who enter to stay on and complete their courses. A second measure which could contribute materially to the attainment of both these ends would be to raise the school leaving age. It appears however, that this measure will not be implemented before 1970. In the interim other measures are required to meet the problem of the sixties.

12.12 The question then is how the manpower needs as indicated by chapters 7 and 8 might be met. Two separate 'deficits' were suggested by that discussion; the first relating to the ' deficiencies' of young persons newly entering the labour force and the second relating to the educational 'deficiencies' of the labour force as a whole. The solution to the second would be largely a matter of measures to raise the educational level of adults since the persons concerned would already have left the educational sector. In particular it may involve measures for retraining the unemployed, since it would seem from their occupational categories that their educational attainment was significantly below the average. Since there is not a general scheme of adult education or retraining in operation at present, and since no adequate data on this topic are available to us, it is not proposed to discuss this problem here, but merely to record its existence. The solution to the first mentioned 'deficit' on the other hand would presumably be largely a matter of changes in the pattern of education for young persons, since the problem arises from the expected shortfall in the educational status of those leaving school and entering employment during the current decade.

12.13 The present discussion of manpower needs may, therefore, be concentrated on this 'deficit'. The scope of the problem was indicated in Table 8.4. In that table it was seen that the major ascertainable 'deficit' was in the area of persons with junior post-primary qualifications; there being an estimated shortfall of 76,000 for the decade as a whole in the numbers of such persons entering employment. This total yields an annual average of 8,000, but on the assumption that the 'deficits' of earlier years will not be made up and since the number of certificants are expected to be higher in the later years of the decade, it may be more appropriate to take an annual figure of 5,000 as being the order of magnitude of any required effort.

12.14 There are two methods by which such an increase in the annual number of certificants might be achieved; firstly by an
expansion in the numbers who enter post-primary schools (assuming that the requisite number of those who entered would remain for the three or four years needed to obtain a certificate), or secondly by a reduction in the numbers of those who leave post-primary schools before they obtain a qualification.

12.15 It may be useful to ascertain what scope exists for each of these approaches. As regards the possibility of expanding the number of entrants to post-primary schools Table 3.2 indicated that by 1971, 42,700 of the children aged 14 would be in such schools, while an estimated 14,000 would still be in first level schools or not at school. On the face of things, therefore, there would be ample scope for expanding enrolments; some qualifications, however, must be made to the figure of 14,000. Firstly, some of these children would be handicapped-Table 3.2 shows 400 as the number who would be in special schools. It may be observed that this number, being less than one per cent of the cohort may considerably underestimate the full extent of such defects, so that a figure of at least double might be more relevant here.3 Secondly, as indicated in chapter 9, a significant fraction of pupils are 'delayed' in their progress through the national schools-Table 9.14 indicated that 13.5 per cent (or 6,000) of fifth standard pupils would not have completed their national school curriculum by the age of 14. It is unlikely that such pupils would complete a post-primary course under existing arrangements. This leaves a figure of 7,000 then, as the maximum number who might reasonably be expected to respond to any scheme to expand entrants to post-primary schools. Whether this number of entrants would vield 5,000 certificants would depend on the 'drop out' rate, hence it may be appropriate to turn now to the second possibility, namely the scope for reducing such 'drop-out'.

12.16 In paragraph 6.27 it was indicated that in the year 1962/63 about 4,200 pupils in the junior cycle of secondary schools left education altogether without a post-primary certificate. Similarly from paragraph 6.68 it would appear that in the same year about 7,000 pupils left the junior cycle of vocational schools without a post-primary qualification. Thus about 11,200 or roughly one-third of the number of entrants to junior cycle courses 'dropped out' before obtaining a qualification. It may be relevant to note the disparity in 'drop-out' rates suggested by these figures, the 4,200 secondary pupils were about 20 per cent of the entrants to the junior courses of such schools, whereas the 7,000 were over 40 per cent of those who enrolled in the junior cycle (continuation) of vocational schools. Such a disparity does not necessarily reflect on the type of

³See report of Commission of Inquiry on Mental Handicap (S.O.).

school, of course-one must consider among other things the type of pupil concerned.

12.17 If these 'drop-out' rates were to continue in coming years it would seem that the first prospect, of expanding entrants (by a maximum of say 7,000) would scarcely yield 5,000 extra certificants unless the 'drop-out' rate of pupils was significantly reduced. Given the data on social groups in chapter 6, it would seem likely that the drop-out rate of such pupils would approximate more to that of continuation students, so that a significant shortfall would occur.

12.18 To assess the feasibility of the second course of actionnamely an attempt to reduce the 'drop-out' rate, it would be necessary to estimate what the response would be to various policy measures. While no direct knowledge is available on this topic it is probable that among the factors which would have to be taken into account in devising such measures are the intellectual ability and interests of the children, the financial circumstances of the families concerned, the distance from a post-primary school, and the knowledge and attitudes of such families regarding education.

12.19 This suggests that the policies which might help to reduce 'drop-out' would be similar to those which would increase entrants, since these would both call for increased financial provisions to encourage pupils to enter/remain at school and for wider dissemination of information concerning educational opportunities. Financial provision might be expected to take two main forms, one an increase in the number and/or value of scholarships to pupils and secondly an increased provision of school facilities in at least some areas. Transport might be included under either head; scholarships might contain a travel element, or transport services might be provided along with school and other facilities. This latter method would probably require some time to implement effectively. accordingly it may be thought of as more appropriate to a longrun solution of the problem. In the shorter-run (and the period of 'manpower deficit' discussed here-that up to 1971-may be thought of as a fairly short-run period) this would leave scholarships as the more obvious remedy.

12.20 However, scholarship schemes pose a problem in this respect. Since scholarships are usually awarded on the results of competitive examination it does not follow that they would be obtained by those pupils who would otherwise either fail to enter, or also 'drop-out' of post-primary schools. In fact it is reasonably probable that a significant fraction of any additional scholarships would be obtained by pupils who would remain on at school anyway. Even if it were assumed that the performance at scholarship examinations of pupils who at present do not enter, or who 'drop-out' of junior cycle, would be comparable with that of existing pupils who complete junior cycle, then it might be expected that they would obtain not more than 60 per cent of any additional scholarships. On this basis, to obtain 5,000 extra certificants from a course assumed to be of three years' duration would require a total of approximately 34,000 scholarships.⁴ If these were of an average value of £25, the annual cost would thus be £850,000. Such an expansion would lead to an increase in overall pupil numbers and to a need for additional teachers and buildings. The current costs of these resources might be taken as being in the region of £450,000 annually. Hence the total annual expenditure would be of the order of £1.3 million (scholarships, plus additional resources). The additional capital expenditure is estimated at £2 million.

12.21 This exposition of one method by which the manpower problem might be resolved in the short-run is rather brief, but sufficient to suggest that the costs involved are likely to be substantial.

12.22 The second method of resolving the manpower question suggested above was by an increased provision of schools and/or other facilities. As there is normally a time-lag in implementing any programme of this nature it might be supposed that such a solution would only begin to have a significant effect in the longer-run (which in this context is taken as post-1970). By that time the proposed raising of the school-leaving age from 14 to 15 would be implemented. Hence it may be useful to take this factor into account in the discussion.

đi

sta

pect the pec

prob

Ever

12.23 The raising of the school-leaving age might be implemented in a variety of ways. However, on the basis of previous official policies and of the analysis of foregoing chapters, the following assumptions might form a reasonable basis for discussion. Firstly, it may be expected that facilities for the extra whole year would continue to be available free of direct charge in national schools, though this might be difficult in some city areas. Secondly, since as chapter 9 indicated, the majority of children have completed their primary education by the age of 13 plus they would be qualified for post-primary education of some sort. Thirdly, also arising from the analysis of chapter 9, it would seem that while some pupils could complete three years of post-primary education by 15 plus, the modal (largest) group would be in a position to complete only two years. It would be reasonable to infer that if the object in raising the school-

⁴For details of this and subsequent calculations, see Notes to this chapter.

leaving age is to provide some additional education for the pupils, then it would be necessary to make available post-primary facilities for the majority of children.

12.24 It may be useful to summarise the existing position regarding post-primary facilities. Until recent years at any rate, the Minister for Education did not assume any direct responsibility for providing such facilities. His function was interpreted as being rather to assist private enterprise and local bodies to provide such facilities as they deemed appropriate and practicable. In consequence the existing pattern of facilities is rather diverse as Table 12.1 indicates.

12.25 Given these figures it would seem that on the basis of present organisational arrangements (e.g. separate boys' secondary, girls' secondary and vocational schools) it would be extremely difficult to provide full facilities in all, especially smaller centres. In particular it would seem from the data of chapter 10 that the smaller centres would probably result in schools which were both expensive to operate and likely to lead to incomplete coverage of subjects.

12.26 In theory then, while post-primary education could be provided in national schools (secondary tops), in vocational schools, in secondary schools, or in the recently announced comprehensive schools, in practice it is likely that in most areas local conditions will reduce the number of effective choices. Consequently it might be useful to adopt solutions which make the maximum use of existing facilities rather than seek to impose a uniform pattern on all areas. A convenient form of classification of areas might be that contained in Table 12.1, hence some comments on the specific problems of each category may be of use.

12.27 Cities and large towns: Even though these are the areas which possess a wide range of facilities, they are also the areas of likely population increase, hence there is the likelihood of a continuing tendency for capacity to fall short of requirements. Consequently it would appear sensible to preserve considerable flexibility of approach for these centres. Among the more specific measures which suggest themselves are the following: (i) in the case of vocational schools (a) providing the announced three year continuation course at a standard fee in all schools, (b) extending the curriculum, (c) reducing the minimum age of entry to 12 plus, (ii) giving secondary schools an option to accept a different pattern of state financial support which would enable them to give tuition to junior cycle pupils at the same standard fee as that of vocational schools. We have seen that 75 per cent of secondary pupils were being charged less than £20 per annum in 1961/62, (iii) in the case

pro sine sites of a second sec

TABLE 12.1

Number of Centres with Post-Primary facilities,¹ September, 1963

	Number of centres with no Post-Primary School		1	. 1	41	191	354	586	
	Girls' Secondary and Vocational		1	5	18	4	1	28	
	Boys' Secondary and Vocational		1	1	CI	1	-	*	
Facilities	Vocational only	S	1	1	27	19	34	81	
Post-Primary 1	Girls' Secondary Only	ith such facilitie	1	0	14	19	8	45	
Type of	Boys' Secondary Only	per of Centres w	-	1	1	8	03	~	
000	Secondary for Boys and Girls no Vocational	Numh	1	63	53	13	4	41	
	Secondary and Vocational for Boys and Girls		5	81	29	5	03	123	
Total Number	of centres with Post-Primary Facilities		5	95	113	64	52	329	
Total Number of	centres (Cities, Towns and Villages and Rural centres with a population of less than 200)		5	95	154	255	406	915	
	Centrality (Location)		Cities*	Large towns 1,500 and over	5mall Towns 500-1,500	Villages 200-500	Rural centres	TOTAL	

NOTE: No account is taken here of factors which may make a school unsuitable for some pupils in an area, as discussed in paragraph 6.120. ¹Excluding juniorates and boarding schools which take no day pupils. Secondary tops are included. ²The four county boroughs and Dún Laoghaire.

323

of national schools explore the possibilities of providing 'secondary top' departments in schools where pupil enrolment would be sufficient to sustain them. It might also be useful to consider whether some national school buildings, especially those in the centre of cities, which have a high proportion of unused capacity could be used as post-primary schools, even as an interim measure.

12.28 Smaller towns and villages: These are the areas as a rule which at present have partial post-primary facilities only. It might be useful to include here also some small towns which now have full post-primary facilities but which are such that the individual schools are so small that they are either exceptionally wasteful of real resources or are so restricted in facilities that inadequate choices are available to the children. These communities present a special problem-partly technical, partly political and partly social. The idea of a single comprehensive post-primary school might be regarded as a means of solving the technical problems of such areas. If adopted, it would mean that the area from which the school would draw its pupils could be kept as small as would be technically feasible. On the other hand, the attempt to provide several different types of schools in such areas would have the effect of requiring much larger school districts if the schools are to be sufficiently large, and hence considerably greater provision of transport. Whether such a technically feasible solution to the problem would be acceptable in a given area is of course a separate question, though it is none the less relevant to the definition of any viable solution. Social aspects are also important in the evaluation of acceptable solutions. Partly for historical reasons, it has been traditional in Ireland to separate children into different types of schools, especially at the post-primary level, on the basis of a number of criteria, such as sex, religion, linguistic orientation, social class and educational orientation. As indicated above there would not appear to be any particular technical or economic difficulty in maintaining this tradition in the larger towns and cities. There is, however, a real problem in maintaining this tradition in the smaller areas, without either (i) increasing the cost of the provision of adequate facilities to all groups and sub-groups or (ii) drawing pupils from very wide geographical areas and hence increasing both the transport problem and the boarding problem.

12,29 Assuming that the raising of the school-leaving age were implemented in a manner similar to that described, it might reasonably be taken that it would result in an increase in the numbers enrolling in post-primary courses. This increased enrolment might in turn be expected to lead to a rise in the numbers obtaining junior cycle certificates. If this additional number is not sufficient to meet the manpower target, inducements might be provided to prospective students in order to stimulate additional enrolments. Such inducements might take the form of a reduction in fees or of increases in the number and/or value of scholarships. On the basis of past experience such inducements should lead to increased student numbers and the process may be continued until the desired numbers are obtained.

12.30 It is difficult to give any indication of the costs to the State of such a policy. If the provision of post-primary facilities is adequate to produce the desired increase in certificants, then it may be measured in terms of the additional costs of providing and maintaining post-primary facilities for these pupils as compared with the costs of primary level facilities (since this is where they would otherwise spend their time from the age of 13 to 15). If the number of pupils involved is again taken as 16,000 and the differences in the annual pupil cost at £40, this would give a total annual cost of  $\pounds 640,000$ . In addition there would be the increased capital outlay of building and equipping this number of post-primary places. This may be estimated to total £2 million.

k

the

d be wide

effect to be

transyblem stion, viable

tradi

yer d

anias ver, 1

21225

equite from

trativ

THER

2300

mben

might

LIN

mail

12.31 Any expenditure by way of increased scholarships etc. would be additional to these figures. It may also be observed that state expenditure would increase if secondary schools were to adopt a financing pattern along the lines suggested in paragraph 12.27.

12.32 Clearly any discussion of events in the future must be of a rather tentative nature. None the less the broad and inescapable conclusion would appear to be that significant expenditure increases would be a corollary of any attempt to increase the numbers of junior cycle certificants. In particular it may be emphasised that any such programme would very probably require scholarships or other forms of encouragement or inducement in order to attract and retain the required pupil numbers.

12.33 This raises a question as to the validity of any attempt to resolve manpower requirements without specific reference to the problem of participation. The efficacy of any scheme to remedy the manpower situation rests on its success in attracting and retaining more pupils in the educational sector. We have seen earlier (chapter 6) that the question of participation is affected by various factors, hence it may be more realistic to view the manpower deficit as being one facet of a much wider problem and to seek the solution accordingly.

## PARTICIPATION

12.34 The data of chapter 6 showed that there are significant differences in the extent to which various groups participate in education. Such differences are evident both as between socio-economic groups and between geographical areas. We were unable to examine differences in participation as between various income groups since the necessary data on income distribution are not available.

12.35 While there are no doubt wider and more fundamental considerations which would support any case for greater participation in education, it would seem that there are also economic grounds for seeking to promote such a development. Thus the manpower aspects discussed above are to a large extent bound up with the question of participation, since increased numbers of certificants must largely come from those who otherwise would not be participating in the educational system at that level.

12.36 The participation problem affects every level and division of the educational system. The main stages where different rates of performance were found to occur, are: —

- (1) rate of progress through primary school
- (2) rate of entry to post-primary school
- (3) rate of continuance in post-primary school
- (4) rate of entry to university and other third-level establishments.

Children of parents in certain social groups, including those with lowest income, were found to have a higher probability of failing to maintain their position at each of the stages (2) to (4). This is probably true also of the primary stage and also drop-out at third level, which we were not in a position to analyse. Hence it is unlikely that improving the situation at just one of these stages would be sufficient to ensure a wider participation pattern throughout.

12.37 In general it might be taken that within the context of the existing system, the measures which would stimulate participation on the part of under-represented groups would be the same as those suggested above in connection with manpower, namely, an increase in the number of scholarships or grants available, increased provision of educational facilities and wider dissemination of information regarding educational opportunities. If, however, the object is to stimulate participation by those groups with low participation rates, it may be necessary to be more specific in the type of measure used.

In particular it would seem that scholarships, in addition to covering such costs as fees and books, would also in some cases need to be valuable enough to cover maintenance or boarding costs. This latter point arises from the fact that unlike many other items, there are still costs to the individual availing himself of education, even when it is provided 'free'. Thus in addition to such direct costs as fees, books, transport, there are also the maintenance costs of feeding and clothing the student. Allied to these is the relative importance of the 'opportunity' costs involved (e.g. the amount which it is felt the student might earn if he/she were to enter employment rather than continue studying). It will be recalled, however, that the evidence suggests that the differences in participation cannot be ascribed entirely to differences in income. Differences in parental knowledge of and attitudes towards educational opportunities, for example, might also be a significant factor.

12.38 It would seem that the degree of financial assistance given to pupils would need to vary for at least three reasons, (i) the income or other relevant factors of the pupil's family, (ii) the distance he lived from any given educational establishment and (iii) the fees or other costs associated with the establishment.

12.39 There are a number of ways in which such a system of variable awards might be effected and it is not proposed to discuss the matter in detail, but the following comments are illustrative of what might be feasible.

12.40 One method would be that the value of awards (whether scholarships or grants) should vary with parental income, with adjustments for family size and structure. To keep the scheme administratively simple, the values might be altered at intervals of £100 in adjusted parental income, with minimum and maximum points set. Thus the maximum award might be given to children whose parental income did not exceed £300, thereafter diminishing in value at intervals of £100 up to say a limit of £1,500, where a minimum value scholarship might be awarded. Regarding the administrative problem of ascertaining the income of the families involved, applicants for scholarships whose parents pay income tax might have their income certified by an Inspector of Taxes. It may be noted, however, that special difficulties might arise in the case of self-employed persons.

1

hi

noeld

of the

pation those

crease

risia

nation

is to

rates, used 12.41 The second and third components in any system of variable grants—variable fees and variable transport costs—are likely to present the most difficult at post-primary level. At the first level, since national schools are not fee-charging it is only the distance

factor which would need to be ascertained for any pupil. At thirdlevel, where there are only a small number of university colleges and other establishments, the more important of these two factors would be whether the student had to live away from home, since the fees of the colleges are similar for similar courses.

12.42 At post-primary level the situation is more complex and the nearest establishment need not necessarily be acceptable to any prospective pupil. In this context it may be noted that the table summarising the available post-primary facilities over-simplifies the situation. Even when secondary facilities for day pupils are available in the vicinity, the fees of the particular establishments, limitations on entry, the lack of knowledge or social attitudes regarding attendance at such schools may be such that a proportion of the children in the area, especially religious and linguistic minorities, may not be in a positon to attend such a school. Hence, for the children of poorer parents or larger families the effective range of choice is considerably more limited than that indicated by the table. In the time available to us it was not possible to make a precise analysis of this aspect. Some impression of the choice available to children outside of cities and large towns may however, be obtained from Table 12.2, which shows the number of secondary and post-primary schools in each centre. It will be seen that, on the whole, girls have a slightly wider range of possibilites open to them in choosing a post-primary school. In the majortiv of centres, however, there is only one school available to prospective pupils.

#### **TABLE 12.2**

Sector 1	(i	) Secon	dary So	chools		(ii) S	econdar	y or Vo	cational	Schools
Size of Centre	TOTAL		Nun	aber of	such Sc	hools in	each c	entre		TOTAL
122	with such Schools	1	2	3	4 or more	1	2	3	4 or more	Centres with such Schools
			Num	ber of	Centres	having	such s	chools		
Cities Towns 5,000 and	5	-	-		5	-	-	-	5	5
over	27	_	6	6	15	-	-	6	21	27
Towns 1,500-5,000 Smaller towns	67	10	45	5	7	5	9	42	12	68
500-1,500	86	54	31	1	-	52	43	17	1	113
Villages 500-200	45	40	5	-	-	51	11	2	_	64
Rural	18	18	-	-	-	49	3	-	-	52
Total	248	122	87	12	27	157	66	67	39	329

(a) Number of Centres with (i) Secondary and (ii) Post-Primary Schools classifed by (i) the Number of Secondary (including Secondary Tops) and (ii) Post-Primary Schools in each Centre and by size of Centre, September, 1963

#### TABLE 12.2 (contd.)

	(i) S	econdar	y Schoo	ols		(ii) Sec	ondary	or Voc	ational	Schools
Size of Centre	TOTAL		Num	ber of	such Sc	hools in	each c	entre	1	TOTAL
	with such Schools	1	2	3	4 or more	1	2	3	4 or more	with such Schools
			Num	ber of	Centres	having	such s	chools		
Cities Towns 5,000 and	5	-	-	-	5	-	-	-1	5	5
over	25	14	9	1	1	1	12	9	3	25
Towns 1,500-5,000 Smaller towns	60	47	12	1	-	6	42	12	1	61
500-1,500	54	53	1	_	-	51	29	1		81
Villages 500-200	22	22	-		-	34	7	-		41
Rural	9	9	-	-	-	41	2	-	-	43
TOTAL	175	145	22	2	6	133	92	22	9	256

(b) Number of Centres with (i) Secondary and (ii) Post-Primary Schools accepting Boys, classified by the Number of such Schools in each Centre and by size of Centre, September, 1963.

(c) Number of Centres with (i) Secondary and (ii) Post-Primary Schools accepting Girls, classified by the Number of such Schools in each Centre and by size of Centre, September, 1963.

	(i) :	Seconda	ary Sch	ools		(ii) Se	condary	or Vo	cational	Schools
Size of Centre	TOTAL		Nur	nber of	such So	hools in	n each c	entre		TOTAL
	with such Schools	1	2	3	4 or more	1	2	3	4 or more	with such Schools
	2	r	Num	ber of	Centres	having	such s	chools		
Cities Towns 5,000 and	5	-	-	-	5	-	-	-	5	5
over	27	9	5	10	3	-	9	5	13	27
Towns 1,500-5,000 Smaller towns	65	54	9	2	-	7	49	8	2	66
500-1,500	83	79	4	-	-	61	47	2	-	110
Villages 500-200	41	39	2	-	-	50	9	1		60
Rural	16	16	-	-	-	48	2	-	-	50
TOTAL	237	197	20	12	8	166	116	16	20	318

NOTE: Excluding juniorates and boarding schools which take no day pupils. *Source:* Departmental lists of secondary and vocational schools.

12.43 There does not seem to be any *a priori* reason why the same solution to this problem need be adopted in all areas of the country, provided that suitable arrangements can be devised which cater for local conditions.

12.44 In this context the question of population distribution relative to area is a basic factor in the economic provision of any service such as education. The greater the density of population

And a state

the more feasible it is to have many service units distributed within the area. This has the effect of providing services relatively adjacent to the habitations of the population, thus reducing the transport charges, facilitating the full use of resources and making it feasible, by having several units in a limited area, on the one hand to provide competition between units and on the other to develop units catering for special groups or providing special services.

12.45 If the density of population in an area is low, problems of various kinds relating to the provision of services arise. It is more difficult to provide an adequate range of services convenient to people's homes, hence either more transport is required or units have to be set up which cannot be operated at full capacity because an adequate demand does not exist in the relevant catchment area. It is also more difficult to provide facilities for special groups of the population and to provide specialist facilities of various kinds. The force of these general observations is readily apparent in many activities, whether in the provision of educational, library, health, advisory or entertainment services. Hence a form of organisation suitable to a densely populated area may be quite unsuitable to a sparsely populated one. In particular a sparsely populated area needs a larger catchment area and hence more transport. It is of some interest then to compare the average density of population in Ireland with that of other Western European countries and also to compare the various regions of Ireland with one another.

12.46 Table 12.3 shows that apart from the Nordic countries Ireland is one of the least densely populated countries in Western Europe. The Nordic countries, however, have large tracts of their northern areas effectively unpopulated—their populated areas would have a considerably higher density than the averages shown in the table. Hence there are greater problems, and higher costs per unit of service, in providing services in Ireland than in most other Western European countries.

12.47 Table 12.4 shows that the density of population is lower in Connacht and Ulster than in Munster and Leinster. Looking at the figures for the individual counties we could include Clare, Kerry and Longford with the Western and Northern counties as areas of low density. Hence solutions which might be appropriate in one area might not be equally appropriate in another area.

## TABLE 12.3

Country	Population ¹ per square kilometer
Austria	85 302 108 13 86 44 40 467 124 351 11 98 61 17 137 309 66 102 74

#### Density of Population in certain European Countries, including Ireland

¹Population for some countries is *de jure*. ²Excluding Faeroes Islands (25) and Greenland (0). *Source*: U.N. Statistical Yearbook 1963. Table 2.

it in it in a rea

tis sen this will

D

ver in at the y and of low area 12.48 It may be noted in passing that the population aged 5 to 14 is distributed geographically in a manner similar to that displayed for total population in Table 12.4.

12.49 As the population is in general declining in the low-density areas and increasing in other areas the disparities now evident will increase rather than decrease, making the economic provision of services in sparsely populated areas relatively more difficult as time

# **TABLE 12.4.**

Density	of .	Population	by P	rovince,	1961

Province	Population	Area	Persons per
	1961	Acres	1,000
	'000	'000	Acres
Munster	849	5,962	14·2
	420	4,231	9·9
	217	1,980	11·0
	714	228	313·5
	618	4,623	13·3
TOTAL	2,818	17,024	16.6

Source: Statistical Abstract of Ireland 1963. Tables 8 and 53.

goes on while increasing the pressure on the existing resources in other areas.

12.50 From an organisational viewpoint the first step towards dealing with the problem might be to define, even provisionally, postprimary school districts. Such a definition might be based on the concept that (with limited exceptions for whom special provisions would be made) each such district would (1) have available within it a complete range of post-primary facilities whether or not they were available in one school or even one centre, (2) the potential pupils in each such district would be classified into three or four distance categories with respect to the post-primary facilities. These categories might, for example be (i) within a mile of chosen or nearest acceptable facilities, (ii) within 5 miles of chosen or nearest acceptable facilities, (iii) within effective bus distance (e.g. 10 miles) of chosen or nearest acceptable facilities, (iv) outside effective bus distance of chosen or nearest acceptable facilities: (3) that some responsibility for the transport of children in category (iii), and the boarding expenses of children in category (iv), would be accepted by the State, either directly or through authorised local bodies. (4) that adequate space and teacher facilities to cover pupils in that district in categories (i) to (iii) should be available.

12.51 To gauge the potential number of post-primary pupils by district, we divided the country into a number of catchment areas based on large towns. Every national school in the country was then allocated to the nearest large town and the total pupils thus allocated to each town was calculated. Table 12.5 gives a summary of the results-the details for each area have been supplied to the Department. (For this purpose all available information on the national schools was put on punchcards, one for each school.) These numbers of primary pupils may be converted into numbers of potential postprimary pupils as follows. The total post-primary enrolment is equivalent to about a quarter of the national school population. By 1970 the post-primary stock is projected to be equivalent to about a third of the national school pupils. If these ratios were to obtain in each area, the number of primary pupils needed to give a post-primary school of 150 pupils-the minimum specified by the Department for building grants to secondary schools-would be 450. On that basis, most of those catchment areas would have a reasonable number of pupils, but it will be noted that the areas are very large-there are only 154 of them covering the whole country. The figures for smaller catchment areas-323 for the whole country-are shown in Table 12.6. Here we see that there is a number of areas with quite small numbers of potential pupils. It will be clear that if the catchment areas were to be based on any smaller size of town,

		TOTAL		55	52	28 19	154		2/63.		TOTAL		109	63	40	323
		Over 1950		27	26	16 5	74		4rea, 1962		Over 1950	<u> </u>	15	9	c1	41
		1800-1949		00	00	eo e1	11		s1 in the		1800-1949		c1	°°	1	9
a, 1962/6		1650-1799		01	4	e5 03	11		tal School		1650-1799		01	DA DA	9	-
in the Are	hrea	1500-1649	Ī	1	4	о н	6	er on roll	in Nation	Irea	1500-1649	S	2	* *	03	15
Schools ¹	Catchment /	1350-1499		4	01	01	00	age numb	· of Pupils	Catchment /	1350-1499	as	2		1	8
National	hools in the	1200-1349	ment Areas	0	2	4	16	² Aver	y Number	hools in the	1200-1349	tchment Are	01	x 9	1	17
3 12.5 f Pupils in	National Sc	1050-1199	nber of Catch	9	1	03	6	l schools.	3 12.6 lassified t	National Sc	1050-1199	umber of Ca	9	6 9	4	24
TABLI Number of	of Pupils ² in	900-1049	Nun	61	01	H 01	2	nd specia	TABLE Towns, C	of Pupils ² in	900-1049	N	10	6	4	30
sified by	Number	750-899	F	1	c1	11	0	schools a	dium-sizea	Number	750-899		6	11 6	4	30
owns, Clas	2	600-749		67	1	11	01	rotestant	e and Me		600-749		19	5 G	ũ	45
t Large To		450-599		01	I	1	8	scluding H	d on Larg		450-599		16	11	7	40
s based or		300-449		I	1	11	1	1E3	reas, base		300-449		10	6	57	38
nent Area		Under 300		1	1		1		chment A		Under 300		00 u	n 09	9	22
Catchn	Province			Leinster	Munster	Ulster (3 Counties)	TOTAL		Number of Cat	Develues	OHIAOTY		Leinster	Connacht	Ulster (3 Counties)	TOTAL

333

²Average number on rolls.

¹Excluding Protestant schools and special schools.

the number of areas with a small number of pupils would increase considerably. It will be appreciated, of course, that our figure of 450 primary pupils would give a post-primary school of 150 pupils only on condition that the pupils were not divided by sex or by secondary/vocational or by any other factor. If such factors were to operate in an area, then clearly much larger numbers of primary school pupils would be necessary. Furthermore, the number of areas with small numbers of primary pupils may well have increased by 1970 owing to movements of population.

12.52 This leads us to consider the extent to which transport would be required. As a guide to this Table 12.7 shows the distribution of all national school pupils (aged 11) by the distance which their national school is from the nearest large town; Table 12.7 (a) shows the distance from the nearest large or medium-sized town. It will be

### TABLE 12.7

Percentage Distribution of Pupils in Catholic National Schools (excluding special schools) by Distance of National School from Nearest Large Town, 1962/63.

Distance from nea	rest	large to	wn	Distribution of Pupils in National Schools
Mile	s	1		Percentage Distribution
Less than 1 mile 1 mile, less than 5 5 miles, ,, , 10 10 ,, ,, 15 15 ,, ,, 20 20 ,, ,, 25 25 ,, ,, ,, 30 30 miles and over		··· ·· ·· ··		51-5 9-3 24-8 10-4 2-5 0-6 0-4 0-5
0		TOTAL		100.0

#### TABLE 12.7 (a)

Percentage Distribution of Pupils in Catholic National Schools (excluding special schools) by Distance of National School from Nearest Large or Medium-sized Town.

Distance from neares	t large	or med	ium	Distribution of Pupils in National Schools
Mil	es			Percentage Distribution
Less than 1 mile 1 mile, less than 5 5 miles, ,, ,, 10 10 ,, ,, 15 15 ,, ,, 20 20 ,, ,, 20 20 ,, ,, 30 30 miles and over		··· ·· ·· ··		57-6 15-7 19-4 3-4 3-1 0-5 0-1 0-2
		TOTAL		100.0

seen that, even with the medium-sized towns, nearly 30 per cent are more than five miles from a centre. This represents some 15,000 children. Tables 12.9 and 12.10 at the end of this chapter show the position in 1962/63, the size of the catchment areas available to the existing post-primary schools and the distribution of national school pupils (aged 11) by distance of the national school from them. It will be seen for instance that almost a quarter—i.e. about 10,000 pupils—were more than 5 miles from the nearest post-primary school and that about 4.5 per cent, or 2,000 pupils, were more than 10 miles from the nearest post-primary school. These are the distances of the national schools of course, not the distances of the pupils homes.

ny te

e

175

b

cial Town chools 12.53 To frame any projection of the costs of such a scheme as that outlined in paragraphs 12.50 to 12.52 above, it would be necessary to decide the categories of pupils to whom variable awards would apply. It might be expected that the maximum grants would be payable to children whose fathers were unemployed, disabled, deceased, while lesser awards might suffice for children of families with larger, but still low incomes e.g. families of agricultural workers.

12.54 The available data suggest that about 5 per cent of the total population in any age group would qualify for maximum grants, while a further 20 per cent would be eligible for some grant. Using these percentages as illustrations and assuming that about 5 per cent of any group would need to be boarding pupils at post-primary level, the estimated cost at junior cycle would be approximately £135,000 for each year of a junior cycle course, so that a two-year course would cost £270,000 and a three-year one £400,000 annually.

12.55 At senior cycle, if it is assumed that 30 per cent of an age group would be likely to obtain such a course the cost for a twoyear course would be approximately £600,000 annually. This would include an allowance for earnings foregone.

12.56 At third level, assuming that the target was to achieve a participation rate for these groups equal to the overall average projected participation rate of chapter 3, and that 50 per cent of pupils would be boarding, the cost for university courses would be in the region of £1.1 million annually. However, it is unlikely that such a target could be achieved quickly, hence it might be more realistic to halve this target rate for 1971, so that expenditure by that year would be  $\pm 550,000$ .

12.57 It might be expected that some of this expenditure at each level would be offset by savings on scholarships of the usual type.

12.58 The increased participation rates on the part of such groups might be expected to produce related increases in total student numbers at each level, and hence a need for additional resources. These may be estimated to cost £450,000 annually for junior cycle, £225,000 for senior cycle and £150,000 for university level, or a total of £825,000 for current resources. In addition the extra capital spending may be estimated at £2 million, £0.5 million and £1 million respectively, a total of £3.5 million.

12.59 Such a system of variable grants might be expected to reduce the disparities in participation at two of the four stages noted in paragraph 12.36. (It would not, of course, remove all disparities of opportunity e.g. for university education between those who live in university towns and those who would have to meet boarding costs). The remaining stages-progress through primary schools, and progress through post-primary schools-are influenced by factors both external and internal to the schools themselves. In so far as external factors are concerned, it may be expected that they would be offset to some extent by the type of grant listed above, together with an adequate system of information and advice for parents and pupils. We note, however, that experience elsewhere indicates that the solution of such participation problems is very slow and may extend over more than one generation. The factors which are internal to the schools are bound up with questions of efficiency, hence it may be convenient at this juncture to turn to this third (and last) of our selected problem areas.

## EFFICIENCY

12.60 The data of chapters 9 and 10 indicated that there was scope for achieving an improved use of resources in both firstlevel (national) schools and second-level (secondary and vocational) schools. Looked at in financial terms it may be said that there are substantial differences in costs as between different types of school and generally it was the smaller schools which were the more expensive. Looked at in terms of the participation problem it was seen that it was the pupils of smaller schools who made the slower progress at primary level, while at the post-primary level the smaller schools had a more restricted range of subjects available. Hence on both 'efficiency' and participation grounds there are reasons for examining whether an alternative distribution of schools would be more satisfactory.

12.61 National Schools. From many points of view the parish would appear to be a suitable unit on which to base a reorganisation of school size. This would not entail the promotion of unduly large schools. Parishes vary greatly as regards the number of pupils in them, as the following table shows. Some parishes⁵ have less than 100 pupils-some of these have only one school and one teacher-while the largest parishes have over 1,000 pupils : the overall average is just under 500 pupils per parish. It will be seen however, that more than half of the parishes have less than 300 pupils, so that even if all the pupils in a parish were in the one school the enrolment would still be less than that required, on present regulations, for seven or eight teachers which would give one teacher for each grade. Of course one of the effects of re-organization would be to enable say seven or eight teachers to be made available for a smaller number of pupils-hypothetically, if the overall pupil/ teacher ratio of 34.3 (Table 9.2) were to apply uniformly throughout, seven teachers would be available for 240 pupils. A re-organization of school size would of course make it easier to supply all schools with the necessary physical facilities and educational aids, as well as making it easier to give remedial attention to 'delayed' pupils.

A 100	100.0		10	0
I A	BI	. H.	12	x
***	~	~		

Nun	nber c	of Pupil	ls	1	Number of Parishes
0-199			K		266
200-299		Sec.	10		240
300-399					155
400-499		100			82
500-999					131
1,000 and over					98
~	3	T	OTAL		972

Parishes by Numb	per of	^f National	School	Pupils,	1962/63
------------------	--------	-----------------------	--------	---------	---------

y be ne al

ation uperination snera

first-

ere lit

school

e more

ins

slove smaller

Hence

sons for

ould be

e parist

e a reotion of

number

12.62 It was suggested earlier (chapter 9) that the present pattern of national schools is largely the result of historical factors. A much larger rural population, coupled with a much lower degree of mobility owing to the lack of transport facilities, called forth a large number of schools. Declining population has led partly to a reduction in this number, but also to a reduction in the numbers of pupils attending the remaining schools, resulting in the large numbers of one and two-teacher schools.

12.63 Given the age-distribution of existing schools and the present policy regarding school building, it would seem that about 40 per cent of the total number would be replaced over the next 16 years. This percentage would be greater in rural areas. This would mean replacing an average of two schools per parish during that period, hence the possibility of introducing larger school units would appear to be feasible in the majority of cases.

⁵This discussion refers only to Catholic parishes and pupils in Catholic schools.

12.64 It may also be observed that a movement towards larger schools would give some prospect of being able to implement the Council of Education target of a maximum class size of 40 pupils, in the not too distant future. This possibility would arise because the smaller schools are the ones with the lowest pupil/teacher ratios, hence the amalgamation of these small schools would make it possible to re-allocate teachers among schools so that the class sizes in the existing larger schools would be lowered.

12.65 The larger schools in rural areas might be introduced gradually as existing schools become obsolete. Alternatively, if this question were to be regarded as more urgent, steps somewhat along the following lines might be taken, where agreement could be reached among the parties concerned.

- All one-teacher schools in which the children in question can be accommodated in an adjacent acceptable school (i.e. one which is within transportable distance and is of the same denomination) might be closed.
- (2) In any parish in which there is one or more obsolete schools, all schools in the parish could be investigated. Schools which either were obsolete or were likely to become obsolete before 1980, and in addition, all one or two-teacher schools built before 1900, might be replaced either by one new school building or by extensions to existing schools as appropriate. A systematic investigation procedure could be adopted; for example, the situation in those parishes in which at present two or more schools were either obsolete or built before 1900, or both, could be investigated initially. In any parish in which only one two-teacher school is involved (on the basis of the criteria stated above), the obsolete school could be replaced by extensions to an existing school.
- (3) Sufficient classrooms might be built in areas in which there are overcrowded classes to accommodate the projected number of pupils in these areas on the standard of 40 pupils per classroom as a maximum. The rules could be changed to authorize teachers at a maximum pupil/teacher ratio of 40 to give an incentive to overcrowded schools to build the necessary classrooms. These extra classrooms would enable the teachers released by (1) and (2) above to be employed in the 'teacher deficit' areas.

12.66 In this matter of school re-organization, there are a number of different 'strategies' or courses of action which could be adopted.

A major difficulty in choosing the most suitable strategy lies in the practical problem of evaluating the effects of a particular strategy, given the size and complexity of the problem. Such an evaluation could be so tedious and time-consuming as to be impracticable. To render these problems of decision-making more manageable we have organized the data so that various strategies can be readily evaluated by computer-all the relevant data on national schools have been put on punch cards for this purpose. We give below, for purpose of illustration, the results of one particular strategy which we had evaluated in this way. The parish was adopted as a unit and within each parish schools were classified as obsolete or nonobsolete. These tabulations excluded some categories of schools e.g. Protestant schools, special schools etc. The strategy tested involved (i) closing all of the obsolete schools and transferring the pupils to another (where necessary a new) school in the same parish and (ii) transferring pupils from overcrowded classrooms, in both cases on the basis of having not more than 40 pupils per classroom and of having one teacher per room.

12.67 The results were as follows. A total of 1,886 classrooms were obsolete but only 978 rooms would be needed to replace these under the proposed strategy. The number of new rooms which would be required to eliminate all existing classes of more than 40 pupils was 411. A total of 1,389 rooms would, therefore, be sufficient to achieve both aims of the strategy. Thus the net saving would be 497 rooms (and note that this would also achieve a maximum of 40 pupils per room—all rooms needed for overcrowded schools are included). In the case of teachers, the number who would be 'released' would be 1,757, while the extra number required to reduce over-size classes would be 532. Thus while achieving the target of not more than 40 pupils per teacher, there would be a net 1,225 teachers available to reduce classes still further.

2 161

to i

bsolet

ch thes wojatal

d of 4

could be

1/teacher

chools to

3557020

2) above

a number

adoptal

12.68 The savings would thus be substantial. Assuming that the full saving in teachers is taken to be 2,300 i.e., a reduction of 1,225 compared with an increase of more than 1,000 to achieve a maximum class size of 40 with the existing policies, then the value of this saving would be £1.6 million annually in terms of 1961/62 salaries and more if current salaries are used. There would also be a capital saving of approximately £2.5 million because of the smaller number of rooms required. There would of course be increased spending on transport to be offset against these savings, since the provision of transport would be a prerequisite of any scheme for larger schools. We have not calculated such costs in detail but they are unlikely to exceed £500,000 in terms of 1961/62 costs. Since the long-run expectation would be that teacher costs would rise faster than trans-

port costs it would seem that the value of savings on current expenditure should increase with the passage of time.

12.69 The data and tabulations relating to this 'strategy' have been made available to the Department. The consequences of other 'strategies' e.g. of replacing all obsolete *and* one-teacher schools, could be considered in a similar way.

12.70 It would in addition, be consistent with the evidence of earlier chapters that larger schools would have a favourable effect on the benefits derived by pupils. The arguments we have put forward for seeking a re-organization of school size are mainly on economic grounds. It seems to us not unlikely, however, that the weight of argument on the educational side will be such as to complement our arguments.

12.71 Post-primary Schools. Associated with the problem of securing an improved participation pattern, in the sense of adequate access to subjects and facilities, is the problem of the efficient use of scarce resources in post-primary education. This problem will be particularly acute at junior cycle level if several educational divisions (i.e. national, secondary, vocational and comprehensive) are catering for the same age group (12-15). Among the most scarce resources in Irish post-primary education are : (i) certain kinds of teachers, (ii) certain kinds of relatively expensive equipment such as (a) science laboratories, (b) language laboratories, (c) film projectors, teaching machines and similar equipment, (d) metal and woodworking shops, (e) libraries. It would appear that at the present time the kinds of teachers who are scarce are graduate teachers of (a) mathematics, (b) science, (c) rural science, (d) modern languages and (e) metalwork and engineering teachers. Some of these shortages are more acute in the case of women (e.g. mathematics) or men (e.g. modern languages).

12.72 On the other hand where such resources exist they are frequently not effectively utilized. This applies both to teachers and equipment. As regards equipment it is frequently due to the small numbers of pupils who have direct access to it and to a series of conventions and regulations preventing or discouraging wider utilization of these facilities.

12.73 As has been seen earlier, there are now about 853 postprimary schools (secondary, secondary top and vocational) in the country (and the number is rising appreciably) for a total number of about 125,000 full-time second level students or an average of about 125 pupils per institution. Of these pupils about 100,000 are junior cycle and 25,000 are senior cycle pupils. The provision of specialist teachers in the subjects mentioned for all of these institutions and the provision of adequate physical facilities and equipment would be a difficult task requiring not only substantial financial expenditure but also significant alterations in the whole educational pattern. As the problem of resource allocation in large towns and cities seems to be fundamentally different from those in small centres they may be considered separately.

ols,

pu

m of

raduate modern

ome d

mit.

er at

hê SILÎ

ieries di

T

3 p.8-

in the number

rage d

000 22

12.74 Of the 853 or so post-primary schools mentioned, about 525 are in or adjacent to one or other of the 100 or so towns with population over 1,500. These schools cater for 70,000 junior cycle and 20,000 senior cycle pupils or 70 per cent and 80 per cent of these types of pupils respectively and 75 per cent of all post-primary pupils. In the case of these pupils administrative changes could increase considerably the numbers of pupils, who would come into contact with, and benefit from, existing resources in these scarce categories. Some of the possibilities which exist are indicated in the following paragraphs.

12.75 The utilisation of post-primary teachers in any area might be made more effective if hours spent by them in any (approved) post-primary school could count towards the fulfilment of their working periods, rather than the present system which restricts them to specific types of schools.

12.76 It is recognised that such a measure might imply the creation of a unified group of post-primary teachers. This would clearly be a major institutional change. Whether it will ultimately be necessary or desirable is not for us to say. The continuance of present arrangements however, is likely to result either in inadequate teaching services for some pupils and subjects or in significant expenditure increases if comparable teaching services are to be provided for all pupils.

12.77 To increase the effectiveness with which scarce categories of teachers are used there may also be scope for considering the payment of allowances in respect of such teachers, based on the proportion of their time which is spent on subjects in which they are highly qualified. This would provide an inducement to see that their time was most effectively spent. It is noted that a special allowance is at present paid to secondary schools who employ science graduates to teach science.

12.78 In respect of each type of physical resource, it might be feasible to establish in one school or building in each area, facilities

such as an adequately equipped laboratory, the number of places being calculated on (1) the number of all pupils in the centre using such equipment, (2) the amount of time needed to be spent per week by each pupil and (3) a very high rate of utilization—if necessary going outside conventional school hours—of expensive capital equipment. It would not be necessary to have all of the physical equipment in a single school in the area : it would be necessary, of course, that a school housing equipment should make the facilities available to pupils of all other schools in the area.

12.79 The initiative in developing the co-operation necessary to qualify for the provision of such equipment could come from the individual schools in various centres. Schools in the area which did not wish to participate would of course be quite free not to, but additional subsidies for establishing such facilities would not be paid to them where that would lead to unnecessary duplication.

12.80 In conclusion, it may be observed that the possibility of amalgamating existing facilities in many centres, while it would help to resolve some of the difficulties, has not been adverted to in the foregoing discussion since we were not in a position to assess the practical possibilities.

12.81 In the case of smaller centres, which account for about twofifths of the schools and one-quarter of the pupils, it has been shown already that the problem of developing the existing rather fragmentary provision of post-primary facilities is a complex one. Its solution would appear to involve a considerable re-organization of the existing system going far beyond the type of administrative changes outlined above for the larger centres, which are designed to facilitate improved use of specialist resources (either teachers or equipment) while maintaining the present pattern of separate provision for different groups of pupils on the basis of various criteria. However, pending a full scale review of the necessary organizational changes, and to some extent independently of any such changes, it might be possible to make specialized resources available to pupils in these centres by adopting a flexible approach to the problem. In particular, the use of itinerant teachers (already in use in the vocational system) and mobile equipment might contribute to a solution of the problem. Similarly the use of teaching machines with suitable programmes might be investigated. Such aids would of course need to be tried out in carefully observed experimental conditions and scientifically evaluated before they would be made available generally. The main burden of the solution in these centres, however, would appear to rest on major organizational changes.

12.82 Assuming that some adequate pattern of post-primary facilities can be made available to all pupils, whether along the lines suggested above, or on some other basis, it might be expected that this would contribute to a solution of the participation problem noted earlier, while at the same time producing a more efficient pattern of resource utilization in post-primary schools.

### FINANCE

ng

ek

anj

ip.

the

but

t be

help

s the

two-

frag-

. Its

on of

trative

signed

ers or e proriteria.

tiona

ges, it

pils in n. In

voca-

itable

need

and

lable

how-

12.83 There are many other aspects of education which would merit discussion and consideration, whether the primary interest is manpower, participation or efficiency. The above discussions are in no way intended to be comprehensive, but rather to illustrate the type of problem involved. Before concluding this brief examination it may be appropriate to indicate some of the scope for reorganization in the area of finance. The one factor common to many of the earlier suggestions was that they would each cost a substantial amount, hence financial arrangements are clearly of some importance.

12.84 The brief discussion in chapter 11 suggested that the greatest scope for reviewing financing methods lay in the fields of post-primary and university education. It was noted that existing arrangements confer an automatic subsidy on all aided post-primary and university pupils, while a second subsidy is in effect conferred on pupils whose families are in a position to benefit from income-tax concessions.

12.85 Taking first the case of scholarships for post-primary schools the earlier discussion in chapter 11 suggested that if in fact the aim of such scholarships is to provide some form of equality of opportunity, there may be grounds for altering their form and, in particular allowing their value to vary with the circumstances of each family, along the lines suggested earlier.

12.86 In the case of secondary schools there may be scope for a more extensive re-arrangement of financing. The total number of pupils with scholarships in 1963/64 was just under 5,000 or less than 6 per cent of secondary school pupils while total scholarship expenditure at a maximum of £360,000 annually is of the order of 7 to 8 per cent of state spending on secondary schools. Accordingly, the opportunity might be taken to broaden the scope of scholarship schemes, while at the same time furthering other objectives in this field. For instance, the present system of capitation grants is in effect a scholarship awarded to every pupil, without regard to ability and without any assessment of his needs. If the payment of those grants (£1.3 million in 1964/65) were to be related to

individual circumstances as visualized above for the scholarship scheme proper, it would enable a substantial increase to take place in the amount of money so allocated.

12.87 Another possible variation in the financing would be to abolish the present income-tax relief for children of 16 and over. who remain in full-time education,6 and use the moneys so obtained for financing more scholarships (or other educational facilities if necessary). The tax remission is of course only applicable to those secondary school pupils over 16, whose parents have a certain level of income. The precise amount involved is not known,7 but if for illustrative purposes it is assumed that say half of leaving certificate pupils are affected by this concession i.e. 10,000 pupils approximately, and if the saving is taken at £30 per pupil (more if the parent is a sur-tax payer) then £300,000 would be made available at the present time, and this amount would increase both as the number of pupils grew and as the average income of parents rises, assuming that income tax allowances did not increase by the same amount. This suggestion, however, which is prompted by the desirability of widening educational participation, would require to be considered in the context of the present incidence of taxation in general.

12.88 A further possibility is that there would be a system of variable capitation grants, primarily with the object of ensuring that at least some secondary schools in each area would provide their facilities at a low fee, and secondly, with the object of equalising expenditure per pupil. Some aspects of the first of these objects have been discussed above. As regards the second, the present system of equal capitation grants for all pupils means that schools which charge higher fees are in a position to provide better educational facilities-a wider curriculum, better library facilities and so forth. Hence, in order to reduce to some extent the disparity in educational opportunities, there might be scope for varying the capitation grant inversely with the fee level of the schools, so that the lower the fee the higher the grant-between certain limits. In the case of boarding schools, a separate grant scale would be required, but this could be constructed from data such as that contained in Appendix V on fee levels, which would enable boarding fee ranges corresponding to day fee levels to be defined. At present the Department does not collect information on fees in secondary schools in general. The definition of fees, as between basic fees and extras. might cause some initial difficulties.

⁶The relief is given in respect of all children up to 16 years of age, whether at school or not.

 $^{^7\}mathrm{In}$  1961/62 the total relief granted in respect of children amounted to £10-2 million (Statistical Abstract, 1964).

12.89 In the case of vocational schools similar remarks might apply to their scholarship schemes. There are, however, other problems in regard to them. One is the problem of striking the appropriate balance between central government and local authority finance. Since the Government have announced their intention of exploring alternative possibilities for local authority financing, it is not proposed to discuss this matter, but merely to note its existence.

12.90 In the case of universities and third-level generally, as with post-primary education it would seem that one change would be to have scholarships whose value varied with the circumstances of the students. It might also be preferable that they should be awarded on a national rather than on a county basis, to eliminate regional anomalies.

12.91 Again, it might be appropriate to consider the scope for rearranging existing financing methods. The present system of block grants to the universities means that expenditure is virtually 'openended', that is, there is no effective limit to the amount which the State may be called upon to provide, since the numbers of pupils eligible for, and actually seeking, admission are expected to go on rising. This in effect means that the State automatically awards every student a scholarship, which at present has a value of £120 approximately per annum. There might be grounds for converting such funds into a mixture of scholarships and grants with the object of specifying conditions (such as scholastic attainment and/or family income), to be satisfied before any award was payable either to the pupil or to the college. Students who did not satisfy those conditions, might be asked to pay the full cost of their courses. The position as regards students from abroad, other than from the emergent countries, would arise for consideration in this context. It might be expected that this would enable the State to set limits as to the amount it was committed to spend on university education, while at the same time ensuring a more equitable pattern of participation.

12.92 The question of loan schemes has not been adverted to in this discussion. While such schemes operate in some countries, preliminary investigation showed that problems attached to them. Any suggestion for a scheme, if it were to be appropriate to Irish conditions, would require careful examination.

12.93 These then are some of the possibilities. It is not suggested that any or all of them might be introduced. This would depend on the objectives which the State wishes to achieve by its expenditure. Nor is it suggested that the present system is without merit. For while the present method does have the effect of subsidising a rela-

ether at o £10.2

)se

ely,

pile

len.

the

0

ising

have

m of

ional

orth.

grant

he fee se of

1, but

ned in

ranges

)epartpols in extras, tively wealthier sector of the community, it also has some effect in stimulating participation on the part of this group. However, it would seem somewhat anomalous to continue such subsidies unless some comparable effort were made to increase participation on the part of poorer groups.

## CONCLUSION

12.94 This chapter has attempted to illustrate the types of problem, and some possible solutions, which suggest themselves as a result of the investigations reported on in the earlier chapters. They are in no way intended to be recommendations as to future policy. Our intention has rather been to illustrate that there are and no doubt will continue to be many problems in the educational sphere. To frame adequate solutions to those problems is no easy task. We would, however, hope our efforts show that the collection of adequate data, and its systematic analysis, is an important and useful step in the formulation of such solutions.

12.95 A second intention has been to illustrate the interdependence which exists both as between the various parts of the educational sector itself and between this sector and the rest of economy. We would hope that the considerations advanced in this chapter show the limitations of any policy which would seek to remedy specific problems in isolation, without adequate regard for the repercussions of such actions in related areas.

12.96 These are the limited objectives of the foregoing discussion. There are many other aspects of education which would warrant attention, but we must leave the task of detailed analysis to our successors. Thus on the primary side there are the questions of the allocation of pupil time in national schools, and the recognition in the development of school programmes that many rural children may have to live their adult lives in an urban environment. There is also the important problem of identifying those children in national schools who, for whatever reason, derive little or no benefit from the programme and the development of appropriate remedial measures. A study of the purposes and design of examinations at this level would also seem to merit attention.

12.97 In regard to post-primary education, a major problem is the use of resources in a flexible and efficient manner, with a view to ensuring that children have a range of choice appropriate to their particular talents and aptitudes, available to them in their locality or catchment area. Under present day conditions there is also a need to keep abreast of new knowledge by adjusting curricula as

required and keeping teachers up to date in their subjects. Other matters calling for attention are the provision of more teachers of 'scarce' subjects, the re-allocation of pupil time to achieve a more appropriate balance between the various subjects, the application of modern technological developments e.g. teaching machines, television, the need for career guidance and the integration of secondary top schools into the general framework of post-primary education.

12.98 In the field of technical education, an immediate and pressing problem is the provision of suitable courses for very small and scattered numbers of apprentices in certain trades. We understand that An Chéard-Chomhairle (The National Apprenticeship Board) are devising means of overcoming the problems involved, but similar difficulties exist in regard to technicians. In these areas also there are problems of training and qualification. There would seem to be a need for the establishment of nationally recognised certificates and diplomas and the strengthening and further development on a continuing basis of co-operation with industry.

10

ne

nal

Ne

OW

ific

ons

rant

suc

the

the

may also

from

ns al

is the

ew to their

150 2

la as

12.99 At the third level, apart from the universities whose problems are being examined by the Commission on Higher Education, there is the important field of the teacher training colleges. Here there arises the question of the evaluation of curricula, especially the place of mathematics, and the strengthening of procedures for reviewing the approach to subjects in tune with new developments.

12.100 Other topics that came to our notice are the provision of post-primary facilities for religious minorities and also for those who desire to have Irish as the normal medium of instruction for their courses, the provision of appropriate facilities for pupils in industrial schools and the problem of education for the mentally handicapped. In this case of course, the Report of the Commission on Mental Handicap has recently been issued.

12.101 It is appropriate to refer at this stage to the question of agricultural education. We were not able in the time at our disposal to examine this question in an analytical way but we had the benefit of discussion with officials of the Department of Agriculture on the crucial importance of this aspect of education in Irish conditions. Important questions here would seem to be at what stage and in what manner general education might best be attuned to the special needs of the agricultural community so that a firm basis might be provided for further technical education, and the development and strengthening of appropriate forms of technical education between the Departments of Education and Agriculture.

12.102 These are some of the more important topics that came to our notice. The list might be continued, but is sufficient to show the extent of the problem areas. The fact that we have not examined these problems in detail is not to be taken as an indication that we think they are unimportant. On the contrary we feel that any policy which neglected them would be inadequate. However, given the limited time and resources at our disposal we could not hope to be comprehensive in our coverage. Nevertheless we would hope that our efforts would assist in the formulation of objectives and priorities in the educational sector. This in turn would facilitate the articulation of acceptable and efficient solutions for these many problems.

## **TABLE 12.9**

Percentage Distribution of National School Pupils (aged 11) by Distance of National School from nearest (a) Secondary, (b) Vocational or (c) any Post-primary School, by Sex 1962(3)

		BOYS		The second second	GIRLS	
Distance from		Тур	e of Post-Prim	ary School		
Nearest Post- Primary School	(a) Secon- dary School taking day Boys	(b) Voca- tional School	(c) Nearer of (a) or (b)	(a) Secon- dary School taking day Girls	(b) Voca- tional School	(c) Nearer of (a) or (b)
Miles	6.3	2	Percentage	Distribution		
Less than 1 mile	50.2	53.1	55.1	54.9	54.3	58.1
1 mile, less than 5	11.2	14.5	16.1	12.2	13.5	15.4
5 miles, less than	24.1	25.4	23.9	22.7	25.2	22.4
10						
10	10.0	5.5	3.9	7.1	5.5	3.3
15 20	2.8	0.9	0.7	1.8	1.0	0.6
20	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.0
25	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0
30 miles and over	0.9	0.2	0.2	0.7	0.2	0.2
TOTAL	100-0	100-0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100-0

**rounds         Under stro         900-440         400-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740         700-740	Dessrines			1			Number	r of Pupils in	Catchment	Area					
After             Number of Cariment Areas           acti </th <th>LIOVINCE</th> <th>Inder 300</th> <th>300-449</th> <th>450-599</th> <th>600-749</th> <th>750-899</th> <th>900-1049</th> <th>1050-1199</th> <th>1200-1849</th> <th>1350-1499</th> <th>1500-1649</th> <th>1650-1799</th> <th>1800-1949</th> <th>Over 1950</th> <th>TOTAL</th>	LIOVINCE	Inder 300	300-449	450-599	600-749	750-899	900-1049	1050-1199	1200-1849	1350-1499	1500-1649	1650-1799	1800-1949	Over 1950	TOTAL
otor         2         -         1         3         4         -         3         4         -         3         4         -         3         4         -         3         4         3         4         -         3         4         3         4         3         4         3         4         3         4         3         5         4         4         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         4         4         3         3         3         3         3         4         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         4         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3				P	L		Nu	mber of Cate	hment Area						
Ref $\dots$ $2$ $-1$ $1$ $3$ $4$ $1$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ </td <td>1</td> <td></td>	1														
ansist	:	c1 ·	1	1	00	4	1	00	61	00	1	¢1	00	34	57
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	:		4 0	9	00	53	~	4	9	8	4	4	8	24	11
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		-	53	01	C1	00	67	5	67	0	00	ł	9	11	42
Toru.         7         6         9         8         10         6         14         10         10         10         9           Province         (b) Catchment areas based on Secondary Schools taking day girls, by province ³ Number of Publis in Cutoment Area           Province         Under 300         300-440         400-500         300-740         200-340         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110         100-110 </td <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>C</td> <td>1</td> <td>07</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>67</td> <td>61</td> <td>1</td> <td>7</td> <td>15</td>		1	1	1	1	C	1	07	1	1	67	61	1	7	15
(b) Catchment areas based on Secondary Schools taking day girls, by province ³ Province         Number of Puptis In Catciment Area           Under 300         300-440         400-540         700-540         1000-140         1200-140         1300-140           Inder          4         4         2         4         11         2         100-140         1200-140         1300-140         1300-140         1300-140         1300-140         1300-140         100-160         1         2         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1	TOTAL	7	6	9	80	10	8	14	10	10	6	00	12	76	185
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		(b) Ca	tchment a	areas base	ed on Seco	ondary Sc	hools tak	ing day gi	irls, by pr	ovince ²					
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Decetana						Number	r of Pupils in	a Catchment	Area					
for $\frac{4}{10}$ 1     Number of Catchment Areas       for $\frac{4}{10}$ $\frac{2}{8}$ $\frac{4}{10}$ $\frac{11}{8}$ $\frac{2}{7}$ $\frac{6}{10}$ $\frac{3}{8}$ $\frac{1}{10}$ for $\frac{2}{10}$ $\frac{3}{10}$ $\frac{3}{10}$ $\frac{1}{10}$ $\frac{2}{10}$ $\frac{1}{10}$ $\frac{3}{10}$ $\frac{1}{10}$ for $\frac{2}{10}$ $\frac{1}{17}$ $\frac{2}{10}$ $\frac{1}{10}$ Number of Pupils in Catchment Areas       Province       Number of Pupils in Catchment Areas       Number of Catchment Areas       Number of Catchment Areas       Number of Catchment Areas	10	nder 300	300-449	450-599	600-749	750-899	900-1049	1050-1199	1200-1349	1350-1499	1500-1649	1650-1799	1800-1949	Over 1950	TOTAL
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Ī					Nu	mber of Cate	chment Area.	8					
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		4	4	01	4	11	63	6	9	00	1	00	63	25	73
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	: :	c1 u	10	00 1	10	00	2	2	2	**	5	4	67	18	91
Toru.         11         17         17         15         27         17         90         17         18         14           Content         Tease based on Vocational Schools, by province         Number of Pupils in Cataharan Asa         Number of Pupils in Cataharan Asa         14           Province         Under ano         500-440         460-500         600-740         700-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100         1000-100		°	n	- 1	- 1	∞		1	4	4 03	4	c1	64	4 00	18
Province         20         10         12         14           Province         (c) Catchinent areas based on Vocational Schools, by province         Number of Papits in Catchinent Area           Province         Under 800         900-440         450-509         900-740         750-509         900-1049         100-1199         100-1399         1500-1399         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-1309         1500-	TOTAL	1	17	17	16	10	27	00		0	-				
Frorince         Number of Pupils in Cuctament Acad           Province         Number of Cuctament Acad			11	TI	er	17	17	20	17	12	14	10	9	58	241
Province         Number of Pupils in Cutatomet Area           Under 200         900-440         440-569         600-740         750-569         900-1049         1000-1109         1350-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409         1550-1409		(c) Cat	chment a	reas based	l on Voca	tional Scl	hools, by	province							
Under 300         500-510         600-740         700-800         1000-1101         1000-1301         1300-1300         1600-13           ter	Province						Number	: of Pupils in	(Catchment	Area	0				
ter 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Ur	nder 300	300-449	450-599	600-749	750-899	900-1049	1050-1199	1200-1349	1350-1499	1500-1649	1650-1799	1800-1949	Over 1950	TOTAL
fer           0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Nu</td> <td>mber of Cato</td> <td>chment Area</td> <td>s</td> <td>D</td> <td>C</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>							Nu	mber of Cato	chment Area	s	D	C			
tet 56 5 3 9 6 4 6 5 9 1 1 6 4 6 6 1 1 6 1 1 6 7 1 6 7 1 1 6 7 1 1 6 7 1 1 6 7 1 1 1 6 7 1 1 1 6 7 1 1 1 1		9	9	10	00	10	9	00	9	4	1	1	4	10	OK
cht 22 55 4 4 33 1 6 4 2 30		5	5	~	63	8	9	4	9	5	1	. 80	. 03	20	26
	t:	01	9	4	4	00	1	9	4	01	~	01	1	11	48
			c1	1	1	1	1	4	00	61	1	1	1	9	25
TOTAL 16 18 17 15 22 14 17 19 13 5	TOTAL	16	18	17	15	22	14	17	19	13	5	15	80	55	284

349

TABLE 12.10

# CHAPTER THIRTEEN

# Recommendations for Reorganisation in the Department of Education

13.1 At present educational systems are being consciously planned in many countries, and the need for planning is felt even where the means of practising it have not vet been designed. All over the world education is being sought more eagerly than ever; and new demands are increasingly being made for more education and for improvements in its quality. In order to have the resources needed to provide this education, however, a country must seek in designing its educational system to satisfy, among other things, the manpower needs of the future. If the range and levels of skills required to convert economic potential into economic achievements are not available a country is unlikely to have the resources needed to provide education of the quality and variety that is being increasingly demanded. As education is at once a cause and a consequence of economic growth, economic planning is incomplete without educational planning. Education, as well as having its own intrinsic values, is a necessary element in economic development.

13.2 Our survey and analysis of the Irish educational system in this Report lead to the conclusion that machinery should be set up in the Department of Education to continue the kind of work that this survey has begun.

13.3 The present survey should be seen as a beginning rather than an end; the efforts of the survey team over the past three years should be seen as a starting point of an operation which in future should involve a continuous review of the educational system. The existence of machinery for this work could transform the Department of Education into a development corporation in its own sphere. This shift in emphasis from ordinary administration to active development would also accord more with the positive and dynamic outlook required for the success of the Second Programme for Economic Expansion and of the later economic programmes that will inevitably follow after 1970. In this way the Department of Education might set an example as a development corporation, which, if successful, might be followed by other supply Departments.

13.4 It is not necessary to be able to measure precisely the contribution of education to economic growth in order to recognise the

significance of education in economic development. Moreover, the educational system in all its branches may be regarded as one of the biggest industries and certainly the most important, in the country. On the human side it employs many thousands of university and other third level graduates; in terms of material resources the educational building programme alone is of great magnitude. Because of the scale of human and material resources involved, if for no other reason, these resources should be allocated in the most rational way. It will be evident, then, that there are few administrative areas in Ireland where decision-making can have more far-reaching and long-term implications than in the Department of Education. The information, therefore, on which decisions are based should be as accurate, as complete and as up-to-date as possible. The process of assembling, selecting and interpreting this information before decisions are taken is a most highly skilled and crucial one; it is also a task which admirably lends itself to modern methods of data processing. The professional personnel undertaking this systematic collection, analysis and evaluation of data should form an integral institutional part of the Department of Education and be in no sense a mere statistical adjunct to it or an advisory body.

00

ìn

ind

dad

ing

We

to

to

of

the

an

be

olve

0

ft it

ould

l fot

and

after

nple

the

13.5 The case for an educational development unit doing this work within the Department of Education can be easily summarized. The survey that we have carried out indicated various problems in the Irish educational system. A development unit is, in our opinion, the only satisfactory operational method by which those responsible for decisions about educational policy can take these decisions in the full knowledge that all the available and relevant facts are assembled and understood, and that the implications of decisions are appreciated before decisions are taken. The character of the educational system must have regard to a variety of changes in the demand for education and to the qualitative no less than to the quantitative nature of this demand. The composition of curricula should, for instance, be responsive to new situations. Moreover, there are, of course, social considerations to be taken into account as well as the demands of the economic system. The structure of the educational system will also be influenced by changes in demographic structure, in national social objectives and by the impact of new knowledge. The system is, therefore, confronted with a continuous need to adapt itself to changing circumstances and changing demands. It is our belief that all this can be solved more easily if policy makers have an educational development unit at their disposal as an organic part of the machinery of the Department of Education.¹ The unit would supplement, and in no

¹A chart in Annexe F illustrates the inter-relationships between some of the processes involved in educational decision-making and some of the tasks of a development unit.

way supplant, the existing administrative branches of the Department. The purpose of our recommendation would be defeated if the unit impaired in any way the normal administrative functioning of these branches. The work of the branches would, however, be facilitated by expert planning appraisal, and a greater co-ordination and, perhaps, harmonisation of branch activities could be achieved than is possible at present.

13.6 It is not necessary to give an exhaustive list of the specific tasks with which the suggested development unit would be charged. The main kinds of tasks may, however, be indicated. In general, the unit would be concerned with the long-term planning of education. It would be responsible for educational statistics and their publication. and for forecasting the developments of the educational system e.g. the outflow from schools and colleges of qualified people at the various levels of education. It would evaluate the implications of these forecasts and undertake strategy analysis as well as the systematic investigation of the effects of selected strategies, including the organisation of appropriate surveys. It would offer pointers to different paths for achieving the same objectives. It would engage in regular consultation with employers of the pupils and students prepared by the educational system. In general, the unit would be responsible for keeping policy makers informed of the effectiveness of the educational system in attaining defined objectives and in securing optimal use of the human and material resources employed in education.

13.7 The proposed unit should be given the authority to run the statistics-intelligence service of the Department of Education, including the provision of an up-to-date library service as part of what is known in other countries as a Documentation Centre. It would define the kind of data to be collected from schools or from other sources such as ad hoc surveys. Since the unit would depend on the schools as its main source of data it would need to achieve an understanding with the school authorities on the aims of its enquiries. The unit would, of course, be charged with executive authority for the actual office work on the analysis of the results. In course of time when modern data processing methods, such as the utilisation of the electronic computer, come to be applied to the Department's work, the development unit should be made responsible for their development and should supervise the integration into the system of the ordinary accounting work, the compilation of examination results and other similar routine Departmental activities. While not engaging specifically in pedagogical research, the unit would promote. encourage and assist such activities and take cognisance of their results.

13.8 The flow of information between the schools and the development unit would ideally be a two-way flow. There are many interested persons, whether inside or outside the Department—parents, teachers, school authorities, inspectors etc.—who have hitherto been unable to develop their ideas and interests because of a lack of statistical data and advice. We envisage that the proposed unit would be a focus of such interest, encouraging and aiding their activities. In this way it would help also to promote a forum of critical opinion in our own country. This of course would involve some change in traditional governmental attitudes. For one thing the Department would have to be resigned to the fact that, initially at any rate, the data it supplies may be used in criticism of its past performance. The courage and vision required to make this change is unlikely, however, to go unrewarded either in terms of public opinion or of the resulting flow of ideas.

13.9 At present the Department of Education exercises no function in relation to the non-aided schools and collects no information from them. Thanks to the co-operation of the schools, however, we were able in the course of our survey to assemble some data. For general educational planning it would, of course, be necessary systematically and regularly to secure information on these schools and we recommend that the necessary steps should be taken towards this end. This statistical requirement need in no way impair the independence of these schools.

13.10 Educational planning, as already suggested, must, of course, be closely related to economic planning. Both types of planning imply the existence of demographic forecasts and manpower forecasts. A choice of demographic forecasts based on different assumptions should be produced and reviewed regularly; one of these forecasts should be selected for administrative decision-making purposes in all branches of the public sector of the economy generally. We believe that neither demographic nor general manpower forecasting should be functions of the Department of Education.

13.11 In our opinion there should be created in the Department of Education a new post of Assistant Secretary, the occupant of which would be directly responsible to the Secretary of the Department for long-term planning work, for considering policy matters in general and, in particular, to be responsible for directing the findings of the professional staff of the development unit into the administrative system of the Department. This officer should, of course, have considerable experience in educational matters and a capacity for administration at a high level. But, equally necessarily, he would require special qualities for the new challenging task of being

nt

init nese

haps

tasks

. The

e unit

n. It

m e.g.

ons of stema-

ig the

rs to

age in

s pre-

e re-

/eness

and

ployed

un the

includ-

what is

l define

schools

tanding

he unit actual

e when

of the

s work

levelop-

of the

results

le not

omote,

their

responsible for an educational development unit staffed by professional personnel. He should have an independent, enquiring, critical, creative mind, a thorough acquaintance with educational theory and practice and an appreciation of the need for a quantitative approach where this is applicable. He should have the virtue of detachment to a very high degree and a lack of commitment to the status quo.

13.12 Under the Assistant Secretary, the professional head of the development unit should be a first-class statistician who, ideally, should have considerable administrative experience as well. His standing should be such as to command adequate consideration for his views and those of his unit in the criticism and development of policy and to secure adequate staff for his work. In addition, the services of at least one full-time economist would be required. A third member should be an inspector of schools. We are of the opinion that it would be best if the inspector were seconded to the unit for a period of say two years so that he would have time to become fully acquainted with the work of the unit, appreciate its significance and see projects to fruition. In this way inspectors from all branches of the Department could in rotation have experience of the unit's work, give it the benefit of their knowledge and experience and, in course of time, bring back to their normal duties as inspectors an enhanced understanding of the functions and purpose of educational planning and development as an activity. A fourth professional member of the unit should possess skills in the application of quantitative methods to decision-making processes, including such activities as cost benefit analysis, operations research and data processing by modern methods. To complete the professional personnel of the unit a sociologist would be needed. We feel that members of the development unit should be associated with the institutional arrangements responsible for manpower forecasting and for advising on manpower policy. It will be apparent from our report that manpower policy and educational policy cannot be considered independently. There should be close links established between he unit and the Office of Public Works so as to ensure coordination and expedition in the planning of school construction. The co-operation envisaged in paragraph 13.8 would of course mean contact with school and teacher organizations. It is unlikely, however, that it would be possible to arrange for a teacher for example, actually to serve as a member of the unit.

13.13 A small but essential secretariat should be at the disposal of the professional members of the unit and take its instructions directly from the unit. It is necessary to emphasise, however, that the presentation of the results of the professional work of the development unit should remain in professional hands right up to
the point at which they enter the administrative machinery of the Department.

ad

the

ally

His nt of , the third n that riod fully nes of work rse of anced nning of the ethods benefit ethods. would ould be r manwill be cational e close ks 50 25 ool conould of It is unteacher

disposal tructions towever, of the up to 13.14 We are also of opinion that the Assistant Secretary responsible for educational development would be greatly assisted in his work if he had the benefit of consultation periodically with an advisory committee consisting of representatives of the Government Departments responsible for economic programming, the National Industrial Economic Council and the Director of Statistics.

# CHAPTER FOURTEEN

# Aiding Educational Development in the Emergent Countries

14.1 We were charged in our terms of reference with considering how and to what extent Ireland might contribute towards the educational effort of the emergent countries. By this we were in effect asked to suggest how this country might frame a long-term programme under which it would voluntarily and deliberately invest a portion of its national income in overseas aid. This is a practical recognition that, though a developing nation itself. Ireland nevertheless has obligations towards countries whose development problems are at once so formidable and so urgent. The developing areas, mainly Africa, Asia and Latin America, are marked by low levels of participation in education and by an almost universal desire to raise those levels as quickly as possible. All the indications, however, are that realisation will lag far behind aspiration. Income levels in such regions are low, in many cases extremely low, and this means that the increase in resources that can be devoted to education is small, and that the claims on any additional resources are very great, so that more education may mean foregoing better medical standards, better housing, better communications or even more food.

14.2 The wealthier and more developed countries have, of course, assisted the emergent countries in their efforts to improve their educational conditions. There remain, however, great shortages of personnel and materials. It has been suggested,¹ for instance, that in some emergent regions student numbers would need to rise three or even four-fold between 1958 and 1970. Table 14.1 summarises these estimates.

14.3 The figures in Tables 14.1 and 14.2 should not be regarded as showing the exact needs of these areas, but rather as indicators of the magnitude of the problem. Against this perspective it will be seen that any contribution from Ireland must be modest. If, however, the scale of Ireland's effort is to be small in comparison with the size of the effort needed, there has, nevertheless been a tradition of Irish personnel, mainly missionaries, teaching in some of these countries

¹OECD. Policy Conference on Economic Growth and Investment in Education (Washington 1961). Vol. III p. 71 et seq.

#### 357

#### TABLE 14.1

	5	Second Lev				Third	Level	
	Gen	eral	Vocat	ional	To	otal	of w Scienc Techn	hich e and ology
	1958	1970	1958	1970	1958	1970	1958	1970
Africa Asia Latin America	 960 12,340 1,710	2,400 20,110 3,730	260 740 880	630 1,890 1,520	170 1,500 520	380 3,070 1,070	36 410 85	130 1,050 230
TOTAL	 15,010	26,240	1,880	4,040	2,190	4,520	531	1,410

#### Emergent Countries: Student Numbers in 1958 and Target Figures for 1970 (in thousands)

Source: O.E.C.D. Policy Conference on Economic Growth and Investment in Education (Washington 1961). Vol. III p. 71 et seq.

#### **TABLE 14.2**

Emergent Countries: Teacher Numbers in 1958 and Target Figures for 1970 (in thousands)

	Second	l Level	Third Level1		
	1958	1958 1970		1970	
Africa	82 553 205	140 850 290	7 32 45	18 84 63	
TOTAL	840	1,280	84	165	

¹Excluding teacher training institutions.

Source: O.E.C.D. Policy Conference on Economic Growth and Investment in Education (Washington 1961) Vol. III p. 71 et seq.

and of students from these areas enrolling in Irish schools and universities.

14.4 In considering how existing Irish efforts might be supplemented it became clear that an expert appraisal of the educational needs of emergent countries would be necessary before any recommendation could be made as to how Irish assistance might most effectively be deployed in those areas. We were not in a position to make this appraisal. We feel that the task is one which should be undertaken by specialists in the educational problems of emergent countries preferably under the aegis of an international body such as UNESCO. After such an appraisal it should be possible for the Irish authorities to decide what form their assistance might take in order that it should be used to the best advantage of the recipient countries.

# 28

lering ducaasked under of its i that, ations i that, ations i ce so i ce so i sation i els as i sation e low, ase in

at the more better

course, e their ages of that in hree or es these

rded as s of the be seen ver, the size of of Irish puntries

ducation

We have not, therefore, been able to give the problem the attention that it deserves. Pending such an analysis of the problem we have had to content ourselves here with discussing some general considerations and suggestions without being able to assess adequately their financial and other implications. Owing to the urgency of the problem it was thought better to make a beginning in this way in the hope that this discussion will draw attention to the magnitude of the challenge that faces us in this field, and that it will stimulate fruitful thought and effort.

14.5 It may be useful to begin with an outline of the existing Irish efforts in this field. These fall into two main categories; firstly numbers of Irish personnel are teaching in these countries and secondly numbers of students from these areas are enrolled at Irish educational establishments. Data on the first of these are difficult to obtain. No details of country of destination, or of occupation, are available, they would relate only to first destination, which might be merely a transitional stop, not a final destination may, however, be the Catholic Religious Orders, which have many members teaching in the emergent countries. The following table is based on estimates of the numbers so engaged in 1962 on the continent of Africa.

TABLE 14.3

0	Number	and a second second
Type of School or College	Priests and Brothers	Nuns
Primary	$     \begin{array}{r}       130 \\       220 \\       70 \\       100 \\       - \\       40     \end{array} $	220 200 80 40 100 10
TOTAL	560	650

Estimated Number of Irish Religious who were teaching in Africa in 1962

Source: Data supplied to Department.

14.6 It will be seen that the numbers, though modest in relation to the needs of the area concerned, are significant in relation to the domestic teaching force in Ireland. The partial nature of these numbers should also be noted. They deal solely with members of Catholic Religious Orders; members of other religious denominations are not included, nor are lay persons. Again, the figures relate only to one continent, not to underdeveloped areas generally. 14.7 It is difficult to assess how significant these other numbers might be, though it is probable that they are less than those given in the above table. Up to the present there was no established tradition of lay teachers going to the underdeveloped areas; it is believed that teachers who emigrate from Ireland have in the past gone mainly to the United Kingdom or North America, though it is possible that in the case of university staff small numbers may have gone to Africa or Asia. It is probable that the numbers of religious in other developing countries fall short of those in Africa. This is partly a result of historical and linguistic circumstances-Africa was being explored and opened to outsiders at a time when Ireland, after a lull of many centuries, was again emerging as a missionary country. The fact that English was the major colonising language there meant that Irish missionaries were attracted to Africa. The only other areas where the same considerations of language applied were India, Malaya, Burma and parts of China on the Asian continent, and Australia. Since then, Australia is not regarded as an emergent country in that sense and China has been closed to missionaries for some years; leaving India, Malaya and Burma as the major sectors. While there has been and still are missionary efforts directed at these areas, it would appear that the major effort has been directed towards Africa. The other principal underdeveloped area-Latin America-has not hitherto been the focus of any significant effort, partly perhaps as a result of language difficulties, but this position may alter as a result of recent Papal appeals. The educational efforts of Irish religious of other denominations follow much the same pattern as the Catholic missionaries.

14.8 The second aspect of educational interchange, concerns the numbers of overseas students in Ireland. The following data were obtained for the academic year 1962/63.

#### **TABLE 14.4**

Overseas University Students in Ireland, by Area of Origin, 1962/63

Are

a of origin	in		N of S	
Africa				626
Middle East				27
Far East				229
West Indies				151
Latin America				3
Oceania	• •			1
		TOTAL		1,037

Source: Information supplied to the Department of Education by the Universities.

Thus such students represented about 8 per cent of all full-time university students in Ireland. The distribution of these students by

con.

of the

ay in

nitude

firstly

es and

pation,

which

regards

n may,

v mem-

550

elation to

ese num-Catholic

s are not

v to one

faculty is not available but the distribution of all students from outside the State (including those from the United Kingdom, of whom there were about 2,000) was as follows:

#### TABLE 14.5

### University Students from outside the State, percentage distribution by Faculty, 1962/63

Faculty		Pe	rcenta	age Distribution
Medicine .				57.2
Science .				6.5
Arts				22.0
Agriculture .		••	•••	0.8
Commerce		••	• •	4.4
Engineering .				1.4
Law				1.6
Veterinary Scient	nce			0.3
Miscellaneous .				5.0
	1	TOTAL		100.0

Source: Information supplied to the Department of Education by the Universities.

14.9 These numbers reflect in part the preceding comments regarding the areas in which Irish teachers operate abroad. The number of African students is the largest, followed by those from the Far East and the West Indies; the number from Latin America and other areas is much smaller. The major subject areas show the predominance of Medicine and Arts and the relatively small numbers in technological and scientific subjects. It is only fair to point out, however, that it is not known to what extent these figures reflect the preferences of the students, as distinct from the effect which entrance requirements have on the eligibility of students for various faculties. The table relates only to third level education, because data obtained from schools indicated that the numbers at other levels were negligible.

14.10 Finally, in regard to the educational links between Ireland and the emergent countries, it may be noted that they are the result of private initiatives, for the most part of religious motivation and influenced by linguistic and geographical factors and that they owe little to state incentives or political considerations.

14.11 How then might Ireland best continue—or preferably increase —its efforts in the coming years? The overriding consideration should be the needs of the areas themselves, which should determine the nature and relative scale of the effort; the size of the total effort being determined by domestic considerations. Domestic conditions should determine whether the Irish effort should, say, be the equivalent of 10 or 1,000 teachers per year. The needs of the countries concerned should as far as possible determine the level and subject hom

ersitie

regardnumber ne Far ca and ow the 1 numo point s reflect which

because it other

esult of and inney owe

increase a should nine the al effort nditions be the ountries subject areas in which these teachers should be, and whether it were better that teachers be sent to these countries or that overseas students should come to Ireland.

14.12 The needs of the countries concerned are, as is indicated by Tables 14.1 and 14.2, enormous in numerical terms. Generally speaking, it is probably correct to say that at second and third level the need is relatively greater in the scientific and technical areas. It was seen, however, from Table 14.5 that, apart from medicine, the numbers of foreign students studying in these fields were relatively low compared with arts subjects. Although data are not available, it is probable that the same relative emphasis holds for the composition of Irish teachers in these areas. Hence, a first target for future efforts might be to increase the scientific and technical proportion of such effort. In suggesting ways by which this might be achieved, it is also necessary to take account of the second consideration, whether Irish personnel should go abroad or whether overseas students should come to Ireland.

14.13 The answer to the second consideration will depend on several factors. First there are the level and subject area involved. the case of secondary education it would probably be cheaper to send Irish personnel abroad, since pupil/teacher ratios of the order of 30:1 are likely and transport costs alone would suggest a preference for the teacher going to the pupils rather than vice versa. In the case of third level education the situation is less clear-cut. In terms of travelling costs, since student/teacher ratios would be smaller, the cost disparity as between students coming to Ireland or Irish staff going abroad would be less pronounced, while the presence of different fee structures for such courses may affect the travel cost disadvantages of students coming to Ireland. The fees charged in Ireland are low, less than half the current costs of providing such courses, the remainder being mainly covered by state grants. Thus on average each university student is subsidised to a substantial degree-at the present time by about £120 annually. Given a continuance of this financing pattern, it might be cheaper in many cases from the viewpoint of the countries concerned to send their students to Ireland.

14.14 Costs, however, are not the only consideration. There are also the socio-political aspects to be taken into account. In emergent countries these may mean that the foundation of new universities or the expansion of existing ones may be awarded a high priority because they are regarded as tangible symbols of development, as are dams, highways, airlines or T.V. stations. There would still, however, be a valuable role for foreign study because the domestic universities would probably cater mainly for arts faculties, which are less

expensive to maintain, and send students for the more expensive technological and scientific subjects to study abroad. Against this, there is the contention that if students in these areas are sent abroad, they, or rather the better ones among them, may be unlikely to return. They may be able to obtain very attractive posts abroad, with the result that only the most dedicated students will return home. There is also the consideration of the role which a university plays in the formation of community attitudes and leadership. Depriving universities of scientific faculties may lead to an unbalanced community attitude. It has been suggested in this regard by many writers that in those areas which were formerly European colonies, the highest social status was associated with government administrators, lawyers and arts graduates generally; thus the Ashby Commission (Nigeria) states that 'the literary tradition and the university degree have become indelible symbols of prestige in Nigeria; by contrast technology, agriculture and other practical subjects particularly at a sub-professional level, have not won esteem'. It is probable that the same observations also apply to other areas.

14.15 To change this situation, assuming the countries concerned wish to change it, will not be an easy task, but it may well be that selective use of foreign study may help in this process. Thus if there is prestige and status attached to foreign travel and study, governments could arrange for study abroad in subjects which they wish to encourage and domestic study for the remainder. While it is unlikely that emergent countries would wish to educate abroad all of their third-level students, it may still be in their interests to educate some of them in this way.

14.16 Given then that both forms of educational assistance—sending teaching staff abroad and bringing foreign students to Ireland— are likely to be needed, it remains to discuss how such efforts might be stimulated.

14.17 One suggestion might be that any additional Irish effort financed out of public funds might be directed mainly at one country or one region, rather than diffused over a wide area. This could help to stimulate interest in the needs of the particular region and by reducing the problem to a size where the effects of the Irish effort might be more easily appreciated, would render it more likely that something would be done, whereas if the problem were left vague a feeling of helplessness and of the insufficiency of any possible Irish efforts might prevail. Such a scheme would preferably be organised in conjunction with such an international body as UNESCO. A parallel for this approach is the scheme adopted by the F.A.O. in its Freedom from Hunger Campaign, under which Ireland accepted responsibility for specific projects in a particular country. It is unlikely that this emphasis on a particular area would mean that other regions would be neglected, given the vigour of the existing efforts in this field. The object of any additional effort would be rather, to supplement the existing efforts.

14.18 Of the more specific measures which might be adopted to stimulate Irish efforts, a number of possibilities suggest themselves. Details of teaching posts in emergent countries might be made available to Irish teachers, university and other graduates and students. This might lead to a change in the emigration pattern bringing increased numbers to these areas. It would also facilitate the flow of teaching staff if recognition of teaching service in all, or specified, emergent countries were adopted for purposes of payment or appointment in Ireland. In part, such a scheme is already in existence, as teaching service in certain African countries is already recognised. The extension of such a scheme might of course raise difficulties. There is the question of superannuation rights. Teachers who after some time spent in an overseas country were returning to Ireland, might be at a loss in terms of pension rights, if these rights were to relate solely to Irish teaching service. To allow pension rights for foreign service, however, would mean additional payments, which in many cases might be substantial, from public funds. It might be possible for an agreement to be made with countries which operate pension schemes, to transfer the amount of accumulated superannuation for each teacher who moves between those countries and Ireland. This might still require a supplementary state payment in some cases to bring the value of the benefits into line with domestic provisions, but the total involved should be of more manageable proportions than if there were no agreement. For countries which do not have pension schemes, or in cases where Irish personnel are going to an area for relatively short periods, arrangements might be made for the authorities, or the teachers themselves, to continue contributions to Irish superannuation funds.

14.19 A more difficult problem to resolve would be the extent to which such additional teacher flows between Ireland and such countries should be the result of individual decision, or be subject to official regulation. The nature of the difficulty will be immediately apparent; if teacher movements are left purely to personal choice, the result might easily be alternating periods of domestic teacher surplus or shortage, either in the aggregate, or in specific levels or subject areas. On the other hand, if movements are subject to official regulation, the result might easily be a stifling of individual interest and enthusiasm. While endeavouring to retain the maximum scope for

or

ind ish ely left ble

bi

25

personal initiative, it would seem that some degree of official organisation would be needed. Since the feasibility of arrangements would in part depend on domestic circumstances, it may be convenient to consider the various levels in turn.

14.20 At the primary level, the scope for providing teachers would appear to be slight. The previous chapters have indicated that there is a shortage of such teachers in Ireland in relation to desirable pupil/teacher ratios, a shortage which is likely to persist for a number of years to come. In the case of second level, vocational and grammar-type, and third level, university and technological, where the supply position is less difficult, the prospects are more encouraging.

14.21 One possibility which might apply to each of the latter levels, would be the recruitment of teachers to replace any given number of teachers who might volunteer for service abroad. The basis for the scheme is simple; since pupil enrolments in these levels are expected to rise in coming years, larger teaching forces will be needed. Thus it was estimated that compared with 1963, roughly 75 per cent more university staff, 60 per cent more vocational teachers and 30 per cent more secondary teachers would be needed by 1971. Hence, appropriate numbers of extra teachers could, if available, depending for instance on the subject areas and the amount of emigration of such teachers, be recruited now to replace experienced teachers who volunteer for some years of foreign service. In practice, of course, it would mean recruiting some additional teachers in each year, depending on the available supply of qualified people and on the length of time for which they were willing to stay, or were needed, abroad. The State might pay all or part of the salary of those teachers or perhaps guarantee their superannuation.

14.22 It may be observed that such a scheme would have the merit of not merely imposing no strain on the teacher supply position at home, but would in fact hold positive advantages for it. Even if such a scheme were not introduced for all second and third level teachers, it might be feasible for at least some subject areas.

14.23 In the case of third level education there might be further advantages in such a scheme. One of the problems with many university courses which are attended by the students from emergent countries is the difficulty, if not impossibility, of dealing with material relevant to those areas. The same difficulty arises with post-graduate students from such areas, who not unnaturally seek to do research on topics which are of importance to their own countries, but the difficulty of finding staff who are acquainted with the area in question means that they must either alter their research area or alternately accept rather inadequate supervision. The difficulty is a real one; there may be no facilities in his own country for a student to carry on research on some educational, engineering, economic, legal, social, geological, medical or other problems affecting the area, whereas the countries which have the facilities may not have staff who can give him really effective guidance. In these circumstances an organised system of staff movement to such a country would be of great benefit. Spending a number of years in one of the emergent countries would enable Irish staff to build up a knowledge and appreciation of the problems of the area, while if some of the students whom they would teach as undergraduates were to come to Ireland for postgraduate studies, they would also have some knowledge of the students' abilities and interests.

14.24 If there were a sufficient continuity of staff from particular faculties going to such countries, it might also be possible for Irish universities to provide courses which were specifically geared to the needs of overseas students. One practical difficulty in the way of such a prospect is of course the small numbers of staff in many faculties, so that unless all of the staff members were to serve abroad at some stage it is doubtful whether they would be in a position to mount such courses. If there is sufficient interest in helping these areas, however, it is probable that these difficulties too, could be minimised. Thus, it might be feasible for the faculties of each of the colleges to co-operate in organising their efforts and if necessary, interchange staff for periods in order to mount a course in at least one college.

er

or

d.

ent

30

nd.

of

ho

nd

ped

per

neril

1 2

such

hers

rther nany rgent erial luate

and

the

tion

14.25 It may also be that Ireland could make a very valuable contribution to educational development in, say, Africa by the creation in Ireland of a School of African Studies. Such a school could become a centre of relevant information about the emergent countries and for undertaking pure and applied research. It might also provide courses for Irish teachers who were prepared to take up teaching in Africa. Gradually a body of specialist staff could be assembled who would be competent to guide African students and supervise their work. Ireland seems in many ways to be particularly fitted to promote the development of African studies at university level.

14.26 There is a number of ways in which places for overseas students might be more effectively organised. A specified number of places might be reserved for students from emergent countries. These students need not necessarily be a proportion of the numbers in each faculty, but should rather vary with the requirements of the countries concerned. Again, it might be arranged to reduce or waive fees for pupils from these countries. There is also the ancillary topic of residential accommodation and social facilities. Rather than leave the bulk of such arrangements to the students themselves it might be preferable to have some more positive schemes. University residential accommodation, for example, might be made available for them. Additional items might be the organising of extracurricular activities. Such students, when they return home, will not merely be engineers, lawyers or doctors, they will also be leaders in their respective communities and it is important that they be given every opportunity of gaining an awareness of how other nations order their community life and also, forming a sound awareness and appreciation of their own country's situation and needs.

14.27 The foregoing paragraphs are by no means intended to be an exhaustive discussion of the methods by which Ireland might assist the emergent countries in the provision of education. They are rather suggestive of the methods which might be pursued and the considerations involved.

14.28 The Irish Government might bear all or part of the cost of any assistance, or funds might be made available from some third country, a possibility that should not be overlooked. Many advanced countries provide substantial financial aid for emergent countries, either in the form of official government programmes, or through the medium of private philanthropic organisations. The outstanding example of such activity is the U.S.A. When it comes to programmes calling for specialised staff, as with education, the funds available may well exceed the staff and other resources needed. Consequently, if Ireland is prepared to provide resources, either by way of staff to go to such areas, or the making available of study facilities in Ireland for foreign students, it may well be that other bodies might be able and willing to finance the programme and the possibilities of such arrangements might well be explored.

14.29 Leaving aside then the question of who actually pays for the schemes, the possible costs of the various proposals outlined above may be of interest. The first specific proposal related to the recognition of foreign teaching service, which, apart from any costs with respect to superannuation, would involve no cost. Since superannuation costs would vary on the ages and numbers of teachers there would be no point in trying to estimate these for anything other than a specific scheme.

14.30 The second suggestion related to the recruiting of extra teachers to allow the release of a similar number of experienced teachers for foreign service. The numbers here would *inter alia* be dependent on the average duration of foreign service. A period of three years might be adopted, and if this is used for all levels it would mean that the numbers of teachers involved, and hence the costs, would be of the following order.

## TABLE 14.6

ĉ

uin cai

the the ling nds ded tody

the

for

1018

the costs inco

d

for

be

Estimated	Cost	of	Extra	Recruitment	Scheme
			(£)		

	Number	Annual cost
University staff Secondary teachers Vocational teachers	 250 300 350	£820,000
Transport Other Costs		£60,000 £180,000
		£1,060,000

14.31 The costs are based on an average expenditure of  $\pounds1,200$  for each university and  $\pounds800$  for each second-level teacher. Transport costs are based on the assumption of one-third of this number of teachers making the equivalent of a return trip each year, plus one dependent per teacher, at a cost per trip of  $\pounds200$ . Residual expenditure would cover removal and other costs. The teacher numbers are based on three years expansion demand at each level.

14.32 The costs of overseas students in Ireland are a more variable element. At present subsidy levels, the costs of reserving 10 per cent of university places for such students would be of the order of  $\pounds$ 200,000 annually. To waive fees for such students would broadly double this figure. At present overseas student subsidies would be of the order of  $\pounds$ 100,000, so that the increase would be say  $\pounds$ 300,000. To provide accommodation for this number (say 1,500) would cost in the region of  $\pounds$ 500,000 annually; travel costs would be say  $\pounds$ 50,000, so that it might be reasonable to take total costs as being of the order of  $\pounds$ 850,000 annually. At present the bulk of such costs is met by the students themselves.

14.33 Were the two schemes applied they would in total cost in the region of £2 million annually. In terms of resources the schemes would appear to be well within the capability of the educational sector; in terms of financial costs, however, they would represent a substantial addition to the total educational budget were they to be financed by this country. Added to the probable extension in domestic activity for coming years they would render the financing problem more difficult. The actual level of aid must be a matter for

government decision, but assuming that the financing position can be resolved, whether by domestic or international means, the main burden of rendering any scheme which might be introduced fully effective, would fall on the educational sector. It would be hoped that the necessary enthusiasm and flexibility in arrangements needed to make Irish efforts fully effective would be forthcoming. The coming years will be critical for the emergent countries in their struggle to raise the living standards of their peoples. The Irish contribution to this effort should be the maximum of which we are capable, even if this should call for some unorthodox or impromptu arrangements.

# CHAPTER FIFTEEN

## **Education and Economic Progress**

15.1 The likelihood of a relationship between education and economic growth is now widely accepted and a number of studies have been made on the subject. There is, however, no general agreement on the precise nature of the relationship and the temptation to add to the dogmatic generalisations already made about it should be avoided. Indeed, the truth is that there is not even agreement among economists as to the most appropriate analytical and classificatory methods that might be used in examining the relationship between education and economic growth.

15.2 In economic analysis, expenditures may be classified as consumption or investment expenditures. Consumption relates to goods and services which give a direct benefit to the recipient; investment, to goods and services which are sought, not for their own sakes, but as a means to the acquisition of benefits at some future point in time. An example of the consumption purchase is footwear; of investment, a machine to produce consumption and investment may have significant consequences for economic behaviour. If for example, an activity is classified as consumption, there may be reluctance to finance it from borrowing; if it is an investment, rightly or wrongly financing from borrowing may be regarded with approval.

15.3 There is a substantial literature treating education in 'investment' and 'consumption' terms. Indeed, considerable effort has been directed to disentangling and measuring the 'investment' element in education. We do not believe, however, that economists have as yet treated education satisfactorily on these lines.

15.4 In theory, the distinction between consumption and investment can be made once the purpose for which a commodity is to be used is known. If a bottle of ink is employed writing letters to friends, it is a consumption good; if used for writing a book, it may be an investment good. The practice, however, as indicated by statistical measurements varies considerably from this theory. A major reason for the divergence is the time factor. In the theory, time is a continuum, and an investment could be for a period such as a day, a week, or a decade. In practice, measurements of economic activity refer to discrete periods and in such aggregates as national income, consumption and investment, the standard time-period is a year. The use of such a time-unit requires, among other things, the introduction of a third category. Items will be classified as investments only if they do not mature within the relevant year; consumption, as before, will refer to end products only. There is, therefore, need for a third category to cover investment activities that mature within the year. Various terms are used (depending on the context) to describe this third category such as 'factors of production', 'inputs', 'raw materials' or 'costs of production'. Regardless of terminology, the intention is to refer to those items which provide the final output of goods and services of any period.

15.5 The terminological differences between theory and practice, between consumption and investment need not worry us unduly. For most purposes (as Keynes remarked in the *General Theory*) it does not matter where precisely the line is drawn, provided it is drawn consistently. The terms as used in practice, however, must differ from their theoretical connotation.

15.6 The second problem deriving from economic classification, arising as a result of the time-factor already introduced, is the manner in which the resources of a community should be allocated between different uses. The solution that is fundamental to capitalist economic theory is the pricing system and the concept of the market. Briefly, the convention is that if all exchangeable commodities are traded at a price agreeable to buyer and seller, and if there is an organised system of markets, available to all, so that those who wish to trade may do so, then the 'best' possible allocation of the community's resources will be achieved. This happens because commodities will come into the possession of those who have the monetary means to 'value' them most highly. If a person with the necessary wealth did not possess a given commodity which he 'valued' more highly than its possessor did, he would offer a price sufficient to induce the possessor to sell; hence, assuming the possession of adequate wealth and if stocks and time-lags are ignored, the possessors of commodities are those who 'value' them most highly. Buyers will then use the commodities as they think best. The price system, therefore, secures an allocation of resources between consumption and investment and between investments of different duration. Whether a bottle of ink goes to the consumer who writes letters to his friends or to the investor (the prospective author) will depend on which of the two pays the higher price. The allocation between investments of different time-duration will be effected in the same way, though the actual calculations are more complicated. If, for instance, there are two prospective investments, each requiring the same value of inputs, and giving the same

outputs, but at different dates, then the one which matures first would be chosen. If each project costs £100 now and both projects will give a return of £108, the first in one year, the second in two years, then the £108 from the first project could be re-invested at the end of one year in another project so that it would have a value of more than £108 by the end of the second year. This project is obviously the more valuable. A second reason for choosing the first project is what is termed 'time-preference'. In comparing commodities at different points in time, people will generally prefer a commodity now to the same commodity at a future date. This 'time-preference' for present rather than future goods is reflected in a price-called a rate of interest-which people who forgo present consumption (lenders) expect and which people who wish to raise their present consumption (borrowers) will pay. Interest rate also determines the value of resources devoted to investment. Investment projects which promised a return greater than the interest rate would be undertaken now; projects, whose rate of return was less, would not. (In the 'marginal' case, the return would just equal the interest rate; hence this system of resource allocation is described as the 'marginalist' theory).

15.7 As a method for allocating resources to various uses the market price system certainly functions, but it does not necessarily vield a satisfactory solution from the viewpoint of the community. The adequacy of market prices as an allocative device depends on an acceptance of the existing distribution of income and wealth. It also assumes the absence of market imperfections. The imperfections of the market system of prices was one of the main features of Pigou's Economics of Welfare first published in 1912. His thesis has been illustrated with examples that have since become familiar to every student of economics, e.g. as a consequence of a factory's effluent, fish in an adjacent river are killed by pollution. The destruction of the fish or of the river's amenities generally will not appear in the manufacturer's costs of production nor will the cost be reflected elsewhere in the market system of prices, vet a cost has clearly been imposed on the community. In such cases, there arises what Pigou termed 'divergences between the private and social valuation of a product'.

15.8 Applying this concept of divergences to 'investment', there may be a significant divergence between private and social time preference. The divergence arises because, in the nature of things, the future tends to be more uncertain for the individual than for the community as a whole. The individual tends to discount the future at a high rate. Hence, for him, present consumption is relatively more attractive than future consumption. In short, individual rates of interest are higher than community rates would be. If resources are

to

' 0T

and

For

es not

001-

from

anner

etween

onomic

Briefly,

led at a

system

v do so,

rces will

into the

e' them

t possess

possessor

r to sell;

ocks and

hose who

odities as

ocation of en invest-

o the con-

(the pros-

the higher

e-duration lations are

ive invest-

the same

allocated on the basis of private individual's preferences the volume of investment will be smaller than that warranted by community preference. This first difficulty may be termed the 'divergence' problem.

15.9 As indicated above the 'market price system' also implies the acceptance of the prevailing distribution of income and wealth. This is so because the pattern of prices in a market system, and hence the valuations which will be attached to various goods, will be determined in part, not by an autonomous assessment of relative needs for goods, but by the amount of money which people are capable of spending on them. This pattern of prices and effective money demand also constitutes the basis in the free enterprise system for calculating the potential profitability of any project. It is clear, therefore, that projects can be classified as 'investments' or 'consumption' only on the basis of a given distribution of income and wealth. This second difficulty may be termed the 'distribution' problem.

15.10 The third doubt about the market system arises from the conditions which must be fulfilled before the system can work satisfactorily. The more important of these conditions are that there must be a big number of buyers and sellers for each commodity, so that no one person can significantly influence price. Commodities must be available in units small enough to meet individual requirements, and there must be perfect knowledge among the buyers and sellers of the situation prevailing not only for the commodity in which they are interested, but also for those commodities which are substitutes for it. The real world rarely satisfies these conditions. In the context of education, the important condition is that of knowledge. The education sector of the economy supplies a large part of the intellectual training and factual information by which the perfection of market knowledge can be promoted. Such knowledge is often assumed to be a precondition for the effective operation of a market price system; it is not possible, therefore, to see how the same price system can be used as a method of allocating resources to the production of such knowledge. This area of market imperfections may be described as the 'imperfections' problem.1

15.11. If a serious problem can arise with a market system for resource allocation, what are the alternatives? One solution is to jettison the price system altogether and effect an allocation of resources by a political process. But as no economy has yet succeeded in practice in effecting such a solution, this approach need not be considered here.

¹There might be some overlap in practice between imperfections and divergencies, but this need not detain us here.

15.12 The alternative to dispensing with a free market price system is to modify it, and this is what many countries, including Ireland, have done. Governments intervene and alter the conditions and consequences of market activity. Such interventions may be designed to modify the allocation of commodities as between persons, e.g. by reducing some incomes by taxes and supplementing others by pensions or grants. Intervention may also be designed to modify the allocation of resources to produce commodities, e.g. by restricting or reducing the sales of some commodities such as drugs or alcohol by legal regulations or taxes, while stimulating the use of other commodities such as education or fertilisers by legal regulations or by subsidies.

15.13 The existence of these 'mixed' (private and government) forms of economic activity results in, among other things, ambiguities as to what constitutes 'investment' or 'consumption'. If individuals are making the calculations about prospective 'investments' they would take account only of the costs and benefits accruing to themselves. If, on the other hand, a government is contemplating 'investment', it would presumably take account of the costs and benefits accruing to the whole of the community. Because of the 'divergence' problem, many projects if evaluated on both bases would give different results. Some, such as the pollution example already quoted, would be less attractive socially than to the individual manufacturer; for other projects, the position would be reversed. As long as governments and individuals, using their separate standards are operating in the economic sphere, it is difficult to see how a consistent classification between investment and consumption can be obtained. Hence the ambiguity as to what constitutes investment will persist.

15.14 Such an ambiguity presents difficulties and there have been many attempts to remove it. The result of such efforts, not surprisingly, has been the introduction of a further category, so that 'investment' is sub-divided into 'productive' investment and 'social' (or redistributive) investment. The 'productive category' is akin to the individual's concept of investment, in that the stream of benefits from a project must have a money value sufficient to defray all of the costs incurred (including interest). 'Social investment' on the other hand, refers to projects whose benefits to the community are more valuable than the costs incurred, even though there may be a financial loss because the benefits are distributed free, or at a reduced price. An illustration of the 'social' project might be roads, which are constructed and made available to all without any direct charge being Alternatively, roads could be treated as 'productive' levied. and a toll charged to road users which was sufficient to defray all costs. From a purely accounting viewpoint it is irrelevant which

es the This ce the deterneeds ble of money em for clear, r 'conne and

unity

om me n work at there dity, so nodities requireers and dity in thich are ers and dity in thich are ons. In pwledget of the erfection market producmay be for re-

jettison pes by 2 actice in here. method of financing is used; the necessary revenue in each case is obtained—in the 'productive' case from tolls; in the 'social' case from general taxation. The real difference between the two methods lies in the welfare effects. With the toll method the roads will be used by those who can afford the toll, with the social approach the income restraint is removed and the roads may be used by anyone. As the 'social' approach results in some redistribution of income and/ or welfare from those who pay taxes to those who do not the term 'redistributive' investment has also been used to describe such projects.

15.15 Not all economists are agreed that there should be a separate category of 'social' investment. Many would contend that the essential characteristic of investment is that the value of the benefits should exceed the costs, and that the only objective measures of such benefits and costs are the monetary receipts and payments involved. If benefits are to be available free of charge, any monetary estimate of their value must be vague. Hence many items could be declared to be 'social investments', when in fact the value of the benefits would fall short of the costs. This would mean a misallocation of resources. Accordingly, it might be preferable to treat such expenditures on 'social' projects as a form of consumption, not investment.

15.16 The division of views arises because of the interaction of the three problems—divergence, distribution and imperfections. The advocates of the 'social investment' view can point to the presence of these problems as a reason for by-passing the market mechanism. The advocates of the 'social consumption' viewpoint would hold that the best solution would be to mitigate these problems by specific actions within the market framework. They would argue that with-drawing any one activity from the market only aggravates problems for the remaining activities, thus lessening the prospect of ever achieving an acceptable market system.

15.17 It is unlikely, therefore, that in education the pricing system could produce an acceptable or indeed a rational allocation of resources. Since there are in education features which suggest that the conventional economic analysis may be quite inappropriate in that sphere, it is time to introduce education into the discussion.

# EDUCATION AND ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

15.18 Is education consumption (or 'output') or investment (or 'input')? If it is investment, (if education is a necessary input or raw material for the production of goods and services), then it is important to know how much and what type of this input is needed for

any given level of output. The preceding paragraphs have sketched how some economists attempted to classify activities between consumption and investment, as well as the allocation of resources to each activity. It was seen that in each case it was unlikely that precise or clear-cut solutions could be found. There are areas where in practice, the distinctions between consumption and investment are somewhat vague. In determining the allocation of resources it was again seen that, in practice, there was a number of problems and difficulties which might distort and invalidate the allocation achieved by a price system.

15.19 The same situation exists with regard to education. Many economists who have written about education have not discussed its nature or purpose in any detail. Instead, they have for the most part either assumed that their readers know what it really is, or else in order to channel the discussion firmly along economic lines, use phrases such as 'development of human resources' to describe education, with the inference that people are akin to other natural resources in that they must be 'processed' before their economic potential can be realised and that education is a major factor in this development. The 'resource development' analogy is a convenient one for economists; it enables them from the outset to treat education like any other industry. They can then discuss whether the 'education' industry is operating efficiently or whether there is scope for obtaining the same products more cheaply; whether the products satisfy customers' requirements or whether there is scope for alterations to meet these demands more adequately; whether the level of technology is reasonable in comparison with that of other industries or whether there is scope for research and development efforts which might reasonably be expected to yield improved techniques and production methods. In some such manner education may be examined and discussed and conclusions drawn. Having done this the economist may point out that the analogy should not be pursued literally, that education serves other purposes and other values, social, intellectual, cultural, aesthetic, spiritual and that these must be taken into account.

15.20 Some economists, taking a very limited, but legitimate view, arrive at the conclusion that education is concerned, among other things, with knowledge and information. Knowledge, including an acquaintance with abstract, intellectual principles as well as empirical observations and data, is something which people normally wish to acquire. To be available at all knowledge must in the first instance be possessed by at least one person; to be useful it generally needs to be available to several. Accordingly there is a demand for the transmission of knowledge between persons. A significant part of this transmission takes place by the organised and systematic process called

such parate essenshould enefits d. If ate of

hode

Used

the

yone

ild fall ources. res on

The ence of anism. d hold specific t withoblems f ever

of re hat the

nt (or put or is imed for education, though with the development of media of mass communication such as television, radio, newspapers and books, the role of education in this transmission may be less apparent than in the past. Supplying knowledge to people who desire it might be the function of the education industry and on this view it is the acquisition of knowledge that transforms 'undeveloped human resource' into the finished product of doctor, craftsman and so forth.

15.21 To describe education in terms of a knowledge-producing process may help the economist. In considering the economics of the education industry itself, it will reveal other aspects of the subject, such as the economies of scale and external economies that arise from a wider diffusion of knowledge. Economies of scale occur, firstly, because as one piece of knowledge is transmitted to an increasing number of people the transmitter(s) will very likely become more specialised and more proficient and, secondly, as more people acquire any piece of knowledge there is a greater likelihood of a cross-fertilisation taking place between them which may result in stimulating new knowledge or in more effectively propagating existing knowledge because the possessors may be able to use it in a way that benefits other people as well as themselves.

15.22 The knowledge-producing concept of education also throws light on the relationship between education and economic growth. Education can be both a cause and a consequence of economic growth -a consequence because as people become better off they may seek more education for its own sake, for the satisfaction it gives. Education may be a cause, in that education or specific aspects of it may be a necessary condition for the production of some goods and services. To the extent that education is a cause of economic growth one must try to ascertain the amount and nature of the education needed to attain any given level of output. Viewed in this light, education as a knowledge-producing process may be thought of as contributing to economic growth in two ways. Firstly, there may be an increase in the total stock of knowledge in a community by the transmission of existing knowledge to a larger number of people; secondly, there may be an increase in the knowledge stock through the discovery or introduction of new knowledge. By examining such questions as, for example, whether or not the available knowledge stock is being fully utilised, whether or not the education industry is producing adequate supplies of people with the appropriate knowledge needed for present and future production, whether or not there is scope or need for introducing some knowledge which is available abroad into the country, economists may do much useful work on the relationship between education and economic growth.

15.23 Even though valuable work can be done in this field it may still be so simplified as to be misleading. A large part of education is certainly bound up with human resource development in the economic sense and with the distribution of knowledge. There is, however, more to education than these activities. That there is, indeed, more, is recognised by some economists, but unfortunately, there is no integrated and comprehensive economic discussion of this whole area. There are often grave defects in the economists' approach to education. An awareness of the dynamic aspects of education and of their effects on the pattern of economic activity is often lacking. Education theorists frequently use phrases such as 'the process of developing the human personality' to describe education. This development is, however, a complex process which is still not completely understood. Undoubtedly, the acquisition of knowledge plays an important part in this development; man possessed of some knowledge is held to be very different from man in a state of innocence. Moreover, the process is irreversible. Once acquired, knowledge cannot be disposed of except by the oblivion and mental decay that come with time. But knowledge is not the sole route by which the human personality emerges from its chrysalis. There is also the development that comes through the spectrum of such activities as character formation, moral training, cultural awareness, which result in the production of the mature person adjusted to his spatial and temporal environment and conscious of his limits and capabilities.

15.24 Once education is thought of in this way it becomes clear that its relationship to the pattern of economic activity is also complex. It no longer is a simple matter of education being a necessary input (like fuel or labour) in the production of some goods and services, the remainder being a consumption good acquired for its own sake. Instead, different aspects of education become 'necessary' inputs in a variety of ways which will change both with time and with the level of economic activity. Thus, if one is interested in short-run periods of economic growth, it may be a sufficient approximation to think of education as a 'knowledge-input' in the production process-i.e. providing the engineers, chemists, craftsmen and so forth needed to produce specific goods. But as the time-period lengthens other aspects of the educational process become more important. Are people industrious or indolent, law-abiding or irresponsible, progressive or conservative? Differences in such characteristics can lead to differences in the level of economic output, differences which a simple knowledge-input concept of education would not explain. Thus two communities could possess the same stock of knowledge, but because of differences in attitudes to work, one community could have a higher level of output than the other. Again, an irresponsible community may have a lower output than a more law-abiding one, because of

0

0

the

cing the

iject, from rstly, asing more quine rrossnulatrnowrledge enefits

hrows

growth

y seek Educanay be

mia.

e must

ting to

ease

re maj

intro-

as, for

g fully

equate present

ed for

0000

etweel

the need for a larger police force, and of losses through malicious damage and destruction. An over-conservative community may have a lower output level than a more progressive counterpart because it is nostalgic about traditional ways of life and more reluctant to introduce new techniques and methods.

15.25 The prevailing stage of economic development may also have a bearing on the contribution of education to the productive pattern. At a primitive level of development, the most useful educational processes may be those which import knowledge of existing productive techniques from abroad and which inculcate the attitudes of a socially cohesive labour force. At a high level of economic development, on the other hand, those educational processes may be economically more valuable which far from inculcating social conformity, rather accent and provide scope for the differences in individual talents and interests, as being perhaps a necessary step in stimulating the production of new knowledge and new products.

15.26 It remains to be seen, therefore, whether the traditional type of economic analysis can cope adequately with education. As has been already explained, economists generally seek to analyse the effects, importance and efficiency of an industry through the use of a price system. A price system will determine the amount of expenditure on the products concerned, and will also allocate the resources needed to produce them. If the products are consumption goods, the economist, as an economist, does not question the amount purchased (though he may in his capacity as a citizen advocate restrictions on some, drugs etc. and inducements for others—milk, health services, etc.). If the products are investment goods, on the other hand, he will want to know what quantity is needed to achieve a given output of those goods for which it is an input in order to ascertain how much of the product will be needed to achieve any specific growth target.

15.27 Is such an analysis likely to yield accurate results in the case of education? The answer is extremely doubtful. Problems of classification and allocation make it unlikely that a satisfactory solution can be obtained for any commodity. In the crucial area of education it is not even possible to agree on its classification since this falls into a 'twilight' zone of 'social investment' or 'consumption'. Moreover, education does not contribute to economic activity in any single simple way, but varies with time and circumstances.

15.28 If either of the two groups of problems can be even partially resolved, then the economic analysis of educational activity might be improved. These problems were the differences between theory and

practice in classification and the group of problems associated with a system of market prices, chief of which are the divergencies, distributional and imperfection problems. All of these are general and would exist with any commodity. There were also the problems specific to education (and perhaps some other commodities); these were, the irreversible nature of the product and the changes in the relative importance of different educational aspects with time and economic circumstances.

15.29 There is little prospect of the disparity between theory and practice disappearing. Measurements of economic phenomena in the real world are of necessity based on a series of statistical conventions, which at best can only broadly accord with theoretical ideas. We are still a long way from the time when we can say how many bottles of ink are used for ' consumption ' or ' investment ' purposes, so that even if all theoretical problems were resolved, we would not have an accurate picture of any one item or activity. In the specific case of education similar problems will continue to exist. It may be, for example, that some of the courses given in educational establishments have little educational benefit for some of the persons who attend them, whereas other activities-visiting art galleries, or foreign travel-may prove highly educational. In practice, however, when attempts to assess the scope and composition of educational activity are made, it is necessary to use a set of conventions for the purpose. 'Education' will generally be thought of as something provided by certain establishments-schools, colleges and so forthand measurements will relate to such factors as the numbers who enrol and complete the various courses offered by these establishments. The measurements may be extended to include such items as 'on-thejob' training but it will remain true that many activities, because they are informal, or not primarily educational in interest, will continue to be excluded from the statistical net

ice

01

h

rugs the

(35

is d

solu

a of

e this

jon'.

any

and

15.30 Turning next to the theoretical difficulties of 'divergencies', 'distribution' and 'imperfections', one finds that these are all likely to be of importance in the case of education. Thus, the attempt to assess the importance of education by estimating its cost and value to the individual is complicated by the fact that part of the returns (and it may well be in some cases the bulk of the returns) from education accrue, not to the individuals but to the community as a whole. This might be illustrated by, say, the doctor who discovers a new treatment for a disease, and for whom the value of his discovery may be only an insignificant fraction of its value to the community, so that a substantial 'divergence' between the private and social value of a process may arise.

15.31 Similarly the problem of distribution may complicate the question. It may be reasonable to accept that with commodities such as motor-cars, the millionaire may have his Rolls-Royce, the average man his mini and the poor man his feet, but it is unlikely that this solution of the problem of 'who gets what' would be acceptable in the case of education. This is widely accepted in practice and most communities do in fact, effect a redistribution of income and wealth. favouring increased educational opportunities for poorer persons in the community by such measures as, scholarships, prizes and the provision of free or low cost school facilities. But difficulties still remain. Allowing for the third problem of market 'imperfections', it is clear that in the case of education, imperfections of knowledge can be a complicating factor. Even if education is available at attractive terms, many people may still choose to spend their money on other purposes. If this choice were made with full knowledge of the alternative possibilities, the economist would be satisfied with this expression of consumer sovereignty, but if it is imperfect or restricted the economist would first seek to have that knowledge improved. Education is one of the commodities which will enable the individual to acquire this wider knowledge and make more rational choices. As such, education might justifiably be viewed as a necessary cost of achieving the more perfect market desired by economists; as long as education is incomplete so will 'imperfections' in the market system persist.

15.32 A free market system is unlikely, therefore, to yield an educational pattern which would be satisfactory from a community viewpoint. At best it might provide a reasonable guide line for individuals or small groups (those who had sufficient knowledge and income and for whom divergencies will not be a restricting factor); in such cases, the individuals concerned may acquire some education either as ' consumption' or as 'productive investment'. For the community as a whole, some other approach must be followed. This raises the question as to whether education should be considered as social 'investment' or social 'consumption'. It is, no doubt at least partially intended to be social consumption, since historically, one of the reasons for the introduction of subsidised or even compulsory education, was the wish to provide something considered to be valuable in its own right. But is education also a social investmentsomething which even though it would not yield an adequate monetary return, none the less has a beneficial effect on the pattern of economic activity? To answer this question one must have a criterion to decide what constitutes a social investment. As already suggested, the need for such a criterion arises because of the rather nebulous character of many benefits from prospective ' social invest-

ment'. A criterion which might resolve the difficulty would be to equate investment with capacity creation. An essential characteristic of any investment project (whether productive or social) is that it leads to increases in the productive capacity of the firm, industry or economy concerned. Thus a shoe firm which is making a 'productive investment' in an extra factory will be increasing its capacity to produce shoes. Similarly an economy making a social investment in roads increases its potential output by raising its capacity to transport raw materials, finished products and so forth between producers and consumers. Education then may be considered as a social investment if it raises the productivity capacity of the educated. In fact much educational activity does have this result: the output of any modern economy would be drastically reduced if its workers were replaced by an equivalent number of people who had received no education. This example may not be wholly accurate because part, at least, of any worker's productivity is the result of experience gained on the job (' learning by doing '); but even allowing for this, the removal of education from a labour force would clearly lead to a reduction in output. Some part of educational activity. therefore, leads to capacity creation, and hence it is a social investment.

8.

18

iew.

20Ì

35 B

the

003

sor)

nt-

n of

e 8

the

15.33 Education, therefore, is at once a form of private consumption and investment and also a social form of consumption and investment. This statement is not very helpful in answering the question of how much education is needed for any economy. If we dispense with the price system as a major device for allocating resources, some other method of determining the volume of education must be found.

15.34 It may be noted that the capacity-creating concept of investment relates primarily to the potential results of an activity whereas the productive concept relates to actual results. Thus, if a new highway is constructed the capacity so created will relate to the volume of traffic which the road could carry; if, on the other hand, it were treated 'productively' (and tolls charged) the road would only be an investment if adequate revenues were obtained-which would depend on the volume of traffic actually using the road. Ideally, the two measures would be very similar since people would not wish to install capacity for which there was no demand. In practice, however, significant differences in the degree of utilisation of various investment items may occur. This suggests that the capacity creating approach may be the more appropriate one in deciding on investment activity, because all investment decisions are based on expectations about the future and it is largely irrelevant whether these expectations are justified by subsequent events (except in so far as experience may modify expectations for some subsequent period).

15.35 Using the capacity-creating concept of investment, one way of determining the educational requirements for any given level of economic activity is to estimate the 'manpower' needed (both in total and in composition) to sustain this level and then to plan for the educational system needed to provide the requisite numbers with the appropriate qualifications. Some of the limitations on such an approach will be immediately apparent. It presumes some unique relationship between output and the educational occupational content of the employees who produce this output. In practice, however, it is only rarely that a specific composition of employment is necessary to produce any given output; more usually, there is scope for a variety of combinations. The actual choice of combination will be influenced not only by technical but also by economic considerations, such as the cost of the different combinations. In effect, making a 'manpower' forecast for some future date implies an assumption about the relative prices of various factors in addition to knowledge about the future level of output. Moreover, this approach can provide only an estimate of the occupational structure needed to produce the output of a given date: it does not say anything about the numbers needed to change this level of output in a subsequent period. Research workers who contribute nothing to this year's output may be the agents of an increased output five years hence. Thus, at best, a 'manpower' approach can only give an indication of the short or medium term minimum economic requirements of education. With these reservations, it is none the less true that a manpower approach, with all its limitations, is the most tangible basis for an assessment of the economic requirements of education.

15.36 An assessment of the long-term economic needs for education demands information which at present is not available. Research efforts may result in new products or production methods, but there is as yet no prospect of establishing a predictable relationship between the two. The research effort needed to sustain any rate of economic growth cannot, therefore, be specified. Similarly, it is not possible to quantify the educational efforts needed to promote those social characteristics most conducive to economic progress. It is probable, however, that these educational efforts are more a question of educational curricula rather than of levels or amounts of education. It is nevertheless important to emphasise the economic significance of these characteristics, because in the long-run, it is these rather than specific 'manpower' skills which will determine the economic situation of the community. This suggests a need for co-operative research on the part of educationalists, sociologists, economists and others in order to develop some knowledge of such requirements.

15.37 Meanwhile, on the question of determining the volume of

education the conclusion must be that beyond pointing out the factors involved and the economically beneficial effects of the right types of education, the economist can give no answer other than 'more'. The question must be answered on the basis of a comprehensive social view rather than a narrow materialist view of community needs. Such a conclusion is inevitable once it is accepted that a price system of itself is inadequate as a basis for the valuation of products and that in its stead some socially acceptable basis of valuation is needed. In day-to-day affairs such 'socially acceptable' decisions may be reasonably expected from governments which have been freely elected by citizens.

15.38 Accordingly it may be taken that the total pattern of educational activity will be determined by both economic and non-economic considerations. The investment component of such a total may be presumed to be determined by government policy on economic growth somewhat along the basis of the capacity-creating approach outlined earlier.

15.39 Although this is all that can usefully be said on the economic aspects of education, it may still have some implications for policy. Hitherto, most of the expenditure on education was financed from current revenue, only items such as school buildings or equipment being financed by borrowing, and these not always; the distinction presumably being that the former is a 'current' and the latter a 'capital' expenditure.

15.40 This distinction between capital/current (investment/consumption) items is a derivation from nineteenth century accounting methods which accorded with marginalist economic theory. It is, however, a distinction that is becoming increasingly questioned as a result of recent developments in economic theory. The need for a capital/ current distinction still remains on the expenditure side because capital expenditures lead to capacity-creation; it is important, therefore, to know the nature and extent of such expenditures in order to have reasonable projections of future full-employment output levels.

15.41 No such need for a distinction remains on the revenue side of the accounts. Classical accounting methods produced the necessity for balancing the accounts as a whole, while conventional economics produced the idea that in addition, capital revenues should balance capital expenditure. Similarly with current transactions, though here the preference was that there should be a current surplus, which would reduce the need for borrowing. This antipathy towards government borrowing was based on the assumption that the expenditure of borrowed moneys would be unproductive, an assumption which today is recognised to be inaccurate and inadequate. The need for balancing the budget was based on the assumption that a balanced budget was neutral, whereas a budget surplus would be deflationary and a deficit budget inflationary. A 'balanced' budget, however, may be either inflationary, neutral or deflationary, depending on its composition.

15.42 Apart from this there has been a change in attitudes which has led to the modern view that, economically, the government's role need not be a neutral one. Accordingly, changes in the composition and size of the budget may be justified by a government's responsibilities in the fields of employment, economic growth, social welfare and so forth. Borrowing, therefore, merely becomes another item on the revenue side of the account whose size should be determined, not in relation to some out-dated classification of expenditure, but with reference to other potential sources of revenue.

15.43 One topic not referred to in the earlier discussion was the question of the 'returns' on educational investment. Three main methods of approach to this question have been used to date, which may be termed, the 'direct', 'correlation' and 'residual' approaches. The direct approach may be disposed of briefly. This approach compares the earnings of people who have had different amounts of education and then relates the differences in earnings to the costs of acquiring those earnings. Thus, if an average university graduate earns more than persons with, say, first level education, the sum of these extra earnings may be compared with the extra cost of acquiring second level and third level education. (The studies made so far suggest that the rate of return of educational expenditure is fairly high.) No attempt has been made in the present study to use this approach, because the inaccuracies and imperfections inherent in a price system render such calculations of little value for the whole economy though they may, of course, be of interest for any one individual.

15.44 The second approach is the 'correlation' approach, where some measure of educational activity is correlated with some measure of economic activity in an attempt to see what type of relationship exists between the two. The conventional measure of educational activity is total expenditure or total stocks of educated people; gross national product or national income is the normal economic indicator used. Comparisons can be made either with different countries at the same point of time, or for the same country at different points in time, either of which will show how the educational series moves in relation to the economic series. The basic difficulty with this approach is that both series are likely to be inter-related. Thus gross national product may rise as the stock of educated people rises; in this case education may be considered an 'investment' activity. Educational spending, however, may rise because national income has risen, thus enabling people to 'consume' more education. It has been suggested already that education is both a 'consumption' and an 'investment' activity, and ideally if one is interested in returns on education, one would need to distinguish between the two elements. It would be necessary, however, to design elaborate measurements, in order to disentangle the interdependence which might be present. No study has yet done so, because the data required are not available.

15.45 The third approach is to use what is termed the 'residual' method of estimating educational returns. The aim here is to identify the portion of increased gross national product which can be attributed to known inputs, such as additional capital and labour, the balance unaccounted for may then give a measure of the increase attributable to 'residual' elements such as education or increased knowledge. There are two main difficulties in this approach. The first difficulty is that the portion of increased output attributed to capital inputs is likely to be too low, because with the usual measurements, no account will have been taken of the improved quality of the later capital inputs compared to those of earlier time periods. As one writer has put it, additional capital is viewed as wooden ploughs piled upon the top of existing wooden ploughs. It could, of course, be contended against this that it is correct to measure capital inputs at a constant quality level, because any improvements in technology which make newer capital inputs more productive are the results of changes in men's knowledge, and hence are a valid part of a 'residual' factor. The second objection to the 'residual' approach is a more serious one. Since it is a 'residual' which is obtained when labour and capital inputs are deducted, one cannot validly call this 'residual' a measure of the returns on education, or on any other factor for that matter. It is, as another writer puts it, a measure of our ignorance', so that while one might argue that improved education leading to better communication and increased knowledge is an important component of this 'residual', there is no way, at present, in which one can measure its contribution.

the

nain late, ual' This

rent

es to

rsity

, the

nade

re is

98U (

nt in

002

where

asure nship tional gross

cator

es at

esin

nach

ional

15.46 The conclusion which emerges from this summary of the possibilities of measuring educational 'returns' is a rather pessimistic one. Given the present state of knowledge, it does not appear that sufficiently accurate measurement of 'returns' is possible. It does, however, seem reasonable to be more optimistic about future prospects since it is probable that all three methods will be further developed and refined; none the less, the day when fully acceptable measurements will be available would still seem to be a long way off. 15.47 Finally, it may be useful to refer to the title of this chapter. The term 'progress' was used deliberately rather than 'growth', because growth implies an increasing level of gross national product or other similar measure of economic activity. One consequence of increased education however, might well be a reduction in the measured volume of economic activity, because people might with every justification choose to devote an increasing proportion of their time to non-economic activities in their pursuit of happiness. Such a development could still represent progress even in the economic sense since the productive potential of the community might be increasing at the same time. The fact that this capacity is not used would, if expressed in gross national product terms indicate that the economy was declining. This would clearly be an inadequate representation of the true position and so we have used the term 'progress' as a reminder of the interactions between economic and social phenomena.

# SUMMARY

15.48 Difficulties arise in using a free market price system as a method for allocating resources to various uses, which render the results of that system unacceptable from a community view point. In the specific case of education these difficulties would be likely to be accentuated. Acordingly, conventional economic theory seems an inadequate basis for determining the pattern of educational activity. Short or medium run educational needs might be estimated on the basis of an overall 'manpower' forecast for the economy. Longer term needs, which are ultimately the more important, could be assessed (if at all) only after much educational/sociological/economic research. Meanwhile, decisions which were 'socially acceptable' must be made by governments, which presumably, would take account of economic needs in so far as these could be articulated.

# CHAPTER SIXTEEN

## Some Issues and Problems Emerging from the Survey

the vith

heir

ense

1 25 2

render

point

on the

Longer

ould be

ld take

16.1 As determined by our terms of reference this Report is essentially analytical in character. It contains no recommendations on policy. Any attempt at a summary, therfore, would inevitably mean the selection of some topics and the omission of other topics of perhaps equal significance. We feel, nevertheless, that although a formal summary may not be feasible, some indication should be given of the general aim of the Report and of some conclusions reached as well as a pointer towards some issues and problems that emerge from the survey.

16.2 The Report may be considered under the following four headings: ----

- (i) a projection of current trends in Irish education under existing Government policies (chapters 1 to 5);
- (ii) an examination of the extent to which this educational system can satisfy basic social and economic objectives (chapters 6 to 8);
- (iii) a discussion of the efficiency of the educational system in its use of resources employed (chapters 9 to 11);
- (iv) a review of possible implications for educational policy and decision-making arising from the survey (chapter 12). Chapter 14 deals with Irish aid to education in emergent countries and chapter 15 considers the general question of education and economic progress.

16.3 The only formal recommendation required by the terms of reference is contained in chapter 13, which proposes the creation in the Department of Education of an educational development unit staffed with professional personnel and designed to transform the Department of Education into a development corporation. One of the main conclusions that the members of the survey team have drawn from their work is that educational planning must be regarded as a continuous process which in its implementation must be open to revision and regular readaptation. It seems to us to be essential that knowledge should be constantly up-dated and that for this purpose suitable machinery should exist. In this sense educational planning can only be achieved in co-opera-

387

tion with experienced educationists and it can achieve very little unless it has effective support from public opinion. Educational planning machinery must be an integral part of the administration of the Department of Education and should be in no sense a mere statistical adjunct to that Department or an advisory body. The aim here is to ensure that every decision concerning education can be informed by all relevant facts and by an understanding of the implications of these facts, not merely for the educational system but for the economy.

16.4 The aim of this Report has been to explore the Irish educational system, to examine its component parts and to ascertain the extent to which the system seems able to satisfy the demands likely to be made on it in the light of the needs of the 1960's and 1970's. In drafting the Report we have avoided recommendations of a pedagogic character because these are precluded by our terms of reference. We have been concerned to analyse the educational system in the context of Irish economic development and with a clear awareness of the sociological significance of what the educational system does and does not do. Our aim then, has been not to make pedagogic recommendations but rather to analyse the educational system with a view to helping towards decisions as to whether or not the human and material resources in Irish education are being employed in the most effective manner. Our work in this Report has been, we hope, no more than the beginning of a continuing exercise in investigation and review which we recommend the Department of Education to undertake in the future.

16.5 We began our Report by surveying the diversity and complexity of the Irish educational system. Part I attempts to develop a sense of perspective which may be relevant if social and economic programming are to be integrated. Our forecasts of population show how the population trend is likely to be reversed in the decades ahead and what this may mean in terms of pupil enrolment and of resources required. While the present national population trend is likely to be reversed a further decline in population seems likely in rural areas accompanied by an increase in urban areas. It need hardly be emphasised how important a factor for educational planning the level of emigration will be in the future. We have made our forecasts of population on different assumptions regarding emigration ; in this, as elsewhere in the report, we have followed closely on the lines of the assumptions made in the Second Programme for Economic Expansion.

16.6 In our chapters on projections of costs it is quite clear that a

substantial bill will have to be faced by the community in respect of education in the future. There are, for instance, not enough national teachers to meet the targets for pupil/teacher ratios proposed by the Council of Education, if the present organisation of schools and of the educational system generally is to be maintained. As regards post-primary facilities it will be necessary to reconsider the question of the existing organisation of facilities. This is urgent not only because of the need to provide full educational facilities for all areas but also because of the very heavy programme of building replacement which may be expected in the near future as a result of the advanced age of many existing secondary schools. It will also be necessary to consider the possibilities of more flexible use of resources, particularly in the smaller centres and in which transport facilities will have an obvious role to play. Additional university capacity is being provided but it seems inevitable that the capacity at present planned will quickly become insufficient in the decades ahead.

16.7 A considerable number of Irish pupils receive no post-primary education of any kind, and of pupils who begin post-primary courses a high proportion do not finish. Indeed, in the primary level we find indications that some 8,000 leave school every year without reaching primary certificate level. There are, in addition, inequalities in the participation in post-primary education of children at all levels, based on social group and geographical location. There is, clearly, a need for public policy to concern itself with these anomalies. In the case of university education, for instance, the cost to the student will obviously be substantially higher if his home is not in a university town. Present trends indicate that, while there will be great expansion in the numbers of university students, this expansion will take place mainly in the Arts faculties. It is a matter for consideration whether it might not be desirable to take some steps to encourage more rapid development of some other faculties.

16.8 Almost half of the entrants into Irish universities have only 'pass' qualifications from their secondary schooling. In the Engineering faculty more rigorous standards are imposed. It may have to be considered, however, whether the present basis of examinations for satisfying entry requirements to the universities could be improved. This might be looked at from two aspects:

- (i) general level of entry standards;
- (ii) the combination of subjects.

Care will have to be taken to avoid the waste of scarce resources in having university staff teaching students who have satisfied only low entrance requirements when, in fact, other young people who could

that a

im

be

pli

for

the

70's

eda-

n the ess of

does

Igogic

with

uman

in the

pe, no

under.

1 com

onomit

in show s ahead

of re

trend is

ikely II

It need

al plan-

ade our

emigraosely on

me for

satisfy higher entrance requirements may at present be denied admission to the universities because their parents lack the means to pay for them. At present each university student, irrespective of ability (beyond satisfying matriculation requirements) is subsidised by the State to the extent of approximately  $\pounds 120$  a year.

16.9 We have attached very considerable importance in our report to primary education and believe that no effort should be spared to attract the potentially best teaching talent to primary education. Very many members of our community acquire their formal education exclusively at the primary level. It is at that level that children should be inspired to continue their studies. Moreover, it is important in the decades ahead that the labour force should have enough basic education, not merely for present occupations, but as a basis for retraining in the event of change of occupation.

16.10 Even on the basis of what seem conservative targets we find that there is likely to be a shortage of qualified persons for work in the 1970's—a shortage of persons with post-primary certificates. All this shows the need for wider participation in education and for longer retention of pupils in the educational system.

16.11 It will also be clear from the Report, but particularly from chapter 8, that there is ample scope for the expansion of full-time technical education in Ireland.

16.12 We did not consider it part of our function to engage in any extensive analysis of curricula, but it is relevant to say that the Irish language is the sole teaching medium in only 134 out of some 4,800 national schools, apart from schools in the Gaeltacht. On the other hand out of approximately twenty hours per week instruction in national schools ten hours are devoted to the vernacular languages of which about two-thirds are devoted to Irish and one-third to English. We feel that the data on curricula in chapter 10 and the data on the destinations of students given in chapter 6 will be of value to the Department of Education, to schools and to parents in their reconsideration of the use of student time—the most important resource of all in the ultimate analysis.

16.13 From an informal investigation of the career intentions of students at the various levels reflected in our questionnaires, we are left with the impression that at all educational levels choices are often made in a casual and arbitrary manner. Parents and children may often be ill-informed about prospects and potentials in making
vital career decisions. We believe that the establishment of adequate career guidance is necessary in all branches of the educational system.¹

0

000

r. it

s we

imary on in

tional

1-time

in any

other

ion in guages

ird to

nd the

be of

ints II

ins of

5 112

ildren

16.14 In many ways chapter 12 of the Report is a crucial one in the context of educational planning and development. It suggests an approach to the problem of an improved allocation of resources in the educational sector. The data and analyses of the Report have generally been organised around major elements, which in that chapter are used to examine possible alternative developments of the educational system. Three major elements have been defined :---

- (i) The minimum needs of the Irish economy to increase the flow of educated people. There appears to be a gap between the projected flow of qualified manpower and the projected requirements of qualified manpower. The particular part of the educational system related to this shortrun deficit is the junior cycle post-primary.
- Participation. Significant disparities were found in participation in the educational sector among various socioeconomic and regional groups.
- (iii) Efficiency. Examination of the efficiency of important parts of the educational sector showed possible scope for their reorganisation.

The manner in which these three elements are related constitutes the basic strategy of our Report. From these strands of data and analysis, possible directions in Irish educational development are explored. First, in order to meet projected manpower requirements it would be possible to increase the participation in education of those social groups *already* tending towards high participation. This would, for example, be the result of concentrating on an expansion of conventional scholarship schemes, which would, to a large extent, support an expansion of the existing structure of education.

16.15 The alternative strategy would be to shape educational development so as to enable those groups in the population now largely not participating in post-primary education to avail themselves more extensively of it. Initially, the cost would probably be greater than expanding on traditional lines. Here, for example, a system of student support proposed would be based on need. This alternative would avoid creating a further imbalance in the educational system which would be even more expensive to correct later. Given, however, the limited resources available for education, as well as for all of the other elements in national development in the

¹See, for instance, the introduction to 'Irish Independent Guide to Careers' (Dublin, Independent Newspapers Ltd.).

years immediately ahead, this question of cost is of course of utmost importance.

16.16 At this juncture, the data suggesting gaps in the efficiency of the educational system in terms of the pattern of use of existing educational resources, seem to offer the most feasible approach to the problem of what expansion of the educational system is needed. An unplanned expansion of the educational system, which would merely multiply the existing structure, would rapidly exhaust available resources and be accompanied by a declining return in terms of student output. Thus, efficiency gaps in the educational sector, extended as trends into the future, are sufficiently wide to prevent any possible solution to the problem of manpower shortages or inequalities in social participation in education. Conversely, these problems might in large part be solved within the level of available resources, if new organisational and other approaches were adopted. This will be the specific and urgent concern of any future planning programme for Irish education.

16.17 Many examples of the need for planning on both educational and economic grounds suggest themselves. A high proportion of existing national schools need to be replaced in the next fifteen years. It is desirable, therefore, to examine whether a reduction in the number of very small schools might be feasible if transport services were made use of. This may be a specific example of where considerable and continuing savings in costs could be made and, at the same time, increases in benefits secured through the provision of better educational services.

16.18 Although our Report is concerned primarily with current problems we have been aware throughout of the desirability of having Departmental machinery available to investigate and report rapidly on problems created by new knowledge. Such problems require that curricula be regularly revised for relevance and that teachers should have effective contact with new developments in their subjects and with new techniques for presenting them. Facilities should be available to enable teachers to be aware of the relevance of psychological and sociological research to their tasks. We would finally like to emphasise the need for experimental testing of new educational strategies on a local and pilot basis before such strategies are introduced on a regional or national basis.

16.19 The trend towards a freeing of trade and the likelihood of Ireland becoming increasingly involved economically in Europe emphasises the need for teaching Continental languages at all levels of post-primary education.

16.20 At present expenditure in Ireland on either basic or applied educational research is negligible. To increase both types of research is, of course, desirable, as also is the promotion of procedures for ensuring that the results of relevant research conducted abroad are available in Ireland. Research might concern itself, for instance, with the relationship of inputs of resources to outputs, including the evaluation of various combinations of resources. Such research might particularly be concerned with the evaluation of the pedagogical consequences of innovation. If the proposed development unit in the Department of Education is to function effectively, it must be able to identify obstacles preventing the achievement of objectives. These obstacles may derive from the quantity or quality of resources in use, from social traditions, from attitudes or indeed from technical pedagogical problems. Such problems would be fit subjects for research.

y of

ting h to ded. ould vail-1s of

5 01

thèse labk pted ming

duca

ifteen ifteen iction isport where

and,

irrea ty d

epor blemi that

thei

litics

ant

ouli

Den

op

16.21 Since so many of the educational issues raised in our Report have long-term economic implications we suggest that the observations of the National Industrial Economic Council on these issues should be regarded as an essential part of the background against which decisions would be taken.

16.22 As we said in our introduction, we see in the Report only a beginning, a foundation on which others may build. There is no finality about it nor could there be, for change is perennial and so will not stop this year or next. The process, which the Report initiates, should be regarded as a continuing one if the intention of the Report is to be realised. The two basic problems of making the most effective choices and using means to greatest advantage will always remain. With them will remain the need for adequate information if policy is to be as fully informed as possible.

# CONCLUSION

The members of the Survey Team desire to express their appreciation of the work of the Secretary, Mr. Cathal Mac Gabhann. His extensive knowledge of the subject, his indefatigable industry and his organising ability made contributions to our work far beyond what the duties of a secretary might normally involve. His constructive suggestions often proved decisive in enabling us to resolve points of difficulty. He carried out on our behalf a number of valuable researches into data which we would not otherwise have been in a position to analyse and he displayed much skill in recognising the significance of such data. His cheerfulness and unflagging enthusiasm were an inspiration. We also desire to thank the secretarial staff who, capably organised by Mr. Mac Gabhann, were at all times obliging and co-operative in the face of unfamiliar material, often onerous duties and, frequently extended hours of work.

Signed

Patrick Lynch (Director)

William J. Hyland

Martin O'Donoghue

Pádraig Ó Nualláin

November, 1965.

C. V. Mac Gabhann Secretary

# NOTES TO CHAPTER TWELVE

# NOTE 1

(1) The numbers and costs of scholarships for the 'manpower' strategy (paragraph 12.20) were estimated as follows :

- (a) To obtain 5,000 certificants it was assumed that 6,000 would need to complete the course on the basis of a 1/6th failure rate at certificate examinations (the average of existing failure rates at intermediate and group certificates examination is higher than this—*circa* 25 per cent).
- (b) It is assumed that half of this total would come from additional entrants to post-primary schools, and half from reduced rates of 'drop-out'. This reduced 'drop-out' would lower the attrition rate over the period of junior cycle by 25 per cent, that is from about 33¹/₄ per cent of entrants to about 25 per cent of entrants. Hence to obtain 2,500 certificants from additional entrants would require 3,000 'completers' and 4,000 entrants to first year.

The total number of 'completers' being 6,000, it may be assumed that the total additional number completing second year courses would be 5,400, and completing first year 4,700, on the assumption that the incidence of 'drop-out' remains more or less constant throughout the three-year period. The total number of extra pupils for whom resources would be needed is thus 16,100 (6,000+5,400+4,700).

(c) The number of scholarships thus needed is obtained as follows: at the present time (1964/65) about 40,000 pupils enter post-primary schools in any year; a maximum of 10 per cent (4,000) may be expected to have scholarships of one sort or another (this is a generous estimate) leaving 36,000 non-scholarship entrants. Of this 36,000, 331 per cent (or 12,000) would drop-out. The number of additional entrants is to be 4,000 and they can be drawn from the remainder of the cohort not yet at post-primary school which may be taken as 16,000. Assuming that all groups compete and are successful on a proportionate basis, this would mean that of every 52 scholarships, 16 would be obtained by new entrants, 12 by potential 'drop-outs' and 24 by pupils who would remain on at school in any event. It might also be expected that some of this latter group might not be eligible for scholarships anyway because their family income would exceed the prescribed limits-in the

absence of any data it will be assumed that 25 per cent are so disqualified. Hence we may assume that of every 46 scholarships, 16 would be new entrants, 12 'drop-outs', and 18 from the remaining category. Thus the first group would obtain roughly 35 per cent of the total. Since the number of new entrants is to be 4,000 this gives the total number of annual scholarships as 11,400. On the basis of a three year course this gives a total of 34,000 scholarships.

(d) The average value of the scholarship is taken at £25, which corresponds to existing awards. It may be assumed that aproximately £10 would be for fees, £10 for transport and £5 for books. The fee figure may be too high in the majority of cases, since the bulk of scholarships would no doubt be tenable at vocational and comprehensive schools. There would be some fraction of secondary schools among them, which would tend to raise the average, as would any boarding awards. The remaining components are not generous, so that the overall figure is conservative.

## NOTE 2

The additional resources which the above scholarship scheme would require may be estimated as follows :

- (a) The total number of additional pupils as estimated above may be taken at 16,000.
- (b) At least some part of the additional teaching resources would be met from existing staff—in other words through an increase in the pupil/teacher ratio. It will be assumed that half of the pupil increase will be met in this way and half will be met by introducing additional teachers. (It may be noted that this assumes a worsening of pupil/teacher ratios of about 7 per cent—the total stock of junior pupils being about 120,000 and the extra numbers 8,000).
- (c) Allowing for this increase, the pupil/teacher ratio may be taken at say 20:1. Accordingly an additional 400 teachers would be needed to cater for 8,000 extra pupils (half of the total increase).
- (d) The costs of those teachers may be taken to average £1,000 each per annum or an annual total of £400,000. Other current costs, were they to increase proportionately, might be expected to take another £150,000. However, it might be expected that administrative and other costs not directly linked to actual pupil numbers would not rise in proportion. A conservative estimate would be a rise of £50,000 for these

non-teaching costs, to give a total of £450,000 for current costs.

(e) Extra capital expenditure would be involved also. Again assuming that half of the pupils can be catered for with existing capacity, this would necessitate the provision of 8,000 pupil places. These, at an average of £250 per place, would cost £2 million.

## NOTE 3

and rity t be here and

urces ough imed and may

che

th

的动

tbe

ion

ese

The additional costs incurred by transferring pupils from national schools to post-primary schools (par. 12.30) may be estimated on the basis of existing differences in pupil costs as between these types of school.

- (a) The data of chapter 5 give current expenditure per national school pupil at £25 annually. Chapter 10 (Table 32) gives the cost for a continuation pupil at £71, while the cost for a secondary school pupil is given as £43 in chapter 5 (Table 6). Thus the weighted average cost per pupil in postprimary education would be around £50. It might be expected that almost all of the additional pupils would be catered for in vocational (or comprehensive) schools, hence this is the figure which is the more relevant. The projections of chapter 5 also suggest that the gap in pupil costs will tend to widen in absolute terms over the coming years, hence a difference of £40 per pupil may not be unreasonable.
- (b) The number of pupils involved (16,000) is based on the data of chapter 9, that something of the order of 8,000 pupils would be qualified to enter post-primary schools. Assuming these to remain for an average of two years, the total number involved would be 16,000. This gives a total cost of £640,000 for a two year course.
- (c) Capital expenditure (as per note 2) on the assumption that 8,000 pupil places are needed would cost £2 million.

## NOTE 4

Participation (paragraph 12.54).

(a) The figures of 5 and 20 per cent of a cohort as those who would require maximum grants and some grants respectively, are based in part on the data given in chapter 6 on the social group composition of the population. Thus Tables 27 to 29 of that chapter show group F (Unskilled, Semi-skilled and Others) as accounting for 25 per cent of the total. Table 25 of the Appendix to chapter 6 (which is the only one to have a representative sample) shows specifically that group G (Unemployed, Orphans) account for 3.7 per cent of the total. It is assumed that this latter group would be the maximum grant cases. The figure of 3.7 per cent, however, looks to be somewhat low. It is known (from Social Assistance data) that orphans average about 1,300 for each age-group up to 15 (or just over 2 per cent of a cohort). Unemployment is known to be between 4 and 5 per cent of the labour force, so that if children are distributed on an equivalent basis, they would account for a similar percentage, making the total for group G 6 to 7 per cent. It has accordingly been decided to adopt a figure of 5 per cent for purposes of illustration. The figure of 20 per cent is intended to refer to the remainder of group F.

- (b) Junior Cycle costs were then calculated as follows. An age cohort was taken as 60,000; the above groups would, therefore, account for 3,000 and 12,000 respectively. It was assumed that only half of these were eligible for post-primary courses. Based on the data of chapter 10 it was assumed that 95 per cent of the pupils would be day and 5 per cent boarding. The grant for pupils is taken at £25 for the 'maximum' cases (fee £10, transport £10, books etc. £5) and an average of £10 for the other groups. For boarding pupils, the grant is taken as £150 in the maximum cases, and an average of £100 for the others. The cost for one year is thus £134,000 (1,425 × £25, 5,700 × £10, 75 × £150, 300 × £100). On the assumption of a three-year course the cost is taken as £400,000. (There is no allowance made at this level for earnings foregone, since the courses primarily relate to those within the age-limits for compulsory education).
- (c) Senior Cycle: The projections of chapter 3 suggested that enrolments by 1970 would be equal to 25 per cent of an age cohort. If the same proportion of the group under consideration were to be enrolled this would raise the overall participation rate of approximately 30 per cent, hence it is assumed that 30 per cent of the group would be enrolled. It is assumed that at this level the grants would need to include an allowance for earnings foregone, hence the grants may be taken as being of the order of £100 for maximum grant day pupils, and averaging £50 for the remainder of day pupils, £250 for the maximum grant boarders and £200 on average for other boarders. The cost for each year of the course is thus £307,500 ( $850 \times £100$ ,  $3,400 \times £50$ ,  $50 \times £250$ ,  $200 \times £200$ ). On the basis of a two year course the cost may be taken as £600,000.
- (d) University: The total number of students is taken as 19,000 by 1970. Hence the maximum grant pupils should number

1,000 (5 per cent) and other grant pupils 4,000 (20 per cent) for a comparable participation rate. In this case it is assumed that half of these students would be 'boarders' and half would be living at home. The figures for these students are taken as £250 for maximum grant cases and an average of £150 for others. For boarding students the grants are taken as £350 for maximum cases and an average of £250 for others. The total expenditure on grants would thus be £1.1 million annually ( $500 \times £250$ ,  $2.000 \times £150$ ,  $500 \times £350$ and  $2.000 \times £250$ ).

## NOTE 5

बहुर हार-

was lary mec

the

pils

l for

that n age conet is olled to to transs inum fer of typear typea

mber

Participation: Additional Resources.

The extra resources needed for such an increased participation scheme may now be estimated. The assumption in each case is that half of the current resources are met from existing capacity.

- (a) Junior Cycle : As per Note 2 (c) above. Current £450,000, Capital £2 million annually.
- (b) Senior Cycle: The number of pupils for whom extra resources are needed is taken as 4,000. Hence the current costs are taken at £225,000. It is estimated that capital expenditure

### SUMMARY OF THE ESTIMATED ADDITIONAL EXPENDITURE ARISING FROM THE SUGGESTIONS IN CHAPTER TWELVE.

NOTE: The costs shown in this summary are not additive.

and the second s							
No						Current	Capital
'Manpower' strategy Scholarships Other current Capital items	:  	  	 	 		850 450	2,000
			Т	OTAL		1,300	2,000
Transfer of Pupils Schools	from F	rimary 	to P	Post-Prim	ary	640	2,000
Participation Strategy: Grants to post-primary pupils Other current Grants to university students Other university current University capital					1,000 675 550 150	2,500 1,000	
				TOTAL		2,375	3,500

Estimated Additional Expenditure (£'000)

(c) University: Current resources needed for 2,000 pupils. Student/teacher ratio taken at 15:1 to give 133 teachers, at an average cost of £1,500 each per annum. Total cost £200,000. Other current costs taken at £100,000. In this case, capital expenditure is assumed to be a necessity for all of the additional students (i.e. 4,000) since there is no spare capacity. Pupil place cost is taken at £500; hence the total is £2 million.

# SELECT BIBLIOGRAPHY

EDUCATION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

. 2

8 110

the

Blank, D. M. and Stigler, G. T. The Demand and Supply of Scientific Personnel, New York, National Bureau of Economic Research, 1959 (2nd ed.).

Bowen, W. G. Economic Aspects of Education, Princeton, New York, Princeton University Press, 1964.

Bowles, F. Access to Higher Education, Vol. 1, Paris, UNESCO, 1963.

Central Advisory Council for Education (England) 15 to 18 (The Crowther Report). London, HMSO. Half Our Future, London, HMSO, 1964. Committee on Higher Education, Higher Education (The Robbins Report), London,

HMSO, 1963.

Correa, H. The Economics of Human Resources, The Hague, Pasmans, 1962.

Council of Education, The Function of the Primary School, Dublin, Government Publications Sale Office, 1954,

The Curriculum of the Secondary School, Dublin, Government Publications Sale Office, 1962.

Economics of Education, International Social Science Journal, Vol. XIV. No. 4, 1962.

Gass, J. R. and Lyons, R. International Flows of Students. Papers of the Policy Conference on Economic Growth and Investment in Éducation, held in Washington 1961. 4 Vols. Vol. V. Paris, O.E.C.D., 1962.

Harris, S. E. Higher Education: Resources and Finance, New York, McGraw-Hill, 1962

(ed.) Economic Aspects of Higher Education. Papers contributed to the Study Group in the Economics of Education. Paris, O.E.C.D., 1964.

Harbison, F. N. and Myers, C. Education, Manpower and Economic Growth, New York, McGraw-Hill, 1964.

International Association of Universities. Some Economic Aspects of Educational Development in Europe. Serbelloni Conference Reports, 1961. Investment in Human Beings. The Journal of Political Economy. Supplement, Chicago, October 1962.

Lewis, W. A.; Harbison, F. H.; Tinbergen, J.; Bos, H. C.; Vaizey, J. The Challenge of Aid to Newly Developing Countries. Papers of the Policy Conference on Economic Growth and Investment in Education, held in Washington 1961. Vol. III, Paris, O.E.C.D., 1962.

Mushkin, S. (ed.). Economics of Higher Education. Washington D.C., Government Printing Office, 1962.

National Science Foundation. The Long-Range Demand for Scientific and Technical Personnel. A Methodological Study. Washington, 1961.

Parnes, H. S. Forecasting Educational Needs for Economic and Social Development. Mediterranean Regional Project. Paris, O.E.C.D., 1962.

(ed.). Planning Education for Economic and Cultural Development. Mediterranean Regional Project, Paris, O.E.C.D., 1963.

Peacock, A. T. and Wiseman, J. Education for Democrats. Hobart Paper 25, London, Institute of Economic Affairs, 1964.

Poignant, R.; Moberg, S.; Eleasor, M. The Planning of Education in Relation to Economic Growth. Papers of the Policy Conference on Economic Growth and Investment in Education held in Washington, 1961. Vol. IV. Paris, O.E.C.D., 1962. Schultz, T. W. The Economic Value of Education, New York, Columbia University

Press, 1963

Svennilson, J.; Edding, F.; Elvin, L. Targets for Education in Europe in 1970. Policy Conference on Economic Growth and Investment in Education held in Washington, 1961. Vol. II, Paris, O.E.C.D., 1962.

Tinbergen, J. and Bos, H. C., with contributions from Blum, J.; Emmer; j, L.; Williams, G. Econometric Models of Education, Paris, O.E.C.D., 1965.

UNESCO. Economic and Social Aspects of Educational Planning, Paris, 1964.

Social Aspects of Economic Development in Latin America. 2 Vols. Paris, 1963. Vaizey, J. The Costs of Education, London, Allen and Unwin, 1958.

 The Economics of Education, London, Faber and Faber, 1961.
 The Economics of Education, London, Faber and Faber, 1963.
 The Control of Education, London, Faber and Faber, 1963.
 Weisbrod, B. External Benefits of Public Education, Princeton, New York, Princeton University Press, 1964.

EDUCATIONAL STATISTICS AND DATA SOURCES.

Brolin, K. G. Statistics needed for Educational Planning. Conference of European Statisticians, W. G. 23/7-Geneva, 1965 (mimeogr).

Economic Commission for Europe. The Collection of Data on the Educational Characteristics of the Population. Conference of European Statisticians, W. G. 23/5. Geneva, 1965. (mimeogr).

Goldstone, L. A School Cohort Coding System. Conference of European Statisticians. W. G. 23/6. Geneva, 1965. (mimeogr).

Hyland, W. J. The Use of Individualized Data in Statistics Required for Educational Planning (with special reference to Swedish experience and proposed adoption in Ireland). DAS/EIP/64.19, Paris, O.E.C.D., 1964. (mimeogr).

ILO. Statistics of Vocational Training. Conference of European Statisticians W. G. 23/3. Geneva, 1965. (mimeogr)

UNESCO, Statistics of the Educational System. Conference of European Statisticians W. G. 23/2. Geneva, 1965. (mimeogr).

- Manual of Educational Statistics. Paris, 1961.

Wallberg, K. Educational and Related Statistics, Conference of European Statisticians W. G. 23/4. Geneva, 1965. (mimeogr).

Ireland, Annual Reports of the Department of Education, Dublin, Government Publications Sale Office*.

*For years prior to 1922 reference may be made to the annual reports of the Commissioners of National Education, the Intermediate Education Board and the Department of Agriculture and Technical Instruction for Ireland.

- Census of Population, 1961. Dublin, Government Publications Sale Office.
  Statistical Abstract of Ireland (annual) Dublin, Government Publications
- Sale Office.
- Estimates for Public Services (annual) Dublin, Government Publications Sale Office.

Appropriation Accounts (annual) Dublin, Government Publications Sale Office.

Education in Northern Ireland. Annual Reports of the Ministry of Education for Northern Ireland, Belfast, HMSO.

Education in Scotland-Reports of the Secretary of State for Scotland, Edinburgh, HMSO.

Statistics of Education (England and Wales). London, HMSO,

### **RELATED TOPICS**

Arrow, K. The Criteria for Social Investment. Paris, O.E.C.D., 1963. (DAS/PD/63. 64). (mimeogr).

Becker, G. S. Human Capital, New York and London, 1964.

Committee on Industrial Organisation. Interim Reports and Reports on Surveys of Industries (various) 1961-1964, Dublin, Government Publications Sale Office

Dooge, J. C. Technicians. Dublin, Cumann na nInnealtóirí (The Engineer's Association), 1962.

Gilman, W. and Pyatt, G. The Quality of Labour and Economic Development in Certain Countries, Geneva, ILO, 1964.

Hyland, J. P. and Harbison, J. H. Meeting the Demand. Dublin, Cumann na nInnealtóirí (The Engineer's Association), 1964.

ILO. International Standard Classification of Occupations, Geneva, 1958.

McKean, R. N. Efficiency in Government through Systems Analysis. Operations Research Society of America, New York, Chapman and Hall, 1958. Ministry of Labour (U.K.). Statistics on Income, prices, Employment and Production,

London, H.M.S.O., 1965.

Newman, Rev. J. Limerick Rural Survey. Bansha, Co. Tipperary, Muintir na Tíre, 1964.

O.E.C.D. Forecasting Manpower Needs for the Age of Science, Paris, 1960.

- Productivity Measurement. 2 Vols. Vol. 1 Concepts. Vol. 2. Plant Level Measurements: Methods and Results, Paris, 1950.
- Employment Forecasting. Final Report of an International Seminar on Employment Forecasting Techniques held in Brussels, Paris, 1963.
- Resources of Scientific and Technical Personnel in the O.E.C.D. Area, Paris, 1963

- Agricultural Vocational Training in Europe and North America. Paris, 1963.
- A Standardised System of National Accounts. Paris, 1958.
  Manpower Statistics, 1950–60. Paris, 1961.
- Demographic Trends 1956–76 in Western Europe and in the United States. Paris, 1961.
- Training of Technicians in Ireland. Paris, 1964.
- Peacock, A. T. and Robertson, D. J. (ed.). Public Expenditure—Appraisal and Control. London, Oliver and Boyd, 1963.
- Svimez. Trained Manpower Requirements for the Economic Development of Italy, Rome, 1961.
- Theil, H. Economic Forecasting and Policy, The Hague, North Holland Publishing Co., 1961.
- United Nations. International Standard Industrial Classification of all Economic Activities, New York, 1949.

S|PD|@

linburgi

Dear

tional option

W.G

matel

e Office. lications

ions Sale

Associa

prest it

mann tà

perations i8. roduction,

na Tire,

int Level

ninar on

o, Paris,



# INDEX

(References are to paragraphs: in the case of appendix references the appendix is numbered in roman numerals. Only general references to appendices are given.)

A.

Acts, Parliamentary:

- Childrens, 1908-'41, Annexe B.5. Irish Education, 1892, 1.8.
- Intermediate Education (Amendment), 1924, 1.18.
- Local Government (Ireland), 1898, 1.24.
- Local Authorities (Education Scholarships), 1944, 1961, Appendix IX.B.
- School Attendance, 1926, 1.8, Annexe B.3. Annexe E.1.
- Vocational Education, 1930, 1.25, Annexe A.49.
- Advanced Studies, Dublin Institute for, 1.39, Appendix V
- Africa, 14.1, 14.5, 14.7, 14.9.
- African Studies, Proposal for a School of in Ireland, 14.25
- Age, school leaving, 3.4, 3.7, 3.14, 3.18, 3.20, 3.33, 6.18, 6.27, 7.24, 9.36, 9.42, 12.11, 12.22, 12.23, 12.29, Appendix III.A.—See also Education, compulsory.
- Agriculture and Technical Instruction for Ireland, Department of, 1.24.
- Agriculture, County Committees of, 1.32, 1.48.
- Agriculture, Department of, 1.7, 1.34, 3.25, 4.39, 5.51, Appendix III.A, V.
- Agricultural education, 1.7, 1.34, 1.48, 12.101, Appendix, III.A.
- Agriculture, employment in, 7.19, 7.29, Appendix VII.A.
- Agricultural Institute, The, 1.40.
- Agricultural income, 6.112, Appendix
- Agricultural schools and colleges, 1.34, 3.25, 4.39, 5.50, 5.51, 6.14, 6.40, 6.81, Appendix III.A.

Apprentices, Air Corps, 1.34.

- Army School, Naas, 6.83. Courses for, 1.29, 1.30, 1.32, 1.44-1.46, 3.43, 4.24, 4.26, 4.36, 10.27, 10.62-10.64, 12.98, Appendix, IV.D. V.D.
- Apprenticeship Board, The Nationalsee under Cheárd-Chomhairle, An.
- Architecture, teachers of, 10.45
- Art, National College of, 1.36, 1.38, 3.42, 4.46, 5.61, Annexe A.32 ff, Appendix V.
- Art, schools of (provincial), 1.36, Annexe A.36.
- Art, teachers of, 4.28, 4.32, 10.49, Annexe A.31 ff.

Ashby Commission (Nigeria), 14.14. Asia, 14.1, 14.7. Athlone, 4.36. Attainment, educational, 6.7, 6.27, 9.27 ff.

Australia, 14.7.

B.

Births, 2.2, 2.4, 2.10, 2.11, 2.13, Appendix II. Block release, 1.44. Burma, 14.7.

C.

- Capitation schools. See under National schools.
- Career guidance, 6.50, 16.13.
- Carlow, 4.36, Appendix IV.D.
- Catering and Domestic Science, College of, 1.30.
- Cavan, County, 6.101, 6.108, 6.114, 6.116, 6.118, Annexe A.17, Appendix IV.D.
- Census of Population, 2.3, 2.6, 2.19, 2.22, 4.10, 6.87, 6.89, 6.90, 6.103, 6.105, 7.23, 7.36, 8.12, Annexe F, Appendix II, Appendix IVA, VIIA, VIIB, VIIC, VIIIB.
- Census, the 'February', 1.3, 1.41, 3.28, 10.41, 10.58, Annexe D.2, Appendix I.
- Certificants, outflow of, Appendix VIII.A, VIII.B.
- Cheárd-Chomhairle, An, 1.45, 1.46, 3.14, 3.43, 12.98, Appendix III.A.
- Chief State Solicitor, 9.62.
- China, 14.7
- City and Guilds of London Institute, examinations of, 8.37, 8.48 ff, 8.55, 8.56, Appendix VIII.A, VIII.C.
- Clare, County, 6.114, 12.47, Appendix IV.D.
- Classification schools-See under National schools.
- Commerce, College of, 1.30, 6.83.
- Commerce, teachers of, 4.28, 4.32, 10.45, 10.70.
- Commercial schools, non-aided, 1.50, 3.6, 3.25, 4.38, 5.50, 5.51, 6.12, 6.33, 6.35, 6.38, 6.55, 6.57, 6.81, 6.97.
- Commonwealth, The British, 2.16. Comprehensive schools, 3.4, 3.6, 3.16, 3.19, 3.20, 3.29, 4.37, 5.49, 12.28, Appendix III.A, IVB.
- Compulsory education-See under Education and Age, school leaving.

Conference of Major Religious Superiors, Appendix 1

Connacht, 2.21, 6.101, 6.105, 6.108, 6.109, 6.111, 10.35, 10.37, 10.69, 12.47, Annexe A.17

Constitution of Ireland, The, Chapter 1, footnote 7, Annexe B.5.

Continuation Education, 1.25, 1.27, 1.28, 1.32, 3.4, 3.12-14, 4.24, 4.26, 4.28, 4.33, 4.36, 6.4, 6.14, 6.29, 6.95, 6.96, 6.100, 10.27, 10.29, 10.30, 10.32 ff, 10.70-72, 12.27, Appendix III.A, III.B, IV.C, V.D., XB. Curricula, 10.54 ff.

Unit Costs, 10.65 ff. Cork, 3.28, 4.36, 5.38, 6.104, 6.105, Chapter 10, footnote 9, 10.62, 10.64, Annexe C.3, Appendix IVD, V.D.

Cycle, Definition of, 1.5.

- Day release, 1.44. Deaths, 2.2, 2.4–5, 7.23, 7.29, Appendix II, VIIB.
- Defence, Department of, 1.34, 5.51.
- Demand for educational resources, components of, 4.2, 8.20, 12.5
- Density of population, 12.44 ff, Appendix XII.B

Dentistry, College of, 4.46, 5.61.

- Development Unit, in the Department of Education, 13.5 ff, 16.3, 16.4, 16.20.
- Domestic economy, residential schools of, 1.32, 3.25, 4.39, 5.50-51, 6.14, 6.40, 6.81.
- Domestic economy, rural schools of, 1.34, 5.51, Appendix III.A
- Domestic Science, teachers of, 1.31, 3.41, 4.28, 4.32, 10.49, 10.53, 10.70, Annexe A.26, A.35 ff, Appendix IV.C
- Donegal, County, 6.99, 6.101, 6.105, 6.111, 6.114, 6.116, 6.118, 10.37, Annexe D.11, Appendix IV.D.
- Drogheda, Appendix IV.D.
- Dublin, 2.21, 3.28, 3.44, 4.34, 4.36, 5.38, 6.21, 6.78, 6.100, 6.102–5, 6.109, 6.115, 8.48, 9.12, 9.15, 10.37, 10.43, 10.61-62, 10.64, Annexe A.59, Annexe C.3, Appendix II, IIIA, IVD

Dublin, Archdiocese of, Appendix V.B. Dundalk, 4.36, 8.62.

Dun Laoghaire, Appendix II, IVD, V.D.

### E.

Economic Expansion, Second Pro-gramme for, 2.8, 3.11, 4.7, 5.70, 7.15–16, 7.18, 7.23, 13.3, 16.5, Appendix VII.B.

Economic Research Institute, 1.40.

Education, administration of, 1.7 compulsory, 1.8–9, 3.4, 3.29, 3.32. definition of, 1.1, 1.39, 15.19 ff. system of, structure, 1.6.

- Education, National, Board of, Appendix V.B.
- Education, Council of, 4.7, 4.9, 9.14, 9.16, 12.64, 16.6, Appendix IV.A. Education, Higher Diploma in, 4.17,
  - 4.24, Appendix IV.B.

Educational Research, 13.7, 16.20.

- Electrical engineering, teachers of, 10.45.
- Emigration, 2.2, 2.4, 2.6 ff, 2.13, ff, 6.8, 6.74, 6.93, 6.103–5, 7.3, 7.14, 7.23, 8.2, 16.5, Appendix II, VII.B.
- Engineering, teachers of, 4.28, 10.45, 10.53, 12.71, Appendix IV.C.
- England and Wales, 1.42, 6.46.
- Equipment in post-primary schools, 12.71-72, 12.74, 12.78-79, 12.81.
- Evening courses, 1.29–30, 1.32, 1.44, 1.47–48, 3.44 ff, 4.33, 8.54, 10.27, 10.30, 10.60–61, 10.66, Appendix III.A, V.D.

F.

Far East, Students from in Ireland, 14.9. Fertility rate, 2.4, 2.10. Finance, Department of, 7.18, Appendix

VII.A.

Financial flows, 5.1, 11.3 ff, Appendix V. Flows of pupils, 6.2, 6.4, 6.9-10, 6.85-86.

Forestry, Schools of, 1.34, Appendix V.

France, 1.42, 6.40.

Froebel, teacher training, 1.15, 3.41, 4.4, Appendix IV.A.

### G.

- Gaeltacht, Department of the, 5.66, Appendix V
- Galway, 4.36, 6.101, 6.104, Annexe C.3, Appendix IV.C, IV.D.
- Great Britain, 3.37, 7.32
- Group certificate for day vocational, courses, 3.14, 6.20, 6.59 ff, 6.131, 8.3, 10.55, 10.58, Appendix VI, VIII.A.

### H.

- Higher Education, Commission on, 3.35, Chapter 3, footnote 18, 4.42, 10.11, 12.99, Annexe A.37.
- Highly qualified manpower, 8.13-See also Professional and technical workers.

- Income, personal differences in relation to participation in education, 6.113, 6.134, Appendix III.A
- Income Tax, relief for children in fulltime education, 12.40, 12.87.
- Immigration, 2.2, 7.2–3, 7.14, 8.2. Imputed salaries, Appendix VA, V.C.
- Industry, employment in, 7.19.

Industrial schools-See Reformatory and Industrial Schools.

- Institute of Medical Laboratory Technologists, 8.37.
- Intermediate certificate, secondary schools, 1.20-21, 6.4, 6.15, 6.17-18, 6.20, 6.24-25, 6.58, 6.81, 6.128, 8.3, 10.22, Appendix III.A, VIII.A.
- Intermediate Education, Commissioners of, 1.18.
- Irish, as a medium of instruction, 9.47, 12.100, 16.12
- Irish students abroad, 1.39, 6.40, 6.117.
- Irish, teachers (vocational), 1.31, 4.32, 10.49, 10.70.
- Irish teachers, in the emergent countries, 14.3, 14.5, 14.12-13, 14.18 ff, 14.29-30.

### J.

Justice, Department of, 1.34, 5.51.

### K.

Kerry, County, 6.112, 12.47. Appendxi Kildare, County, 6.101, 6.114, Appendix IV.D. Kilkenny, Annexe C.3.

# L.

- Labour force, 2.1, 2.15, 6.2, 7.6, 7.14, 7.16, 7.18–19, 7.22–24, 7.27, 7.29, 7.33, 8.2, 8.6 ff, 8.31, 8.34, 16.9, Appendix VII.A, VII.B, VII.C, VIII.B,
- Lands, Department of, 1.34, 5.51
- Laois, County, 6.101, Appendix IV.D.
- Latin America, 14.1, 14.7, 14.9.
- Leaving certificate, secondary school, 1.15, 1.21, 3.38, 6.17, 6.30 ff. 6.54, 6.81, 6.129–130, 10.21–22, Annexe A.6, Appendix III.A, VII.A, VIII.B.
- Leaving certificate, secondary school, special entrants, 6.55, 6.57
- Leaving certificate, technical, 3.4, 3.12 3.23, 4.24, 4.28, 4.33, 4.36, 6.125, Appendix IV.C
- Leinster, 2.21, 6.101-102, 6.105, 6.109, 6.111-112, 10.35, 10.37, 12.47, Annexe A.16, Appendix II.
- Leitrim, County, 6.100, 6.103-105, 6.118, Appendix IV.D.
- Level, educational, definition of, 1.5. Limerick, 3.28, 4.36, 5.38, Chapter 10,
- footnote 9, 10.62, 10.64, Annexe C.3, Appendix IV.D
- Loan schemes, 12.92
- Longford, County, 6.100, 6.118, 12.47,
- Loughborough Training College, England, Annexe A.59.
- Louth, County, 6.104, Appendix IV.D.

- Malaya, Irish missionary teachers in,
- Management Institute, Irish, 1.39.
- Manpower, 6.3, 7.2, 7.4–5, 7.7ff, 7.22ff 8.1, 8.22, 12.2, 12.7, 12.10 ff, 12.19, 12.29, 12.33, Annexe F, Appendix VII. B. See also Labour force.
- Manpower, highly qualified-See under Professional and technical workers.
- Marriage rate, 2.4, 2.10, 2.13. Marriage, age at, 2.4, 7.29.
- Mathematics, teachers of, 4.28, 4.32, 10.45, 10.53, 12.71, Appendix IV.C
- Matriculation, university, 1.21, 6.41 ff, 6.56.
- Maynooth, St. Patrick's College, 1.35, 1.37, 3.36-38, 3.42, 4.17, 4.44, 6.49, Appendix V
- Mayo, County, 6.101
- Meath, County, 6.101, 6.114, Appendix
- Mental Handicap, Commission on, Chapter 3, footnote 16, Chapter 6, footnote 72,12.100, Annexe C.2, footnote 2
- Metalwork, teachers of, 1.31, 4.28, 10.52-53, 10.70, 12.71, Annexe A.26, A.49 ff., Appendix IV.C
- Military College, The, 1.36.
- Modern languages, teachers of, 12.71.
- Monaghan, County, 6.101, 6.108, 6.116, Appendix IV.D.
- Montessori, teacher training, 1.15, 3.41.
- Munster Institute, The, 1.34
- Music, The Army School of, 1.34.
- Music, teachers of, 10.45.

### N.

- National Industrial Economic Council, 7.18, 16.21.
- National and vocational schools, interdepartmental committee on standards
- of planning for, 9.74. National schools, building, accommodation and facilities, 3.28, 4.11 ff, 4.22 5.10-11, 5.65, 9.49 ff, 9.57 ff, 9.81-82
  - 12.63, 16.17, Appendix V.B, IX.D., IX.E., XII.A.
    - class-size in, 9.4, 9.14, 9.17, 9.44, 9.78, Annexe D.23, Annexe E.6, Appendix IX.A.
    - enrolment in, 1.11, 3.6, 3.20, 3.26, 3.29 ff, 9.4 ff, 9.78, Appendix IIIA.
    - expenditure, 5.2 ff, 9.2, Appendix V.A., V.B., V.E.
    - financing, methods and effects,
    - maintenance, Appendix V.B. 5.8. 9.74-75.
    - management, 1.9, Appendix V.B.
    - pupils, promotion of, 9.31 ff, 9.80, Appendix IX.C
    - remedial classes in, 3.18.
    - reorganization of, 12.61 ff.

- National teachers, 1.15, 4.3 ff, 5.3, 5.7, 5.9, 9.2 ff, 9.13, 9.16, 9.18, 9.20, 9.78, 12.8, 12.67-68, Annexe A.3 ff, Appendix IV.A, V.B.
- National University of Ireland, 1.35, 1.37, 1.49-50, 3.36 ff, 4.17, 4.44 ff, 6.41, 6.49, 6.56, Appendix III.A, V.A.
- National University of Ireland, Commission of the Accommodation Needs of, 4.45,
- Non-Aided schools, collection of statistical data in respect of, 13.9.

Northern Ireland, 1.42, 3.37.

Norway, 1.42, Appendix VIII.D.

Offaly, County, 6.104, Appendix IV.D. Orphanages, private, Annexe B, 26-28.

### P.

Parental expenditure on education, 5.3, 5.6, 5.13, 5.25, 5.48,

- Parish as a basis for national school reorganization, 12.61 ff
- Part-time education, 1.29-30, 1.32, 1.43 ff, 3.43 ff, 4.26, 4.33, 4.36, 8.54, 10.27, 10.63, 10.66. Appendix III.A., V.D.see also Evening Courses.
- Part-time teaching, secondary, 4.18, 10.8.
  - vocational, 4.27-28, 4.32, 10.50, Appendix IV.C
- Pharmacy, College of, 1.36, 4.46, 5.61, Appendix V.
- Philosophy, schools of-see Religious Schools.
- Physical education, teachers of, 1.15, 3.41, 10.49, Annexe A.26, A.58-59.
- Posts and Telegraphs, Department of, 1.34, Appendix V.E
- Postgraduate students, 1.40, 3.40. Appendix III.A.
- Post-primary certificants, output of junior, 6.125, 8.9, 12.5, 12.10-11, 12.13, 12.20, 12.29, 16.14.
- Post-primary schools, expansion in the number of entrants, 12.14 ff, 12.29, facilities, 12.24 ff, 12.30, 12.42, 12.50, 12.71 ff, 12.80, 16.6, Appendix XII.B.—See also Secondary schools and Vocational schools.
- Post-primary teachers, utilization of, 12.75 ff, 12.81.
- Preparatory Colleges, Annexe A. 5ff.
- Price levels, 5.69, Appendix VA.
- Primary certificate examination, 1.10, 6.72, 6.77 ff, 6.134, 16.7.
- Primary schools, non-aided, 1.16, 3.20. 3.26, 3.28, 3.31, 4.13 ff, 5.12 ff, 6.73,

- 6.75, 6.124, 6.127, 9.12, Annexe E, Appendix 1, Appendix III.A, VI. cofessional Courses—see Eve
- Professional Evening courses and Technical education.
- Professional and technical workers. 7.19-21, 7.30 ff, 8.27.
- Protestant educational participation, 6.116.
- Protestant national schools, 9.10, 12.66, Appendix IX.A, IX.C, IX.D, XII.A.
- Public Administration, Institute of, 1.39. Public Works, Office of, 5.65, 9.58-60,
  - 9.63, 9.67, 9.72, 9.75, Appendix VA, VB.
- Pupils, location of, 3.5, 3.18, 6.94. ff, 12.38, 12.41, 12.52, 16.7, Appendix XA, XB, XII.B.
  - maintenance grants for, 3.18, 12.37, 12.53 ff.
  - transport for, 3.18, 5.3, 5.8, 6.115, 6.118, 9.9, 10.37–38, 12.19, 12.28, 12.41, 12.50, 12.52, 12.68, 16.17, Appendix VD, XII.A.

R.

- Radio and communications, teachers of, 10.45.
- Radio training schools, 1.34.
- Reformatory and Industrial Schools, 1.14, 5.11, 5.67, Annexe B, Appendix VE.
- Reformatory and Industrial Schools, Report of the Commission of Enquiry into, Annexe B.9 ff, B.16, B.18.
- Registered, teachers-see Secondary teachers
- Registrars' Districts, Appendix XII.B.
- Religious schools and institutes, private non-aided, 1.37, 3.25, 3.42, 4.38, 5.50-51, Appendix I.
- Religious, teaching in the emergent countries, 14.5.
- Replacement demand, forecasting of, Appendix VII.C
- Retraining, 8,18, 12,12
- Returns on educational investment, 15.43 ff.
- Roscommon, County, 6.105, 6.114, Appendix IV.D.
- Rural science teachers, 1.31, 10.47, 10.49, 10.52-53, 10.70, 12.71, Appendix IV.C.

### S.

- St. Patrick's Institution, 1.34.
- Sandwich courses, 1.44, 1.47.
- Scholarships, awarded by secondary schools, 5.21, 5.34.
  - awarded by local authorities etc. to post-primary schools, 5.25, 5.34–35, 5.58, 9.27 ff, 9.79, 11.18 ff, 12.19–20, 12.29, 12.31, 12.37 12.40, 12.57, 12.85–86, Annexe D.8, Appendix V. IX.B.

- awarded by vocational education committees, 5.39, 5.43, 10.38, 12.89, Annexe A.39, Appendix V.D
- awarded by universities, 5.58.
- awarded by the State and local authorities to universities, 5.58, 11.26, 12.90, Appendix V, IX.B.
- awarded to teacher training colleges and courses, Annexe A.38, A.48 ff.
- Schools, size of, 2.17, 9.9 ff, 9.19, 10.35, 12.8, 12.61 ff.
  - location of, 2.17, 6.21, 6.118, 6.134, 9.8, 9.19, 10.3–5, 10.32, 10.35, 12.8, 12.18–19, Appendix XII.B.
- School districts, post-primary, 12.50 ff, Appendix XII.B.
- School fees, 5.12-14, 5.16, 5.19-21, 5.25; 5.37, 5.47, 6.118, 6.134, 10.4, 10.28, 12.27, 12.29, 12.38, 12.41–42, 12.88.
  - Annexe D.15, Appendix V.C
- School libraries, 5.8, 9.54.
- School leavers, 6.2, 8.7, 16.7.
  - National Schools, 6.74 ff, 6.122 ff, 9.37, Appendix III.A., VI.
    - Non-aided primary schools, Annexe E.8, Appendix III.A., VI.
    - Secondary, junior, 6.11 ff, 6.128, 6.133, 12.16, Appendix III.A. VI.
    - Secondary, senior, 6.30 ff, 6.129, Appendix III.A., VI.
    - Secondary tops, Annexe D.9, Appendix VI.
    - Vocational schools, 6.59 ff. 6.132-133, 12.16, Appendix VI. England and Wales, 6.46
- Schools meals, 5.67, Appendix V.A.
- School medical Service, 5.67.
- Science, teachers of, 4.28, 4.32, 10.45, 10.47, 10.53, 12.71, 12.77, Appendix IV.C
- Scotland, 1.42.

net

- Secondary Schools, 1.18, 3.12-13, 3.16, 3.21, 3.26, 3.28, 4.15, 5.49, 6.38, 6.40, 6.55, 6.71, 6.99, 6.106, 6.110, 6.113, 10.2 ff, 10.42, 10.69, 12.42, Appendix V.C., X.A.
  - buildings, capacity and facility 3.11, 4.19 ff, 5.23, 5.36, Appendix
  - curriculum, 1.21, 6.38, 10.18 ff. 10.26.
  - enrolments, 3.6, 3.10, 3.29, 4.21, 6.94, Appendix III.A.
  - entrants to, 1.20, 3.9, 3.11, 3.20, 3.22, 6.18, 6.75-76, 6.96, 6.124, 6.127-128. Appendix III.A.
  - income and expenditure, 5.18 ff, Appendix V.C
  - state grants to, 1.19-20, 3.11, 4.23, 5.18, 5.27 ff, 6.118, 11.15 ff, 12.27 12.86, 12.88, Appendix VA, VC, VE
  - non-aided, 1.23, 3.25, 4.38, 5.50-51, Appendix 1,8.

- Secondary teachers, 1.22, 4.15 ff, 4.37, 5.19, 5.22, 5.26, 5.33, 10.7 ff, 10.25, 12.71, Appendix IV.B., V.C.
- Registration Secondary Teachers' Council, 1.22.
- Secondary tops, 1.11–12, 3.6, 3.15, 3.20–21, 3.24, 4.3, 4.5, 4.8, 5.11, 6.21, 6.55, 6.74, 6.76, 6.95, 9.47, 12.27, 12.97, Annexe D, Appendix III.A., VI. Seminaries, major—see Religious
- schools
- Sligo, 4.36, 6.105, 6.108, 6.114, 6.118, Appendix IV.C
- Socio-economic groups, 3.5, 6.87 ff, 6.106–107, 6.109–111, 6.114–115, 6.121 ff, 7.3, 7.17, 7.19, 8.7, 12.6, 12.34 ff, 16.7, Annexe A.14 ff. Annexe F, Appendix III.A., VI, VII.A., VII.C.
- Special schools for the mentally and physically handicapped, 1.11, 1.13, 3.20, 3.26–27, 3.31, 4.3, 4.5, 5.11, 6.79, 9.33, Annexe C
- Statistics, educational, availability of, 3.5, 6.1, 6.5.
  - inadequacies of, 1.2, 3.5, 8.12, Appendix IV.A., IV.B.
  - proposed development unit to be responsible for, 13.6-7. requirements, Annexe F.
- Students from abroad in Ireland, 3.7, 3.37, 12.91, 14.3, 14.5, 14.8–9, 14.13, 14.23, 14.26, 14.32.
- Supernumerary teachers in national schools, 9.4, 9.19, Appendix V.B.
- Surgeons and Physicians, Royal College of, 1.35, 3.36-38, 4.44, 5.61, Appendix
- Survey, task of, 1.1.
- Superintendent Registrars' Districts, Appendix XII.B.

### T.

- Teacher training, 1.15, 1.36, 1.38, 3.41, 4.3-4, 4.10, 4.30, 4.46, 5.59-60, 6.31, 6.33, 6.39, 6.43, 9.76 ff, Annexe A, Annexe C.4, Appendix IV.A., V.A., VI.
- Technical colleges, regional, 3.23, 4.36.
- Technical education, 1.29-30, 1.32, 1.36, 3.21, 3.43, 4.24, 4.26, 4.33, 4.36, 4.46, 6.64, 6.83, 6.95, 6.100, 8.51 ff, 10.27, 10.29-31, 10.62 ff, 16.11, Appendix III.A., IV.C., V.D., VI.-See also Technicians, training of, and Vocational education.
- Technical Education, Commission on, 1.25
- Technical schools, 1.24, 1.27.-see also vocational schools.
- Technical School Examinations, 8.37, 8.38 ff, 8.49, 8.55 ff, Appendix VIII.A.
- Technicians, training of, 1.29, 8.23 ff, 12.98, Appendix VIII.C
- Technology, Colleges of, 1.30, 6.40, 8.48, 10.62 10.64, Appendix III.A, V.D.

Technological education.-see Technical education and Evening courses.

Theology, schools of,-see Religious schools.

- Tipperary, County, 6.101, Appendix IV.D.
- Tralee, Appendix IV.D.
- Trades, teachers of, 10.45. Appendix
- Training activities in the education sector, 1.39.

Training colleges,-see Teacher training. Transfer payments, 5.4, 5.69

Trinity College, Dublin, 1.35, 3.36-38, 4.44, 6.44, Appendix III.A.

# U.

Ulster, 2.21, 6.21, 6.101-104, 6.108-109, 6.111-112, 6.116, 10.6, 10.35, 10.37, 12.47, Annexe D.11.

- United Kingdom, 1.42, 14.7-8.
- United States of America, 7.32.
- Universities, 1.35, 4.30, 4.40.
  - building, 4.44 ff. entrants, 6.31, 6.33, 6.39, 6.45, 6.13012.59, 16.8, Appendix III.A,
  - fees, 5.55, 11.27-29, 12.41, 14.13 ff. financing and state grants, 1.38, 5.53 ff, 11.26 ff, 12.91, 16.8, Appendix V

leavers, 6.82.

staff, 4.41 ff

-see also National University of Ireland, Trinity College, Royal College of Surgeons and Physicians, St. Patrick's College, Maynooth.

University College, Cork, 1.35, 4.45.

- University College, Dublin, 1.35, 1.49, 4.45 6.49, Annexe C.4., Appendix III.A.
- University College, Galway, 1.35, 4.45.
- of Dublin-see Trinity University College.
- University, Pontifical-see Maynooth, St. Patrick's College.

- Valuation of farms, 6.111-112.
- Vocational education committees, 1.26-27, 4.30, 6.118.
- Vocational schools, 1.24, 5.49, 6.1, 6.24, 6.38, 6.40, 6.99–100, 6.106, 6.118, 8.37, 10.27 ff.
  - age of entry, 3.19, 12.27, Appendix X.B.
    - buildings, capacity and facilities, 4.33 ff, 5.44, Appendix IV.D.
    - enrolments, 3.6, 3.16, 3.20-21, 3.23, 3.26, 3.29, 3.43–45, 4.33, 6.14, 6.27, 10.34, Appendix III.A.
    - entrants, 6.71 ff, 6.75-76, 6.124-125, 6.132, Appendix III.A., III.B., VI. financing, 1.33, 5.37 ff, 6.118, 10.28, 10.65, 12.89, Appendix V. A., V.D., V.E.
- Vocational teachers, 1.31, 4.24 ff, 4.37, 5.41, 10.39 ff, 10.44 ff, 10.70-71, 12.71, Appendix IV.C.

### W.

- 'Wastage' in reference to school leavers, 6.29
- Waterford, 3.28, 4.36, 5.38, 6.100, Chapter 10, footnote 9, Appendix
- West Indies, students from in Ireland, 14.9
- Westmeath, County, 6.112, Appendix IV.D.
- Wexford, County, 6.104-105, Appendix IV.D.
- Wicklow, County, Appendix IV.D.

Winter agricultural classes, 1.32.

Winter Farm Schools, 1.29-30.

Woodwork teachers, 1.31, 4.28, 4.32, 10.45, 10.52–53, 10.70. Annexe A.26, A.49 ff, Appendix IV.C.

# Y.

Youth Unemployment, Commission on, 6.126.

Wt. - J45276. 2,000. 12/65. C.&Co. (172). G. Special.











